

LIBRARY

OF THE

Theological Seminary, PRINCETON, N.J

case, 500 Shelf, 2910









SERMONS

вч

HENRY EDWARD MANNING, M. A. ARCHDEACON OF CHICHESTER.

SERIES THE SECOND.

THIRD AMERICAN FROM THE FOURTH LONDON EDITION.

NEW-YORK:
STANFORD AND SWORDS, 137, BROADWAY.

1850.

STEREOTYPED AND PRINTED BY

JOHN R. M'GOWN,

106 FULTON-STREET, NEW-YORE.

TOALL

WHO, IN AN AGE OF CONTROVERSY,

ARE WALKING IN THE PATH

WHEREIN

"THE WAYFARERS, THOUGH FOOLS, SHALL NOT ERR,"

This Volume is inscribed.





CONTENTS.

SERMON I.

CHRIST THE HEALING OF MANKIND.

The Word was made flesh.—St. John i. 14.	9
SERMON II.	
HOLINESS IN CHILDHOOD.	
And the Child grew, and waxed strong in spirit, filled with wisdom: and the grace of God was upon Him.—St. Luke ii. 40.	21
SERMON III.	
HOLY OBEDIENCE.	
Then cometh Jesus from Galilee to Jordan unto John, to be baptized of him. But John forbad Him, saying, I have need to be baptized of Thee, and comest Thou to me? And Jesus answering said unto him, Suffer it to be so now: for thus it becometh us to fulfil all righteousness. Then He suffered Him.—St. Matthew iii. 13-15.	37
SERMON IV.	
FASTING A MEANS TO CHRISTIAN PERFECTION.	
When He had fasted forty days and forty nights, He was afterward an hungered.—St Matthew iv. 2.	50

PAGE.

SERMON V.	PAGE.
THE NATURE AND LIMITS OF TEMPTATION.	
Then was Jesus led up of the Spirit into the wilderness to be tempted of the devil.—St. Matthew iv. 1	e . 65
SERMON VI.	
WORLDLY CARES.	
When the tempter came to Him, he said, If Thou be the Son of God, command that these stones be made bread.—St. Matt. iv. 3.	
SERMON VII.	
SPIRITUAL PRESUMPTION.	
Then the devil taketh Him up into the holy city, and setteth Him on a pinnacle of the temple, and saith unto Him, If Thou be the Son of God, cast Thyself down: for it is written, He shall give His angels charge concerning Thee: and in their hands they shall bear Thee up, lest at any time Thou dash Thy foot against a stone. Jesus said unto him, It is written again, Thou shalt not tempt the Lord thy God.—St. Matthew iv. 5-7.	
SERMON VIII.	
WORLDLY AMBITION.	
Again, the devil taketh Him up into an exceeding high mountain, and showeth Him all the kingdoms of the world, and the glory of them; and saith unto Him, All these things will I give Thee, if Thou wilt fall down and worship me. Then saith Jesus unto him, Get thee hence, Satan: for it is written, Thou shalt worship the Lord thy God, and Him only shalt thou serve.—St. Matthew iv. 8-10.	110
SERMON IX.	
THE RIGHT USE OF REST AFTER TRIAL. Then the devil leaveth Him, and, behold, angels came and ministered unto Him.—St. Matthew iv. 11.	127

SERMON X.

THE SYMPATHY OF CHRIST.

We have not an high-priest which cannot be touched with the

PAGE.

feeling of our infirmities; but was in all points tempted like as we are, yet without sin.—Hebrews iv. 15.	140
SERMON XI.	
SYMPATHY A NOTE OF THE CHURCH.	
The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; He hath sent me to bind up the broken-hearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound.—Isaiah lxi. 1.	155
SERMON XII.	
THE HOLINESS OF COMMON LIFE.	
Is not this the carpenter, the son of Mary, the brother of James, and Joses, and of Juda, and Simon? and are not His sisters here with us? And they were offended at Him.—St. Mark vi. 3	170
SERMON XIII.	
THE WORLD WE HAVE RENOUNCED.	
If the world hate you, ye know that it hated Me before it hated you. If ye were of the world, the world would love his own: but because ye are not of the world, but I have chosen you out of the world, therefore the world hateth you.—St. John xv. 18, 19	184
SERMON XIV.	
on MIXING IN THE WORLD, AND ITS SAFEGUARDS. John came neither eating nor drinking, and they say, He hath a devil. The Son of man came eating and drinking, and they say, Behold a man gluttonous, and a winebibber, a friend of publicans and sinners.—St. Matthew xi. 18, 19.	198
SERMON XV.	
POVERTY A HOLY STATE.	
Ye know the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ, that, though He was rich, yet for your sakes He became poor, that ye through His poverty might be rich.—2 Cor. viii. 9.	217

SERMON XVI.	PAGE
DEVOTION POSSIBLE IN THE BUSIEST LIFE.	
And the apostles gathered themselves together unto Jesus, and told Him all things, both what they had done, and what they had taught. And He said unto them, Come ye yourselves apart into a desert place, and rest a while; for there were many coming and going, and they had no leisure so much as to eat.— St. Mark vi. 30, 31	
SERMON XVII.	
PRAYER A MARK OF TRUE HOLINESS.	
And in the morning, rising up a great while before day, He went out, and departed into a solitary place, and there prayed. St. Mark i. 35	
SERMON XVIII.	
SHORT DEVOTIONS A HINDRANCE TO PRAYER.	
And it came to pass in those days, that He went out into a moun tain to pray, and continued all night in prayer to God.—St. Luke vi. 12	260
SERMON XIX.	
THE LONGSUFFERING OF CHRIST.	
Then came Peter to Him, and said, Lord, how oft shall my brother sin against me, and I forgive him? till seven times? Jesus saith unto him, I say not unto thee, Until seven times: but, Until seventy times seven.—St. Matthew xviii. 21, 22.	274
SERMON XX.	
THE GENTLENESS OF CHRIST.	
A bruised reed shall He not break, and the smoking flax shall He not quench.—Isaiah xlii. 3.	286

SERMON I.

CHRIST THE HEALING OF MANKIND.

St. John i. 14.

Such is the Catholic Faith touching the Incarnation of our Lord Jesus Christ—a doctrine defined by the Holy Ghost, and declared by the beloved disciple; such was the prophecy of Isaiah-"Behold, a virgin shall conceive, and bear a Son, and shall call his name Immanuel;"* such was the salutation of the angel Gabriel-"Hail, thou that art highly favored, the Lord is with thee: blessed art thou among women. The Holy Ghost shall come upon thee, and the power of the Highest shall overshadow thee; therefore also that holy thing which shall be born of thee shall be called the Son of God:"† such is the witness of the apostles-"God was manifest in the flesh." Again -" In Him dwelleth all the fulness of the Godhead bodily." So the Church confesses: "For the right faith is, that we believe and confess that our Lord Jesus Christ, the Son of God, is God and man; God, of the substance of the

^{*} Isa. vii. 14. † St. Luke i. 23, 35. † 1 Tim. iii. 16. 6 Col. ii. 9.

Father, begotten before the worlds; and man, of the substance of His mother, born in the world: perfect God and perfect man, of a reasonable soul and human flesh subsisting: equal to the Father as touching his Godhead; and inferior to the Father as touching His manhood: who although He be God and man, yet He is not two, but one Christ: one, not by conversion of the Godhead into flesh, but by taking of the manhood into God: one altogether; not by confusion of substance, but by unity of person; for as the reasonable soul and flesh is one man, so God and man is one Christ."

Now, in this mystery there are two cardinal points: the one, the integrity of the two natures; the other, the unity of the one person. The Word—which is the Eternal Son, begotten from everlasting, the very and Eternal God, of one substance with the Father, having in Himself all the attributes, powers, and perfections of the Divine nature without ceasing to be God was made man, of the substance of flesh and blood, and took to Himself our nature, with all its endowments and properties of soul and body; "so that two whole and perfect natures, that is to say, the Godhead and Manhood, were joined together in one Person, never to be divided, whereof is one Christ, very God and very man." Wherefore "God was in Christ," not as when He appeared in angelic forms to Abraham and to Israel; nor as He was in the prophets by vision and revelation; nor as He is in us by presence and fellowship; but the man Jesus Christ Himself was God. They that saw Him saw God; they that spake with Him spake with God; they whom He touched and breathed upon felt the touch and the breath of "That which was from the beginning, which we have heard, which we have seen with our eyes, which we

have looked upon, and our hands have handled, of the Word of Life (for the life was manifested, and we have seen it, and bear witness, and show unto you that eternal life, which was with the Father, and was manifested unto us); that which we have seen and heard declare we unto you, that ye also may have fellowship with us: and truly our fellowship is with the Father, and with His Son Jesus Christ."*

Such is this great mystery, which we can hardly enunciate, and having enunciated can do little more than adore in silence. Let us, however, gather such lights as Holy Scripture gives us for the better understanding of the wisdom which is hid in it.

Gainsayers of the Catholic Faith have set themselves chiefly against this dogma, which is the corner-stone of the gospel. They have been wont to object to the mystery of the Incarnation, not only as a thing incredible in the manner of its fulfilment, but as unnecessary and circuitous—that is, inconsistent with the directness of the power and operations of God. "Why," they say, "need the Son of God be made man? What connection has this with our salvation? Why could not man be redeemed by the simple exercise of Almighty power in forgiving, cleansing, and raising him from the dead, or in abolishing at once the power of sin and death, so that he should no longer either sin or die?"

Let us consider what answer the doctrine of Faith gives to these questions. It is this: that according to the revelation made to us of the character and kingdom of God, and of the nature and conditions of man, there appears no other

way by which we could be saved but by the manifestation of God in the flesh.

1. For, first, although it is most true that God might, in His almighty power, destroy the sinful race of mankind, and create another all holy in its stead; or separate the taint of sin and the power of death from our nature, and abolish them altogether; yet we must not forget that God is not Power alone, but Holiness, Wisdom, Justice. There are deeper necessities in the perfections of the Divine mind, and the laws of the spiritual world, which are the expressions of those perfections, than we can penetrate. death are antagonists and contradictions of the righteousness and immortality of God, which need, it may be, deeper operations of the Divine hand than a simple exercise of power. Sin and death are not realities existing in themselves, apart from beings whom God has made, but are a condition of the creatures of God, privations of holiness and life; they are negations, having no separate existence. Man is sinful, because righteousnss has departed from him; and mortal, because with righteousness life also departed. The salvation of man, then, is the restoration of rightcourness and immortality-the expulsion of sin and death, by the infusion of their natural and distinctive opposites of holiness and life. But as man, who has fallen under the power of sin and death, is a moral and responsible creature, and as his fall from God was through the misdirected energies of his moral powers, so the restoration of man, it may be, can only be effected through the same means, and under the same conditions; and therefore it may be that the immutable justice of God's kingdom demands no less than the atonement of a Person. We are so greatly ignorant of the original springs of right and wrong, life and death, and of the laws which inform a mind of infinite perfection, that we cannot, without the highest presumption, doubt that there was no other way to abolish the moral causes of separation between God and man, but by One who should harmonise the laws and conditions of such a redemption in His own Person; in a word, that it needed not a bare exertion of Omnipotence, but an economy and dispensation of moral agencies in harmony with the nature of God and of man, co-ordinate with the scheme of the Divine kingdom and of human probation—that is, the intervention of a Personal Redeemer.

2. Again, sin and death had power in and over the personal nature of mankind. It was from this we had need to be redeemed. Though the laws of God's kingdom were never so fully satisfied, yet our nature would be our destruction: "to be carnally minded is death." The first sin, as it deprived Adam of the righteousness of grace, so by consequence it threw his nature into corruption; and that corruption is derived to us; and is in every one born into the world; and infects the first motions of the will, which, as they pass through the lusts of the flesh, become biassed and distorted. Even though the kingdom of God had nothing against us, we should die, each one of us, by our own inherent mortality. No man could break the yoke of death from off his own neck; much less redeem mankind. Our very nature itself needed to be purged and restored to the conditions of immortality. There must be a work of life counteracting the work of death, and propagating life throughout the race of mankind, as death has been propagated to us from Adam. And for this cause, the Person who should undertake the salvation of mankind must assume to Himself our humanity, that is, the very nature which He

was to heal and to save; and put Himself into personal relation to us. So St. Paul argues: "Forasmuch, then, as the children are partakers of flesh and blood, He also Himself likewise took part of the same."* We imposed on Him that necessity. The fall of our nature was the producing cause of His incarnation: because we are men, therefore for us men, and for our salvation, He was made Man.

3. And, once more: as this burden of our humanity is too great for any of us to bear without falling, no created and finite being, either man or angel, could so assume it as to raise it from its fall, restore its imperfections, and sustain it in strength and mastery over the powers of sin. Angels fell from their first estate, not man alone; both need either the grace of redemption or the grace of perpetual support. Even angels "that excel in strength" stand stedfast in the power of God. In Him is their life, energy, and power. Without Him they would be as we are. They can render to God nothing but what they owe. They can minister, at His bidding, to those that shall be heirs of salvation; but to save is a work too near akin to creation for any but God to accomplish. Our humanity needed to be strengthened and hallowed: of fleshly, to be again made spiritual; of mortal, to be raised above the power of death; of outcast from God, to be united to Him again. So closely, indeed, are we knit to Him, that St. Peter does not fear to say that we are made "partakers of the Divine nature."† Therefore He must needs "by Himself purge our sins." None but He that in the beginning said, "Let us make man in our image,"‡ could restore again to man the image of God.

So far, then, as we can reason upon things the very terms of which transcend our understanding, it seems that

^{*} Heb. ii. 14.

the intrinsic necessities of God's kingdom, and of man's fallen state, require a redemption which is wrought by a Person who is able to fulfil the requirements of the Divine Law, and to perfect in Himself the redeemed nature of And what is this but the Catholic doctrine of mankind. the Incarnation? which is, that the Word, the second Person of the ever-blessed Trinity, took upon Him, not by way of nature, but of miracle, our manhood, "of the substance of the Virgin Mary His Mother, without spot of sin;" and in that nature He sanctified our humanity, fulfilled the perfect will of God, bare our sins in His own body, and by death destroyed him that had the power of death. That which as God He could not suffer, He became man that He might undergo. The impassible, eternal God was made flesh, that in the flesh He might endure all that sin had brought upon mankind. His Person was capable of the whole mystery of the fall, sin only excepted.

But here two questions have been asked. One, Why need He to have taken a body of a human mother, instead of creating one for Himself? And the other, How, if human nature be corrupt, and if the Son of God took on Him that very nature, did He escape the original sin which is in us?

To these the answer is direct and easy. It is the very same that the Catholic Church made to the heresy of Arius, in defence of Christ's true Godhead. To the first it must be said, It was necessary that He should partake of our very nature. Had He taken a body created, as in the beginning, from the dust, it would have been a like nature, but not the same. It would have been a second creation of another and a new humanity; and His person would not have been partaker in the very flesh and blood derived to us from the first Adam, for the redemption of which the

Word was made flesh. It was necessary that He should be united to us in our own humanity, that the grace of His Incarnation might be communicated to mankind. God, who is the Origin of all being, the Creator of all things that are, does not destroy any work He once has made, but raises it from its fall, and heals it of its wounds and diseases. Therefore He took our very nature, that He might restore it in Himself to its original purity. That very humanity in which the first Adam was created is the same in which the Second was incarnate. There was no other way, than either to create a new nature, which would not be our own, or to restore the old, in which we are fallen and dead.

And to the second question the answer is, that in taking our nature, He took it without spot of sin; for He took it not by the way of natural descent, but by a miracle, which broke through the transmission of the original fault. Isaac and John Baptist, though Lorn by miracle, were, nevertheless, conceived and born in sin. Eve was made from the side of Adam; Adam was made of the dust; both by miracle and without sin. The second Adam was made by the operation of the Holy Ghost, of the substance of a pure He was born in a way of which our regeneration is a shadow, "not of blood, nor of the will of the flesh, nor of the will of man, but of God."* And, again, from the mystery of the conception, that pure substance which He took was so united to His Divine Person that it was hallowed and sinless, in like manner as the flesh of Adam when God created him and filled him with His own Divine presence. From the moment of His birth every motion of His human soul and flesh was sinless and

^{*} St. John i. 13.

pure; every inclination of His will was holy. He had all the powers, affections, capacities of our nature, filled with more than original righteousness, with the holiness of God. Yet He was very man, with all our sinless infirmities, susceptible of temptation, sorrow, hunger, thirst, weariness, solitude, weeping, fear, and death. And what are all these but properties of man by creation, not by the fall? They were in our first father before he sinned; and in them is no sin. In Christ man was exalted above the state of creation. and united to God by a bond of personal and substantial unity. The second Adam not only restored in Himself the losses of the first, but endowed the nature of man with new gifts of Divine perfection. "The first man was of the earth earthy, the second man is the Lord from heaven;" "the beginning"—that is, the originating principle and productive life of the new "creation of God."*

Now, this supreme doctrine of the faith throws light upon two other doctrines closely related to it.

And, first, it shows us what is the true nature of original sin. It is "the fault and corruption of the nature of every man that naturally is engendered of the offspring of Adam." This, therefore, could not reach to the manhood of our Lord, because, though born in our nature, He was not "naturally engendered," but "conceived by the Holy Ghost." Adam, by sinning, forfeited his original righteousness,—the grace of God's presence, whereby he was sanctified: through loss of this gift his nature became faulty and corrupt; and through this fault and corruption inclined to evil. We are born with this fault and corruption, whereby we are by nature inclined to evil. The human will, acting

^{*} Rev. iii. 14. ἡ ἀςχη τῆς ατίσεως τοῦ Θεοῦ.

under the conditions of this inclination, tends universally and by its own free choice to fulfil the lusts of the flesh, and becomes itself carnal; and "the carnal mind is enmity against God, for it is not subject to the law of God, neither indeed can be;"* wherefore "it deserveth God's wrath and damnation." Such is our first birth into this world: "that which is born of the flesh is flesh." And in this inheritance of evil we were passive and unconscious: the fault and corruption was in us before we knew that we were in being. Such as man made himself by the fall, such are we who are born from him.

2. The other doctrine which is related to the mystery of the Incarnation is our regeneration. It is the correlative and opposite to the doctrine of original sin. So the Catholic Church has ever taught, arguing, by contraries, from the one to the other: for example, as original sin is the transmission of a quality of evil, so regeneration is the infusion of a quality of good; as original sin is inherited without the personal act of us who are born of the flesh, so regeneration is bestowed without personal merit in us who are born of the Spirit; as in the inheritance of original sin we are passive and unconscious, so in regeneration; as original sin precedes all actings of our will, so also regeneration; as original sin is the root of all evil in us, so regeneration is the root of all good. Strange is the cycle in which errors run. Those very tokens by which the gift of regeneration is manifested to be freely given to us of God, are the very grounds Men will have it to be no more than a of modern unbelief. change of state, and not of nature; a mere outward transfer into the outward means of grace; and that, for sooth, because a passive, unconscious child is, in their eyes, incapable of

the infusion of a quality of good. What is this but the Pelagianism of regeneration? How can they defend the doctrine of original sin as the transmission of evil to passive, unconcious infants, by inheritance from a man that sinned, while they deny the infusion of a quality of good by the free gift and grace of God? In truth it is much to be feared that this is simple unbelief in the great freeness of God's grace, in the presence and reality of spiritual mysteries. And it is to be feared too, that it is an unbelief which spreads further into the doctrines of faith. Can it be thought that even the doctrine of original sin is thoroughly believed? or the doctrine of the creation of Adam from the dust, and of Eve from the side of Adam? or of the mysterious Incarnation of the Word, of the substance of His mother? or of the resurrection of the body? or of the doctrine of regeneration in any sense or shape? For, if the passiveness and unconsciousness of the subject be any objection to the regeneration of infants in baptism, it is an objection to the doctrines of creation, incarnation, resurrection, and regeneration, in any form, unless we be Pelagians and Rationalists. After all, will it not be found that the root of all this is a rationalistic unwillingness to believe any thing which does not base itself upon the active and conscious workings of the human soul?an error fatal to faith in the Gospel of Christ; subversive of the freeness and sovereignty of God's grace, which it assumes to magnify. Let us not give up the faith of a childlike heart for petulant, half-sighted reasonings. "Every good gift and every perfect gift is from above, and cometh down from the Father of lights." "What have we that we have not received?" "By the grace of God I am what I am." All things come from Him; we are but receivers, empty vessels to be filled out of His fulness; passive and unconscious till

He breathe into us the breath of life, as in our first, so in our second birth. This is the very law of our regeneration, whereby we are taken out from the first Adam, and incorporated into the second; whereby we are made "members of His body, of His flesh, and of His bones;"* and are made partakers of His Incarnation, and of the virtues of healing, life, and resurrection, which go out of His flesh, which He gave "for the life of the world."

^{*} Eph. v. 30.

SERMON II.

HOLINESS IN CHILDHOOD.

St. Luke ii. 40.

"And the Child grew, and waxed strong in spirit, filled with wisdom.

and the grace of God was upon Him."

IF any proof were needed of the true and proper humanity of our blessed Lord, we should have it in these words. He was subject to the laws and conditions of our nature; He was as truly a child as we have been; He grew; He waxed strong in spirit; He was endowed with gifts from His heavenly Father, being "filled with wisdom:" His understanding, reason, and conscience, were illuminated as ours; "the grace of God," the spirit of holiness, humility, love, "was upon Him." This subjection of His person to the laws of human nature is again recorded where St. Luke says, He "came to Nazareth," being about twelve years old, "and was subject unto them." "And Jesus increased in wisdom and stature, and in favor with God and man." One of the earliest Fathers of the Church says, He came "not disdaining nor going in a way above human nature; nor breaking in His own person the law which He had set for

mankind; but sanctifying every age by the likeness it bears to Him. For He came to save all men by Himself,—all, I mean, who are by Him born again unto God,—infants, and little ones, and children, and youths, and those of older age. Therefore He went through the several ages; for the sake of infants being made an infant, sanctifying infants; to little ones He was a little one, sanctifying those of that age, and giving them an example of godliness, righteousness, and dutiful subjection."*

In this passage we have many great truths recorded. One is the baptism of infants; another is the regeneration of infants baptized, in which assertion, without so much as naming it, their right to baptism is affirmed; and lastly, the parallel between the perfect holiness of our Lord in all ages from childhood, and the sanctity of those in whom the grace of regeneration has its true and perfect work.

There is evidently a correspondence, by way of analogy, between His miraculous conception and our regeneration through the Spirit. He took our nature not by natural descent, but by a miracle; we received, by supernatural operation in holy baptism, that thing which by nature we could not have.

Again: there is the same kind of analogy between the sanctity of our nature in His divine Person, and the sanctification of our person by the grace of our new birth. The sanctity of His divine nature prevented in His humanity every motion of the reason, heart, and will. The whole inward nature of His human soul, with all its faculties, powers, affections, was filled and hallowed by the Godhead of the Eternal Word.

And such, in measure and proportion, it is the design of God that our regenerate life should be. We were born again in infancy, when we were passive and unconscious, for this very end, that before we become conscious and active, the preventing grace of God might begin its work upon us. Baptismal regeneration is the very highest and most perfect form of the doctrine of God's free and sovereign grace, preventing all motions, and excluding all merit on our part. Strange that the jealousy which some profess for this great doctrine of the gospel does not make them of keener sight to discern it. If we were not passive and unconscious; if our will had begun actively and consciously to unfold itself, and follow its own inclinations, we should become at once sinners in act, and the natural resistance of our hearts to the grace of God would be aggravated and confirmed. And this, in fact, we do see in unconverted heathen, and may believe of persons who have not received baptism, and of those who after baptism have sinned against the grace they have received. It is strange, I say, that they who rest all their theological system upon the sovereignty of God's grace should not perceive that its very highest and most perfect form is baptismal regeneration; and still stranger it is that, by a happy inconsistency, they act as if they had faith in that blessed truth which they profess not to believe; for we find that they universally address children with the words of divine truth, and set before them spiritual things, which can only be spiritually discerned. To do this without believing them to have received the preventing grace of God is simple Pelagianism, which such persons religiously abhor. hardly know whether to say that they disbelieve it or no; for though they do not believe it, they so act as nothing but

faith in it would make reasonable; and that is much better. Their practice is more pious than their theory. Indeed, it is seldom found, that they do not believe the regeneration of their own children, or something equivalent to it, call it by what name you will. But although they may break the full effect of an imperfect belief, yet it is not possible to be wanting in it, or in any measure to withdraw the thankful trust of our hearts from that mystery of grace, without serious danger, great forfeitures of blessing, and sometimes lamentable evils; for without a real and active faith in the grace of regeneration, there can hardly be a true view of the nature of the regenerate life. Accordingly we find the same persons incredulous of the degree of illumination, conscientiousness, and self-government, of which children are capa-They treat them as imperfect beings, give them dangerous liberty, postpone the age of responsibility, make light of their early wildness, on the theory that it is inevitable, and may be recovered in after years. They suffer the development of childish faults, and let their characters grow distorted, and their gait, as it were, to become artificial and faulty.

Whatever may be said of the care and wise instruction of parents and teachers who have a defective faith in holy baptism, it must be self-evident that all their guidance and watchfulness would be made indefinitely more sensitive and vigilant, if they fully believed the great grace which God had bestowed upon their children. How highly the parental office is elevated by the thought that they are made the guardians of regenerate souls! That which is by nature so sacred, by faith how much more hallowed is it! There is committed to them not the one talent which nature gave, but the ten talents of God's kingdom. They are

bound by a tenfold responsibility; "for unto whomsoever much is given, of him shall be much required; and to whom men have committed much, of him they will ask the Surely they ought to watch over the tokens of God's presence with their children, as the blessed Virgin "kept all His sayings in her heart;" not fully knowing what God has committed to them; to what stature of saintliness in God's kingdom their children may attain; what large capacities of light and sanctity may be in them, even while they are amusing them with toys, and speaking of them as if they had no ears to listen. How do they know who their children may be? Great as the parental care of the fathers and mothers of eminent saints has been, yet how little did they realize at the time what they were one day to become! How, on looking back in old age, when their sons and daughters have been edified to the perfection of a saintly life, must they have said: "Who ever imagined what that thoughtful and docile child really was, and what lay hid in him? What a trust was ours; and with all our fancied care, how little did we realize its greatness!"

If this were indeed the temper of parents, who can say what might not be the holiness of families and homes? they would be consecrated by the vow of sanctity; ruled by a discipline of perfection. Even parents still charged with household cares, and in the midst of the world, would in some sort live the life of the retired and devout, and by their prayers, fastings, alms, charitable works, and abstinence from the world, train up their children in the simplicity and fervor of a consecrated state. If parents would only repress the vanity and self-flattery which they indulge, while

they push their children forward in artificial and ostentatious habits, or correct in themselves that still more guilty indolence and neglect, which makes them abdicate the personal office and duty of instructing and ruling their children, even so their households would bear more tokens of holiness. But how should this ever be, unless the grace of regeneration be faithfully believed and cherished? If there be any one feature that distinguishes the homes of the faithful of earlier days, it is the reverence with which they looked upon their children, after they had received them back from the font, to be reared up for God. What is it but the doctrine of baptismal regeneration which has so strongly developed in the Catholic Church the paternal character of God? And in the consciousness of this heavenly Fatherhood there is contained a whole order of spiritual affections, which issue from the grace of regeneration; such, for instance, as dutifulness, submission, docility, confidence, gladness, a holy fearlessness and filial love; and these are in a peculiar manner the basis of the saintly character. They may be called the sanctity of childhood: "the measure of the stature of the fulness of Christ," of which children are susceptible.

Now in the history of the saints there are two things chiefly remarkable. One is, the depth of personal religion which they have displayed at an age when, in these days, we are wont to look upon children as little more than sentient and irresponsible beings. We read of charity, almsgiving, prayer, self-denial, in children of six or eight years old; and martyrdom at the age of fourteen, or even at twelve—the age consecrated by the single mention of our Lord's early obedience, and His questioning with the doctors in the Temple.

The other remarkable feature is, their precocity of general character and powers. No doubt it is but a fallacious evidence of this to allege cases of early intellectual cultivation. We read of boys of fourteen received among the graduates of learned universities, and the like; but all this evidently depends on variable states and tests of learning, and, after all, relates only to the intellectual powers, which are sometimes raised to a very high culture, while the rest of the mind is cramped and stunted. I speak, therefore, of the precocity of moral and spiritual life; the fulness and strength of character which youths have often shown. They have begun to live and act as men among men, while as yet they were hardly in the dawn of manhood. They manifested a resolution and collectedness of mind which follows upon long deliberation, and is the result of a well-tried discipline. They were strong, wise, gentle, fearless, inflexible,-ruling themselves and mankind, leading armies, presiding in councils, governing churches, controlling assemblies, guiding courts and nations, at an age when, in these days, men are still in nonage and tuition. Surely some such great and visible facts were originally observed by the Church when it was prescribed that the offices of deacon and priest might be conferred on youths of twenty-three and twenty-four years of age, and even the Episcopate at thirty. And certainly, in comparing the average formation of character now with that of men who were nurtured up from holy baptism in faith of their regeneration, and in religious homes or devout schools of discipline, it must be confessed that in the science of the saints, and in the practice of life, we are backward and unripe. If we were asked to find a reason for it, I believe the truth would be be best expressed by saying these later

1

ages have lost faith in the miraculous conception and holy childhood of our Lord Jesus Christ, as the type and pledge of our regeneration in holy baptism, and of the development of our regenerate life; and not only so, but that a false and shallow system of theology has grown up, and thrust down this high doctrine from its place. A prevalent notion in these later times is, that the doctrine of baptismal regeneration is superstitious and delusive; that it tends to deadness, worldliness, unspirituality; that the Christian life of those who have been religious from childhood is generally tame, cold, and formal; that true Christian perfection is to be found in penitents and those who are converted late in life; that experience of sin and guilt is the stimulus of personal responsibility, and the very life of the conscience; and that the fervor, zeal, and activity of the converted sinner is the true perfection of the Christian character.

Now the analogy we have been considering, between the sanctification of our nature in the Person of our Lord, and the sanctification of our persons through the gift of regeneration, will suggest to us some very important truths, which have the force and extent of first principles in the theory and practice of a holy life. And these we will now shortly consider.

1. In the first place, then, we may learn what is the effect of sin after baptism upon the regenerate nature. As in all other truths, so in this, men have gone into both extremes, some making post-baptismal sin all but unpardonable, and others, hardly needing to be forgiven; some making its soils indelible, some treating it as if it left in the soul no soil at all. Now is there not some evident confusion in all this? And does not the confusion begin in our not clearly distinguishing between the effect of sin upon the

relation in which the regenerate man stands to God, and its effect upon the inward and regenerate nature?

Again: when we speak of sin after baptism, surely another and a primary distinction is required; for all baptized men have sinned, therefore they have all sinned after baptism. To solve this difficulty, the distinction of sins into venial and mortal has been laid down. But in one sense, and that a most true sense, all sins are mortal. "The soul that sinneth, it shall die"—"The wages of sin is death." The conceiving of a sinful thought is a direct sin against the Spirit of holiness. Morcover, the privation of original righteousness is a state of sin: "We have all sinned, and come short of the glory of God." Not to be holy is to be sinful; there is no third estate. Therefore all baptized men have sinned, in one sense mortally, and that after baptism.

But the distinction, as it is recognized in the Litany, is plainly this:—There is one class of sins partly of omission, partly of commission, arising from our original corruption and infirmity of nature, and from the subtilty and strength of temptation; they seem to cling to our fallen nature even after regeneration, almost like mortality itself. And these are sins which neither rescind the remission of sins freely given in baptism, nor hinder the advance of our sanctification; such, for instance, are evil thoughts and motions of our humanity, flashes and transitions of temper, rash words, wanderings of the heart in prayer, and the like, which are both striven against and followed by compunction and confession. There is another class of sins which both cancels the relation of present forgiveness with God and hinders the growth of sanctification in the soul: such as sins of the flesh, evil imaginations, and temper if indulged, habitual pride, uncharitableness, and the like. Now, between these

two classes there can be no third. Sins must either cancel or not cancel our forgiveness; hinder or not hinder our advance in sanctification; and they will accordingly be mortal or venial.

It is plain, then, that when we speak of sin after baptism we do not mean those venial sins which the holiest of regenerate men have committed. Such sins are, in fact, little more than the remainder of that nature which needed regeneration; and their continued presence in the soul arises from the fact, that God has ordained our restoration to holiness to be wrought not by a single act of His will, but by a progressive probation of our own. We may, therefore, dismiss this class.

Of the other—that is to say, of those sins which cancel our relation of present forgiveness, and hinder the sanctification of our souls—this is to be said. There is a distinction to be drawn between the effect of such sins on our relation towards God, and the effect of them on our inward and regenerate nature; or in common words, between the guilt and the defilement of them.

As to the guilt, this we know, that upon a true repentance it shall be absolutely forgiven.

But our present subject is the parallel between the sanctity of our Lord, and the holiness of the regenerate. It is, therefore, the effect of sin upon the inward and regenerate nature that we are now considering; and of this it has been already said, that its effect is, to hinder the advance of our sanctification; and if so, it is no less than a direct antagonist of the grace of our regeneration, and a defeat of the purpose of God in our new birth of the Spirit: it is a resistance to the preventing grace of God, a refusal to be led by Him, and to follow His guidance and illumination. The work of the new creation is brought to a stand; the capaci-

ties and powers of the new nature are baffled and .hwarted; and, further, the mind of the flesh is thereby released from the power which held it in check. From our first childhood sin unfolds itself by its own energy, and by the deliberate motions of the will, and thereby gains to itself a new condition. From its potential it passes into an actual reality; and by act and reality it directly strengthens its own energies, and confirms itself in its own particular forms, such as lust, anger, pride, falsehood, sloth; and having become formal, becomes also habitual; and that raises a two-fold opposition to the Spirit of Holiness. The passive and unconscious state of the fallen being passes into active and conscious sin. What was at first a passive inability becomes an energetic resistance, an excited enmity, and a conscious warfare of the will. By this means the soul becomes inflamed, darkened, and defiled. The continual actings of the desires, lusts, imaginations, leave soils and stains, and, as it were, deposit a crust of evil upon the whole spiritual nature. It multiplies its own plague spots in darkness. And the spiritual being inclines to the state and fellowship of fallen angels, to which the regenerate sinner is akin both in nature and in apostacy. How little parents seem to know what they are doing when they make light of their children's early sins! They are doing nothing less than their best to undo God's grace in the regeneration of their children, to make their salvation doubtful, and their future sorrows and losses many and inevitable.

2. And this brings us to a second inference. We may hence learn the true relation of repentance to regeneration. Those who have no faith in holy baptism look upon repentance or conversion as the perfect aim or design of the dispensation of grace. They consider it as the accomplishment of the mind of the Spirit towards us, and place it on

the highest step of our ascent to God. And how can they help doing so, while they believe nothing of the true sanctity of the regenerate? How can they understand that what they put forward as the highest state is but the lower; that which they regard as the perfect work is only the remedy, blessed indeed, but, at best, no more than the remedy,after the grace of regeneration has failed to work its perfect work in us? In one sense, indeed, all saints need repentance; the holiest, who from childhood grow in light and sanctity, grow also in compunction, tears, and humiliation but this is not what we commonly call repentance. We mean the conviction, sorrow, remorse, and turning of the adult, after falls, from sin to God; that is conversion. Now if there be any truth in what has been said, it is clear that the necessity of this kind of conversion or repentance arises out of the disobedience of the regenerate, and from the falls of those that sin grievously after baptism. That which is put forward as the perfection of the saints is the recovery of fallen Christians. And the reason why this theory mantains itself so strongly and is so popular is, because it is the interest of the majority to hold it. The great multitude of Christians are in that state. "Many are called, and few are chosen." All are regenerate, but saints are few. The multitude are at best to be numbered among penitents; and their own case fixes their theology, and sets bounds to their belief. What is true of themselves, they think is true of all, and true alone; partly, I say, from being bribed, as it were, to hold a theory that will make the best of their own case; and partly because the very nature of their case must make them unconscious of the realities which others know who have never fallen as they have. Besides, the tokens and evidences of repentance are just those that are most perceptible to the world. They appeal to the ear and to the

eve, and force themselves upon the notice of men. The zeal, fervor, activity, which converted or converting men exhibit are so nearly akin to the same qualities in the mind and character of worldly people, that they are more easily understood and appreciated. The character of true saintliness, as it is most remote from the world, and even opposed to it, is least understood and valued by the world. It is either simply not perceived to exist, or it is thought eccentric, weak, and unprofitable. This will explain why the popular religion will always incline to exalt repentance to the position of the leading idea and design of the gospel. But when we pass from the judgment of sight to the discernment of faith, we shall see that it is but remedial and secondary; that it is a painful and laborious undoing of the tangled and stubborn perversity of the disobedient will; that it is, as it was called of old, a kind of regeneration, implying thereby the freeness of God's mercy, the greatness of the necessity, the dangerous state of the lapsed Christian, the depth of the injury done to the spiritual nature; so that it can be likened only to the original state of sin and death, and healed by a work second only in greatness to the original operation of preventing grace upon the soul. All this shows us that the repentance of baptized men is as the difficult and precarious recovery of those who, after the partial cure of a death-sickness, fall into relapse. The powers of nature are wasted, the virtues of medicine baffled, and the disease grows doubly strong. A sad exchange for those who once walked in white raiment, and were numbered among the children of God.

3. Lastly, we see in what it is that they who have been kept and sanctified from their regeneration exceed the blessedness of penitents. They have never fallen away from their first estate. The grace of their election, though

it has been resisted and grieved, has never been baffled and reduced to inaction. Not to have fallen into the pollution of the world, the flesh, and the devil, how high a grace! How unspeakably great is the loving-kindness of Him who has thus kept them! From what has the grace of regeneration protected them; -from what dangerous familiarity with evil-from what excitements of the carnal mindfrom what defilement of the imagination—from what obliquity of the will-from what unfeelingness of heart! To be free from all this, how blessed! To be ignorant of that which must be unlearnt with pain and sorrow by all who will enter God's kingdom! From what hours of bitter remorse—from what years of toil, weakness, and infirmity, are they preserved! nd what a delusion is it to believe that the visible fervor and zeal of penitents is evidence of a higher state of grace! What can their zeal or fervor do in comparison with the unconscious strength and steadfast principle of those that have ever walked with God? It is not, indeed, to be denied that we do sometimes see in "righteous persons who need no repentance" a torpor and sluggishness of spirit; but still oftener the world so judges of them because it cannot read the tokens of their state aright. The depth and inward force of true holiness are beyond the world's ken; the calm and unmoved collectedness with which they set themselves to the greatest tasks, worldly eyes cannot discern from torpor and tameness. Why should they exhibit the noise and excitement of effort, whose very nature is moulded into unconscious obedience? They do great things in silence; and the world thinks that because they say little, they do nothing. The haste and exertion which penitents must needs use to make up their lost time and ground, has in them long since passed into the steadfast and quiet consist-

ency of a mature piety. Why should they "strive or cry?" Why should their voice be heard in the streets, whose life has been sheltered under the shadow of the Most High, and nurtured into the peace and strength of habitual faith? There is in the deep, burning zeal of a saintly mind an intensity which the excitement of converts can never approach. Even in those peculiar graces which are thought to be the all-but exclusive property of penitents, the fervor, self-chastisement, resolution, entire devotion of their whole being to God, what is there to compare with the glowing charity, the vivid compunction, the perfect mortification, and absolute self-oblation of those that are early sanctified? Great and blessed as are the graces and acts of penitents, they are but approximations to the sanctity which they might themselves have attained, had they preserved their baptismal life from soils and lapses. The very visibleness and loudness, I may say, of their religion betrays difficulty and effort. The movements of nature are easy and spontaneous, and though done without reflection, are more truly the acts of the whole being than those things which we do by rule, and thought, and with conscious preparation. In the one case it has become our own, in the other it is a borrowed nature. This is the ripe fruit of holy childhood; and to this every one that is born again may, in his measure, attain. The holiness of children is the very type of saintliness; and the most perfect conversion is but a hard and distant return to the holiness of a child. Let us, then, lay to heart the great gift which has been bestowed upon us. Our baptism was a change greater than any which can come on the sons of Adam, except death and the resurrection. Let us humble ourselves with plaints which cannot be uttered, for the sins, by deed and thought, which in childhood boyhood, and youth, we have committed

against the grace of our regeneration. And though perhaps it may be now too late for us-though we cannot make what is done to be undone—though we cannot hope to be numbered among those who have never fallen from the favor of our heavenly Father, yet we may hope to have our lot in the regeneration among the order of penitents. For us, alas, the unconscious purity, the ripe wisdom, clear illumination, piercing insight, calm strength, meek inflexibility, the patience, the charity, the full, consistent, changeless perfection of the saints, is perhaps impossible. But let us, by prayers and labors, by word and by example, strive to rear up the elect of God, from their childhood, in the sanctity of Jesus Christ. Strive to make your homes to be holy, and your families to be households of saints. is one great school of the regenerate, which is the Church, and one Master, the "Holy Child Jesus." Under and through Him let us foster the children of His kingdom. And then who can say how broad and resplendent the note of sanctity may once more shine forth upon our tossed and distracted Church? what virtues of grace and truth may go forth from our spiritual sons to heal the springs of life throughout this fallen world?

SERMON III.

HOLY OBEDIENCE.

St. Matt. iii. 13-15.

"Then cometh Jesus from Galilee to Jordan unto John, to be baptized of him. But John forbad Him, saying, I have need to be baptized of Thee, and comest Thou to me? And Jesus answering said unto him, Suffer it to be so now: for thus it becometh us to fulfil all righteousness. Then He suffered Him."

OF all the acts of our blessed Lord, there is hardly any which at first sight seems more difficult to explain than His submitting to be baptised. It was not like His circumcision, which was received in infancy by the care of His holy mother, and in accordance with the existing law of the Church; nor like His prayers and fastings, which are perpetual examples to us; because the baptism of John was but for a time, and is now passed away. We shall nevertheless find that hardly any one of His acts contains deeper and more direct precepts for our imitation.

It was certainly a strange and incomprehensible sight when He who was called the Son of God, who was born by the power of the Holy Ghost, drew nigh to receive from the hands of a man like ourselves the baptism of repentance. Well might St. John Baptist forbid Him, and say, "I have need to be baptized of Thee, and comest Thou to me?"

What could that baptism confer upon Him? or what part could He have in that baptism who could have no part in repentance? Was it not an act of presumption in a man, albeit "more than a prophet," to administer the sacrament of penitence and cleansing to One that was without sin? No doubt St. John shrank back with awe and fear, as well as humility and self-abasement. And Jesus said, "Suffer it to be so now." It is all well and in season, as hereafter it shall be seen: "for thus it becometh us to fulfil all righteousness." There was some law of His Father's kingdom to which therein he rendered His obedience, some deeper reason than appeared; for St. John then gave way: "then he suffered Him."

Now, in the first place, the baptism of our Lord was an act of obedience to the appointment of His Father. was born under the law, and by circumcision He was brought into the elder covenant. He honored that law by a perfect submission to it throughout His whole life. Though greater than the law, and Lord of that very law, He obeyed it by observing all things which it enjoined on the obedience of others; as, for instance, the observance of the feasts and worship of the Temple, and the offerings which Moses commanded. When John was sent to baptize, a new appointment of God appeared. In that baptism, as before in the command of circumcision, the will of His Father was revealed. In receiving it He obeyed a divine precept. It was a part of holy obedience, which is most living and expressive when it is rendered to appointments in which the will of God alone is the reason of obeying. To the Holy One of God baptism was as needless as circumcision; but in both the will of God was revealed from heaven, and in both the grace of holy obedience "fulfilled all righteousness."

Moreover it was not an act of obedience and submission alone, but also of humiliation. The baptism of John was emphatically the baptism of sinners. It was a baptism of cleansing unto repentance, that is, given to penitents as a means of perfecting their repentance. The Baptist stood by the river, surrounded by a multitude of sinners, publicans and harlots, "confessing their sins." Men and women of all characters, the most notorious and outcast, the reckless and unclean, pressed to him with "violence," to be washed of their impurities. The whole land seemed moved to give up its sinners to the discipline of repentance; the whole city poured out its evil-livers to this new and austere guide of penitents. "Then went out unto him Jerusalem, and all Judea, and all the region round about Jordan, and were baptized of him in Jordan, confessing their sins." * was an act of public humiliation to join Himself and to mingle in such a crowd; to partake their shame; to seek the same cleansing, with all the circumstantials of repentance. And at that time he was known only as "the carpenter," "the son of Joseph." He had wrought no miracles, exhibited no tokens of His Divine nature and mission. He was but as any other Israelite, and as one of a thousand sinners He came and received a sinner's baptism. This was a part of His humiliation.

And we may further observe, that the time of His bap tism had been appointed as the time of His open manifestation as the Son of God. St. John was commissioned not only to prepare His way in the souls of men, but also to proclaim Him to be the Lamb of God. He says, "I knew Him not: but that He should be made manifest to Israel, therefore am I come baptizing with water. And John bare record, saying, I saw the Spirit descending from heaven

^{*} St. Matt. iii. 5. 6.

like a dove, and it abode upon Him. And I knew Him not: but He that sent me to baptize with water, the same said unto me, Upon whom thou shall see the Spirit descending, and remaining on Him, the same is He which baptizeth with the Holy Ghost. And I saw, and bare record that this is the Son of God."* So manifold are the works of God. John came to make ready a people by repentance for the kingdom of God, and in so doing he became also the public herald and witness of the Messiah. The public proclamation of the Son of God sprang suddenly and unlooked for out of the ministry of repentance. Our Lord's act of public humiliation served also to declare Him as the Son of God. This public declaration was, it would seem, a necessary condition to the undertaking of His public ministry as the Messiah. Until then He had lived a life of privacy; henceforward He was consecrated to the work of the Redeemer of the world.

There is still another mark of deep wisdom in this same mystery. At His baptism the Holy Ghost descended, and lighted upon Him; and in that inscrutable unction He was set apart to the work of the Messiah. The words of the prophet, to which He appealed at Nazareth as His commission, were then fulfilled: "The Spirit of the Lord is upon Me, because He hath anointed Me to preach the gospel to the poor."

Such, then, appears to be the true intention and effect of His baptism in the river. It was an act of obedience and of humiliation; it was the public proclaiming of His divine Sonship, and the solemn anointing by which He was invested with the office of the Messiah.

1. The first inference to be drawn from this part of our Lord's example is, that submission to every even the least

^{*} St. John i. 31-34.

ordinance of Divine authority is a plain, self-evident duty. What the baptism of John was to our Lord, the Church is to us. And this cuts off at once all pleas and excuses by which men endeavor to extenuate the guilt of disobeying the rule of the Church. On the one side we here see John the son of Zacharias and Elizabeth, a mere man, a preacher of repentance, baptizing with water; and on the other, Jesus the son of Mary by the operation of the Holy Ghost, the Son of God by eternal generation, the sinless One, the Sanctifier of the elect. What claim or hold had that doctrine and that rite over Him? If ever any might have held himself exempt from submission, it was He. Therefore we see that no plea of intellectual or spiritual superiority, no reasonings about forms and externals and empty rites and the like, can exempt any man born again through Christ from the duty of submitting to the rule of His Church. Now no one openly denies that the Church has some authority, and that from God; because to deny this would be to deny the existence of the Church itself, and nobody is so far beside himself as to venture on this extravagance. The only question is about the limit of that authority; and it is in fixing this boundary that men of a certain cast of mind do, by consequence and in fact, deny the power of the Church altogether. I have said that we are bound to submit to every ordinance of Divine authority, and that for this reason: because the whole system of the Church being divided into ordinances which are of immediate Divine obligation, and ordinances which mediately—that is, through an authority ordained of God-become binding on us; or, in other words, some being appointed by God Himself, and some by men having Divine authority: the same obligation runs through all, and in them we obey God. For instance, the apostolical ministry, the Holy Sacraments, and the Holy Scriptures, were appointments and ordinances of Christ Himself. The authority of the apostolical ministry, and of the Church to which that power, with the Scriptures and Sacraments, was committed, is therefore divine, as derived from Him: and all those details of practice, discipline, and order, which the changes of the world and the succession of time have required, being made and ordained by the same authority, and in accordance with the mind of the Holy Spirit as revealed in Scripture, are enjoined upon the consciences of the members of Christ by the original authority derived from Him to His Church. And that is the meaning of His own words: "He that heareth you, heareth Me; and he that despiseth you, despiseth Me." And St. Paul's words: "He that despiseth, despiseth not man, but God." The whole, therefore, of the order of the Church-its ritual, discipline, and practice, its commandments and precepts,-all, that is, which meets us at this day in the system which it has laid down for the guidance of its people—lays us under the obligation of holy obedience, for the sake of the Divine authority which is contained in the least things as truly as in the greatest. It matters not who or what we are, whether pastors or people, nor how learned, or illuminated, or sanctified we may be, nor how small, external, and, as we say, trifling, the appointment may seem; there is the same great law of the Divine authority on the one hand, and of holy obedience on the other. As our obedience passes on from the Church to its Head; so our disobedience is a rejection of His authority in His own kingdom.

2. Now we may remark further, that little things are great tests of the temper and character of men. The least things are often the most pregnant with moral probation; the less the particular precept is, the more the principle is exhibited for instance, things simply commanded or forbidden without

any assigned or perceptible reason, or those which in themselves have no particular attractions or inducements. such, for example, as the original probation of Adam by the forbidding of a single tree in the garden. This is what we are wont to call gratuitous or wanton disobedience; the temptation being weak, and the circumstances unlikely to promote the temptation. So, on the other hand, in the obedience of the Second Adam. It consisted not only in the universal obedience of His spotless holiness to the great laws of His Father's will; but to the very least, in the "fulfilling of all righteousness," even to the baptism in Jordan. In this what humility, submission, self-abasement, what pure and perfect obedience of soul to the mind of the Father! So it is in the laws and precepts by which our probation in the Church is controlled. What a test of the heart and temper is contained in the precept of unity! How directly it elicits any insubordination and irregularity of the individual will! With how wonderful a wisdom is the unity of the Church constructed, so as to hold together the obedient, and to yield before the rebellious! It is as the net let down into the sea, firm yet frail; close enough to bring those that abide in it safe to shore, but giving way for the escape of those that resist. "They went out from us, but they were not of us; for if they had been of us, they would no doubt have continued with us: but they went out, that they might be made manifest that they were not all of us."*

To some minds, perhaps, the deep spiritual reasons which make united worship a high duty and direct means of sanctification, and divided or schismatical worship as high a sin, and as direct a stimulant of those tempers which grieve the Spirit of holiness, are not so much as conceivable;

^{* 1} St. John ii. 19.

and yet, with their imperfect knowledge of the matter of their obligation, they do not scruple at the slightest offence, or the most trivial annoyance; or because every thing is not ruled and ordered, done and left undone, according to their liking, to withdraw themselves from the unity of a parochial altar, or even from the Church itself, and to join with those who are in open and hostile opposition to the Church in which till then they professed to find salvation. Now, what is the secret of all this? It is nothing more than the detection of the spirit of disobedience, which always dwelt in them, but till then had not betrayed itself. The whole character is told in a single act; and the less important the matter, the more mature and deliberate is the disobedience. The insubordination of a man who sets himself against a rite or a vesture, is very much greater than that of one who gainsays a point of doctrine; for the latter chooses his field in matters which, if any thing can justify refusal of submission, may go farther to do it, than the paltry, trifling, pitiful excuses with which many try to mask their disobedience under a plea of conscience. less the occasion, the greater the insubordination. lighter the alleged provocation, the heavier the offence. On the one side is the authority derived from our Lord to His Church, enjoining some commonplace and indifferent point of order; on the other, men professing the matter to be unimportant, and yet resisting the injunction. What is this but the most direct and naked struggle between authority and disobedience? If the pretext were greater, it would disguise the truth. As a test of the man, the less the better, because the probation is more visible, barefaced, and instructive. It is like the rage of Naaman when he was disappointed of being bidden to "do some great thing," and was commanded to wash in Jordan. The probation

of faith, submission, docility, and also of self-will, impatience, pride, is complete. It is a remarkable fact, that an insubordinate temper in trifling and external matters seems to have been always the peculiar characteristic of those who have little faith in the holy Sacraments. The sacramentarian error appeared to prepare the way for contests about vestments and postures. And how should it be otherwise? for what can be more unmeaning, wearisome, and irritating, than a careful obedience to small precepts and appointments which are destitute of spiritual grace, empty, carnal, dead, legal, and the like? smaller they are, to such minds the more provoking. the fact of the provocation reveals the fact of the unbelief. It is the index of a scheme of doctrine, and of a theological school. The command to wash in Jordan detected the unbelief of Naaman. Though he had come all the way out of Syria, with much profession and circumstance, to the prophet in Israel, it is plain that he had little faith after all. The prophet proved him, as the Head of the Church through the visible order of it proves us now.

3. Another obvious remark is, how great are the consequences which flow from these little things.

At the baptism of our Lord He was proclaimed to be the Christ, by the word of the Baptist, by the voice of the Father, by the descent of the Holy Ghost. He at that time received without measure the anointing of the Eternal Spirit. Surely this is a type of the graces which descend on holy obedience. It is a silent pledge to us that the lowly, patient, submissive, docile heart shall be greatly sanctified. And so, indeed, we find it. Whatsoever may be said in praise of the earnestness, zeal, activity, and laboriousness, of those who resist the authority of the Church, there is a perceptible difference of spirit and cha-

racter distinguishing them from those who live in submission to its rule. Whatever may be said of the active side of their character, it is certain that we look almost in vain for the gentleness, patience, softness, meekness, self-control, self-chastisement, the largeness and elevation of mind, the passive charity, which belong to the obedient. The whole theory of life and devotion is lower. I am speaking of good and sincere people, not of the turbulent and self-conceited; but of those who unhappily have been drawn into the same general school, and though they keenly see its faults, cannot bring themselves to forsake it. Good as they are, their standard is personal and earthly, drawn from their own inward views and feelings, or from the example or opinions of individuals of the same school. This is strikingly true of those who have been brought up in sects; and also of all such schools within the communion of the Church, as have by following particular minds, lost the tone and habit of the catholic spirit. It is not necessary to say more than that the very temper of devotion, self-renunciation, reverence, submission, which is the peculiar grace of the obedient, is by them looked upon and even denounced as superstition, weakness, bondage, and slavishness. Their own estimate of the saintly character as unfolded in the Church is the best test and portrait of their own. We can do them no wrong in believing that what they censure they do not imitate. There can be no doubt that the principle of submission is peculiarly trying to some minds; and that the very habit which makes it unpalatable is that which seriously obstructs the improvement of the whole character. It is rarely seen that people grow to ripeness of faith, and to that undefinable mellowness and gentleness of spirit which is the very character of our Lord, without learning the great lesson of obedience and submission, even in little

47

things, to the will and authority of others; that is, without obeying God in His Church. This temper is either the cause or the consequence of their growth in grace. Either way it seems inseparable from it; and to lack this, much more to be consciously opposed to it, is a bar, no one can say how great to our advance in learning the humility and the mind of Christ.

I have hitherto spoken only of the direct moral effects in the way of self-discipline; but there is a higher condition of our sanctification which may be seriously affected by a captious, impatient, insubordinate temper-I mean, the direct gifts of grace which fall upon the lowly and submissive heart. Like water-springs, the Spirit leaves the lofty hills, and gathers in low places. The Spirit of the Dove does not descend and abide on the unruly, headstrong, self-willed. We know not what they forfeit. Yet so it has been from the beginning. The outward and visible Church, since the world entered into it, has always been turbulent and disordered: its rule disputed, its discipline infringed, its doctrine gainsayed. Men of unsubdued tempers and headstrong wills have at all times troubled the outer courts of the Church; but there is a sanctuary of holy obedience into which they cannot enter. There is around every altar a fellowship of the contrite, humble, and submissive; who see Christ in His Church, and in it both minister to Him and obey Him. And they have a peace which is from the God of peace. The Spirit of peace, in gentleness, quietness, meekness, dwells in them, and shelters them even in this rough world from the strife of tongues. They look out upon the angry buffeting face of the visible Church with calmness and a stedfast heart; knowing that all these things must be for the trial and manifestation of the sons of God. They know that at the best the Church in this world is no

more than an imperfect realisation of its perfect idea; an approximation to a type which is in heaven alone. All the struggle, and strife, and lofty looks, and swelling words, and rebellious deeds, of the disobedient and lawless are no more than must be while the kingdom of the new creation is spreading its dominion over the corruption of the old.

Let us, then, never be out of heart, though the face of the Church be ever so much marred and smitten by the spirit of misrule, and by the sway of disobedience. effect on us be to make us cling closer to the guide which God has given us. Let us render a submissive, uniform, glad obedience to the Church; to its doctrine, discipline, ritual; to its precepts of fasting and humiliation; to its lightest counsel; to the least intimation of its mind and will. Let us watch not only against openly rebellious motions of our hearts, but against vanity, affectation, love of singularity, peculiar ways, habits, and choices, by which men are tempted to bend and tamper with, or, as they would say, to adapt and accommodate the system of the Church to their times and to themselves. Some men cannot even say the prayers of the Church without needless and fanciful changes. This is nothing less than simple exaltation of self above the Church; and making themselves a rule for its orders and doctrines, instead of simply obeying it. Let us mortify self in all its forms; not in the grosser alone, but in those refined shapes in which it keeps its hold upon so many. How few men can endure to be put out of sight and forgotten. All that they say and do has about it something subtil and subdued, hardly preceptible, yet never upperceived, by which self again comes into view. Even in the most sacred things, and in the holiest actions, and with the precepts of self-renouncement in their mouths, there is a something, not so much as a word, but a tone, a look, an

air, which expresses in full the presence and consciousness of a will not dead to its own choice. Let us seek with our whole heart the gift of holy obedience, that in all things we may submit to Christ ruling in His Church, as He submitted to St. John baptizing by the commandment of His Father. Let us, by prayer and self-chastisement, so cross and keep under our likings, preferences, views, opinions, judgments in all things, when the will of the Church is made known, that we may in all things obey "as unto the Lord, and not unto men," with him who said: "I am crucified with Christ; nevertheless I live; yet not I, but Christ liveth in me: and the life which I now live in the flesh, I live by the faith of the Son of Ged, who loved me, and gave Himself for me."

SERMON IV.

FASTING A MEANS TO CHRISTIAN PERFECTION.

St. Matthew iv. 2.

"When He had fasted forty days and forty nights, He was afterward an hungered."

The fasting of our Lord is one of those mysteries by which he Church in her solemn Litany pleads to be delivered from the power of sin. "By Thy Baptism, Fasting, and Temptation, good Lord, deliver us." Like the mystery of His holy Incarnation, of which it is a consequence, it must be far beyond our understanding. It seems strange that the Holy One should fast; that He who was without sin should use a sinner's discipline. We feel hardly to know what we may say of it. Thus much is certain, as the Church teaches us to say, that His forty days' fast was "for our sakes." It was for us sinners that He was incarnate and born; that He submitted to the conditions of humanity; that He took natural sleep and food; and so likewise that He watched and fasted.

Again: it was as a part of His humiliation for us. As He took our nature, so He put Himself in our stead. He took the condition of a sinner; He "was made under the law," as one condemned by it; was circumcised, as one

that needed mortification of the flesh; was baptized with the baptism of repentance, as one that needed forgiveness; even so He fasted, as one that needed the self-chastisement of a penitent. It was the humiliation of the Holy One to undergo all that is the due reward of sinners.

And again: He fasted for our imitation; not, indeed, in the length and intensity of His miraculous abstinence, but according to the measures of our nature. His example has all the force of a command. Though there were no precept of fasting in the New Testament, yet this prominent act of our Great Master, the true pattern of a devout and holy life, would be enough. In this, likewise, it is most true that "the disciple is not above his Master, neither the servant above his Lord." We may be sure that there are virtues and an efficacy in the discipline of fasting known only to Him who "knew what is in man." It is related, in some deeper way than we understand, to the realities of our spiritual warfare, to the actings of our spiritual life, and to the substance of our natural being. Whether we can see all the reasons of it or no, we may rest assured that by His own example He has, in the most emphatic way, prescribed fasting to us; that no one who desires to advance in a devout life will venture to disregard the practice; and that none but they who dare to slight the example of our blessed Lord will venture to speak lightly of the duty.

I say this, because worldly, self-confident, and light-minded people, not knowing of what they speak, are wont to justify their own shallow and self-sparing religion by sinful levities on his most sacred duty. Let them beware of what they are saying. Either our Lord's life is our example, or it is not. Let them choose which they will, and abide by the consequences. To those for whom His life is no example, His death is no atonement; to those to

whom His example is a law, the practice of fasting is a duty.

Fasting is the act of abstaining either wholly or in part from natural food, and that for a longer or for a shorter time, either at the precept of the Church, or by our own voluntary self-discipline. The principle on which it is founded may be stated thus: that as there is a religious use of food, so there is a religious abstinence from it. To this it is commonly objected, that it is a matter wholly indifferent, external, inefficacious; that it savors of formality, false confidence, and dark views of our justification; and that it is all but expressly condemned in holy Scripture. It is asked, Who fasted more than the Pharisees, and what were they? What can be plainer than St. Paul's words? "The kingdom of God is not meat and drink, but righteousness, and peace, and joy in the Holy Ghost."* "Meat commendeth us not to God; for neither if we eat are we the better, neither if we eat not are we the worse."+

Now, rather than answer these objections in detail, it will be better to establish one or two plain truths, on the proof of which these objections must fall to the ground. And in so doing, it may be well not to quote the examples of saints, as Moses, David, Daniel, Anna, St. Peter, St. Paul, and of the early Church; though this, it might be thought, would be enough for any faithful or reverent mind; nor to bring direct texts, such as "When ye fast, be not as the hypocrites;"‡ or, "Can the children of the bride-chamber fast while the bridegroom is with them? . . . The days will come, when the bridegroom shall be taken away from them, and then shall they fast in those days: "§ because such modes of proof, (sufficient as they are,)

^{*} Rom. xiv. 17.

[‡] St. Matt. vi. 18.

^{† 1} Cor. viii. 8.

[§] St. Mark ii. 19, 20.

generally end in a question how far examples are binding, or precepts still in force, and the like.

It will be better simply to take the objector on his own ground, and to show, first, that fasting without a pure, or at least a penitent, heart, is useless, or even worse; next, that fasting is a means to attain both penitence and purity; and, lastly, that without fasting there is seldom to be found any high measure of either.

1. And first let it be said: That fasting without a pure, or at least a penitent, heart, is simply useless, and may be even worse.

This, I suppose, it is hardly necessary to prove. objector cannot overstate it. There are no words of energy and denunciation which are not used in holy Scripture to condemn the hypocrisy of such abominable fasts. prophets are full of them. "Wherefore have we fasted, say they, and Thou seest not? wherefore have we afflicted our soul, and Thou takest no knowledge? Behold, in the day of your fast ye find pleasure, and exact all your labors. Behold, ye fast for strife and debate, and to smite with the fist of wickedness: ye shall not fast as ye do this day, to make your voice to be heard on high. Is it such a fast that I have chosen? a day for a man to afflict his soul? is it to bow down his head as a bulrush, and to spread sackcloth and ashes under him? wilt thou call this a fast, and an acceptable day to the Lord? Is not this the fast that I have chosen? to loose the bands of wickedness, to undo the heavy burdens, and to let the oppressed go free, and that ye break every yoke? Is it not to deal thy bread to the hungry, and that thou bring the poor, that are cast out, to thy house? when thou seest the naked, that thou cover him; and that thou hide not thyself from thine own flesh?"*

Again: "Pray not for this people for their good. When they fast, I will not hear their cry." * And again: "Speak unto all the people of the land, and to the priests, saying, When ye fasted and mourned in the fifth month. even those seventy years, did ye at all fast unto me, even to me? And when ye did eat, and when ye did drink, did not ye eat for yourselves, and drink for yourselves?" † "When ye fast, be not, as the hypocrites, of a sad countenance; for they disfigure their faces, that they may appear unto men to fast. Verily I say unto you, They have their reward."i "Thou blind Pharisee, cleanse first that which is within the cup and platter, that the outside of them may be clean also." \" Not that which goeth into the mouth defileth a man; but that which cometh out of the mouth, this defileth a man. . . . For out of the heart proceed evil thoughts, murders, adulteries, fornications, thefts, false witness, blasphemies: these are the things which defile a man."

There were Pharisees then in the Church of God, and there are Pharisees now; men of an ascetic outside, full of darkness and impurity within. A rigid system of formal religion often covers a thoroughly licentious state of heart. Moreover, they that fast with scrupulous rigor are sometimes proud, uncharitable, self-complacent, or indevout, irreverent, and secular. All this is most true and fearful; but I suppose that no one ever thought that acts of fasting could cancel a habit of mental sin. Nay, they become both sins and dangers in themselves. Therefore let the very worst be said of fastings without repentance, mortification, and charity. They are mere unsanctified hunger and thirst, with self-deception. Outward humiliation without a cor-

^{*} Jer. xiv. 11, 12. † Zech. vii. 5, 6. ‡ St. Matt. vi 16.

[§] St. Matt. xxiii. 26. | St. Matt. xv 11, 19, 20.

responding inward humility, external severities without internal abstinence from sins of the world and of the flesh, are simple hypocrisy. They are not only useless, but fearful provocations of God. On this let so much suffice.

2. And further: what is fasting but one of the means of attaining to penitence and purity?

It is not an end. In itself it is nothing. There is no fasting in heaven, no abstinence among the spirits of the just. It is only we, fallen and sullied, that need this discipline of humiliation. Fasting is a part of repentance. It not only expresses indignation at ourselves, as unworthy of God's pure creatures, but it helps to perfect our abasement. It is a part of our humiliation: a means of realising our own weakness, and of mortifying the strength and lusts of the flesh. Now all this will be plain, if we consider what holy Scripture tells us of the flesh in which we are born, and of its power against and over the spirit which dwells in us.

Throughout holy Scripture we are taught that the flesh which we bear is the occasion of disobedience. I say the occasion, because it was not originally the source. The temptations of sin passed through the flesh as their avenues of approach; and sin, when committed, deposited its evil in our mortal body. Therefore the flesh in holy Scripture is spoken of as the principle of disobedience and the source of temptation. St. Paul says, "They that are after the flesh do mind the things of the flesh; but they that are after the Spirit the things of the Spirit. For to be carnally minded is death; but to be spiritually minded is life and peace. Because the carnal mind is enmity against God: for it is not subject to the law of God, neither indeed can be. So then they that are in the flesh cannot please God."* Again.

"If ye live after the flesh, ye shall die: but if ye through the Spirit do mortify the deeds of the body, ye shall live."* Again: "Make not provision for the flesh to fulfil the lusts thereof." † "Use not liberty for an occasion to the flesh." ‡ "Walk in the Spirit, and ye shall not fulfil the lusts of the flesh. For the flesh lusteth against the Spirit, and the Spirit against the flesh: and these are contrary the one to the other: so that ye cannot do the things that ye would. . . . The works of the flesh are these: adultery, fornication, uncleanness, lasciviousness, idolatry, witchcraft, hatred, variance, emulations, wrath, strife, seditions, heresies, envyings, murders, drunkenness, revellings, and such like." "He that soweth to his flesh shall of the flesh reap corruption." || St. Paul speaks of "purifying of the flesh;" St. Peter, of "putting away the filth of the flesh;" of alluring "through the lusts of the flesh;" St. John, of "the lust of the flesh, the lust of the eye, and the pride of life." St. Jude, of "the garment spotted by the flesh." ¶ From all these, which might easily be multiplied, it is plain there is an inclination to evil, not imaginary and metaphysical, but real and active, in the flesh of which we are born; that our state does not consist in a merely spiritual condition; that our spiritual condition is subjected, by the sin of man, to the power of another inclination or law, which dwells and works in the body of our natural flesh. In early times this truth was so deeply apprehended that some fell into the error of believing in the existence of two principles, good and evil; of which the one was in and of God, the other in and of the matter of the visible world.

[¶] Heb. ix. 13; 1 St. Peter iii. 21; 2 St. Peter ii. 18; 1 St. John ii. 16 Jude 23.

They believed matter to be unmixed evil; and rather than ascribe its origin to God, they supposed it to have its origin in another being, thereby destroying the unity of God's creation, and His monarchy over all things. I note this only because we seem, in a recoil from Manichæan errors, to have gone into the opposite extreme, and to treat the flesh as if it were not the subject of evil at all; as if sin lay only in our spiritual nature, and our probation were confined to the workings of the mind. If heretics of old abhorred matter and all contact with it as evil, we have come to be incredulous of the mysterous agency of evil which is in it; and in the conduct of our personal religion exclude it from our thoughts. If this were not so, how could we be so illinclined to believe that the habit of fasting has a real and effective relation to the purifying of our souls? How could we slight it as a thing external, heterogenous, and inactive in our sanctification? Many people formally reject the practice as a whole. Others are willing to admit it so far as to be a sort of public acknowledgment of the duty of humiliation: some as expressing, not as promoting, the contrition of the heart; that is, as a sign or symbol of what already exists, and is wrought by other agencies: not as a means, no less than an expression. That is to say, they treat fasting as others do the holy Sacraments, not as a means to effect an end, but as signs that the end has been already otherwise effected. This is surely a highly unscriptural view of the matter. How strained and unnatural it is to interpret St. Paul, when he says, "Mortify, therefore, your members which are upon the earth," or "they that are Christ's have crucified the flesh, with the affections and lusts,"* to mean, be careful to form inward habits of mental religion! And how shallow a knowledge does it imply of

our wonderful and fearful nature: how secure and dangerous an unconsciousness of what we are! It is surely impossible for any one to reflect at all without perceiving the relation which exists between the habit of the body and the condition of the mind; between the workings of the flesh and the qualities of the soul. Besides these self-evident proofs, which the one word sensuality will suffice to show, is it not manifest that the sins of anger, pride, hardness of heart, indolence, sloth, selfishness, are so closely related to the body that it is hard to say where they chiefly dwell, whether in the spirit or in the flesh? Does not the universal language of mankind connect them together? Does not the natural instinct of discerning the characters of men by outward tokens prove to us that, whether we will or no, we do associate the bodily and mental habits of men together? Does not a free, or a soft, or excessive course of life insensibly affect the whole character? Is not the tradition of mortification as universal as that of sacrifices, pointing to a truth to be afterwards revealed in the gospel? And what do all these things prove, but that the body, or, as holy Scripture says, the flesh, is the occasion, the avenue, the provoking, aggravating, sustaining cause of moral and spiritual evil in the soul? that it kindles and keeps alive the particular affections which, when consented to by the will, become our personal and actual sins? It follows, then, at once, that an external self-discipline, such as fasting, does enter into the means of our sanctification; that as the obstructions to penitence and purity of heart arise chiefly out of sensuality, or indulgence of the affections and motions of the flesh or carnal mind, so a system which withdraws the excitements and contradicts their effects must tend to set the soul freer for its purely spiritual exercises. Let it be taken only as a removal of obstructing

causes, and of intimate and subtile hindrances. This at least, upon the lowest ground, must be conceded. And vet it is hardly possible for any thoughtful person to rest satisfied with this imperfect view. The fasting of our blessed Lord was not a mere semblance; it was not an appearance, as the Docetæ believed His manhood itself to be—an unreal action, for the sake of leaving an example to Though He was all pure, and had in Him nothing that fasting could mortify, as He had nothing on which sin could lay its hold, yet, without doubt, even in His perfect and spotless humanity, abstinence had its proper work. "Though He were a son, yet learned He obedience by the things which He suffered;"* by that inscrutable mystery of suffering He tasted of sorrows, which in His impassible nature He could never receive into His Person. He was weary, faint, grieved, buffeted, and put to pain, even as we are: and these things on His humanity had the same effect as they have on ours. So, without doubt, in His fasting. What may have been its effects on the actings of His spotless soul in its aspect towards God, we dare not speculate; but can we doubt that the fast of forty days had its own peculiar work in that perfect sympathy towards us, by which He is able to feel with us in our natural infirmities? Was it not out of the same depth of experience that He spoke, when, as St. Mark writes, "In those days the multitude being very great, and having nothing to eat, Jesus called His disciples unto Him, and saith unto them, I have compassion on the multitude, because they have now been with Me three days, and have nothing to eat: and if I send them away fasting to their own houses, they will faint by the way: for divers of them came from far." May we not say, that He thereby made trial of such bodily infirmities as give to the poor, the sick, the self-denying, a peculiar share in His perfect sympathy?

With us, however, fasting is a means of humiliation, abasement, repentance for the guilt of sins committed, and for the soils of sin which penetrate our inmost soul. sinners it is a sharp and necessary medicine to cleanse our hearts, to waken and excite devotion, to chasten and clear the spiritual affections towards God, and to humble our natural pride. These are its first and obvious uses. also helps to form in us a pure and unselfish sympathy with the suffering members of Christ, in their patience and necessities, in their faintness and heavy toil, in the languor of sickness and feebleness of age. It is good for us to see our tables spread like a poor man's board; for many go from their birth to their grave and never know the taste of hunger. There are secrets of suffering into which not only the rich and soft, but even the charitable and pitiful, can never enter, except by self denials, of which fasting is an example and a pledge.

3. And this leads us to the last point. It may be safely said, that without fasting and the habits implied in it, we shall hardly attain to any high degrees of the spiritual life. I would not be understood to say, that there are not to be found some who never fast, and are yet purer and more penitent than some who do: that is very certain. Some who fast seem not at all the better: rather, as has been said, they seem to grow less gentle, less self mistrusting, less charitable—more high-toned in their professions, projects, and censures.

Again: some who have never been taught to look upon fasting as a duty have gone through life without using it as a part of their personal religion, yet are nevertheless truly pious, gentle, and devout. But the question is rather to be

stated thus: seeing what they are without this scriptural practice, what would they have been if they had been early taught to use it? Surely we may believe they would, in all parts of a holy life, have outstripped their present selves. If they have come to be what they are without following this precept of our Lord's example, what might they not have attained by a fuller imitation of His life! For it is not to be denied, that there are, even among persons of a devout life, two very distinct classes. There is one which consists of people who are truly conscientious, faithful to the light that is in them, charitable, blameless, diligent in the usual means of grace, and visibly advanced in the practice and principle of a religious obedience. Yet there is something wanting. Their alms are given without the grace of charity: their consolations are not soothing. There is a want of sympathy, tenderness, meekness, reverence, submission of will, self-renouncement: sometimes there is a tone which is even selfish, imperious, heartless, or worldly.

The other class are perceptibly distinct; and their difference may be said to lie in the depth and vividness of their charity and compassion. They inspire no fear, except that which attends on great purity of life; they attract and win to themselves the love of others, especially of the poor, the timid, the suffering, and even of children. There is about them something which is rather to be felt than defined. We feel ourselves to be in the presence of a superior, and yet of one who has nothing fearful or exciting, nothing that rudely abashes or repels us. We feel to be sensibly drawn to them, and to be thoroughly persuaded of their goodness and gentleness of heart. Though we know that our least faults will in their eyes seem greater than much graver faults in the eyes of others, yet we have less fear of making them

known, because we feel sure of their tenderness and kind interpretation. Such they are in their aspect towards us. What is their devotion, as it is seen by God alone, we can only conjecture from the purity and intensity of all their spiritual life.

Now such characters as this certainly seem almost to differ in kind, rather than in degree, from the others. They have another pattern of devotion before them, and are under another discipline. Their self-control is perceptibly of a finer sort; the subjugation of their passions is evidently on a more perfect rule; and their devotion has a vividness and depth which the others do not possess. Now this seems to be the cast of character which is seldom, if ever, formed without an habitual exercise of secret humiliation. All that we perceive of sympathy and gentleness is the result of contrition and self-chastisement before God. And this is wrought in them by a system of self-discipline, into which fasting seldom, if ever, fails to enter. Without this, and the kindred habits allied to it, there can be but little of that recollection of heart out of which comes a keener perception of the spirituality of the law of God, of the malign character of sin, or of the habitual consciousness of our own infinite unworthiness in the sight of Heaven. All these, which are the first principles of repentance and purification, are but faintly, if at all, apprehended by any but those who use in secret a discipline of self-chastisement; and all attempts at such discipline will be found, sooner or later, to be most imperfect, and indeed all but in vain, unless they are ordered on the rule which is here given by the example of our blessed Lord. Fasting and prayer are so related, that in their spirit, quality, and effect, they will rise or fall together; and fasting is so related to the spiritual cross of

Christ, that we may believe it to possess virtues greater and more penetrating than we may ever know in this life.

Lastly, as to the particular rules by which this duty is to be limited and directed, I cannot attempt to say any thing; partly because it is hardly possible to be particular without provoking objections to the principle from those to whom the instances will not apply; and partly because, in such questions of personal religion, they who are not able to guide themselves ought to have recourse to their spiritual pastor. It is but to keep up a delusion, too prevalent already, to attempt to do by public preaching what can only be efficiently done, in particular cases, by private counsel and advice. I will therefore only venture on two suggestions.

One is, whatsoever be your practice, let it be without ostentation. "Thou, when thou fastest, anoint thy head and wash thy face, that thou appear not unto men to fast, but unto thy Father which is in secret." There are few that can stand being noticed, without suffering in the purity of their intention. Howsoever well they may have begun, secondary motives insinuate themselves with a strange subtilty. The comments of others, either by way of opposition, or, much more dangerously, of approval, seldom fail to produce an unhealthy self-consciousness which mars all, and then "verily we have our reward." Moreover, there is no reason why we should not carry our secret discipline with us into all paths and conditions of life. We may fast in the midst of the world, in its business and distractions, even when compelled to be present in the midst of its feastings. Let it be a matter between ourselves and God.

The other suggestion is, that we do not venture on any over-rigid practice at first. Excessive beginnings often end

in miserable relaxations at last. Hardly any thing so much deteriorates the character as retracting good resolutions, or falling away from high professions. Little acts are great tests of self-control, steadiness, perseverance. Let us be content with these, and turn it to our humiliation that we are neither worthy nor able to undertake greater things. Higher rules of devotion are for those that are stronger than we. Let us ever bear in mind that all such practices are no more than means to an end. Let us never rest till that end is attained. And let us ever bear in mind that, fast and afflict ourselves as we may, there is only one "fountain opened for sin and for uncleanness," only one foundation, one sacrifice, one atonement for sin, which is the cross and blood-shedding of our Lord Jesus Christ.

SERMON V.

THE NATURE AND LIMITS OF TEMPTATION.

ST. MATTHEW iv. 1.

*Then was Jesus led up of the Spirit into the wilderness to be tempted of the devil."

This deeply mysterious passage of our Lord's humiliation can never be understood by us more than in part. It is full of truths only partially revealed; and, from our inability to comprehend them, we must refrain from offering too boldly to interpret the nature of His temptation.

Certain great truths, however, we may learn from what is here written. That same Spirit with Whom the Son of God was one from everlasting, and by Whom also He was anointed at His baptism, was here His guide to the place of His spiritual conflict with the Evil One. When it is said, He was led of the Spirit, it is to be understood in the same sense as when it is said, He was anointed, tempted, and the like—the man Jesus Christ being susceptible of all these, by reason of His true and proper humanity. That same Spirit by which He was anointed to preach the gospel to the poor,* was also His guide in all that it behoved the Messiah to do and to suffer for the sin of the world. St.

Paul tells us that it was "through the Eternal Spirit"* that He offered Himself to God; and that He was "declared to be the Son of God with power, according to the Spirit of holiness, by the resurrection from the dead:"† that is to say, by the Divine Nature in which the Son and the Spirit are one and indivisible. Thus, through the Spirit He was led up of His own free will to be tempted of the devil. It was the onset of the warfare which was to end in the destruction of "him that hath the power of death."

There is an evident relation, partly of coincidence and partly of contrast, between the temptation of the first Adam in the garden, and of the second Adam in the wilderness. The first Adam was tempted through the senses, and by the allurements of self-exaltation, and covetousness of gifts which he did not possess. So with Christ: He was tempted to satisfy His hunger by a miracle; to display His divine nature, by suspending the laws which govern our state, to which He had made Himself subject, and to forsake His Father for the offer of earthly greatness. In the two first temptations it does not at once appear in what the sin to which He was tempted consists. It may be that Satan sought for proof that He was the very Christ, and that he hoped either to destroy or to draw Him from God. temptations were therefore put in a tone of incredulity and provocation, like that of the rulers who derided Him upon the cross, saying, "He saved others; Himself He cannot save: let Him save Himself, if He be the Christ, the chosen of God:" and the malefactor also who "railed on Him, saying, If Thou be the Christ, save Thyself and us."‡ These words express a great depth of contumely, mixed with incredulity and fear. It would appear that Satan half knew and half feared lest He were the Christ, and so

^{*} Heb. ix. 14. † Rom. i. 4. † St. Luke xxiii. 35, 39.

shaped the temptations as to goad Him, as he thought, into a manifestation of Himself, and in ways that would destroy the pure integrity of His obedience to God. The temptation lay not so much in the particular form, as in the moral character and effect of the act. So it was in the first temptation of man: the act was in itself, it may be, indifferent; the spring of it was disobedience, and the end was death. In this instance it would have been a renouncing of subjection to His Father, and a defeat of the ends for which He had become incarnate.

Now, this temptation in the wilderness was a part of the humiliation of the Son of God. As He took our nature with all its infirmities, it was needful that He should make full trial of our state. As He prayed, wept, and hungered, so also He was tempted. It belonged to the truth of our nature, and to the realities of our state in this world of sin, that He should suffer as we suffer. And this is specially mentioned by St. Paul, who encourages us by saying that He "was in all points tempted like as we are."* It was needful that He should learn by experience the full misery and hatefulness of sin, and the weakness and susceptibility of our nature: for this even the Omniscient, because of the perfection of His own nature, learned "by the things which He suffered." What humiliation can be greater than that He "who cannot be tempted with evil," should be solicited by the horrible and hateful suggestions of mistrustful, presumptuous, self-exalting thoughts, and that with the taunts and allurements of the devil? What is more afflicting to holy minds than the haunting suggestions or visions of evil? And yet surely no such trial was ever so afflicting to any other as to the Holy One of God. The absolute holiness of the Godhead was then brought into contact with sin, as the

divine immortality was brought into the neighborhood of death upon the cross. It is impossible for us to measure the intense humiliation and spiritual anguish of such a familiarity with the Wicked One. None but God, in whose sight the heavens are not clean, can know the hatefulness of sin as it was manifested to Christ, or the depth of sorrow and abhorrence which was excited in the soul of Him who was without sin.

Again: this temptation, it may be, was as necessary to our redemption as the Passion upon the cross. parallel to the temptation of Adam in Eden in this point, that as he by falling subjected us to sin and death, so Christ by overcoming has delivered us from the same. The first Adam was our head unto condemnation; the Second is our Head unto everlasting like. Now it is to be observed, that our Lord was tempted as a man, and as a man He overcame. He did not put forth divine powers of miracle, nor support Himself by divine interpositions. He might, indeed, have let loose twelve legions of angels against the tempter; but how then should He have been the example and pledge of mastery to us that are tempted? His victory over the devil was gained by the preparations of prayer and fasting, and by the power of patience and steadfast obedience to God. The same shield, and the same weapons of offence, we also possess. His mastery was gained, as His temptation was endured, strictly within the conditions of our humanity.

That this conflict was complete is evident from the fact, that though St. Luke says Satan "departed from Him for a scason," we no where read that our blessed Lord was ever again solicited by his allurements. He was buffeted and blasphemed by the malignity of the devil; contradicted and pursued by the hatred of men; all the powers of dark-

ness were in activity against Him; yet we no where find that He was again tempted to withdraw his obedience from His Father in heaven. Even in the last night of agony in the garden, in the midst of exhaustion, fear, and anguish, when the tempter might have seemed to have found a season of peculiar weakness, he did not appear: his work lay elsewhere; he was busied in another direction. compassed the death of Him whom he could not overcome; he had "entered into the heart of Judas;" he was counterworking, as it might seem, to destroy One whom he could not defile. Now this perfect overthrow of Satan, by a person in our nature, is a mystery out of which our masteries over temptation are derived, as our falls are derived out of the first transgression. Christ has overcome for us; and by virtue of our union with Him, He daily overcomes Satan in and through our regenerate nature, and therein perpetually repeats and carries out His first mastery in the wilderness. It was this great warfare and victory that St. John saw in vision. "There was war in heaven: Michael and his angels fought against the dragon; and the dragon fought and his angels, and prevailed not; neither was their place found any more in heaven. And the great dragon was cast out, that old serpent, called the Devil, and Satan, which deceiveth the whole world: he was cast out into the earth, and his angels were cast out with him. And I heard a loud voice saying in heaven, Now is come salvation, and strength, and the kingdom of our God, and the power of His Christ: for the accuser of our brethren is cast down, which accused them before our God day and night. And they overcame him by the blood of the Lamb, and by the word of their testimony; and they loved not their lives unto the death."* Apostles, prophets, martyrs, and saints,

^{*} Rev. xii. 7-11.

all the members of His mystical body, became partakers of his mastery over the kingdom of darkness, and over the devil, the prince of this world. So, through persecution, and distress, and torment, in the provinces and cities of the world, in market-places and theatres, in the wilderness and in solitude, they overcame the strength and the subtilty of the tempter; and in weakness confounded his power whom all the world worshipped.

This temptation of our Lord Jesus Christ lays open to us the reality and nature of our own. It lifts the veil which is upon our eyes, the unconsciousness which is upon our hearts, and shows us what is really going on at all times in the spiritual world around us; by what we are beset, and what are the mysterious powers which are exerting themselves upon us. Much that we never suspect to be more than the effect of chance, or hazard, or the motion of our own minds, or the caprice of fancy, may be the agency of this same awful being who tempted both the first Adam and the Second. There is something very fearful in the thought that Satan, whom we so slight or forget, is an angel-a spiritual being of the highest order-endowed therefore with energies and gifts of a superhuman power; with intelligence as great as his malice; lofty, majestic, and terrible even in his fall. Next to the holy angels, what being can it be more fearful to have opposed to us, and that with intense and vigilant enmity, and at all times hovering invisibly about us?

From what we read, then, of the temptation of Christ we may learn:

1. First, that it is no sin to be tempted; nor is our being tempted any proof of our being sinful. This is a most con solatory thought; for among the afflictions of life few are so bitter and perpetual as temptation. Sorrows, pains, dis-

appointments, crosses, oppositions, which come upon us from without, are not to be compared in suffering to the inward distress of being tempted to evil deeds, words, desires, and thoughts. The subtilty and insinuation of evil is so great that it gains an entrance before we are aware of it: sometimes it seems to glance off by a sort of reflection from things the most opposite in their nature; sometimes to be taken into our minds unperceived in the midst of indifferent thoughts, and then suddenly to unfold itself. Every one who is seeking for Christian perfection must have found how thoughts of resentment, pride, self-complacency, repining, and others unholier still, sometimes seem to shoot off from the holiest acts and contemplations, and again to spring up out of subjects of the greatest purity and humiliation; sometimes also in times of deep sorrow and depression, when our minds are most remote from any conscious indulgence of their own evil. This, and much more which is implied by this, will be recognised by all who are seeking after holiness; and it is this that causes the bitterest and most sickening distress of mind. Sometimes it makes us doubt of our whole religious life-almost of our regeneration. Am I not even yet in the flesh, "in the gall of bitterness, and in the bond of iniquity?" can I dare to pray? is not even prayer a mere profession? how can I approach God with a soul haunted and darkened by such a presence of evil? It is, indeed, well to be suspicious and selfaccusing; for there can be no doubt but that most of our mental temptations find their opportunity in actual faults, past or present, or in that original taint of sin which is still in us: that is to say, in those parts of our nature which are the effects of the fall of man, and of our own personal disobedience. But the susceptibility of temptation belongs to us, not as fallen beings, but as men. Perfect beings may be

tempted, as the angels: and sinless, as Adam in the garden, Christ in the wilderness.

So long as we are in this state of probation, and in this world of conflict between sin and holiness, it must be so. Even though we were made sinless at this very hour, still the power and subtilty of evil by which we are surrounded would not cease to approach us, and to force itself upon our perception and our hatred. Thus much we may learn for our comfort: though we should convert it into a snare, if we were to solve the fact of our daily consciousness of evil thoughts and inclinations by this truth alone. It is too true that, for the most part, we are tempted because we have aggravated and inflamed our original sinfulness. We by disobedience have given to it a vividness and appetite which by nature it did not possess. Old thoughts, wishes, associations, practices, are the source of most of our inward defile-To our natural susceptibility and our original corruption we have added an immeasurable range of inclinations to things forbidden; and on these Satan fastens. However, we may take this comfort: after we have assured ourselves by strict self-examination that the temptation by which we are distressed is not the result of any act of our own will, we may rest in peace, thanking God for the pain it inflicts upon us, praying Him to make that pain, if He sees fit, sharper and deeper, that it may issue in an intense hatred of evil, in a more vivid consciousness of our own misery, in lower humiliation, and greater purity of heart. Any suffering is to be welcomed which teaches us sorrow and hatred for sin. In this way temptations are turned by the Holy Spirit against themselves. That which in its first intention would be the defilement, if not the death, of the soul, turns to chastisement, mortification, and cleansing. It wakens and quickens all the powers of the soul; fear, selfrestraint, watchfulness, caution, sensitive shrinking from the least appearance of evil, strong and persevering efforts to deaden and destroy so much as the very liability to be affected by temptations. So it was with the Corinthians to whom St. Paul said: "Behold this selfsame thing, that ye sorrowed after a godly sort, what carefulness it wrought in you, yea, what clearing of yourselves, yea, what indignation, yea, what fear, yea, what vehement desire, yea, what zeal, yea, what revenge! In all things ye have approved yourselves to be clear in this matter."* The very sorrow and distress are our safeguard. We should be in danger if we did not feel them: and we are safer as we feel them more acutely, and use them for our humiliation and spiritual cleansing.

2. Another truth following on the last is, that nothing can convert a temptation into a sin but the consent of our own will. This one principle, clearly seen, is a key to nine-tenths of all questions of conscience on this subject. The worst of temptations, so long as they are without our will, are no part of us: by consent they become adopted and incorporated with our spiritual nature—thoughts become wishes, and wishes intents. Consent is the act of the whole inward man. So long as we refuse to yield, it matters little what temptations beset us; they may distress and darken, and even for a time seem to defile our hearts: but they cannot overcome us. The thought of satisfying His natural hunger, of vindicating His divine Sonship by miracles, the visions of this false world, the kingdoms of the earth and the glory of them, were cast like shadows on the clear brightness of our Lord's spirit; but they won no assent, left no traces, no deposit of doubt, desire, or inclination. They were simply hateful, and were cast forth with

an intense rejection; and that because they encountered a holy will, which is of divine strength even in man.

In measure it is so in every saint: it may be so with us. As the will is strengthened with energy, and upheld by the presence of Christ dwelling in the heart of the pure and lowly; so the temptations of the world, the flesh, and the devil, are expelled from us, and lose all share in our personal existence. This explains the various degrees of power that temptations have over various men. seem never mastered by them, some seldom, some often, and some always. Of the first we have spoke enough. The others will be found in two classes: they are either those who, without positive habits of sin, are also without positive habits of holiness; or those whose habits are positively unholy. When I say, those who, without positive habits of sin, are also without positive habits of holiness, I mean such persons as are pure in their lives, benevolent, upright, and amiable, but not devout towards God. This in itself is of course, in one sense, sin, because it is a coming "short of the glory" and acceptance of God. I am using "sin" in its popular sense, of wilful acts of evil. Now such people are open to the full incursions of the tempter in the whole extent of that natural sinfulness which is in them. This gives them a predisposition on which he acts with daily success. They are open and unguarded, and the will that is in them is weak and undisciplined; it has no expulsive power in it, by which evil is cleared from a heart that is sanctified by a life of holiness. We see such people become inconsistent, vain, ostentatious, worldly, and then designing, farsighted for their own interests, selfish, unscrupulous, false to their friends, their principles, their professions. We are surprised by unexpected acts out of keeping with what we believe them to be, and lines

of practice in direct opposition to plain and evident duty. The key of all this is, that they have secretly yielded their will to some temptation, and converted it into their own sin; and that sin is their master. We sometimes see such people deteriorating with a frightful intensity and speed; so much so as to make us remember how awfully the emptiness and preparedness of an undevout heart is described by our Lord. The unclean spirit "saith, I will return into my house from whence I came out; and when he is come, he findeth it swept and garnished. Then goeth he, and taketh with him seven other spirits more wicked than himself, and they enter in and dwell there."*

The case is, of course, much more obviously true of those who live lives of positive unholiness. Every sin that a man commits is an invitation to the tempter to tempt him thenceforward to that particular sin. So that every man of a profligate life is the subject of a manifold temptation, which is perpetually multiplying itself. First he is tempted of his own heart, then by Satan, then by consent he tempts Satan to tempt him again in the same forms, circumstances, and details; for by consent he has made that his master sin. And thenceforward it becomes, as we say, a ruling sin, which is so seldom broken off that St. Peter says of certain, that they have "eyes full of adultery, and that cannot cease from sin."† They have an active commerce with the tempter, a mingling of will and desire with him; and the inflammation and power of evil affections become a bondage through which it becomes at last morally impossible to break. And how does this differ from a possession of the devil? Is it not a possession in all the reality of fact and truth? How did Satan enter into the heart of Judas with any fuller or more personal presence than this?

^{*} St. Matt. xii. 44, 45.

How can we otherwise explain the settled, deliberate career of sin in which some men live—the perfect impenetrableness of heart and conscience with which they hold out against all warnings, fears, and chastisements; as, for instance, in sensuality, falsehood, or pride?

This, then, is the sum of the matter: temptations are no sins so long as we keep our will pure from all consent to them; when we consent, they become sins, are infused into our spiritual nature, and are the first admissions of that which in the end may be no less than a possession.

3. And this leads to one point more—I mean, to the nature and limits of the power of temptation. First, it is plain that Satan has no power over the will of man except through itself. It must be won by self-betrayal, or not at This is absolutely certain, and lies at the root of the distinction between obedience and disobedience, holiness and sin. Next, it would appear that he can have no direct power over the affections. He must approach them, as they lie round the will, through the eye and the ear, the touch or the imagination. Through the senses, the avenues of temptation are ready and direct; and all the world around us ministers to danger. Therefore our Lord was so searching in His commands to pluck out the offending eye, and to cut off the offending hand. The first visible objects which Satan used to tempt withal were pure creatures of God, the fruit of the tree which God had blessed. So subtil is evil. But since he gained an entrance into the creation of God, he has, through the will and works of wicked men, framed for himself a world of his own, full of the visible forms and suggestions of pride, lust, impurity, covetousness. What else are idolatries, oracles, licentious ceremonies, lying books, unholy sights, pomps, and wars, or, again, false casuistry, sceptical and defiling literature,

luxurious arts, worldly grandeur, and the like? And these things find their way into all eyes and ears, and are quickened by the craft and activity of men already corrupt. This world of evil hangs upon us round about, and through it he insinuates the quality of evil into the affections, and by them sways and possesses the will.

And again: we cannot doubt that he has still more concealed ways of addressing himself to us. He is a spirit, and we are of a spiritual nature. It is impossible to limit or define the action of intellect on intellect, and imagination on imagination. There are some temptations so peculiar, so sudden, so abrupt in their onset, so contrary to our natural and habitual bias, so disturbing and vehement in their first entrance on the mind, that we can hardly doubt that the tempter has a direct avenue to the intellectual and imaginative powers of our nature: for instance, religious delusions, in which he appears as an angel of light to the perverted mind. There is, by the common consent of man, such a thing as the direct instigation of the devil, which, though its means of working may be generally through the senses, we cannot doubt is also a work of direct and disembodied evil. Such, for instance, as the unaccountable desire to commit great and eccentric crimes; sudden impulses to do things most feared and hated, concurring with an opportunity unperceived till the impulse detected it. Now though these are extreme cases, and such as we are not commonly exposed to, they lay open a law, so to speak, of temptation which has place in our common life. I mean, the direct power and agency of Satan on the imagination. It is not necessary now to go further, or to inquire whether the images of the mind of which he serves himself are gathered from the ideas of previous experience, or suggested, new and unknown, from without. All that we are concerned

with now is, to show that he has no hold over the will, nor power over the affections, except through the images of the senses and of the mind. And this is a most consolatory and a most practical truth. It shows us our perfect safety so long as the Spirit of Christ dwells in our hearts: and it teaches us where to watch against the approaches of the tempter.

Let us pray, then, that our eyes, ears, and all senses be mortified; that the cross be upon them all; that no images of pomp, vanity, or lust may pass through them into the affections of our hearts; that no visions of sins past, nor remembrance of any thing that can kindle pride, anger, resentment, or any unholy passion, may haunt us; that our will may be dwelt in by the will of our sinless Lord, who for us overcame in the wilderness, and, if we be pure and true, will "bruise Satan under our feet shortly."

SERMON VI.

WORLDLY CARES.

St. Matthew iv. 3.

'When the tempter came to Him, he said, If Thou be the Son of God, command that these stones be made bread.'

WHEN our Lord had fulfilled the forty days of His miraculous fast, "He was afterward an hungered." He felt at that moment, more than all the sensations of languor and exhaustion to which long abstinence from food commonly brings our nature. It was a time of peculiar weakness, when, if ever, the tempter might hope to have advantage of this mysterious Person. When he came to Him, therefore, he took up the words which fell from heaven at His baptism. He said, "If Thou be the Son of God, command that these stones be made bread." It seems to have been partly for the sake of finding out what He truly was, and partly to prepare the way for other and worse suggestions. We cannot say how far Satan knew with Whom he had to do. Probably he could only gather His real nature by the manifestations which were revealed in this world. The tempter had, we may believe, no knowledge derived from his own intelligence who this mysterious servant of God might be. He was no longer privy to the secrets of Heaven; and no

revelations in the unseen world had made him a partaker in those "things which the angels desire to look into." His knowledge, it seems, was to be gathered from tokens and intimations given to mankind; as, the vision and song of the heavenly host at His birth, and the descent of the Holy Ghost, with the Father's voice at Jordan. And here he came to put all this to the test, and to elicit something more. He came seeking a sign; and that sign, first of all, was a miracle, to be wrought by Christ upon the stones of the wilderness, to stay His hunger. But He who had compassion on the faintness of the multitude would not regard Himself. They had been with Him only three days, and He had fasted forty; but He would not outrun His Father's time, or change His Father's way. He knew, it would seem, that in the end of His temptation, when He had borne it all, and accomplished the mysterious conflict, there should come ministering angels to His succor.

But my object is not so much to enter upon the detail of this temptation, and to explain its circumstances, as to use it for our own instruction.

It may be taken as a sample of a class of temptations to which some of us are especially liable. In our Lord's hunger we may see a type of the straits and necessities into which we sometimes fall in our worldly condition; and in the temptation of Satan an example of the unlawful and indirect ways in which men are tempted to escape from them. In one word, it may be taken as a sample of the temptations which beset those who have the part of Martha, who live in the world, charged with its temporal duties and cares, who have to provide for their own living, and for the support of others who belong to them. Our Lord's conduct is an example of trust in the providential care of God, and of the duty of abstaining from all unsanc-

tioned ways of providing for ourselves. We will go on to consider this subject somewhat more fully.

1. And first of all, this shows us the sin of seeking our livelihood in any unlawful ways. This is a subject on which the consciences of men are sometimes strangely blind. The pressure of want, the encumbrances and diffi culties of an embarrassed fortune, the needs of others that depend on them, are very strong and urgent reasons for great and laborious efforts to obtain a maintenance in the And these are often much increased in the case of those who are, or have been, richer, whose birth lifts them above the lower kinds of employment and of temptation, and over whom the habits and expectations of society cast a powerful influence. What is more strongly felt and declared than that-" A man must live: I cannot afford to throw away any means of subsistence, or any office of emolument. If I could do so in my own person, I cannot for the sake of others. If I had nobody to think of but myself, I might withdraw from this, or abandon that, employment. Besides, the Bible tells us, 'If any provide not for his own, and specially for those of his own house, he hath denied the faith, and is worse than an infidel.'* is not more a duty of reason than of religion."

Let it be observed, I am not speaking of acts of direct robbery,—stealing, fraud, peculation, nor of the ruder or more naked forms of dishonesty by which needy men are often tempted to seek their living in unlawful ways; nor of gambling and living by chance, and the like:—all these are self-evidently wicked; but of a finer class of temptations. Sometimes men of a high-toned profession in life allow themselves to participate in trades, speculations, undertakings, which are perhaps connived at by those who

execute the laws of the land, though they are forbidden by the laws themselves; or they consciously suffer profits to be made over to them which they know are not their due. They let others make mistakes against themselves without setting them right; they leave them under false impressions of the value of things which pass between them by way of sale; they let mistaken notions, arising from their own words, remain uncorrected: or by acts they imply, in matters of business, what they would not say. They are willing to be parties, if it so happen, to unequal bargains; or they are not considerate of the quality of those they treat with, or of their ability to protect themselves; or they con ceal knowledge which would change the whole intention of those they deal with, while they themselves act upon it. Many of these things have no distinct names. practised-I will not say, permitted-in commerce and trade by a sort of lax interpretation of duty; and though not pronounced to be fair, are nevertheless treated as if they were the necessary fortunes of offensive and defensive warfare, which the buyers and sellers, and merchants, and money-changers, and traffickers of this world are compelled to carry on and to submit to. The market, and the exchange, and the receipt of custom, are perilous places having an atmosphere of their own; and in it things are strangely refracted: precepts and obligations are often seen edgeways, or sideways, or inverted altogether. Or, again, the finer forms of integrity are dimly seen, and treated as visionary, unpractical, inapplicable to the affairs of the world; and a peculiar sort of character is formed, which is long-sighted, far-reaching, ready, sharp, dexterous, driving, successful. All things seem to turn in their direction; and they are prepared for every fluctuation, reaction, and change. Now it is very seldom that such men persevere in strict

integrity. The temptations to make great gains by slight equivocations, and the manifold and complex nature of the transactions they are engaged in, give so many facilities for turning things unduly to their own advantage, that many fall.

The same may be said, also, of those who obtain the means of life by compromises of opinion and of principle, by slight suppressions of conscience, and tampering with their own sincerity. All these are so many forms of commanding stones to be made bread. They are a withdrawal of trust in the providence of God, who never forsakes those who look simply to Him, and persevere in their own pure intention of heart, in spite of golden opportunities and alluring offers of gain. We read in the book of Proverbs, "He that maketh haste to be rich shall not be innocent."* And why, but because a precipitate following of wealth makes men bold, speculating, unscrupulous? They are not nice in their measures if there seems a chance of success. They follow up their points with an urgency that leaves them too little time to scrutinize the means: indeed, the means seem to force themselves upon their hands. Many a great fortune will bear little scrutiny or retrospect. It must be looked at only on the outside, and under the fair aspect of its present appearance.

But we may dismiss these examples, hoping that they, though too often seen, are not of very frequent occurrence, and go on to a more common temptation.

2. We may learn, then, further, the sin of seeking our living in any way which implies mistrust of God's care for us. It is most certain that, in our lawful calling, we may be exposed to this temptation. We may be tempted not only to mistrust the providence of God, but also to endeavor

^{*} Prov. xxviii. 20.

to secure ourselves, by our own foresight and management, against the surprises of want and the changes of worldly fortune.

And this we may do, for instance, by hoarding. Now here is an acknowledged difficulty. Holy Scripture says, "Go to the ant, thou sluggard, consider her ways, and be wise;"* which seems to teach us that it is a duty to be both diligent and foresighted: to lay up for dark days and wintry seasons. So, indeed, it is; and all the more as we have others to care for. Yet it is plain that this must have its limit. Holy Scripture, while it sends us for wisdom to the ant, forbids greediness, warns us against love of riches, condemns covetousness. We read: "They that will be rich fall into temptation and a snare, and into many foolish and hurtful lusts, which drown men in destruction and perdition. For the love of money is the root of all evil: which while some coveted after, they have erred from the the faith, and pierced themselves through with many sorrows;"† again: "No covetous man, who is an idolater, hath any inheritance in the kingdom of Christ and of God;"t and our Lord teaches the same in the awful parable of the rich man, who said, "I will pull down my barns, and build greater; and there will I bestow all my fruits and my goods. And I will say to my soul, Soul, thou hast much goods laid up for many years; take thine ease, eat, drink, and be merry. But God said unto him, Thou fool, this night thy soul shall be required of thee; then whose shall those things be, which thou hast provided?" \ Now that which is condemned in these passages is a hoarding spirit, which is excited and kept alive 'oy a desire to secure ourselves against all contingencies of God's providence; as if men

^{*} Prov. vi. 6.

[‡] Eph. v. 5.

^{† 1} Tim. vi. 9, 10 § St. Luke xii. 18-20.

should lay in stores, and provision a stronghold, against the invasions of God. This is the "trusting in uncertain riches, and not in the living God,"* which St. Paul condemns. Men that leave all thought of God out of their calculation when they are making a fortune, inevitably shut out all thought of His future providence in their schemes for securing the fortune they have made. They begin in an unthankful, self-trusting way, and they end in relying upon their own prudence and worldly wisdom. This is a mere trying to make stones into bread. They are no safer from poverty than the poorest: no more secure from hunger, nakedness, destitution, than the man that cannot reckon pence against their thousands of gold and silver. Both rich and poor depend for the morrow equally upon God. It is not in the power of man to make himself more secure. He will have just so much as God wills, and he will hold it just so long. A frugal man who lives of what God gives him, and disposes wisely of the rest, distributing part to others, and laying up such a proportion as may remain, subject to such uses and demands as God may design-he is safer far than the richest, whose yearly hoardings cannot be told: for a trust in the Father of lights shall never be disappointed. It contains in it the virtues of the treasuries of heaven. Out of these there shall be ministered an abundant store, when the money-bags of the rich shall be unawares found empty. This, then, is an evident temptation. It is an unbelieving mistrust of God, and an overconfident trust in ourselves.

Another particular form of the same temptation is, to withhold our alms from the poor and destitute, under a plea that we must be provident for ourselves. There is something shocking in the very statement. And yet it is to be

^{* 1} Tim. vi. 17.

feared that there are persons who refuse all applications for alms of all kinds, both for the bodies and for the souls of men, on the plea that they cannot afford it; that "charity begins at home," and the like. They do so in the belief that what they save in this manner is laid up in store for their own future security, forgetting that they thereby rob God of His due; that they tempt Him in a high degree to strip them of the wealth they use so unworthily; that they provoke Him to send the moth, and the canker, and the rust, to eat away their stored treasures, and to leave them naked and poor. There are, I say, some people who systematically refuse all alms, especially those that are asked of them for spiritual mercy, for the spreading of Christ's kingdom by missions among the heathen, and for the ministry of repentance among our outcast and fallen people

But we must not limit what has been said to those that absolutely refuse to give alms at all. There are others. making up indeed the greater part of society, who do give, but upon no rule of proportion to their wealth. They give in all forms of charity sums incalculably small compared with the outlay made upon themselves, their dwellings, families, tables, pursuits, refinements. They stint themselves in nothing so much as in almsgiving. When they make retrenchments, it is with their alms that they begin. It is here they first feel the pinch of poverty. Their charities are cut down first. What would they not give to the poor, or to the work of the Church, if only they had the means; if only their ability were as large as their compassion! And yet, perhaps, they never give an entertainment to their rich friends and neighbors at less cost than their whole year's charity. They live up to their income in every thing else. It is in the fifth or tenth which they might give back to God, that they begin their provident

economy, and lay up for themselves hereafter that which is due to Christ's poor now. What ought to be the bread of the hungry, they turn into a stone: and so in the day of their own necessity they will find it.

And to take one more instance: What is the anxious carefulness by which the majority of men are beset, but the same temptation? God has passed His word that they shall not lack; but they cannot wait His time, nor leave in His hands the way. They charge themselves with the twofold work both of their own labor and of His providence. And they leave nothing undone or untried to lift themselves above the danger of being poor. Early and late, by day and by night, waking and sleeping, their whole powers are centred in the one thought, dream, desire, and toil, to secure themselves from being poor. Now there is no fault to be found with industry. Rather it is to be commended; but it is the carefulness, the anxiety, the furrows on the brow, the foreboding in the heart, the undue magnitude, in their esteem, of the things of this world, the faint faith in God, and the habitual reliance on their own management—this is the thing to be lamented and reproved.

It seems as if the Divine providence had a peculiar chastisement for those that will not trust simply in Him. Wealth ill gotten soon perishes: goods heaped up by unrighteousness waste away: storehouses filled in forgetfulness of 'God are soon emptied: riches not sanctified by alms eat themselves through:—worldly carefulness is a spendthrift after all. "Thus saith the Lord of hosts, Consider your ways. Ye have sown much, and bring in little; ye eat, but ye have not enough; ye drink, but ye are not filled with drink; ye clothe you, but there is none warm; and he that earneth wages earneth wages to put it into a bag with holes. . . Ye looked for much, and lo, it came to

little; and when ye brought it home, I did blow upon it.... One came to an heap of twenty measures, there were but ten; ... one came to the pressfat for to draw out fifty vessels out of the press, there were but twenty."* So certain it is, that they who attempt by worldly prudence and selfish forethought to secure to themselves the bread of this life, withdraw their faith from God, and forfeit His favor and benediction; and in this loss lose all.

Now this suggests to us what may be called two great laws of God's providential kingdom.

(1.) The first is, that all sustenance of life is as absolutely in His gift as life itself. Whatsoever He has created He still sustains "by the word of His power." "In Him 'all things consist." The power which conserves the state of the world and the teeming life which is in it is His. All creatures, animate and inanimate, are sustained by Him. All this we know; but, like all other great laws, it is too broad for us. We cannot, through weakness of faith, bring it into the particulars of our daily life; especially as in our case it admits of being interwoven with the moral action and probation of mankind. There is hardly any thing that men so much affirm in theory, and so much contradict in practice. It is in the mouth of every miser, hoarder, and worldling; yet their whole life is a direct denial of it. When our Lord said, "Take no thought for your life, what ye shall eat, or what ye shall drink; nor yet for your body, what ye shall put on. Is not the life more than meat, and the body than raiment? Behold the fowls of the air: for they sow not, neither do they reap, nor gather into barns; yet your heavenly Father feedeth them. Are ye not much better than they?" and again: "Take no thought, saying, What shall we eat? or, what shall we drink? or, where-

^{*} Haggai i. 5, 6, 9; and ii. 16.

withal shall we be clothed? (for after all these things do the Gentiles seek:) for your heavenly Father knoweth that ye have need of all these things. But seek ye first the kingdom of God and His righteousness; and all these things shall be added unto you;"* if our Lord, when He said this, had intended any conditions, restrictions, qualifications, to be put upon His meaning, He would, doubtless, have put them Himself. What He intends us, therefore, to understand is, first, that we ought not to busy ourselves and to bestow care and attention on the clothing and nourishing of the body; and next, that whatever is needful God will give us. It is clear, then, that we have no warrant from this to look for superfluous indulgences, for needless provisions to sustain an artificial state in life, or to keep up an appearance which is assumed by our own choice, and out of deference to the customs of men or the pomp of the world. But we have a most certain warrant to believe that we shall never want what is really necessary for us. In giving us the breath of life, He gave us a pledge of the sustenance required for it. And this extends beyond our own persons to all who depend on us, such as children, servants, and others whom the providence of God has committed to us. So long as it is His will that we should exist in this earthly life, we have a certain promise and pledge that He will, in ways known to Himself, provide for us all necessary things. There seem to be only two conditions of this promise: first, that we seek it from Him in the measure and proportion that befits us; and next, that we labor diligently in the calling He appoints for us. If we be peasants, we must not look for the fare of princes; nor if our lot be plain, must we expect or desire to live freely and be clad in soft clothing as they that are in kings'

^{*} St. Matt. vi 25, 26, 31-33.

palaces. And again: labor is the condition of man since "Cursed is the ground for thy sake; in sorrow the fall. shalt thou eat of it all the days of thy life;" "for dust thou art, and unto dust shalt thou return."* And this most righteous penalty, like sin itself, has penetrated every state of life. It is not the tiller of the earth only, but the princes of this world likewise, who feel its power. The ground that was cursed is the whole sphere of man's mortal life and labor; all his employments, business, studies, callings, undertakings, the whole range of his toil in his personal and social state. Care and weariness, disappointment and the sweat of his face, are the conditions of all the works of man, both in body and in mind, whether he be learned or unlearned, whether he be lord or serf, ruled or ruler, buyer or seller, merchant or craftsman, teacher or learner, bishop or doctor, pastor or penitent, husband or wife, master or servant. To labor and to be lowly, to eat his bread in weariness and by measure, is his portion; but in lowliness and in labor shall be his rest. God will provide. bread shall be given him, and his water shall be sure." "I have been young, and now am old; and yet saw I never the righteous forsaken, nor his seed begging their bread."† To those, then, who faithfully do the work which God has appointed them, and keep within the sphere and range where He has cast their lot, this great law of God's kingdom is pledged and sure. They shall never want whatsoever is needful, safe, and expedient for their support, and for the maintenance of all that legitimately falls within the condition assigned to them by the will of God.

(2.) The other great law I referred to is this, that the most truly expedient course is often one which is most inexpedient according to the measures of the world. What

^{*} Genesis iii. 19.

but this does the example of our Lord teach us, Who in His hunger refused to relieve His wants and faintness by the speaking of a word? How does the world oppress a man with its exhortations to "spare himself," to take advantage of natural powers, to seize on opportunities, to reap the benefit of great offers, to show himself to the world, to let himself be made popular, to get on in life, and to make himself a name, a house, or a fortune! And how does it lament, or expostulate, or reproach him, if he refuse to turn these stones into bread! "So long as thou doest well unto thyself, men will speak well of thee."* But if a man turn away from money, ease, comfort, or competency, and the like, he is straightway improvident, reckless, eccentric, or ostentatious, fanciful, or proud. Nothing the world resents more than scrupulousness in money-getting. It is a very searching and wide-spread rebuke. One such man, by one such act, before he is aware, pricks the conscience of half the neighborhood. The world cannot endure to be slighted, to be held cheap, to be valued at its own true price. Therefore, in self-defence, it keeps up a loud and plausible worship of expediency; and because what is right is always expedient, by a cunning sleight it sets forward what is expedient as the index of what is right. Now, nothing can be more contrary to this philosophy than to decline great stations, rich offers, large trusts, profitable employments; or again, to make costly offerings, to give great alms, to lay by little, to aim at extensive works. But what says Holy Writ, that true and only philosophy of human life? "There is that scattereth and yet increaseth; there is that withholdeth more than is meet, but it tendeth to poverty."† There are two kinds of lenders, two kinds of usury, two great debtors who take up the gold and silver of men-the world and God.

The more men invest in the world, the more they lose; the more they lay up, the more they waste; the more they hoard the more they squander. It "tendeth to poverty." Great figures, vast credit, thousands by the year, and the man is none the richer; he is not wiser, better, happier, healthier, safer from ruin, poverty, destitution. His great barks founder in a calm; or the mountain of his wealth is driven away in an hour, "as a rolling thing before the wirlwind." Or, let all these prosper to the full; let all his rich cargoes come into the haven, and all his ventures turn in the mart to gold, he can neither eat nor drink, nor in any way enjoy more than the poor man at his gate. "He that lovethsilver shall not be satisfied with silver; nor he that loveth abundance with increase: this is also vanity. When goods increase, they are increased that eat them: and what good is there to the owners thereof, saving the beholding of them with their eyes? The sleep of a laboring man is sweet, whether he eat little or much: but the abundance of the rich will not suffer him to sleep. There is a sore evil which I have seen under the sun, namely, riches kept for the owners thereof to their hurt."* The world is a falsehearted debtor, paying not only no usury on its loans, but restoring nothing again. All that it borrows, it consumes "upon its lusts;" and all that it gives to its creditors is tinsel, and noise, and flatteries.

Not so with God. The only sure investment for our worldly goods is in works of mercy to the poor of Christ. "He that hath pity upon the poor, lendeth unto the Lord; and look, what he layeth out, it shall be paid him again." "Whosoever shall give to drink a cup of cold water in My name shall in no wise lose his reward."† The whole history of the Church is witness. Who made such gains

^{*} Eccles, v. 10-13.

as they that sold all they had, and gave to the poor, that they might bear their cross in following the Lord? Who found houses and lands an hundredfold, but they that forsook all to follow Him? What was it that brought in the gold and silver, and lands and goods of the earth, without measure, to the use and service of the Church, but the first great venture of faith, the first full and confiding investment which they made in the beginning who "sold their possessions and goods, and parted them to all men, as every man had need;"* or being "possessed of lands or houses, sold them, and brought the prices of the things that were sold, and laid them down at the apostles' feet; and distribution was made unto every man according as he had need?"+ It was the voluntary poverty of the first Christians that endowed the Church. We live of their usury, and on the profits of their investment. The land of Barnabas has borne the tithe of Christendom. I am not now speaking of the lasting returns which are laid up in heaven "in bags that wax not old;" I am speaking strictly of this world. And it is most true to say, that they will find at last the best return of all their ventures who go counter to the false expediency of this scheming, calculating world, and lay out their incomes with a thankful and trustful heart for the service of God and the consolation of His poor. When the prophet came to Sarepta, he asked food, in a time of famine, of a lone widow, who had a son depending on her; both were ready to perish. In her barrel was a handful of meal, in her cruse a little oil. Yet the prophet said, "Make me a little cake first, and after that make for thee and for thy son." What request could be more untimely, exacting, unreasonable? Was she not a widow, and her son an orphan, and both destitute? Must she not first care

^{*} Acts ii. 45.

[†] Acts iv. 34.

^{‡ 1} Kings xvii. 13.

for her own child, especially in a time of famine? So the world would argue; and for its reward receive an empty barrel and a dry cruse.

To conclude, then; let us ever bear in mind that the probation of many men lies, for the greatest part, in the matter of their temporal affairs; in the way in which they seek gain, and use the goods and possessions of the world. Their chief dangers arise from the largeness of their personal wants, and the scale they have pitched for their appearance in the sight of the world. When once men have committed themselves too far in this point, it becomes every day more difficult to withdraw; and then they are put to all manner of expedients, shifts, and schemes, to maintain themselves in their position. This drives them into ambiguous lines of business, and into acts of an equivocal meaning; slight, it may be, at first, but by degrees enlarging into a wide surface of dangerous practice, and into concealed embarrassment. Money is the poison of thousands, whose character, in other respects, is high and admirable. It is strange over what minds money keeps its hold; and how near a man may go to moral greatness, and yet be crippled and stunted by this one passion. Money is his measure; and with all his gifts and enlarged views of mind, and his almost great points of character in other respects, money ascertains the real standard of his moral being. Beware, then, of money, and the desire for it, of carefulness and mistrust of God. Give alms of all that ye possess. Labor in your lot, be content with such things as ye have, and be careful for nothing. He who fasted in the wilderness. and for the five thousand made five loaves to be enough, is with you. He will feed you with the bread that came down from heaven, even that meat "which the Son of man shall give unto you; for Him bath God the Father sealed."*

^{*} St. John vi. 27.

SERMON VII.

SPIRITUAL PRESUMPTION.

St. Matthew iv. 5-7.

"Then the devil taketh Him up into the holy city, and setteth Him on a pinnacle of the temple, and saith unto Him, If Thou be the Son of God, cast Thyself down: for it is written, He shall give His angels charge concerning Thee: and in their hands they shall bear Thee up, lest at any time Thou dash Thy foot against a stone. Jesus said unto him, It is written again, Thou shalt not tempt the Lord thy God."

THERE seems to be a manifold cunning in this invitation of the tempter. "He setteth Him upon the pinnacle of the temple," from which no mere man could cast himself and live. He bade Him cast Himself down; scheming either to destroy the person of the Son of God, or to discover His character and power. And yet he so shaped his proposal as to insinuate an imagination of intense spiritual evil.

The pretext suggested in this temptation by the devil to our Lord was, that the Sonship of the true Messiah and the promises of God were a pledge to secure Him from all evil. "'If Thou be the Son of God,' He will take care of Thee His angels shall bear Thee up." From this we may gather what was the evil to which Satan tempted the Saviour of the world. It appears to suggest a presumptuous depend-

ence on God in things where He has not promised to extend it: and a consequent presumption in running into dangers. And this, after all, will be found to resolve itself into a temptation to self-confidence. "If Thou be the Son of God:" this was the chief plea. 'If Thou be, all must be safe to Thee. Ministering angels wait upon Thee. Nothing can work Thee harm.'

We may take this as a type of a very subtil and dangerous class of temptations; those, I mean, which beset persons of a truly religious life. When people have lived for many years in the daily practice of religion, and have been long free from habits of transgression, dangers of a new kind begin to surround them. Whatever is habitual has a tendency to become unconscious, and whatever is unconscious is liable to sudden or vehement surprises. The very freedom such people enjoy from ordinary temp tations, the clearness of their daily path, makes them to feel like men dwelling in peace in a country once infested with enemies, but now long ago cleared of them. When we are at peace, we do not bar and fortify our dwellings, as if we were in a country swept by warfare. We throw down our walls and strongholds. We dwell securely each man under his vine and under his fig-tree. So it is in religion. After a course of repentance, and the hard struggle of conversion to God, we find ourselves at large. After the "winds and the sea" are fallen, "there is a great calm." It is a blessed state, full of quiet and refreshing; full of calm acquiescence in our lot, and of unexcited joy in the service of God, in self-denials and prayers, in frequenting the offices of the Church, and the holy sacraments. There grows every day a fuller persuasion that the point is turned; the great work over; our lot sealed; that God loves us, and has "brought us nigh unto" Himself; that we have passed from death unto life, and are His sons. And all this is most true: Blessed be God. But there are certain habits of mind which go with such a state; and to these habits certain peculiar temptations are incident.

I. First, people who are really religious sometimes trust in God's keeping, without considering the limits and conditions under which that keeping is promised to them. not promised absolutely, as if they should be safe anywhere or in any thing, go where they may, do what they will. Neither are they extravagant enough to think so. They know very clearly that they have no warrant to look for His keeping, if they should go out of the path of duty, or run themselves into temptation. All deliberate courting of the tempter they know does at once cancel God's promise of protection; and yet the very clearness of this truth somehow deceives them. Because it is so clear, they feel confident that they can never act in defiance of it; and therefore that this or that particular line which they are entering upon is not in defiance of it. It is very certain, however, that people someway advanced in a religious life do exceed these conditions, and find it afterwards to their sorrow, when some great fall has broken their security, and filled them with a sudden confusion. It is all then, in a moment, clear and plain, as if a veil had suddenly fallen, and their eyes were opened to behold their shame.

II. Again, the reason why they make these dangerous mistakes is, that, through habitual practice of the system of personal religion, which belongs to their lot in life, they sometimes become self-trusting; not expressly, perhaps, as if they did not know that God alone is their support, but virtually and by implication. For instance, we trust to our first impressions of what is right and wrong, safe or

dangerous, expedient or inexpedient. We believe our judgment to be as sound as our intentions; and that our religion is a second nature, of which the impulses and instincts have come to supersede forethought and deliberation; that they may be trusted without much scrutiny. We think ourselves out of the danger of such temptations as have long failed to overcome us: so that either they will not approach us, or that, if they do, we should certainly overcome them. A multitude of sins we feel that we are in no danger of being tempted to commit. They are so contrary to our whole life; to our formed habits; to our every thought; would do so great a violence to our inmost nature; our time is so much spent in reproving and trying to correct the same in others, that we should be almost inclined to laugh if any one should warn us against them.

Nevertheless, it does happen, and that not unfrequently, that really religious people fall into those very sins against which they believe themselves altogether proof. God in His mercy suffers them to find out their self-confidence, by a fall which breaks them asunder. They wake up, to find that they have been walking upon the brink of endless dangers; that Satan has beset all their path with snares; that all the while he has ceased to tempt them, he has been lulling them into security, bribing them to take off their outposts and watches; and, at the same time, he has been laying traps and digging pitfalls on every side, so that they can scarce turn without falling into a snare. Perhaps nothing short of a heavy fall would open their eyes; nothing less would kindle the self-reproach and the shame which must abase their pride, and teach them their own utter helplessness, and the tenderness with which they ought to handle the sins of other men. There is an ingratitude in self-confidence; a forgetfulness of God, by whom alone

we stand. It is like the self-complacency of Herod, when he made his oration unto the people;* or the self-exaltation of Nebuchadnezzar, when he "walked in the palace of the kingdom of Babylon, . . . and said, Is not this great Babylon that I have built for the house of the kingdom by the might of my power, and for the honor of my majesty?"† For these things God brings us down, leaving us to ourselves. He withdraws His hand; and we fall heavily, and become a byword and a reproach. "They that sit in the gate speak against" us, "and the drunkards make songs upon" us.‡

One great fall makes the scales to drop from men's eyes, and they see themselves surrounded by the danger of many worse; that this is perhaps the least, yet it is very stunning. They see how far they have ventured into dangerous ways; how they have chosen their own path; withdrawn from God's keeping; how relaxed is their whole character; how open to the inroads of sin; how many of their best points consist only in not being tempted. And God, in His love, suffers them to learn this at any cost, for fear of worse; and all that they have been in time past. seems cancelled. All their profession, acts of religion, almsdeeds, fasts, prayers, humiliations, seem to be gone, as things they have now no right in. They have brought a shame on all, and shown its hollowness; and after many years of professed religion, while others are looking on them as saints, they are within full of shame and desolation; words of respect are dreadful rebukes, especially if they were once deserved. They are now forced down to begin all over again; to come to God as the poor prodigal; to take the lowest place of all, that of "the servant who knew his Lord's will, and did it not." Fearful discipline, ful!

^{*} Acts xii. 21. † Dan. iv. 29, 30. † Ps. lxix. 12. § St. Luke xii. 47

of a searching anguish of heart. Yet necessary, and, if necessary, blessed; for all things are better than to be a castaway. Any suffering in this world, rather than to perish in the world to come. Any shame now, rather than shame before Christ at His coming with the holy angels.

I have endeavored to suggest briefly what is the nature of those temptations by which religious people are peculiarly beset; and have very slightly noticed what seems to be the cause of their liability to be overcome by them. We will hereafter consider the mysterious design of God in permitting them to be abased with such falls. To sum up what has been said in the fewest words, I will add, that want of circumspection and of a watchful salutary fear of falling, is in itself a tempting of God. How much more, then, the venturous way in which some men enter upon paths which are either not pointed out to them by God's providence, or even forbidden! But at present we have chiefly to consider the dangers which beset religious minds. A few words will be enough to show, what need there is even for the most advanced and practised in religion to watch without ceasing against the manifold dangers of our fallen state. Our whole life is a spiritual combat. we live we must contend. This is not our rest.

(1.) For it must be remembered, that the greatest saint may be tempted to the worst of sins. I do not say the temptation will prevail; God forbid; but that temptations may be addressed to him; and if the most saintly minds may be tempted, how much more are we open to the incursions of temptations! It is true of our blessed Lord alone, that the devil, after he was once fully foiled in his endeavor to seduce Him from God, began thenceforward for ever to oppose and to afflict Him. There was no hope of prevailing against Him, because the prince of this world had

nothing in Him. There was no inward sin on which to work by allurements or stimulants. Not so with us: to the end of life we carry a fallen nature, with its taints and proneness to evil. This is mortified and kept under in those that live a holy life, but still in some sort remains within. To the end the prince of this world has something in us; and to this he addresses his flatteries and persuasions. How strange it seems to us to read of Abraham's falsehood, David's awful and complex sin, the denials of Peter, the contention of Paul and Barnabas! If such saints were tempted and overcome, how shall we escape temptations and downfalls? It is true that, as men grow in grace, temptation loses much of its power over them. St. John says, "Whosoever is born of God doth not commit sin; for His seed remaineth in him: and he cannot sin, because he is born of God."* And again: "We know that whosoever is born of God sinneth not; but he that is begotten of God keepeth himself, and that wicked one toucheth him not."+ That is to say, that in every saint there is the power of the Holy Ghost, which is more than sufficient to ward off temptations. The gift of regeneration, unfolded into a new spirit, is so at variance with the solicitations of evil, that it would do a great violence to itself if it should deliberately sin; the circumspection of the regenerate is such that the snares and assaults of Satan are powerless and vain. All this describes the spiritual strength and matured stedfastness of those that are holy. It is not an ammunity from temptation, but a moral power residing in the will, by which the tempter is perfectly repelled. It does not say, that holy men are not tempted. It does not mean, that the holiest cannot fall. To the end, all steadfastness is subject to the laws of probation. But in us, who,

^{* 1} St. John iii. 9.

alas, are neither strong nor holy, save in the measure common to ordinary Christians, there must ever be the danger of being, not only tempted, but overcome. Our past religion will not save us. Our stedfastness is not in what we have been, but in what we are: and we are, most of us, still weak and frail. What may befall a saint may easily prevail against us. So long as we are in the flesh, the eye and the ear are open, and the imagination is restless and full of visions. These may be mortified indeed, and then sin will address itself to them in vain. But address itself it will; and the habits of watchfulness and self-control may be relaxed, and the character let down to a pitch where sin has a greater sway and a surer dominion.

Spiritual declension is a very awful reality, and the most devout may fall into it. Of this we have sufficient proofs and examples in holy Scripture; and any one who has examined his heart must also know how his state has varied at various times. In times of sorrow, or any great fear, we know what a peculiar tenderness of conscience; what a dread of trifling even with a thought of sin; what gentleness and kindly dispositions we have felt towards all, even unworthy persons, and to their very faults; what an awful, and yet blessed, perception we have had of God's nearness to us, and how open our hearts have been towards Him; what circumspection in all the least actions of our life. After the lapse of a few years, or sometimes of a few months, how has all this been changed; what a slumber and inertness of the inner life; what dulness of conscience; what fearlessness of sin; how little compunction at having inwardly assented to temptation! We seem not to be the same persons: as if we had lost our identity-had become altogether changed, and had passed into a worse nature. There is something fearful and depressing, in the highest

degree, to find ourselves so fallen. The recollection of past times, when our heart was clear and peaceful, is both an humiliation and a rebuke. And it is with a bitter sadness that we say, "Oh, that I were as in months past, as in the days when God preserved me; when His candle shined upon my head, and when by His light I walked through darkness; as I was in the days of my youth, when the secret of God was upon my tabernacle!"*

(2.) Another truth to be remembered is, that the worst sins come on insensibly. They seldom, if ever, present themselves to a holy mind in their full outline at once. They very seldom become really visible in their first approaches. They lie masked behind indifferent things, mingled in the duties and offices of our station, covered even with a religious aspect; then they show themselves only in part, which, taken alone, may be harmless, but prepares the way for that in which the true evil lies. When the serpent tempted Eve, he did not at once put before her the act of disobedience, but first engaged her thoughts with the question, "Yea, hath God said?" There needs much preparing to break the startling effect of a temptation. If we could see at once the full reach and depth of the evil, we should be saved by our very fears. Dread would make us recoil. We should not so much as trust ourselves in the indifferent things which are the avenues to it. We would rather die than commit it. Besides, most of the dangers of religious people lie in the region of things that are lawful. They do not overstep the boundaries which separate things permitted from things forbidden; into the latter they seldom, if ever, willingly allow themselves to go. The tempter must overtake them within the range of their own permitted sphere, and therefore must use lawful things as the matter of his temptations. Lawful things out of season or out of measure, become to them the occasions of falling. Breaches of self-control, of self-chastisement, of vigilant watchfulness, of circumspect care over acts, words, and even thoughts; these are the beginning, and through these he prevails to entangle us in excesses, irregularities, immoderation. At the outset we see nothing, and there really is nothing, in which we may not allow ourselves. But in the season, measure, and use, there lies the whole character of the act, and the whole probation of our will.

(3.) And once more; it is the nature of such temptations to prevail before we become aware of them. It is only by retrospect that we really find ourselves to be fallen; as we cannot mark changes of our natural growth and countenance but by recollection. I do not mean, that all along there are no intimations that things are going wrong. indeed, there are; but they are very subtil and very gradual, so as to be almost imperceptible in their advance. They seem to be checked when really they are advancing, and to be kept at bay when they have already gained the mastery. And then, when we find ourselves taken in the snare, we see also the whole course of the temptation; and how many times we might have withdrawn ourselves; and how many admonitions we received; and how uncalled for was our original self-exposure to the danger: we then see how self-sought it was, how gratuitous, how wanton. And we bitterly reproach ourselves when it is too late, and see a thousand things which ought to have been our protection; a thousand warnings, any one of which would now seem to be enough to startle us into a posture of defence. These are among our saddest thoughts. We can but reproach our folly. We feel to have shut ourselves out from God; to

have forfeited all claim to be heard. When we pray, it seems as if He had surrounded Himself with a cloud, that our prayer should not pass through. The sin we have been betrayed into stands before us in a fearful stature, and seems to overshadow us, hiding the face of God and the cross of Christ from our sight. That which men would have chosen martyrdom rather than commit, they sometimes find themselves to have committed at the suggestion of an ordinary temptation.

Now, I have intentionally avoided giving examples of any particular sins, because there is a danger of seeming to limit to certain classes of temptations that which is common to all. Examples make general statements more vivid and definite; but they also narrow and circumscribe the reach and extent of them. What has been said will apply to any kind of sin, whether of the flesh or of the spirit, which can prevail against any one who in the main lives a life of obedience. What sins can so prevail, and the particular forms of them, it is not my intention now to consider; but one caution may be given. Let us all, in whatsoever state we are, howsoever long we may have lived a religious life, nevertheless watch-against every sin of every kind, great and small, of the flesh and of the spirit. There is none we may give over watching against; for we are in most danger of those against which, feeling ourselves secure, we watch the least.

Let us now consider, in a few words, what is the mysterious design of God in permitting even religious people to fall.

1. First, it is evidently to break their presumption, to destroy self-trusting, and to awaken a watchful and humble dependence on His grace and keeping. There is a tendency in us all, even in the midst of the acts of a holy life,

to tower too high, and to become unsteady in our exaltation. This must be abased, "lest, being lifted up with pride," we "fall into the condemnation of the devil."* temper will destroy the whole spiritual life. It makes all religion a mere formality. Prayers, confessions, fastings, humiliations—what are all these to a mind that is possessed with a self-trusting spirit? Even ascetic rules only brace this self-confidence more intensely, and raise it to a higher pitch. It is so easy to be severe to ourselves, when we are not tempted to be otherwise. Half of our severity has in it no real principle of self-discipline, as we soon find when we are tempted to relax. This is a secret we must needs learn, or we shall have but imperfect knowledge of ourselves; and through imperfect self-knowledge, imperfect repentance, imperfect humiliations. It is by such falls that God reveals to us what is in ourselves, and excites in us a horror of our own obstinate corruptions. They are the scourges of our sloth, the chastisements of our lukewarmness, and judgments upon our presumption in "tempting the Lord our God."

2. Another purpose of God in thus humbling even those who in many things are His servants is, to teach them to be forbearing and compassionate towards those that are fallen. A self-trusting spirit is almost always censorious, harsh, exacting. With an artificial standard of its own, it is inconsiderate and unsympathising to others. Such people are quick to see blots in others, and to censure them; ready to observe their falls, and to find out the aggravating features of their case. They have an honest zeal against sin; but they have little tenderness for sinners. Their admonitions have a sharp edge, and their reproofs sound like reproaches. Even truth in their mouth is uncharitable,

and their warnings are without mercy. People often are not aware of all this. They speak as they feel. What they say seems deserved; and perhaps it is so; but, it may be, they are not the persons who ought to say it. It may be that the very same sins, or even worse, lie coiled within them. All the time they are virtually what those they reprove are in act. In others they are, by anticipation, condemning themselves. They go on recording hard censures, laying up unsparing verdicts, against the day when a sudden fall shall point them all against themselves. Now this sort of character is by no means uncommon; nor is it necessarily hypocritical, but simply self-deceiving. They have presumed upon God, and their own strength; and have learned to speak in a language above themselves. And God corrects this by leaving them to themselves, and suffering them to be tempted in a season of weakness, when their natural strength, on which they rest, is all they have. They fall; and learn what St. Paul meant when he said, "Brethren, if any man be overtaken in a fault, ye which are spiritual restore such an one in the spirit of meekness; considering thyself, lest thou also be tempted."* The consciousness of having fallen in the like way, makes a man afraid to act the reprover. He feels his words recoil upon himself; and he speaks as he himself can bear it, making his own heart the measure of his words, and his own case the interpreter and pleader for the falls of others. All his past censures come back upon him with a fearful severity; and he feels as if he could never rebuke any one again. It seems as if the worst he ever had to reprove were better than himself. It seems to him as if he could never any more use rebukes, but only beseech them, with tender compassion, and even with tears, to join him in humbling themselves before One who alone is

without sin. It is true, indeed, that the perfect holiness of saints has in it a tender compassion and a loving pity, like to the Spirit of Christ Himself. They have received of Him the gift of tenderness to sinners, without the fearful discipline of personal falls: and theirs is the highest and most healing sympathy. But for us, weak Christians, the school of pity is the melancholy experience of our own humiliations. And well is it to learn compassion any how; for the harsh and impatient are not near to the kingdom of heaven. Let us not venture to reprove any without a vivid recollection of our own past falls; nor in any way speak of the sins of others without a deep sense of our own.

3. And, lastly, it is to teach us our need of fixed and particular rules for the government of our lives; and that not in great matters only, but in the least; because it is in little things that the first approaches of sin are made to religious minds. We must not trust in general rules, in good intentions, in the expectation of being able to meet particular temptations by defences adopted on the spot. We need much forethought, foresight, and determination. Our system of discretionary rules must spread over all our life; over our duties, our devotions, our intercourse with others, whether of the Church or of the world; it must prescribe to us counsels of wisdom for our whole bearing, our words, our personal habits. Wherefore, St. Paul says, "Whether ye eat or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God."* No part of our daily life is too slight to admit of a holy intention, as none is too small to become the seat of great temptations. Another reason for this carefulness in prescribing even the detail of our daily life is, that unless our rules are fixed, they cannot become habitual and confirmed. The very strength and life of all

self-discipline is order, certainty and decision. Our true safeguard against temptation is to be the same at all times, in all companies, in all places; not to vary, and adapt ourselves to the humor of others, thereby adopting their temptations with their habits; but to be always and everywhere ourselves, and to oppose to the temptations of the world the consistency of a matured and practised habit of selfcontrol. Indeed, in this most men err grievously. They are strict at home, and lax abroad; that is, they are rigid when they are not tempted, and loose when they are in the midst of temptations; watchful where the danger is little: and off their guard where it is great; whereas they ought, on the contrary, to be all the more severe, rigorous, watchful, and guarded, because they are out of their sheltered retirement, and beset by the illusions and solicitations of the world. Yet we seldom see men who are devout and careful at home even equally so in society. And to what bitter reproaches, to what hours of miserable retrospect, to what fearful havoc in the spiritual life does this relaxation lead! How do men that go forth with many saintly tokens upon them, come home in remorse, to put ashes upon their heads!

Alas, the world's kisses are death to the hidden life. The world is perilous in its array; full of seducing spirits, crafty, fair-seeming, versatile, and deadly. We may well fear it. Well is it if we fear it greatly; for few there be that fear it at all. Happy are they who walk unspotted of the world, in ways of lowliness and self-mistrust; and happy they whose pride is abased, and whose presuming hearts are brought down by a salutary humiliation. Piercing as the discipline may be, better is it to have a spiritual sorrow, "sharper than any two-edged sword," than to walk proud and blindfold, "deceiving and being deceived," tempting the Lord our God.

SERMON VIII.

WORLDLY AMBITION.

St. Matthew iv. 8-10.

"Again, the devil taketh Him up into an exceeding high mountain, and showeth Him all the kingdoms of the world, and the glory of them; and saith unto Him, All these things will I give Thee, if Thou wilt fall down and worship me. Then saith Jesus unto him, Get thee hence, Satan: for it is written, Thou shalt worship the Lord thy God, and Him only shalt thou serve."

This temptation seems to be an offer of worldly power on an unlawful condition. The tempter addressed himself to that inclination of our nature which, when perverted in us, is ambition and vainglory. We are wont to call ambition an infirmity which lingers last and longest of all, even in minds that are noble and pure. It has in it, as we think, nothing low, mean, or little. It is closely allied with the consciousness of great powers, right intentions, high purposes of unselfish devotion for the welfare of others; it is upon a large scale, and takes a wide sweep and range in its aims and endeavors; it thereby lifts itself out of the common level of mankind, and rises above all lesser inducements, and the motives which sway other men; its whole tone and bearing has a breadth, dignity, and grandeur nearly allied to moral greatness. Perhaps it was in the

belief that our blessed Lord was at least susceptible of some such pure and exalted allurement, that Satan presented to Him "the kingdoms of the world, and the glory of them."

He "taketh Him up into an exceeding high mountain." We shall do best to understand this as we read it. truest interpretations are those that are nearest to the letter. We do not know by what laws of motion or of place this mysterious passage was controlled. All the conditions of the spiritual world are inscrutable to us. As in the book of the prophet Ezekiel we read of his rapture to Tel-abib. "The spirit took me up, and I heard behind me a voice of a great rushing, saying, Blessed be the glory of the Lord from His place. I heard also the noise of the wings of the living creatures that touched one another, and the noise of the wheels over against them, and a noise of a great rushing. So the spirit lifted me up, and took me away, and I went in bitterness, in the heat of my spirit; but the hand of the Lord was strong upon me. Then I came to them of the captivity at Tel-abib, that dwelt by the river of Chebar, and I sat where they sat, and remained there astonished among them seven days "*-and again, of his rapture to Jerusalem: "And it came to pass in the sixth year, in the sixth month, in the fifth day of the month, as I sat in mine house, and the elders of Judah sat before me, that the hand of the Lord God fell there upon me. Then I beheld, and lo a likeness as the appearance of fire: from the appearance of his loins even downward, fire; and from his loins even upward, as the appearance of brightness, as the color of amber. And he put forth the form of an hand, and took me by a lock of mine head; and the spirit lifted me up between the earth and the heaven, and brought me in the

^{*} Ezek, iii, 12-15.

visions of God to Jerusalem, to the door of the inner gate that looketh toward the north; where was the seat of the image of jealousy, which provoketh to jealousy. And, behold, the glory of the God of Israel was there, according to the vision that I saw in the plain. Then said he unto me, Son of man, lift up thine eyes now the way toward the north."* Moreover, we read of the rapture of St. Philip to Azotus, and of St. Paul into the third heaven; i of the mysterious visitations of our Lord after His resurrection, and of His ascension to the right hand of God. It is, therefore, more natural to believe, that as our Lord was "led up of the Spirit into the wilderness to be tempted," so Satan was permitted to take Him to the pinnacle of the temple and to the mountain-height, to consummate the mystery of His temptation. And we shall do best simply to believe, that from some vast summit, looking down upon a boundless reach of earth, the tempter did show the kingdoms, and pomp, and riches, and splendor, and glory of the world. It was a vision of worldly power and greatness, full of allurements and promises; of unbounded means of doing good to mankind, of wielding such dominion as perhaps man never wielded before. Whether Satan had any power to fulfil this promise; whether any indirect means, through the agency of evil, of bestowing the kingdoms of this world; whether any control was permitted to him over the collective actings, as over the individual acts, of men, so as to give him a sway in the disposal of earthly crowns—we know not. It may be that the promise was mere guile—fair and false; but this matters little. temptation was simply this, that our blessed Lord should obtain the powers and gifts of the world by transferring His obedience from God to Satan. And this brings the

^{*} Ezek. viii. 1-5.

[†] Acts viii, 39, 40; 2 Cor. xii. 2.

nature of the temptation within the sphere of our ordinary trials. It is, in fact, the peculiar temptation of those who love and seek after greatness, power, dominion, that is, of the ambitious; and as such we will go on to consider it.

Now of those that seek after worldly power, some seek it in unlawful, some in lawful ways; some with motives wholly selfish; some with a persuasion that they desire it for the good of others and for the glory of God. And perhaps these latter, whatever they might admit in regard to the former kind of men, would very much resent being told that they are in danger of falling down and worshipping the tempter. Perhaps this would be generally thought to be a harsh judgment, and untrue. And yet there will be found in it more truth than they are aware of; it is therefore well worthy of our consideration: for there is "an exceeding high mountain" in the heart of every man, from which he is ever looking out upon manifold temptations.

1. First of all, it is obvious that to seek for worldly power and greatness by the use of unlawful means is a direct revolt It is a deliberate disobedience to His will; a withdrawal of allegiance, trust, fear, hope, reverence, and worship from Him. It may not, indeed, be followed by any perceptible addresses to the prince of this world, or by acknowledged commerce with him. Men may not, by any deliberate compact, "make a covenant with death," nor "be at agreement with hell;" nor, like Saul, when he had forsaken the Lord, go disguised, and inquire by night of those that have a familiar spirit: nevertheless they do, in the most real and effectual way, fall down and worship the powers of darkness. For what do men really acknowledge, in the fact of using unlawful means, such as force, wrong, falsehood, deception, equivocation, to accomplish their aims, but that these things have power and efficacy to

aid and foster their designs? and what are these but powers of darkness, in which they trust, and venture their hopes of success? Take the case of Jeroboam. God's will to give him the kingdom of Israel; but in His own time and way. Jeroboam took it by rebellion, and retained it by idolatry. He used the policy of the devil to accomplish a promise of God. He fell down and worshipped him, that he might have the kingdom at once. And he bequeathed this wicked policy, and the plausible necessity of maintaining it, to the kings of Israel for ever; so that he stands recorded as "Jeroboam, the son of Nebat, who made Israel to sin." No doubt, after him, great reasons of state were found to keep open the schism from the temple, and to maintain the calves at Dan and Bethel; wise men, and astute counsellors, were not wanting to lament the necessity, and to perpetuate the sin, till a whole people fell down and worshipped the powers of evil, from generation to generation. Wars of acquisition, crafty diplomacy, the most dazzling splendor of earthly rule, many of the mightiest exploits in the history of nations,-what will all these appear in the day of judgment, but a worship of the world? And what will the princes of this world, their "governors, and captains, and judges, and treasurers, and counsellors, and all the rulers of the provinces,"* be seen to be in that dayexcept the few that have been saints in secret-but worshippers of power, and darkness, and vainglory?

But this is as true of private men as of public and notorious offenders. How few men, with the baits of power, elevation, applause, before them, can resist the allurement of indirect means, such as compromises, abandonment of pledges or obligations, and the like! It is a melancholy and most instructive fact, that there is hardly

one of the world's great men in whose private history there is not to be found some stifling of conscience, some departure from rectitude, stern fidelity, and determined abiding by truth and right, in the teeth of danger, or at the cost of failure in their ruling passion. In the earnestness with which they seek their air., they grow precipitate, unscrupulous, reckless, obdurate; and that in proportion as the end nears, and the strife thickens, and success or failure are in the crisis. One last step, the last act which secures the desires of a life, is often one that hencefoward makes life not worth the living. They have succeeded; the point is won. But at what a cost! At the price of their heart's faith in the power of truth and right. They have in some way struck a bargain, or chaffered with a lie, and put their trust for success in a falsehood, which, if it be any thing, is an unclean spirit. They have withdrawn their faith from the supremacy of righteousness, they have forsaken the service of truth and goodness, because these appeared to be despised, disarmed, and exiled, because the world seemed too strong for them, and because the dictates of faith and truth pointed to paths that seemed to lead away from the desired end. And yet, if wrong and falsehood can at all bring success, by whose strength do they prevail? Who is he that works by them in the world, but the same that said, "All these things will I give Thee, if Thou wilt fall down and worship me?" Unlawful means are the laws and policy of the kingdom of darkness; they are its statute and its common law, its usages and prerogatives; and any man who invokes them makes himself a subject of that kingdom, and a liege and worshipper of its prince.

2. And, once more. It may be objected, all this is plain in the case of those that use unlawful means; but surely it cannot be said of those who use no means but

such as are lawful in the pursuit of advancement; or, in other words, it is possible to be ambitious, and yet never to seek the aims of ambition by means that are forbidden. It may be said, also, that a man ought to desire to rise in his profession, to extend his usefulness, to gain influence, to become an authority, and the like.

Now, to this there are many answers.

First of all, it will generally be found, that men who set themselves to rise in their profession, as it is called, do so by unintermitting exertion of their own natural powers. The world calls it honorable exertion, a laudable enthusi asm, without which a man will never succeed. It is much to be feared that this is often a mere stretch of the natural faculties, an unsanctified exertion of intellect or perseverance, and an entire reliance on their own powers, with a virtual but real withdrawal of faith from the providence of God. And what are our natural powers, apart from the illumination and guidance of God, but powers of this life, of this fallen, deceived, and deceiving world? What is self-reliance, but a disguise of the tempter, masking himself from our sight in the workings of our own minds? The whole life of an ambitious man, trusting to his own powers, even though he never transgress the strict laws of truth and uprightness, what is it but weariness, rivalry, anxiety, self-guidance? Now this is as full a withdrawal of submission and docile reliance from God, as can be imagined. If he does not fall down and worship the tempter, he does not worship God by seeking all things as His gift. And what is this withdrawal of worship from God but a direct worship of self, or a constructive worship of this world, of its powers, chances, and events?

Another thing that may be said is, that this withdrawal of the heart from God is all the more explicit when the

subject-matter of a man's life is of a kind in which the providence of God is specially manifested; such, for instance, as all offices in His Church, and all things which lead or relate to them. It is not only by simoniacal contracts that men may obtain holy functions by barter with the enemy of the Church. The use and laying out of natural gifts and powers, such as intellect, learning, dex terity, eloquence, and, much worse, of the gifts of His Spirit, so as to attract the notice of those in whose hands is the disposal of dignities and preferments; the willing acceptance of prominent places; the doing of acts in a direct line of suggestion or invitation of ulterior ends; the outrunning of the providence of God; the overpassing of limits which He has drawn along our path, into spheres where we no longer have His sanction, which in themselves are lawful, but are not for us: in these and many other ways men do distinctly transfer the intention of their heart and its affections from God, as the guide and disposer of their life, to an unknown power, which is partly self, partly the world, and covertly he who, through the world and ourselves, leads us captive at his will.

3. And again. Men may most fully entangle themselves in this sin of transferring their worship from God to the prince of this world, without ever using any means, lawful or unlawful, to attain their desires. There is such a thing as a suppressed covetousness or ambition, an importunate and unscrupulous craving after things so far beyond a man's reach, that he never attempts to attain them. What is more common than for men to indulge in visions of what they desire to be and to possess; to harbor, and to fill up with most elaborate details, imaginations of great estates, offices, trusts, and stations, and what they would do, and say, and look like, if they were in them? They fancy to

themselves all manner of scenes, actions, successes; and people a whole world with dependents, followers, admirers; and tell themselves most pleasant tales of wonderful undertakings and achievements, kingdoms exalted, factions abolished, nations governed, Churches purified, schisms healed, heresies overthrown, mankind illuminated; in all of which they are the chief leaders, counsellors, and actors. Out of all these splendid and gaudy visions, self emerges at last as the beginning and the end of all. They live in a dream of self-love; they have waking visions all day long of their own importance; and they soothe themselves with the persuasion, that the greatest men in the world are often least known and acknowledged.

In all this the spiritual sin is complete. It is a mixture of self-love, self-elevation, forgetfulness of God, who has revealed His will in appointing our actual lot, and of craving for what He has not ordained for us, with a secret willingness to attain our desired vision if we could. means, indeed, may never come within our reach; but we are as willing to possess the kingdoms of the world and the glory of them, as if they were tendered to our hand. to be feared, that if the means were presented, we should be tempted to be unscrupulous in using them. Perhaps we should not venture on direct and visible transgressions of the divine laws; though it is hard to say to what we may not be led by a habit of self-intoxication and secret vainglory. It is certain that we are thereby disposed, by preparation of heart, for anything rather than fail in our cherished desires. It is very awful to think of the unknown sins which are virtually contained in strong desires after the things of this world. When they master a man, they make him impatient of all obstructions, reckless of moral prohibitions, of the admonitions of Providence, and the

warnings which God conveys when He visibly withholds from us the means of attaining what we desire. To go on craving after an end which He keeps back, is morally equivalent to seeking it by unlawful means. In either case it is a contravention of the Divine will. No one can as yet conceive, how deeply the hearts of some men who never emerge from private life are tainted by this sin; those, too, who are least suspected, whose outward life gives no opportunities of expressing in any definite form the particular kind or direction of their ambitious hankering. Perhaps they never exhibit more than discontent, bitterness, and a censorious temper. The secret is untold, and dies with them; it is seen only by the holy angels, and shall never be known until the secrets of all hearts shall be revealed.

This is true not of those alone who are baffled in their ambition or disappointed in their expectations, but also of the most successful. Power reveals what is in man. sins of self-confidence and self-contemplation reach their height in the man who has gained his end without seeking and receiving it as a gift from God. Success is a confirmation, in retrospect, of all his self-choosing, self-guidance, self-advancement. He is, as men vauntingly say, the maker of his own fortunes; and strange enough it is, that even Christians use such a phrase in commendation. Men who have risen in the world as statesmen, jurists, warriors, orators, merchants, philosophers, and the like, are often practical atheists. They have so long taken cognisance of no powers and agencies but such as they can measure, calculate, and control, that they cease to be conscious of any other. They act as if higher powers did not existthat is, as if they did not believe them. They could not ignore them more completely if they did not believe them;

and what in effect is this but to be "without God in the world?" And this habit of acting without dependence on God forms first an unconsciousness, and then an insensibility, of His presence and power. What do we mean when we say that a man is intoxicated with the world, or eaten up by self-sufficiency, but that the world is his idol, or that his trust is in himself? And what is this but selfworship-the finest of Satan's wiles? Something a man must supremely love, trust, reverence, and obey. If it be not God, it can only be one other. Under whatsoever guise or array—whether it be the powers of the world, or the laws of nature, or the agencies of men, or the gifts of intellect, or moral force, or those faculties which seem most our own, that is, our very self,—it is no other than he who, on the top of the mountain, said, "All these things will I give Thee, if Thou wilt fall down and worship me." Self is but the subtilest array and the nearest approach of his presence. When we worship ourselves we worship him.

And this leads to one or two plain reflections.

One is, that the highest apparent success in this world is often the most real and utter failure. By accepting of its offers, many men have in reality lost all. There is something very fearful in the uniform success which seems sometimes to attend on wicked men. All winds and tides, and outward influences, and conjunctures of unlooked for events, seem to befriend and to wait upon their will. They are carried up to the head of their callings, and to the lead of their professions; to the summit of kingdoms, and to the pinnacle of Churches; and wealth pours itself at their feet, and men seem fascinated by their tongues, and give way to their plans and schemes, and offer themselves for tools to carry them into effect. All this seems the favor of Providence, and the countersign of the Most High, owning and

declaring their acts as the will of Heaven. God's servants are often perplexed at these things, and are in doubt whether, after all, they have not "cleansed their heart in vain, and washed their hands in innocency." It seems, for a time, either that right and wrong are artificial and conventional usages, or that the laws of God's providence are out of "Until I went into the sanctuary of God; then understood I the end of these men; namely, how Thou dost set them in slippery places, and castest them down, and destroyest them."* It is the Divine indignation which bids them prosper. The world loves its own, and heaps its gifts and honors on those that are like-minded with itself. They that have most cunning to advance its interests, touch its sympathies, flatter its weaknesses, soothe its disappointments, and sustain its self-esteem, are its surest favorites. And, under the supreme control of the Divine Providence, which orders the universal scheme of the world and disposes all its issues, there is a vast body of inferior powers left in the hands of men, whereby to reward and enrich the servants of the world. So that there are always at work two administrations, a lower and a higher, a human and a divine: the human busying itself in details that are visible, proximate. and imperfect; the divine ordering those laws that are final, perfect, and supreme. Men make beginnings, but God ordains the endings; so that the same man, at one and the same time, may both succeed and fail. He may win all in the lower world of human action, and lose all in the higher order of divine rewards. He may be both most exalted and most abased, most prosperous and most baffled, most mighty and most powerless, most cherished by men and most cast off by God. Set him on the throne of the world, with all creatures at his foot, and his name blotted from the book of

^{*} Ps. lxxiii. 16, 17.

life. "What shall it profit a man if he gain the whole world, and lose his own soul? or what shall a man give in exchange for his soul?"

Therefore, when success wafts men onward, they have reason to fear and to look with a two-fold scrutiny into their aims, employments, and alliances. There is something suspicious in the favor of many men, in general popularity, worldly reputation, and the concurrent applause of those who are morally divided. It savors of the woe "when all men shall speak well of" us, and of the kiss that was given in Gethsemane. How many men who have begun well, in great fervor and fidelity to God, have had their active powers warped, and the warmer affections of their hearts stolen away, by the greetings, gifts, and flatteries of life! High place, great friendships, open avenues to elevation, daily approaching success, have been the ruin and utter loss of thousands. From a simple and saint-like temper, they have become subtil, designing, and secular. Their worldly powers and their personal endowments have been every day developed and multiplied so as to win a double measure of admiration and a perpetually increasing name; while in the eye of God they have withered and fallen away from the very root. Prosperous men are seldom devout; religious men generally suffer by success; high characters sink as their worldly reputation rises; and moral principle deteriorates as men obtain advancement in the world. They gain their point, but in gaining it lose all that makes it to be desired. They win places of power, but by means which make them powerless when the place is won. Under their seeming success there is the deepest failure. They forfeit the kingdom of God for the baits of this false and fleeting life; or, for a few years of honor in a fallen

world, they lose a high place in the orders of heaven, and are even "saved so as by fire."

Another remark we may make is the reverse of the last; I mean, that seeming failure is often the truest success. It was He that spurned the tempter when He offered Him all the kingdoms of the world Who afterwards said, "All power is given unto Me in heaven and in earth." They that forsook houses, brethren, sisters, father, mother, wife, children, and lands, for His name's sake, received all these an hundredfold, and the heritage of eternal life. Though they had nothing, yet they possessed all things.*

So it has ever been with the Church. When she forsook all, then she was most richly endowed in heaven; when most overcome, she overcame all. Such has been the secret history of saints. Their great powers in the world were the reward of their perfect deadness to it. Because they refused its offers, therefore they became its rulers. Because they had no desire, nor love, nor appetite for it, therefore they were set to dispose of it. Because they shunned its titles and exaltations, therefore they were honored and lifted up to the thrones of power. They were true followers of Him who, when He perceived that the people "would come and take Him by force, to make Him a king, departed again into a mountain Himself alone."† They ran counter to it, and yet won its willing obedience; they were unpopular and unpalateable to the men of the world, and yet they were followed and obeyed by them; they deprived themselves of its powers and gifts, and did things the most inexpedient in the calculations of worldly schemers, and yet all things seemed spellbound to work with them and for them. Nothing is more certain than that they who have done most for the kingdom of God on

^{* 2} Cor. vi. 10.

earth have not been the most popular in their day; and they who have been the most popular, even among good men, in the kingdoms of the world, have left the fewest and faintest traces of truth upon mankind. God seems to work by contraries, and to harden the heart of the world against His servants, to "make His power to be known." For some have been truly outcast, misrepresented, spoiled, and set aside, so that people have thought them fairly defeated and extinct; and yet the working of their words and deeds, of their silent example, and imperceptible influence on other minds, has spread itself unawares throughout whole nations and Churches. They have courted no one; were solicitous for no favor, or gift, or privilege; they have even crossed the wise and powerful, and resisted the hands which hold the powers of the world. Many of the greatest benefactors of mankind have died without leaving so much as to pay their burial, and yet the hearts of men have obeyed them to the third and fourth generation.

And what is the secret of all this, but that they worshipped the Lord their God, and Him only did they serve? They indulged themselves in no remote visions, in no restless imaginations, in no exciting self-contemplation. The whole horizon of their hearts was clear. Nothing lay beneath it disturbing the truth of their intentions. There was no end in life they desired but to do the will of God. They had no cravings for things out of their sphere, no forecasting and expectation of any thing to come. What God had made them, that they simply desired to be—to realize deeply their present lot, to live wholly in it and for it alone, to confide in it as the pledge of God's presence. No nice calculations of probable gain, or usefulness, or power to be gotten otherwise or elsewhere, had any sway over them. They would not hesitate a moment to do acts

of the highest indiscretion, as the world judges, and to throw away all promises and offers of interest and advantage, rather than seem to yield even a constructive worship to the powers of the world. They were of more price than the world: with all its gifts and all its gold, it could not buy them. These are they "of whom the world was not worthy." It was cheap, slight, and paltry in their eyes; for by faith they had already "seen the King in His beauty, and beheld the land which is very far off."* They had seen the throne and Him that sat upon it, who is "as a jasper and a sardine stone" to look upon; and all earthly things waxed pale and dim. They had tasted "the powers of the world to come," which are perfect and eternal; and the purest and best things of this life drew from them not desires, but tears. None so intensely perceived the good and beautiful which yet lingers in the earth; yet they shrank from the savor of death which, by sin, is shed abroad upon the creation of God. They took refuge in the unseen kingdom, which is all pure, deathless, everlasting; serving and waiting for Him who "hath made us kings and priests unto God."

What is this visible world but the disordered array under which the one only true kingdom abides the day of "the restitution of all things?" The world, with its pageantry, is but shadow and simulation, imitating the order of heavenly things. What else are its fountains of honors, its patents of nobility, and the solemnity with which it issues out its badges and titles of distinction, and arranges its servants in ranks of high and low degree, according to their fidelity to its service and their devotion to its will? But there is coming a day when "the face of the covering" shall be destroyed, "and the veil that is spread over all

^{*} Isaiah xxxiii. 17.

people,"* and "the kingdom which cannot be shaken" shall stand forth, and then shall many be first that now are last, and last first. Then will be a strange and awful cancelling of degrees, and an unexpected marshalling of God's elect in a new and wonderful order. Then it shall be seen for whom the right hand and the left, which the sons of Zebedee blindly though nobly desired, are indeed prepared.

Let us beware, then, of the baits and allurements which are peculiarly rife in these latter days. Let us suspect calculations of expediency, dexterous plans, great undertakings at little cost, popular systems of religion, tempting offers of worldly favor and support—that is, the whole course and movement of the world. God's kingdom is to be spread and served in God's own way. There is no other than that hard, strait, unpopular way which prophets, martyrs, and saints have trod. Let us keep close to this. Let no visions draw us out of it. They can only beguile us of our reward; promise us kingdoms, and rob us of our crown; offer us purple raiment, and make the shame of our nakedness to appear "before God, and the Lord Jesus Christ, and the elect angels,"† at His coming.

^{*} Isaiah xx. 7.

^{† 1} Tim. v. 21.

SERMON IX.

THE RIGHT USE OF REST AFTER TRIAL.

St. Matthew iv. 11.

"Then the devil leaveth Him, and, behold, angels came and ministered unto Him."

AFTER the temptation of our Lord was ended, St. Luke says, the devil "departed from Him for a season,"* implying that in some form or other Satan was still hovering about His path. And the forty days of fasting being now over, He was an hungered, faint, wearied in flesh and spirit, with the long and sore conflict He had endured. In this season of peace, angels came and ministered strength and refreshment to Him. What heavenly communications they made to His exhausted soul, it is not for us to imagine. In the wilderness of Sinai "man did eat angels' food." In this desert, the Son of Man, "the true bread which came down from heaven," was strengthened with the bread of God.

Now from this we may learn a lesson applicable to our own case, namely, that after temptations resisted, there come seasons of peculiar rest: "times of refreshing from the presence of the Lord."† The mere cessation of active

trial is in itself an unspeakable relief. So long as the tumult is kept up within, we are worn, anxious, and depressed. The vividness of evil thoughts and affections, the mistrust and repining of our hearts, the useless and incessant chafing of our desires against our conscience, the beating of strong wishes against a clear consciousness of impossibility or of a divine prohibition—all these make a torment within, to which hardly any other sorrow can be compared. At such times all other affections of the soul are confounded. We seem pent up into one thought, which besets our whole mind. Such a season of temptation is a time of havoc and disorder, even in those who come off with the mastery at last. Now the mere passing away of this is a refreshment, like the waking up out of a troubled dream, and finding it to be without reality. When the tempter is departed, the trial is passed, and we are full of peace. We have a keener perception of God's love shed abroad in us, a consciousness of having overcome in the strength of Christ. It seems as if "angels came and ministered unto" us out of the depth of heavanly consolation.

Now such is God's gracious way of dealing with us. After our trial comes rest; after our sorrow comes refreshment. But there are peculiar dangers attending this blessed change; and we have hardly less need to watch when our temptation is ended, than while it is yet upon us. And this we will go on to consider.

1. First, we are in danger of losing the impressions and state of years which the suffering of temptation forms within us. While the trial is upon us, we are wakened up to a trembling and lively sense of our own weakness, and of the subtilty and strength of our unseen antagonist. The thought of being closely and personally assaulted by an evil angel is awful. We feel darkened by the thought of

spiritual wickedness hanging over us. We do not know in what the trial may issue at last; how fearfully we may be entangled, or put to open shame. We summon up before our minds all manner of dark contingencies and afflicting visions of falls and abasement; and how we shall stand in the sight of the world with a brand which nothing can conceal. This sense of self-mistrust and fear at the presence and power of Satan, miserable and oppressive as it is, nevertheless is very salutary. It produces great quickness and tenderness of conscience, sensitiveness, and vigilance over the purity of our hearts, a quick perception of our hidden sinfulness, of the great discord between our fair outward seeming and our real inward state; and all this makes us, for the time, peculiarly forbearing to others, gentle, enduring, afraid of impatience, or of a motion of resentful temper. We cannot bear our wonted high words, lofty looks, fierce tones, uncharitable thoughts. Above all, there is no time in which our prayers are more frequent and earnest, our self-examination deeper, our desires more importunate and sincere. The posture of our mind is less worldly, slothful, secure. Our whole inward life is braced up by a kind of tension of all its gifts and powers: if I may say so, it is more saintly than at other times. Such, I say, are the effects of a present temptation against which we are sincerely contending. The danger is, lest this be not the character of the mind itself, but a mere antagonism; lest it be only an attitude, an accidental posture related to the presence of our spiritual adversary, and therefore existing only so long as he is about us. Of course, even in the strongest and most self-possessed Christians, the presence of temptation will add intensity, consciousness, and effort, to their habitual state. This must be so, and is not blameworthy. But it is dangerous when it is chiefly so;

when the greater part is the accidental, and the habitual the less. For then, as soon as the danger seems past, a still more dangerous security comes on. Our feelings grow less active; we think we have exaggerated our peril, that we have made excessive efforts and needless resolutions; our watchfulness over ourselves relaxes; the thoughts of our hearts are less taxed, our tempers less guarded, our prayers fainter or fewer; our whole state let down some degrees of intensity, and our whole posture of mind inclines to relaxation. So hard is it to use God's gifts rightly and thankfully. When the tempter is departed, we forget him; when angels minister to us, we turn our consolations into dangers, and our rest into a declension.

2. The next danger of this time of peace is that our old state, in which the temptation found us at first, returns; and yet it is seldom altogether so well with us as before. Temptations are sent or permitted for many reasons: to try us, to humble us, to purify us, to waken us up out of lukewarmness, to kindle us with greater fervor of devotion, to form in us a higher tone of character, and to perpetuate it. When the temptation is gone, its effects ought still to survive. The fruits of the discipline are designed to be an abiding grace in our souls. Whatsoever be the peculiar temptation, it was no doubt designed to elicit and establish in us the antagonist grace. If we have been tempted to pride, it was to leave us rooted in humility; if to worldliness, it was to perfect in us a deadness to the gifts of life; if it was excess of any kind, it was to chasten us into definite rules, strong resolutions, habitual self-denial; and so on. If, with the temptation, these also pass away, we shall but have suffered in vain, or rather for the worse. For, first, our old character will rise again to the surface; our old pride, self-consciousness, self-esteem, uncharitable-

ness, luxury, oftness, will come out again, encouraged by the return of calm, the absence of fear, and even stimulated by repression. They have been rather irritated than subdued; and a strange self-complacency spreads itself in our minds after a season of self-discipline, on the strength of which we take a larger measure of freedom. For instance, we think ourselves secure from censoriousness if, while we say sharp things of others, we have a consciousness of the sin of being censorious still present in our minds; or we think that the rest we enjoy is an indication from God that we may indulge it, forgetting that all peace must be of God's giving, not of our taking. Or again, after self-denial, such as fasting, we consciously allow ourselves a freer diet, as if it were neutralized by past abstinence. Such are the strange compositions we make with our consciences; and the effect is to destroy the simplicity of our acts and the purity of our intentions, to make us refined and casuistical in plain duties, and so to prepare us to be deluded by the return of temptation.

3. And once more: another danger is, that active temptations return as it were from the opposite side. Sometimes, indeed, the very same comes back upon an unwary mind, almost as soon as it seems to be gone, with a force sudden and sevenfold, and fairly carries all before it. We may have held out for a week under provocation, until the trial seemed over, and then some unlooked-for event has kindled the anger of seven days in one, and "the last state is worse than the first." So it is in other temptations. But generally it seems that the manifold versatility of Satan changes the avenues of approach and the form of his attack. It is but a feint to call all our watchfulness to one point, and then to assault us in another. People who have overcome temptation to worldliness often become pharisaical—luxurious

people miserly; they who have been humbling themselves with fasting become complacent at the half-admitted suggestion of their humility; or again, pure minds may become proud, severe spirits harsh and unsympathising. Such are our infirmities; so are we surrounded by temptation, that we often do but make exchanges of the sins of boyhood for the sins of youth, the sins of youth for the sins of old age, the sins of the flesh for the sins of the spirit, and of spiritual sins one for another; the more visible for the less perceived, the lower for the more sublime. Such is our wonderful and fearful nature, it revolves in a circle with an instability and a speed so great, that we rise and fall by an inward motion of the heart: at our highest we are nearest to a change, and our changes are often diametrical and extreme. Verily it is an awful saying, "There are first which will be last, and last which shall be first." "I saw Satan as lightning fall from heaven." Such as the speed of his fall, such oftentimes is ours; and as his was from heaven to earth, so is ours from the highest aspiration to the lowest abasement.

Now it will seem, perhaps, paradoxical to say that times of temptation are times of safety. Yet there is a truth in it. And it is true thus far:—Temptations that are resisted become a wholesome and searching discipline. Unresisted temptations, or temptations only faintly opposed, of course tend simply to perdition. These are excluded from our present subject by the very terms of it. We are speaking of Him who bruised Satan under His feet, and of those who, like Him and in Him, "resist the devil." I have already said what is the temper and posture of mind which temptations produce in us; and also that it is doubtless the design of God, in suffering us to be so tried, that the spiritual state elicited in the season of temptation should become habitual, and abide as a gift of grace in us for ever. It may be, that

to beings once fallen, the pain and toil of this warfare is the only way to perfect strength and purity. For our sanctification is the expulsion of evil from the will, under the help of God's Spirit, by its own energies and acts. Every temptation overcome is such an act of expulsion, and therefore tends to our perfect cleansing.

Of this we are very certain, that at no time is the protection of angels and the help of God more near to us than when "the blast of the terrible ones is as a storm against the wall."* At no time is the providence of God more directly pointed upon us than when snares are being spread around our feet: nor does the intercession of our blessed Lord, who, through temptation, knows "how to succor them that are tempted," ever prevail more mightily by His infinite merits than when the "hour and the power of darkness" is upon our souls. Peter was our type: and all that are tempted were in him, when our gracious Master said, "Simon, Simon, Satan hath desired to have you, that he may sift you as wheat: but I have prayed for thee, that thy faith fail not."*

Strange, indeed, through our perversity, that dangers should come with the cessation of danger; that rest, peace, refreshing, quietness, should become perils. Yet so, in truth, they too often are. We are most liable to temptation at times when we think ourselves least likely to be overcome; for instance, when things have been going on smoothly; when we have been long unmolested by assaults; when we have overcome some solicitations to things unlawful or inexpedient; when we have done acts, or made resolutions, of higher devotion; when we have been reading and adopting in intention the example of saints; when we have been using high and great words of sanctity and of the cross;

^{*} Isaiah xxv. 4.

^{*} St. Luke xxii. 31, 32.

when we have done acts of charity, mercy, faith, and have the gladness of them still upon our hearts; when we have been highly accepted and owned of God in our prayers, or at the holy Eucharist, as Christ at His baptism, just before He was tempted: all these are times when we have need to watch with tenfold care, lest, through our slackness of security, peace should be more dangerous to us than temptation.

Let us, then, consider how we ought to use this peace which follows upon a season of trial.

First, we ought to use it for a particular retrospect of the circumstances of our temptation. So long as the trial lasts, we are less able to take a true view of our case. We ought closely to ascertain what were the avenues by which the temptation came upon us; what occasions, or salient points, or positions of vantage, we gave to the tempter; what were our thoughts and dispositions of mind before it made its approach; what were our intentions; what were its symptoms and effects. And in all this we shall generally find the spiritual discernment and guidance of another more penetrating than our own. And the act of laying it open will bring with it that which will tend to check our relapse into a like condition.

Next, it will be necessary for us to make such resolutions of self-discipline, as shall cut off the occasion of which temptation took advantage before. Sometimes this may not be wholly possible; but in a great number of cases it it will be. The perpetuating of any one resolution made at such a time will be a continual memorial of warning and admonition.

Again: the acts of prayer and humiliation used by us in a season of temptation may either wholly or in part be continued, and joined to our daily devotions. Again: the

day on which we were tempted may be noted in every year, or in every week: and the subject-matter of our trial be made a topic of self-examination, confession, self-denial.

And, once more; if others were involved with ourselves, either directly or indirectly, as in cases of unkindness or selfishness; or if others have been doubtfully affected by our example, as in cases of a more public temptation,—we ought to endeavor, by acts of humility and charity towards them, and by praying for them that they may be kept from all evil, to undo the ill effect we may have caused.

And, also, we ought thenceforward to set ourselves to the especial mortification of that particular sin which our temptation has revealed to us. Religious people often hinder their own advancement by a vague, indefinite manner of conducting their personal religion. They aim at too much at once; and so do nothing deeply. Let us overcome one temptation, mortify one evil desire, and the effect will be felt throughout our whole character. The habit of self-denial, patience, and endurance, is the same in all; let it be well learned in one particular, and not only will that temptation be weaker, but we in ourselves shall be stronger to subdue all that remain.

2. But by thus confining ourselves to the details of the particular temptation, we shall not hinder our learning a deeper lesson of the universal weakness of our nature, and of its susceptibility on all sides of being tempted. It is a very bitter and humbling truth, that atfer many years of a religious life we may be dangerously assailed even by sins which we had overcome, as we thought, at the very outset of our conversion to God. Yet so it is: after years of prayer, strict regularity, unblemished reputation, good works, alms, fastings, contemplation, all our religious professions will sometimes grow lofty and unsteady, and old

sins, long ago forgotten, and never so much as thought of, make their re-appearance. So weak and unstable is our nature; so subtil and tenacious is sin; so rare is an entire conversion of the heart to God; so seldom is the foundation of the character laid deeply enough in perfect humility. We shall generally find that the point in which we have been tempted is not the only vulnerable point of our character; often not that which is chiefly so: that it was by the force of circumstances we were exposed to this or that particular temptation; and that in truth we might have been tempted in many other ways, and with more fearful success, as we have points really weaker, which were happily not attacked. It is a humbling truth to most of us who may think we have gained for ourselves a right to use the language of saints, that the greater part of our virtue is in the absence of temptation. Now this is a lesson we ought, as soon as we have respite from trial, to set ourselves thoroughly to master. Let us pray God to give us light to see the universal weakness of our fallen nature; our awful proneness to offend. Perhaps if we had not been tempted, we should have fallen; that is, if we had not been made aware of our weakness, we should have insensibly declined until we had met some heavier fall. Therefore, in His mercy, He suffers us to go so near to the point of being overcome, that our fear and shame can hardly be greater; and then, when we are penetrated with a sense of danger and of horror, He interposes and saves us when of ourselves we should be lost. How many seeds of evil lie sleeping in us with the same imperishable vitality we see in the outward world, waiting only for stimulants to unfold it into life! The sins of our years before we repented, the sins of our childhood, are still virtually in our spiritual nature, held in check often by a weak and almost a broken thread

of discipline, ready to reappear with the aggravations of our maturer state of light and profession. This is a truth we have need thoroughly and mournfully to learn.

3. And lastly, we ought to set ourselves to deepen the whole habit of our devotion: our humiliations, abstinence, fasting, meditation, prayers, especially in our approaches to the holy Communion. Without doubt, the trial from which we have escaped was permitted as a warning to chasten us into a more fervent spirit. By it we ought to gain at least one degree of advance in holy living. It found us lukewarm, let it leave us fervent; it found us armed only in part, let it leave us clad in "the whole armor of God." There is much deep significance in St. Paul's charge to the Ephesians. "Be strong," he says, "in the Lord, and in the power of His might. Put on the whole armor of God, that ye may be able to stand against the wiles of the devil." Why does he say so emphatically "the whole armor," but because without it we are wholly naked: because our forefather stripped himself and us of all the glory which was our defence: * we were laid open in body and soul, eyes and ears, hand and heart, desire and will: and sin had entrance on all sides. universal need of this impenetrable mail, and can spare no part of it. "Wherefore," he says again, "take unto you the whole armor of God, that ye may be able to withstand in the evil day, and having done all, to stand. therefore, having your loins girt about with truth, and having on the breastplate of righteousness; and your feet shod with the preparation of the gospel of peace; above all, taking the shield of faith, wherewith ye shall be able to quench all the fiery darts of the wicked, and take the helmet of salvation, and the sword of the Spirit, which is

the word of God."* It is a complete coat of mail, having in it a perfectness, leaving no part unarmed, covering the whole man; a girdle, a breastplate, sandals, shield, helmet. sword: what does this mean but the unity and perfectness of sanctity, the entire conversion and full devotion of the soul to God? This shows us how all His saints have overcome, and sat down in His throne. They were armed at all points; they counted no part of obedience or devotion small or of little import, knowing that the smallest imperfection will mar a whole defence; and that the whole armor is no stronger than its weakest part, that one breach will unlock a whole position. Therefore, if we enter upon a devout life, we must not do it by halves, but with decision. There must be no reserves, but a full surrender of ourselves, to be wholly sanctified "in spirit, and soul, and body." Such was the life of Abraham and Joseph, Moses and Daniel, apostles and saints, and of all whose warfare is ended, who have put off the armor of the cross, and put on the white raiment, where rest has no more dangers.

And we see also how it is that so many are overcome. Because they have armed themselves only in part. There is something wanting in their moral habit; some sin unmortified; some lust still living and importunate; or there was some neglect in their rule of devotion; in prayer or confession, or reading, or meditation, or self-knowledge; something left undone, which leaves them naked in the day of battle.

This, then, is the use to which we should apply the seasons of rest following on our times of trial; to repair what has been marred in our conflict; to deepen and multiply our defences on every side; to renew the perfectness of our spiritual armor; by cutting off occasions of which sin

^{*} Ephes. vi. 10-11, 13-17.

has taken advantage; by binding ourselves with stricter resolves; by deepening our exercises of humiliation, prolonging our seasons of prayer, multiplying our works of charity; by watching more intently over the workings of our whole spiritual life, and devoting ourselves, with more perfect deadness and renunciation of the world and of our own will, to God. There is a time at hand when angels shall minister to them that overcome, in the paradise of God. There rest and refreshing shall be unbroken and eternal. Meanwhile we must endure hardship as good soldiers of Jesus Christ.

Let us, then, when we can, flee temptation with all fear; but if at any time you be encompassed by it, then turn, and "Blessed is the man that endureth cast your fear aside. temptation: for when he is tried, he shall receive the crown of life, which the Lord hath promised to them that love Him."* Here is a benediction and a crown. "The God of all grace, who hath called us unto His eternal glory by Christ Jesus, after that ye have suffered awhile, make you perfect, stablish, strengthen, settle you." Here is strength and quietness. "Fear none of those things which thou shalt suffer: behold, the devil shall cast some of you into prison, that ye may be tried; and ye shall have tribulation ten days: be thou faithful unto death, and I will give thee a crown of life." Here is our Helper. "Because thou hast kept the word of my patience, I also will keep thee from the hour of temptation, which shall come upon all the world, to try them that dwell upon the earth." Here is our safety. "Behold, I come quickly: hold that fast which thou hast, that no man take thy crown."

^{*} St. James i. 12.

[‡] Rev. ii. 10.

^{† 1} St. Peter v. 10.

[§] Rev. iii. 10, 11.

SERMON X.

THE SYMPATHY OF CHRIST.

HEBREWS iv. 15.

"We have not an high-priest which cannot be touched with the feeling of our infirmities; but was in all points tempted like as we are, yet without sin."

ONE great and blessed truth contained in the mystery of the Incarnation is the sympathy of Christ: that as He is truly Man, so He truly and really partakes of our infirmities, and has a fellow-feeling of them with us. St. Paul had said a little before, in speaking of the Incarnation, "in that He Himself had suffered being tempted, He is able to succor them that are tempted."* The word 'tempted' here includes, of course, all trials of soul and body, such as sorrow, pain, anguish, as well as what we commonly call temptation: but it is to this last that we will now confine ourselves. In the text, St. Paul adds, "yet without sin." And this raises a question which it concerns us much to consider. We can readily understand how our Lord's perfect humanity should sympathise with ours, because both are of one nature; but how He who is sinless should sym-

pathise with us sinners,—this is the difficulty. He had no taste of the bitterness of conscious sin; that one greatest of all afflictions was positively unknown to Him. He made trial of all things of which our humanity in a sinless state is susceptible; but of that which comes upon us as sinners, it were blasphemy to suppose Him to have tasted—I mean, the fears, shame, remorse, self-abhorrence, which come with sin. It would seem that here His sympathy cannot reach: that it must be confined within the limits of our purer sorrows; such as affliction and pain. How, it may be asked, can He sympathise in repentance, deserved shame, and guilt of conscience? This is no easy question to answer: but so much of the consolation of true penitents must depend on it, that we shall do well to find, if we can, some reply.

It may be said, then, that this difficulty carries its own answer; for His sympathy with penitents is perfect, because He is sinless: its perfection is the consequence of His perfect holiness. And for these reasons:

First, because we find, even among men, that sympathy is more or less perfect, as the holiness of the person is more or less so. There is no real sympathy in men of a sensual, worldly, unspiritual life; unless we are to call that inferior fellow-feeling which ranks with our natural instincts, and is to be found also in the lower animals, by the name of sympathy. There is a natural pity, benevolence, and compassion, which, even among heathen, expresses itself in congratulations and condolences, and we may in one sense call it sympathy; but it is its lowest and most irrational form, little differing from the perceptions of cold and heat, sweet and bitter, which are common to all mankind. There is little distinct consciousness about it. And even these sympathies of nature are crossed and crushed by personal faults.

Ambition, covetousness, selfishness, will extinguish them; much more actual familiarity with sin. Just as a man becomes infected by the power of evil, he ceases to sympathise with others. All his feelings centre in himself. Sin is essentially a selfish thing. It sacrifices every thing to its own lust and will. It is also peculiarly merciless. Reckless as it is of the evil of sin, and therefore lenient to the worst offenders, it is, nevertheless, peculiarly uncharitable, hard, and unfair. Sinners put the worst construction on each others' words and acts. They have no consideration or for-Their apparent sympathy is but a fellowship in the same disobedience. And so also the sympathy of the world; how hollow, formal, and constrained it is! How little soothing or consoling in our sorrows and trials are worldly friends, even the kindest hearted of them! And why, but because it is peculiarly the property of true sanctity to be charitable? and in the grace of charity is contained gentleness, compassion, tenderness of hand in touching the wounds of other men, fair interpretations, large allowances, ready forgiveness. These things ripen as personal holiness grows more mature. We may almost measure our advance in the life of God by the tenderness of our feeling towards sinners. The living compassion, active emotion of piety, the tears and tenderness with which the holiest men have ever dealt with the sinful, is a proof, that in proportion as sin loses its power over them, their sympathy with those that are afflicted by its oppressive yoke becomes more perfect. It may be said, indeed, that they know by present experience what is the distress and shame of sin; that they really have in them the original taint; and that it is by virtue of this that they are able so intimately to sympathise with the trials of others who are repenting. Nevertheless, it is most certain that this sympathy becomes more perfect in

proportion as their repentance is perfect, and their warfare turned into the peace of established sanctity; that is, in proportion as they cease to be like those they sympathise with in the very point of sinfulness.

And if we may venture a while to dwell on thoughts beyond our probation, in which some have presumed too far, may we not believe that this law prevails to perfect the mutual sympathy of those who are in the higher state of separation from this evil world? Of the invisible Church we can only speak by conjecture and hope, grounded upon such internal suggestions as are contained in truths undoubtedly revealed. We know that they are without sin. "He that is dead is free from sin."* We know that they are "made perfect." We cannot doubt that they are replenished with charity—perfect in the sympathies of love and compassion—that they are knit one with another in a perfect bond of fellowship. And moreover, with their personal identity, doubtless they retain a recollection of this world of sin, and of the trials, infirmities, and falls, from which they have been redeemed. † And their sympathy is more vivid, intense, and pure, because they are set free from sin and self. For what but these, our inborn evils, are the hindrances of our sympathy now in this world? In the midst of our truest compassion there is something which rises up to tinge it, and to infuse thoughts of self into it. They have the truest sympathy who are most perfectly dead to themselves. Therefore, of all the members of Christ's mystical body, they must mutually sympathise most perfectly who are most free from the taints of evil.

2. And from this our thoughts ascend to Him who is all-perfect; who being from everlasting Very God, was,

^{*} Rom. vi. 7. † Heb. xii. 23. † Rev. v. 9.

for our sakes, made very Man, that He might unite us wholly to Himself. Above and beyond all sympathy is that of our High Priest. It stands alone in its incommunicable perfection. "Such an High Priest became us," that is, was required by our spiritual necessities, "who is holy, harmless, undefiled, and separate from sinners."* Because we are sinners, we need one who is without sin to sympathize with us. How can it be reverently or safely thought that any sympathy can be perfect but His? Does not such a thought imply that we do not clearly distinguish what we are speaking of? He cannot, indeed, partake of the awful knowledge, derived from experience, which they possess who have ever consented to sin, who have ever been defiled by it. But that knowledge does not perfect sympathy: it only mars the perfection of the person. Even the holiest must be delivered from this knowledge of sin before their sympathy is raised towards His unapproachable tenderness. In one sense it is true, that to have been darkened and defiled is the way to learn a bitter knowledge of sin. it is only so because it inflicts on us the miseries which follow after sin, and scourges us through repentance to purity of heart, whereby we learn its hatefulness. None hate sin but those who are holy, and that in the measure of their holiness; and therefore in the Person of our blessed Lord there must exist the two great conditions of perfect sympathy: first, He has suffered all the sorrows and miseries which are consequent upon sin and distinct from it; next, He has, because of His perfect holiness, a perfect hatred of evil. And these properties of His human nature unite themselves to the pity, omniscience, and love, which are the perfections of His divine. To have sinned ourselves is not necessary to perfect our sympathy with sinners. God

^{*} Heb. vii. 26.

forbid the evil thought! Rather, it is the property of spotless sanctity to flow forth with the fullest stream of compassion. Who would mourn over a sister's fall so intensely as she who is all pure and full of sensitive fear of so much as a sullying thought? To have fallen and to have repented could add nothing to her intense love and sorrow, to her absolute humiliation for another's transgression. Community in sin is not the source of sympathy, but participation in The knowledge of the misery of sin which our holiness. Lord learned by suffering temptation is no doubt far beyond anything we can learn by consenting to it; for it is consent that so far destroys our true perception of it. Temptations are far more afflicting to holy minds than falls are to the less pure. And all through the life of the truest saint, even while the love of God is shed abroad in his heart, and the stillness of eternal peace reigns in it, there is, in proportion to the growth of sanctity, a growth also in his sorrow for sins long ago repented. His past falls come to be more intensely seen and abhorred. It is as he recedes from his former self, and passes out of the sphere of his past temptations, that he feels all their horror and deadliness. this explains what we see in the lives of the holiest men -that as they have visibly advanced in holiness, they have multiplied their acts of humiliation and their discipline of repentance; and that instead of being thereby drawn from compassion to those who are still in their sins, they are of all men the most tender, pitiful, forbearing, and compassionate. None live for the conversion of souls so devotedly; none have so ready a sorrow for the sins of others; none deal with them so lovingly, bind up their wounds so softly, console them, even against their own will, so persuasively. And why? Not because of their past sin, but because of their present holiness; not for what they have been, but for

what they are; not because they have been sinners, but because they are saints. What they have learned of sin by past consent and defilement is a hindrance, not a help to their true sympathy. They attain to this high grace of the mystical body of Christ just as they pass out of themselves into Him.

Now from all this we may see in what it is that our Lord, by the experience of humiliation in our flesh, has learned—wonderful word!—to sympathise with us.

Not in any motion of evil in the affections or thoughts of the heart; not in any inclination of the will; not, if we dare so much as utter it, in any taint or soil upon the soul. Upon all such as are destroying themselves in wilful commerce with evil, He looks down with a divine pity; but they have withdrawn themselves from the range of His sympathy. This can only be with those who are in sorrow under sin; that is, with penitents. It is in the suffering of those that would be cleansed and made holy that He partakes. Let us now see how we may draw comfort from this thought.

They who have sinned may go to Him in a perfect confidence that He is able to "be touched with the feeling of our infirmities." We have something in Him to which we may appeal.

1. We may plead with Him on His own experience of the weakness of our humanity. None knows it better than He, not only as our Maker, who "knoweth our frame, and remembereth that we are but dust," but as Man, who made full trial of our nature "in the days of His flesh." He knows its fearful susceptibility of temptation—how in its most perfect state, as in His own person, it may be approached and solicited by the suggestions and allurements of the evil one. And if in Him it could be tempted to sin,

how much more in us! May we not believe that it was out of the depth of His mysterious obedience that He spoke, when He said: "The spirit indeed is willing, but the flesh is weak?" He did not mean sinful flesh only, but humanity itself, the weakness of which was seen in Eden, and was proved by Himself in the wilderness, when "He suffered being tempted." When we confess our sins before Him, we may lay open all. Things we hardly dare to speak to any man, to any imperfect being, we do not shrink from confessing before Him-things which men would not believe, inward struggles, distinctions in intention, extenuating causes, errors of belief,-all the manifold working of the inward life which goes before a fall. Imperfect friends treat all these things with a hard incredulity, or assign them but a light weight in the favorable scale; they fasten only on the prominent features of the case; they cannot throw themselves into our position; their knowledge of human nature is drawn from their view of their own state and character, often flattered and self-deceiving; and that makes them so censorious, upbraiding, unmerciful to lapsed sinners, and so suspicious, distant, and cold, even to penitents. No doubt the want of vivid faith to realize the awfulness of our Lord's presence is partly the reason why we are so much readier to make our confessions to Him than to a fellow-creature. We feel greatly, in the one case, the reality and the penitential character of the act, and little or not at all in the other. Again, confession to any man brings a peculiar shame, which our secret confessions do not involve. And yet, true as this may be, there can be no doubt that there is a more persuasive reason still. is, that with men we are never safe from false judgments, and severe because imperfect censures; but with Him is perfect equity, fairness, tenderness. With all His awful

holiness, there is something that draws us to Him. Though His eyes be "as a flame of fire," and the act of laying ourselves open to Him is terrible, yet He is "meek and lowly of heart," knowing all our case, "touched with the feeling of our infirmities."

So also we must feel towards the elect angels, and all the world unseen, whose eyes, St. Paul seems to say, are on us—a cloud of gazers, ever looking down upon our course. They, too, in the measure of their perfection, are perfect; full of pity and of tender compassion; knowing of what spirit their King and Lord is; and like Him in charity to us. And yet it is to Him alone that we are drawn to address ourselves. Our ultimate account is not with them, but with Him. If He be pitiful to us, what more do we need? If He be gracious, they all, as comprehended in His perfection, are with us too. If we be sure of His sympathy, we are sure of theirs. They cannot satisfy the depth of our case, but He can and will.

We must go to Him, and place ourselves before Him; uncover our shame; fall to the earth; pray, if we can speak; if words fail, abase ourselves in silence; and let the silence of our confounded souls appeal to His sympathy who in the garden "fell on His face" under the burden of our infirmities. He will interpret our silence for us, and, by His perfect knowledge of our sins, put into our hearts pleas of deprecation and solace, which we ourselves neither know nor would dare to utter. Wonderful is the Divine justice, and still more the Divine equity. He "weigheth the spirits;" He knows the shades and touches of our case. What to our dull sight would seem refinements, to His are realities in our spiritual probation; and with wonderful tenderness and most indulgent forbearance He notes and measures them all. In His judgment of penitents He is

more gentle than they are to themselves. Pleas which they reject, He allows for them. While they are writing bitter things against themselves, He is recording the circumstances of palliation and excuse. They hardly dare believe that His face is lifted up in pity and forgiveness upon them; for His mercy is as great a mystery of faith as His Incarnation. "When the Lord turned again the captivity of Sion, then were we like unto them that dream." When His peace comes down again into our afflicted hearts, then, like the apostles, "we believe not for joy and wonder."

2. Again: we may appeal to His experience of the sorrow and shaine which came by sin upon mankind. suffered both as keenly and as fully as it was possible for one that was without sin. Wheresoever in the Psalms deeper notes of sorrow, lamentations greater than repentance, are heard, it is the voice of the Messiah speaking in "My God, my God, look upon me; why hast prophecy. Thou forsaken me? why art Thou so far from helping me, and from the words of my complaint? O my God, I cry in the day-time, but Thou hearest not; and in the night-season also I take no rest. . . . As for me, I am a worm, and no man; a very scorn of men, and the outcast of the people. All they that see me laugh me to scorn; they shoot out their lips, and shake their heads, saying, He trusted in God, that He would deliver him; let Him deliver him; if He will have him. I am poured out like water, and all my bones are out of joint; my heart also in the midst of my body is even like melting wax. My strength is dried up like a potsherd, and my tongue cleaveth to my gums, and Thou shalt bring me into the dust of death."* "He is despised and rejected of men; a man of sorrows, and ac-

^{*} Ps. xxii. 1, 2, 6-8, 14, 15.

quainted with grief: and we hid as it were our faces from Him; He was despised, and we esteemed Him not. Surely He hath borne our griefs, and carried our sorrows: yet we did esteem Him stricken, smitten of God, and afflicted."* "Save me, O God; for the waters are come in, even unto my soul. I stick fast in the deep mire, where no ground is; I am come into deep waters so that the floods run over me. I am weary of my crying: my throat is dry: my sight faileth me for waiting so long upon my God. . . . For Thy sake have I suffered reproof; shame hath covered my face. . . . I wept, and chastened myself with fasting; and that was turned to my reproof. I put on sackcloth also; and they jested upon me. They that sit in the gate speak against me; and the drunkards make songs upon me. . . . Thou hast known my reproof, my shame, and my dishonor: mine adversaries are all in Thy sight. Thy rebuke hath broken my heart; I am full of heaviness: I looked for some to have pity on me, but there was no man, neither found I any to comfort me."t "O Lord God of my salvation, I have cried day and night before Thee: oh, let my prayer enter into Thy presence, incline Thine ear unto my calling. For my soul is full of trouble; and my life draweth nigh unto hell. . . . Thou hast laid me in the lowest pit, in a place of darkness, and in the deep. Thine indignation lieth hard upon me; and Thou hast vexed me with all Thy Thou hast put away mine acquaintance far from me; and made me to be abhorred of them. I am so fast in prison that I cannot get forth. My sight faileth for very trouble: Lord, I have called daily upon Thee, I have stretched forth my hands unto Thee. Lord, why abhorrest Thou my soul, and hidest Thou Thy face from me? I am in misery, and like unto him that is at the point

^{*} Isaiah liii. 3, 4.

[†] Ps. lxix. 1-3, 7, 10-12, 20, 21.

to die: even from my youth up Thy terrors have I suffered with a troubled mind. Thy wrathful displeasure goeth over me, and the fear of Thee hath undone me."* What can we say of this inscrutable mystery of sorrow? Who would have dared to apply these words to the Son of God, if the Spirit of Christ in prophecy had not already done so by His servants? We can only say what the Spirit of Christ Himself hath said. Sorrow, fearfulness, shame, scorn, confusion of face, humiliation, abasement, exhaustion of body, fainting, trembling, blindness for very tears, what ever went beyond all these? "Behold, and see if there be any sorrow like unto my sorrow, which is done unto me, wherewith the Lord hath afflicted me in the day of His fierce anger. From above bath He sent fire into my bones, and it prevaileth against them: He hath spread a net for my feet, He hath turned me back: He hath made me desolate and faint all the day."t What more can we say? All this came on Him because God "made Him to be sin for us who knew no sin." All that sin could inflict on the guiltless He endured; and to that experience of shame and sorrow we guilty may appeal. Though we suffer indeed justly, yet can He feel with us though He did nothing amiss. Though in the bitterness of soul which flows from consciousness of guilt He has no part, yet when we take revenge upon ourselves in humiliation, and offer ourselves to suffer all He wills for our abasement, He pities us while He permits the chastisement to break us down at His feet. He looks in compassion on our heavy hours and mournful days, our secret indignation, our shame which burns inwardly, our bruised and trembling hearts. When vain remorse and resolution come too late, make us smite upon our thigh, and

^{*} Ps. lxxxviii. 1, 2, 5-9, 14-16.

[†] Lament. i. 12, 13.

accuse ourselves in secret, He—let us hope, believe, and pray—will pity us with a loving and tender sympathy. "When our heart is smitten down within us, and withered like grass, so that we forget to eat our bread," it is a thought full of consolation "that we have not an high-priest which cannot be touched with the feeling of our infirmities."

Therefore let us ask for consolation from no other. Let us not go, I will not say to the world, and its fair words, smooth persuasions, shallow comforts;—for to these no man whose repentance has any depth or reality in it can bear to go; they are miserable, falsifying stimulants, which heat and bewilder the heart, and leave it open to terrible recoils of sorrow—but let us not go to books or to employment; no, nor even to the consolation and tender love of friend, brother, wife, husband, spiritual guide; no, nor to the most perfect saint and nearest to Himself; but to Him for whose sake all these must be forsaken, in whom are all the fresh springs of solace which distil in scanty drops through the tenderest and fondest hearts. Let us go at once to Him. We are one with Him, by the mystery of His holy Incarnation, by the gift of our new birth. There is nothing can separate us from His sympathy but our own wilful sins. Let us fear and hate these, as for all other reasons, so above all for this, that they cut off the streams of His pure and pitiful consolation, and leave our souls to wither up in their own drought and darkness. So long as we are fully in His sympathy, let our sorrows, shame, trials, temptations, be what they may, we are safe. He is purifying us by them; teaching us to die to the world and to ourselves, that He only may live in us, and that our life may be "hid with Christ in God."

And again: that we may so shelter ourselves in Him, let us make to Him a confession, detailed, particular, and

unsparing, of all our sins. Our safest self-examination is made upon our knees; our truest confessions are our selfexaminations uttered aloud. Let us confess before Him morning and night our daily disobedience of thought, word, and deed, the forbidden motions of our hearts, the faulty inclinations of our will; striving truly and thoroughly to know ourselves, and to lay ourselves bare with entire and self-abasing sincerity to Him. In this is true peace, deep consolation, calm unspeakable. This will keep our hearts waking, recall us when we wander, uphold us when we are weak. Whatsoever be our outward lot,—whether we be high or low, esteemed or outcast, held in honor or in scorn, trusted or distrusted,-this one thing is enough. What more can they desire who have the sympathy of Christ? What fellowship do they need who have His hourly presence? When men rebuke us, let us thank them, as helping our abasement; when they convince us of new faults, let us carry them in confession to our Lord. Reproofs are healing balms; censures are "spikenard very precious." The more they humble us, the more fully will He admit us to His perfect sympathy. O blind and shortsighted! when the world looks dark upon us, we are afraid. If the great or the many set down our lives as a folly or a dream, we begin to doubt, and half to believe what they say. We are tempted even to give way before their confident censures and their lofty commiseration. We are too proud to be pitied, and would sometimes almost conceal and cast off our sympathy with the Cross, that we may take our share in the smooth and fair things of the world. But if we be His servants, the Cross must be our portion. "The disciple is not above his Master, nor the servant above his Lord. It is enough for the disciple that

he be as his Master, and the servant as his Loid."* So that we be His, let us be with this content.

And lastly, let us so live as not to forfeit His sympathy. It is ours only so long as we strive and pray to be made like Him. If we turn again to evil, or to the world, we sever ourselves from Him. The dominion of any sinful habit will fearfully estrange us from His presence. single consenting act of inward disobedience in thought or will is enough to let fall a cloud between Him and us, and to leave our hearts cheerless and dark. This all know, who after any sins of the temper or spirit, begin their accustomed prayers. They feel themselves in a new condition, and at a strange distance from Him; as if in broad day the sun had suddenly gone in. And besides positive sins, love of the world will shut us out from His sympathy altogether. Love of the world casts out the love of Christ. If, in spite of His word and warning, His life and cross, we will live on in this fallen world without fear or selfdenial, as if it were not fallen; if we will love it, live in it and for it, accept its flatteries and favors, then we must die with it. Follies, laughter, excitement, false happiness, bring bitter retrospect, burning consciousness of inconsistency and declension; and all these hide His presence from our souls. With these He has no sympathy: but only with the humble, bruised, and contrite; with them that forsake all that they may find Him, and follow Him whithersoever He goeth, in darkness and in light, in life and in death, counting all things loss, that they may "win Christ and be found in Him" in the morning of the resurrection.

^{*} St. Matt x. 24, 25.

SERMON XI.

SYMPATHY A NOTE OF THE CHURCH.

Isaiah lxi. 1.

The Spirit of the Lord God is upon me; because the Lord hath anointed me to preach good tidings unto the meek; He hath sent me to bind up the broken-hearted, to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound."

THE Person of our blessed Lord is a type of the mystical personality of His Church. The notes by which He was manifested to the world as the true Messiah are the notes by which also His Church is manifested to the world as the true Church. Among many false Christs, there is but one true: He came first, and they arose after Him. Among many, there was none holy but He alone; none but He was the Saviour of all. "There is" but "one God, and one Mediator between God and man." He only is the "Holy One of God." He only is "the Saviour of all men," "the Lamb of God, that taketh away the sin of the world." He is the one holy, universal Saviour of mankind, from whom His Church also derives the gifts and properties which are called signs or notes. The prophet Isaiah here gives another note, which indeed is not another, but a development of the same, by which the true Messiah should be known. He was

to be the true Healer and Comforter of all, bringing good tidings of good, binding up broken hearts, loosing prisoners out of bondage, comforting mourners, sympathising with all, drawing all that are afflicted to Himself, by the consciousness of their own miseries, and by the attractions of His compassion. And this He did by His own divine love, by His perfect human sympathy, by His own mysterious experience as the Man of Sorrows. This was a note of the true Messiah which none could imitate. They might show signs and wonders, and utter words of wisdom and moving persuasions; make a great show of holiness and pity for mankind, and draw away many after them; but the reality was wanting: the meek and the broken-hearted, the prisoner, the bondsman, and the mourner, had in them something too deep, vivid, and piercing, to find rest until the one only and true Messialı should appear.

Now it is to this that we find our Lord Himself appealing in proof of His divine commission. Immediately after He had been manifested by the descent of the Holy Ghost in His baptism, and had been tempted of the devil in the wilderness, we read that He "returned in the power of the Spirit into Galilee: and there went out a fame of Him through all the region round about. And He taught in their synagogues, being glorified of all. And He came to Nazareth, where He had been brought up: and, as His custom was, He went into the synagogue on the Sabbathday, and stood up for to read. And there was delivered unto Him the book of the prophet Esaias. And when He had opened the book, He found the place where it was written, The Spirit of the Lord is upon me, because He hath anointed me to preach the Gospel to the poor; He hath sent me to heal the broken-hearted, to preach deliverance to the captives, and recovering of sight to the blind, to set at

liberty them that are bruised, to preach the acceptable year of the Lord. And He closed the book, and He gave it again to the minister, and sat down. And the eyes of all them that were in the synagogue were fastened on Him. And He began to say unto them, This day is this Scripture fulfilled in your ears. And all bare Him witness, and wondered at the gracious words which proceeded out of His mouth."*

And soon after we read: "Now when the sun was setting, all they that had any sick with divers diseases brought them unto Him; and He laid His hands on every one of them, and healed them. And devils also came out of many, crying out, and saying, Thou art Christ the Son of God. And He rebuking them suffered them not to speak; for they knew that He was Christ."

Again: "And He came down with them, and stood in the plain, and the company of His disciples, and a great multitude of people out of all Judea and Jerusalem, and from the sea-coast of Tyre and Sidon, which came to hear Him, and to be healed of their diseases; and they that were vexed with unclean spirits: and they were healed. And the whole multitude sought to touch Him: for there went virtue out of Him, and healed them all. And He lifted up His eyes on His disciples, and said, Blessed be ye poor: for yours is the kingdom of God."

Again we read: "John, calling unto him two of his disciples, sent them to Jesus, saying, Art Thou He that should come? or look we for another? When the men were come unto Him, they said, John Baptist hath sent us unto Thee, saying, Art Thou He that should come? or look we for another? And in the same hour He cured many of their infirmities and plagues, and of evil spirits; and unto

^{*} St. Luke iv. 14-22. † St. Luke iv. 40, 41. † St. Luke vi. 17-20.

many that were blind He gave sight. Then Jesus answering said unto them, Go your way, and tell John what things ye have seen and heard; how that the blind see, the lame walk, the lepers are cleansed, the deaf hear, the dead are raised, to the poor the Gospel is preached."*

Such was the whole life of our blessed Lord. He was at all times encompassed by the multitude of sick and poor, widowed and desolate, mourners and penitents; all day long "there were many coming and going;" and He and His disciples had at times no leisure "so much as to eat." They came "from all cities and villages," and "from all the country round about,"-Jews, Samaritans, Syro-Phœnicians, Greeks, and Gentiles; some to hear His words, some to touch the hem of His garment, some to ask Him to "speak the word only," that they might be made whole. He was the one only and all-sufficient Healer and Consoler of the sorrows of all flesh. And He drew to Him all that mourned in sins, in sicknesses, in desolation of heart. They clung to Him as their true and only Rest. In Him they found the answer to all their perplexities, to all their troubles of heart; He was the true solace of all their anguish. His words, His touch, His very looks of pity, soothed and healed their woes in body and in spirit. was "a strength to the poor, a strength to the needy in his distress, a refuge from the storm, a shadow from the heat, when the blast of the terrible ones" was "as a storm against the wall." The prophecy was fulfilled in Him: "A man shall be as an hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land.";

Such was His character and ministry; and such is the character and ministry of His mystical body, which is the

^{*} St. Luke vii. 19-22. † St Mark vi. 31. ‡ Isaiah xxv. 4; xxxii. 2.

Church. The anointing which was upon Him flowed down from the Head to the members. It consecrated apostles, prophets, martyrs, and saints: they were like Him, and prolonged His ministry on earth not so much by imitation as by union and incorporation with Him—by actual participation of the spirit, sympathy, and mind of Jesus Christ. So we find after His ascension. The Holy Ghost came upon them in the day of Pentecost, and thenceforward they opened their work of compassion and of spiritual mercy by works of healing and by words of consolation. It was indeed the dispensation of the Comforter: the Church was the almoner of the poor, the physician of souls, the solace of the afflicted; it spoke peace, forgiveness, ransom, purity, gladness of heart, to all. And after the descent of the Spirit, the Church passed into that truest discipline of sympathy, the experience of sorrow. It was led, as it were, into the wilderness. In all the world it was tempted of the devil; by allurements and by afflictions he fought against it, making it thereby, and against his intent, to be partaker of the sufferings of Christ. Christians were sons of consolation, because they were men of sorrows; they inherited the title and the office of their Lord; they were called to "fill up that which was behind of the afflictions of Christ in the flesh, for His body's sake, which is the Church."* It was this that gave to the apostolical ministry such a divine and persuasive power. All the world answered to its voice, because in all the earth there were the same afflictions, and in the Church the same power to heal. From the time of the humiliation of the Son of God, sorrow, suffering, and pain became sacred and holy. To the poor was given the first place in Christ's earthly kingdom: widows, orphans, and mourners were so many distinct

orders, whom the Church nourished and consoled; little children were among its chiefest cares. The infirmities of human nature, old age and sickness, were more sacred still, and were tended with a greater love; for besides natural compassion in its most perfect form, the body of Christ was quickened by His divine sympathy. By the anointing of the Holy Ghost, charity and tenderness were shed abroad in the hearts of His disciples; and, above all, they knew that, in ministering consolation to sorrow and suffering, they were ministering to Him who in our nature had made suffering and sorrow peculiarly His own. "Inasmuch as ve did it unto one of the least of these My brethren, ye did it unto Me." This is the true secret of the wonderful fact, that hospitals for the sick, poor, aged, and strangers, homes for the outcast and desolate, are peculiar to the Church of Christ. Heathenism had none. The cold and stately cities of the heathen world had no hospitals or houses of mercy. The very name of hospital was not in their language, because the grace of charity was not in their nature. Neither had they spiritual consolations, because the very idea of repentance and contrition was unknown. It was by the mystery of the Incarnation, and the coming of the Holy Ghost, by the regeneration of the faithful, by the knitting together of the members of Christ's mystical body, that the ministries of repentance and consolation were opened to mankind. The whole visible system of hospitals, asylums, almshouses, and the like, are the expression and means of fulfilling the ends of mercy for which the Messiah was anointed by the Spirit of the Lord. It is His commission which was opened in the synagogue at Nazareth, extended throughout the earth, and prolonged unto this day. This is the peculiar note and office of the Catholic Church. It was not the work of civil powers, nor could

Christian states have borrowed the principle, and reproduced cold and remote imitations of Catholic charity; but the true test is, to look at political governments before Christ came into the world. Take Athens and Rome, the greatest and most vaunted politics the world ever saw as detached from Christianity. What did they for the alleviation of human sorrows in body or in spirit? Refinement, and civilization, and warlike greatness, and high-sounding patriotism, and subtil philosophy, what did all these for the poor and miserable? Sorry comforters are the men of this world at their best estate. It may be very unpalatable and offensive to statesmen and politicians to be told, that they can do little or nothing more than borrow grace and wisdom of the Church they despise and patronize. Yet so it is. Kingdoms and states can retain the semblance and organization of charity only so long as the Church quickens the mass of a people and the frame of government with its life. As that declines or withdraws itself, the distributions of state-charity dry up, and we hear of famishing poor and spiritual destitu-So also with Christian sects. Whatsoever of charity they have among them is borrowed of the Church, and belongs to it. Their institutions, few and scanty as they are, do but copy and imitate the ministries of manifold charity through which the mystical body of Christ consoles meek, brokenhearted, and mourning spirits. And imitations as they are, they are short-lived-they die out. It has ever been an axiom in the Church, "The branch cut off withers, the stream cut off dries up." At the outset, sects are always distinguished by a great profession of sympathy with the spiritual and bodily sufferings of mankind. They found themselves on the alleged neglect or inability of the Church to minister to the contrite and afflicted. Their strength lies in their popularity, in their moving affectionateness and for-

ward profession of disinterested solicitude, and in stealing away the hearts of the people. As Absalom said, "Oh that I were made judge in the land, that every man which hath any suit or cause might come unto me, and I would do him justice! And it was so, that when any man came nigh to him to do him obeisance, he put forth his hand, and took him, and kissed him."* But this lasts only for a time. The first zeal dies when the point is gained; labor and care grow slack, and self-denying charity cold and scant; the system relaxes, and shows inherent weakness; makes many attempts to rally, and for a time seems to succeed; but is always going down, losing its hold on men's hearts, and with its hold losing its power of unity and control. At last men forsake it, because the deep yearnings of their hearts meet no sympathy; there is nothing to stay their souls on. They are stirred, excited, and vexed by its solicitations and upbraidings, its high-sounding words and cold affections; and in the end they are repelled by its antipathies, and fall into irreligion, or are drawn away by strong vital attractions of fervent charity in the Church. So end all schisms; sooner or later they cease to be. Howsoever long they may simulate the notes of the Church, adopt its language, and affect its charity, they sink by mere exhaustion at last. "Every plant which My heavenly Father hath not planted shall be rooted up."†

1. What has been said will show us the benefit of affliction to the Church. It is most certain that it was never so like to its Divine Head as when it suffered for His name's sake. It was never so full of the Holy Ghost, of humiliation, penitence, love, compassion, and unity, as in the ages of persecution. It cost too much in those days to be a member of the Catholic Church for any to venture upon it

^{* 2} Samuel xv. 4, 5.

but such as were willing to "lose their life for Christ's sake and the gospel," that they might "find it unto life eternal." They were knit together in a community of truth and spirit, of sufferings and sorrows; and the true sympathy of the members of one body ran throughout the whole. But when the tide began to turn, and the world to shine upon the Church, it was an easy and a cheap thing to be a Christian; and it grew to be a custom and a fashion, and multitudes of cold, worldly, unsympathising men mingled themselves in Church, and lowered its tone. As it has grown prosperous, it has left off to sympathise with the same vivid compassion for the sufferings of humanity. And yet through all ages of the Church there has been a succession of saints dead to the world, likened to Christ, bearing the tokens of the Cross, disciplined in sorrow, full of living sympathy with the sufferings of the poor and penitent. Individual characters indeed have come out with an energy and intensity like apostles and martyrs. Sometimes they have kindled and, for a while, have stirred whole churches to the same fervent charity. But the secret of their perfection was still the same, that they were partakers of their Master's cross, and that by sorrow they were endowed with the gift of compassion and of love. The grace of their regeneration had been developed by the things that they had suffered. Outward crosses helped their inward mortification, and wrought for their perfection. They were endowed with a large measure of that anointing whereby their Lord was consecrated to preach the gospel to the poor, to heal the broken-hearted, and to comfort them that mourn. most certain that the Church has never been less in sympathy with the inner world of spiritual sorrow than when it has been outwardly prosperous. And from this we may derive a great consolation. Whatsoever adversity be upon

us, it is manifestly a token not only of Gad's love, but of God's purpose to make us fitter for His work of mercy to the world. Just as these latter days set in upon us, and the first days seem to return in the last, just so may we all the more believe that He is calling His Church from earthly greatness, civil power, visible offices of counsel and authority in states and kingdoms, to its original separation from the world, to a life of unity, and to higher spiritual gifts.

Surely we may say of the Church what St. Paul says of individuals. If it be without chastisement, whereof all are partakers, then must it be of a doubtful legitimacy, and its commission to witness for God in the world of no certain warrant. There is something to fear in the sight of a Church easy, peaceful, prosperous, well furnished with goods, confident of its own purity and of its own right judgment in all things. There is fear that it is, or will become, unsympathizing, self-regarding, delicate, unhumbled: that it will one day hear from the mouth out of which goeth the sharp two-edged sword: "Thou sayest, I am rich, and increased with goods, and have need of nothing; and knowest not that thou art wretched, and miserable, and poor, and blind, and naked. I counsel thee to buy of me gold tried in the fire, that thou mayest be rich; and white raiment, that thou mayest be clothed, and that the shame of thy nakedness do not appear; and anoint thine eyes with eyesalve, that thou mayest see. As many as I love, I rebuke and chasten: be zealous therefore, and repent."* And this shows us how needless are our popular alarms. Many good men, when they see the outward system of the Church threatened, think the Church is in danger. Ought we not rather to say, that then it is safe—safe from surfeit and self-trusting, from hollowness and unreality;

^{*} Rev. iii. 17-19.

safe from false confidence, high thoughts of itself, and from the pride which goeth before a fall? Nay, even those greater chastisements and dangers—the persevering attempts of sectarian bodies to alienate the hearts of its people, and the loss of many of its members by estrangement and perversion—even in these too there is safety. They are rebukes of love to deepen the interior life of the Church, to quicken a sense of compunction, to work in it the grace of humiliation, to raise the tone of its sympathy and the wisdom of its spiritual guides, to mature within it the gift of meekness, contrition, and spiritual mourning, and thereby to bring out into energy and act the great note of consolation and compassion which revealed the true Messiah at His coming.

2. Another thing we may learn from what has been said is, the design of God in afflicting the several members of the Church. It is to make them partakers of this true note of Christ's mystical body. We are all by nature hard and unsympathizing. By our regeneration we learn to see the great truth of Christian compassion: we receive the grace through which we may be perfected in love to the members of Christ: but it lies dormant in us, until by the visitations of His hand it is unfolded into contrition and spiritual sorrow. It is God's deepest way of teaching: and what we learn by affliction is our truest learning. We are thereby brought to know things by tasting their reality. The mystery of sin in us, of which we are so unconscious, becomes a vivid sense of personal unworthiness, and a source of deep humiliation and sorrow of heart. And these things make men strangely gentle and tender to others, full of pity and a softer tone. As they are taught to be themselves meek and contrite, so they learn also the exceeding fullness of the consolation which is in God; and

that secret of consolation is shown to them not for their own sakes alone, but for the sake of others. They are thereby constituted messengers of consolation, channels of the sympathy of Christ. As St. Paul says to the Corinthians, "Blessed be God, even the Father of our Lord Jesus Christ, the Father of mercies, and the God of all comfort: who comforteth us in all our tribulation, that we may be able to comfort them which are in any trouble by the comfort wherewith we ourselves are comforted of God. For as the sufferings of Christ abound in us, so our consolation also aboundeth by Christ. And whether we be afflicted, it is for your consolation and salvation, which is effectual in the enduring of the same sufferings which we also suffer: or whether we be comforted, it is for your consolation and salvation."* It is God's way of dealing with us, to make those by whom He will comfort others, first to go themselves through the darkness and realities of the world of Buoyancy, high spirits, untamed vigor, great health of body, inexperience of the changes of life, make even the most amiable of men unapt to console the suffering and sorrowful. They cannot enter into the depth and reality of their trials. They are out of place in sick rooms. Houses of mourning are not their natural home. the kindest intentions and most sincere desire to administer comfort, they do not know what to say, or how to address themselves to the offices of consolation. There is an admonition in the fact, that our blessed Lord was tempted before He began His ministry. It was the discipline, if we may so speak, of His perfect sympathy. So is it with His servants. And this goes far to explain the trials which fall chiefly on the most favored of His members;

on those that partake His office of love; on those who minister to His mystical body.

Therefore, whatsoever trial comes upon us, let us not shrink from it, nor lose any part of the full lesson of humiliation which it is sent to teach. Let us fully give ourselves to it, to suffer all it has to lay on us. There are, it may be, deeper things to be known of our own sinfulness than we can know without the teaching of some special chastisements. By them we learn to be severe to none but to ourselves; to be gentle to the sins of others, as He that breaks not the bruised reed, while we are unsparing to our own. It is by the knowledge that we are frail, and that we dwell on the very brink of great falls, if the grace of God should be for a moment withdrawn; by this we learn to pity them that are fallen, "to heal the broken-hearted," "to set at liberty them that are bruised." If He should deal with us as we deal with each other, who should stand in His sight? What unfair constructions, what hard views of the falls and failings, what hasty censures and unmerciful interpretations of other men do we indulge in! If we were true penitents; if we had learned the great lesson of humiliation; if we knew how to say with St. Paul, "For this cause I obtained mercy, that in me first Jesus Christ might show forth all long-suffering, for a pattern to them which should hereafter believe on Him to life everlasting;"* then we should learn to be gentle in eye, hand, and heart, towards the sins and humiliations of our brethren. For this reason He sometimes lets us fall, to break our harsh, unsympathizing nature, and puts on us a yoke of secret shame, which makes us for ever to look with tenderness and compunction on the sins of others.

So likewise in the sorrows of sickness or bereavement.

^{* 1} Tim. i. 16.

None know the unspeakable depth of such wounds but they who have endured them. It is all in vain to try to imagine their keen penetrating anguish; how they make the whole soul faint, and the whole heart sick. Sorrow is a season of peculiar temptations, and there are very few who do not yield to waywardness, selfishness, or irritation, when the affliction is upon them. How deeply do they resent the want of vivid sympathy in others! What thoughts and feelings of unkindness find their way into wounded hearts, and make all their wounds tenfold more piercing!

If we truly know what sorrow is, we should count it a high calling to be allowed to minister the least word of consolation to the afflicted. Therefore if we be called to suffer, let us understand it to be a call to a ministry of healing. God is setting us apart to a sort of pastoral office, to the care of the sick of His flock. There is a hidden ministry which works in perfect harmony with the orders of His Church; a ministry of secret comfort, diffusing itself by the power of sympathy and prayer. Within His visible Church are many companies of sorrow, many that weep alone, a fellowship of secret mourners; and to them the contrite and humbled are perpetually ministering, shedding peace, often unawares. Things that they have learned in seasons of affliction, long-pondered thoughts, realities learned by suffering, perceptions of God's love and presence,-all these are put in trust with them for the consolation of His elect. They know not oftentimes to whom they speak. Perhaps they have never seen them, nor ever shall. Unknown to each other, they are knit in bonds higher than all ties of blood; they are joined and constituted in that higher unity which is the order of Christ's kingdom. When all the relations of this lower life shall be dissolved, the bonds of their heavenly kindred shall be revealed.

Mourners and comforters shall meet at last in the holy city. "And God shall wipe away all tears from their eyes; and there shall be no more death, neither sorrow nor crying, neither shall there be any more pain: for the former things are passed away."*

* Rev. xxi. 4.

SERMON XII.

THE HOLINESS OF COMMON LIFE.

St. MARK vi. 3.

"Is not this the carpenter, the son of Mary, the brother of James, and Joses, and of Juda, and Simon? and are not His sisters here with us? And they were offended at Him."

ST. MATTHEW, in relating the same event, tells us that they said, "Is not this the carpenter's son?" Such was the repute in which He was held in His own country, where we should have thought that an awe would have rested upon the hearts of all; and that His perfect meekness would have won their love. "When He was come into His own country, He taught them in their synagogue, insomuch that they were astonished, and said, Whence hath this man this wisdom, and these mighty works? And they were offended in Him. But Jesus said unto them, A prophet is not without honor save in his own country, and in his own house. And He did not many mighty works there, because of their Now it cannot but appear very strange, that unbelief."* our Lord Jesus Christ should have been so like to other men that they should not have discovered Him to be some-

thing greater than themselves. We should have thought that the events attending first the annunciation, then His birth, the revelations to the shepherds and to the wise men, the warnings of God to Joseph, should have in some wav come abroad, and invested the Child Jesus with awe and mystery; or, if these things were kept secret, yet we should have thought that there must have been in His very gestures and words some indications which should have made people expect from Him something more than from other men. Yet it would appear that for thirty years He lay hid, living among them unheeded, speaking and acting in the common way of men, so that He passed for the carpenter's son, Himself a carpenter, dwelling among His kinsmen, brethren and sisters as they are here called. They treated Him as one of themselves. Not only in the Temple at Jerusalem, where He might be unknown, did they ask, "How knoweth this man letters, having never learned?"* but here, in His own city, they asked, in surprise and incredulity, "Whence hath this man this wisdom?" From all this it would seem plain, that our blessed Redeemer did not greatly differ, in what may be called His private life, from those about Him; that He dwelt under the roof of Joseph and Mary, in childhood subject to them, in manhood serving them with a perfect filial duty, in plainness, poverty, retirement. He, in whom dwelt the fulness of the Godhead bodily, the brightness of His Father's glory, and the express image of His Person, lay so concealed in the paths of ordinary life, that His own townsmen knew Him only as the carpenter, as an unnoted member of Joseph's household.

Now there are some very important practical truths to be drawn from this fact: truths full both of comfort and of instruction to many kinds of people. What is more com-

^{*} St. John vii. 15.

mon than to hear people excusing themselves from the obligation of leading a devout life, on the plea that they are compelled to mix with the world? Others, again, who earnestly desire to keep themselves unspotted from the world, are exceedingly distressed at the distractions and hindrances of society. Some think that all high counsels of devotion are for solitaries, or persons whom God has called out of the tumult of the world to serve Him in the shelter of sorrow, sickness, or retirement. They give up the very thought of aiming at higher attainments; they call them visionary, unpractical, impossible. And even those who earnestly strive to live above the context of life by which they are surrounded, are tempted to think that, if they would live nearer to God, they must abandon life and its manifold exactions.

We may learn, then, from this view of our Lord's example:

1. First, that the holiest of men may to all outward eyes appear exactly like other people. For in what does holiness consist but in a due fulfilment of the relative duties of our state in life, and in spiritual fellowship with God?

Now the relative duties of life are universal. Every man has his own. There is nothing peculiar but that which belongs to each man's peculiar station, and that station explains away the peculiarity of his acts and ways. Whatever we are, high or lowly, learned or unlearned, married or single, in a full house or alone, charged with many affairs or dwelling in quietness, we have our daily round of work, our duties of affection, obedience, love, mercy, industry, and the like; and that which makes one man to differ from another is not so much what things he does, as his manner of doing them. Two men, the most opposite in character, may dwell side by side, and do the very same daily acts,

but in the sight of God be as far apart as light and dark-Saints and sinners may alike fulfil the visible acts of their several callings in life; but with what diversity of motives, with what contradiction of aims, with what opposite tempers, purposes, affections of heart! The very same round of acts may be to one man the subject-matter of a holy life, to another the occasion of habitual offences. At all events, the habit of life in each is ostensibly the same, and there is nothing peculiar or remarkable in those things in which sinners and saints alike partake. The commonplace familiar aspect of evey-day life draws a veil over the inward posture and actings of the mind, as over the holiness of our Lord. And if in these things holy men are not outwardly distinguishable from others, they are still less so in the spiritual fellowship which is between themselves and God. Into this no eye but that which seeth in secret can enter. No man can say what passes in the closet when the door is shut; in secret meditations at eventide; in nightly vigils; in wakings before the morning-watch; in days when the spirit goes softly before God, with fasting, and compunction, and tears which flow inwardly upon the soul.

2. Again: we may learn, what, indeed, is implied though not expressed in the text, that true holiness is not made up of extraordinary acts. We may say in this as the Apostle asked of the Church in Corinth: "Are all apostles? are all prophets? are all teachers? are all workers of miracles? have all the gifts of healing? do all speak with tongues? do all interpret?"* Although we know, indeed, and in cooler and clearer moments acknowledge, that it is not only those who are called of God to great and emphatic works of faith and charity, that are truly devout; yet we are somehow often tempted to overstep the lines which are

^{* 1} Cor. xii. 29, 30,

drawn along our ordinary path. This is especially true of persons at the outset of a religious life, or in the first awakening of repentance, or under the deep thrilling impressions of God's presence in sorrows or afflictions. We are tempted to give way to excited feelings, to exaggerated words, to unnecessary and almost unostentatious acts; and that with no desire to be seen of men, and to have our miserable reward in this world, but because we fancy that common things do not give scope enough for a devoted life; that a wider field, and broader lines, and bolder strokes, are needed.

And this no doubt is the secret of many grave and sometimes irremediable mistakes. Sometimes, under the belief that in an ordinary life of duty they could not serve God with devotion, men have left their plain path of duty, and committed themselves suddenly to holy orders; or they have made sacrifices of which they have afterwards repented; or bound themselves by vows which have turned to yokes and snares; or, like the foolish builder, have committed themselves to public professions, which they have afterwards shamefully abandoned. Now what is all this but the mistake that holiness is to be attained more easily by going out of our ordinary path than by abiding in it? But if there be anything true, it is this: that, for the greater part of men, the most favorable discipline of holiness will be found exactly to coincide with the ordinary path of duty; and that it will be most surely promoted by repressing the wanderings of imagination, in which we frame to ourselves states of life and habits of devotion remote from our actual lot, and by spending all our strength in those things, great or small, pleasing or unpalatable, which belong to our calling or position.

3. And, once more, we may learn, that any man, what-

soever be his outward circumstances of life, may reach to any the highest point of devotion. I do not say that all states of life are equally favorable; far from it; but that outward circumstances are only hindrances, not absolute prohibitions. It is most true, that they who are permitted by the Providence of God to withdraw from worldly employments, to wait at His altar, to be content with food and raiment, to live lives of self-denial, in works of love and spiritual mercy, being themselves without carefulness, and disburdened of the many things which cumber other Christians: that is, in one word, who are permitted to choose with Mary that "one thing needful," "that good part which shall not be taken away from "them; most true it is, that such persons may, and do, for the most part, more surely and deeply than others, perfect in their souls the work of humiliation, penitence, and devotion.

But this is a lot not given to all. And it is most certain, that for those who are not called for from the duties of the world and the cares of life, the path in which God is pleased to lead them must be the best and safest. Nay, one among the wisest of the Church's early teachers* tells us that the most perfect man is he who, in the midst of the charges, and cares, and relations of life and home, yet attends upon the Lord without distraction. Such a way of life will indeed require greater spiritual strength. For worldly cares weigh down the soul, and entangle it in manifold obstructions. To be in the world, and yet dead to it, is the highest reach of faith.

But there is no need for the great multitude of Christians to weigh these states in a balance against each other. This at least is most certain, and makes all such comparisons unprofitable—I mean, that there is hardly one of us

^{*} S. Clem. Alex. Strom. vii. 874.

whose outward circumstances in life do not admit of a far higher reach of devotion than we actually attain. We repine at the obstructions of our outward lot, as if they were the cause of our wandering thoughts, careless hearts, selfish wishes, inattentive prayers, unchastened tempers, languid affections. We think we should do better in some other condition, under some other circumstances, with somewhat less of ordinary life, and somewhat more of uncommon events and practices. And yet the hindrance is not from without but within us. It is not only in the household, or in the market-place, or at the seat of custom, or in the crowd of men, that this, which makes our religious character imperfect, cleaves to us, and defeats our wishes and intentions. We should carry it with us into a cell. It would lower the tone of our devotions in a solitude, or even at the foot of the altar: for what is it but the want of fervor and perseverance, a lack of inward force and of spiritual affections? What do the examples of Holy Scripture teach us? They show us that those who have been called to serve God out of the world, so to speak, are few; and that they who have served Him in the world are the multitude of His saints. Samuel was brought up in the temple; Elijah dwelt in Carmel; Elisha in the school of the prophets; John Baptist in the wilderness; the Apostles forsook all for Christ's sake and the Gospel: but Enoch walked with God, and had sons and daughters; Abraham had great possessions; Joseph governed Egypt; Moses was king in Jeshurun;* Jeremiah dwelt in a royal court; Daniel was third ruler in the kingdom of Babylon; Nehemiah was prince and governor in Jerusalem.

So in all ages the saints of the Church have been mingled in all the duties and toils of life, until age or the

^{*} Deut. xxxiii. 5.

events of Providence set them free. There was nothing uncommon about most of them but their holiness. Their very lot in life ministered to them occasions of obedience and humiliation. They sought God fervently in the turmoil of homes and armies, of camps and courts; and He revealed Himself to them in love, and became the centre about which they moved, and the rest of all their affections.

There is no reason why we should not likewise live unto God, whatsoever be our trade, labor, profession, or state. A poor mother may live after the example of the Blessed Virgin in lowliness and thoughtful care, pondering in her heart, watching over her children, and fostering them for God, leading them up to His temple, teaching them betimes to be about their heavenly Father's business. Children may grow up in affection, patience, gentleness, and uniform obedience, like our Lord. A poor laboring man may live by the sweat of his face, tilling the earth, or working with the tools of his craft, as "the Carpenter" at His toil, and yet have his "life hid with Christ in God." Statesmen, merchants, lawyers, soldiers, all they who "maintain the state of the world," may reach to any height of Christian devotion. There is no limit to their advance, except in the measure of their own energy, zeal, selfdiscipline, and purity of heart.

What has been said may suggest many thoughts of comfort in the present state of the Church among us. It cannot be denied that the visible marks of sanctity are but faintly seen. The world has outgrown the Church, and left its character and impressions every where. In the whole civil and social state, in public and private life, in our sciences of government and schemes of civilization, in our institutions, undertakings, and usages, that which meets us every where is the world, its powers, wisdom, self-

trusting, its softness, polish, and refinement. The notes of the Church are suppressed and seldom seen: the counsels, precepts, laws of holy living, the public solemnities of a visible religion, are well nigh withdrawn from our personal, domestic, and political life. Where are the high days of the Church's joy, as in the former days of old? The very consolations of Holy Scripture have become unmeaning to Who knows what is promised when it is said, "Ye shall have a song, as in the night when a holy solemnity is kept; and gladness of heart, as when one goeth with a pipe to come into the mountain of the Lord, to the mighty One of Israel?"* Where are our feasts of Christian joy? Chilled off into a formality, which to the multitude is tame, wearisome, and inexpressive; or the mercies of God are suffered to pass without any token of acknowledgment. And for our public fasts, even Nineveh shall rise up in the judgment and condemn us. "The people of Nineveh believed God, and proclaimed a fast, and put on sackcloth, from the greatest of them even to the least of them. word came unto the king of Nineveh, and he arose from his throne, and he laid his robe from him, and covered him with sackcloth, and sat in ashes. And he caused it to be proclaimed and published through Nineveh by the decree of the king and his nobles, saying, Let neither man nor beast, herd nor flock, taste any thing; let them not feed, nor drink water: but let man and beast be covered with sackcloth, and cry mightily unto God."† But we have come to partake in great public wrongs, and can bear to be smitten by awful public chastisements, without confession or humiliation. And, moreover, those visible institutions and privileged rules of life by which repentance, devotion, and charity manifested themselves in other days, are gone.

The surface of religion among us is a monotonous plain, unbroken by variety; marked by few visible features of devotion, standing out in relief from the level of ordinary life.

We may hope, indeed, that these things are the excess of a recoil from a popular system, which may have been more visible than real; and that the secrecy of private devotion is a sensitive and not unwise retirement, into which men are provoked by the coarse and unfeeling exhibition of fanatical and self-conscious professors. Let us hope that there is yet a severe reality at heart, that men have been taught to apprehend with an intense and even overstrained interpretation the words of our Lord in the midst of an ostentatious and obtrusive religious profession: "Take heed that ye do not your alms before men, to be seen of them: otherwise ye have no reward of your Father which is in heaven. Therefore when thou doest thine alms, do not sound a trumpet before thee, as the hypocrites do in the synagogues and in the streets, that they may have glory of men. Verily I say unto you, They have their reward. But when thou doest alms, let not thy left hand know what thy right hand doeth: that thine alms may be in secret: and thy Father which seeth in secret, Himself shall reward thee openly. And when thou prayest, thou shalt not be as the hypocrites are: for they love to pray standing in the synagogues and in the corners of the streets, that they may be seen of men. Verily I say unto you, They have their reward. But thou, when thou prayest, enter into thy closet, and when thou hast shut thy door, pray to thy Father which is in secret; and thy Father which seeth in secret shall reward thee openly. . . . Moreover when ye fast, be not, as the hypocrites, of a sad countenance: for they disfigure their faces, that they may

appear unto men to fast. Verily I say unto you, They have their reward. But thou, when thou fastest, anoint thine head, and wash thy face: that thou appear not unto men to fast, but unto thy Father which is in secret: and thy Father which seeth in secret shall reward thee openly."* think, certainly true, that what the confusions and worldliness of these latter days have made inevitable, these words have been understood even to enjoin; and we may therefore take great comfort in the thought, that under the cold, naked exterior of our public religion, and the reserve of private habits, there does exist a deep and severe reality of spiritual life; that under the most unlikely and adverse appearance there lies hidden a real work of mortification. We read even of a king of Israel, "that he rent his clothes; and he passed by upon the wall, and the people looked, and, behold, he had sackcloth within upon his flesh."† Let us hope that God, who weigheth the spirits, does discern the deep moving of the inmost heart, the tokens of the cross, the mind of Christ, in those who, to us, seem no more than just, temperate, amiable, and gentle; and that many who appear to be drifting to and fro on the waterflood, are held by "an anchor of the soul, sure and steadfast, and which entereth into that within the veil." God only knows. We may perhaps have spoken, and even dwelt, with men who had in them the mind of apostles and martyrs. known them only by their outward aspect, as they who said in His own country, "Is not this the carpenter?"

Let us hope this, I say, of others: but we must do more than hope it of ourselves; here there can be no mistaking. We are within the closet even when the door is shut. What is seen by our Father in secret is not hidden from us. Whether or no there be, under our every-day life, the devo-

^{*} St. Matt. vi. 1-6, 16-18. † 2 Kings vi. 30. ‡ Heb. vi. 19.

tion of a saintly mind, can be no matter of doubt to those who desire to know themselves. It is plain, from what has been said, that if it be not so with us, the fault is not in our outward state, nor in its circumstances, but in ourselves. We may therefore rest assured, that the duties of the day and fellowship with God are enough to lead us on to any measure of Christian perfection. But these must not be separated. It is impossible for us to make the duties of our lot minister to our sanctification without a habit of devout fellowship with God. This is the spring of all our life, and the strength of it. It is prayer, meditation, and converse with God, that refreshes, restores, and renews the temper of our minds, at all times, under all trials, after all conflicts with the world, when our own carnal will and frailty has betrayed us to our fall, and breaches have been made in our most stedfast resolutions. By this contact with the world unseen we receive continual accesses of strength. The counter-working of the world is thereby held in check. As our day, so is our strength. Without this healing and refreshing of spirit, duties grow to be burdens, the events of life chafe our temper, employments lower the tone of our minds, and we become fretful, irritable, and impatient. Our outward circumstances become provocations and offences. A busy life, or one that is full of this world's duties and gifts, needs much devotion to sanctify it. The less directly our outward lot disposes us towards inward holiness, the more need have we of recollection, self-chastisement, and prayer. Without these we shall never be able to walk with circumspection, in gentleness, sincerity, pureness, and love. Our hidden life with God is the very soul of our spiritual being in our own home, in the church, and in the world.

And so also, on the other hand, it is impossible for us to

live in fellowship with God without holiness in all the relative duties of life. These things act and react on each other. Without a diligent and faithful obedience to the calls and claims of others upon us, our religious profession is simply dead. To disobey conscience when it points to relative duties irritates the whole temper, and quenches the first beginnings of devotion. We cannot go from strife, breaches, and angry words, to God. Selfishness, an imperious will, want of sympathy with the sufferings and sorrows of other men, neglect of charitable offices, suspicions, hard censures of those with whom our lot is cast, will miserably darken our own hearts and hide the face of God from us. It is merc folly to go from a breach of the second great commandment to attempt the fulfilment of the first. When a man is ill at ease with others, he is sure to be so with God. much-abused proverb is most true, "Charity begins at home." It is but Pharisaism and self-delusion for a man that is "a lion in his house and frantic among his servants"* to make profession of prayer and fellowship with the Lamb of God.

Let this, then, be our token. Let us whose lot is cast in these latter times, when the Church has once more become almost hidden in the world, be of the holy fellowship of Him who to the eyes of men was only the carpenter, but in the eyes of God was the very Christ. Let us look well to our daily duties. The least of them is a wholesome discipline of humiliation: if, indeed, any thing can be little which may be done for God. If we were worthy of greater things, He would call us: if He do not, He bids us to know ourselves better, to mortify vanity and high thoughts of our own powers to do Him service. Every state has its peculiar graces. They who are blessed with full homes and many

^{*} Ecclus. iv. 30.

friends are called to goodness, mercy, long-suffering, tender affection towards the burdened and afflicted. The Jews would have no man to be a judge but one that had children, that he might know how to show mercy as a father. There is a discipline of humanity in the cares and burdens of life which mellows the hearts of the just. Joseph is their type and example. Others are otherwise led and disposed of, and are thereby called to toil, hardness, deadness to self, patience, humiliation; to be content with God alone; to have charity to God's elect, boldness for the truth, suffering for the Church, and to receive in the "body the marks of the Lord Jesus."

SERMON XIII.

THE WORLD WE HAVE RENOUNCED

St. John xv. 18, 19.

"If the world hate you, ye know that it hated Me before it hated you. If ye were of the world, the world would love his own: but because ye are not of the world, but I have chosen you out of the world, therefore the world hateth you."

Perhaps there is no word more commonly in our mouths than "the world;" and yet hardly any to which we attach less clear and certain meaning. Indeed, the sense intended by it varies according to the character of the person that uses it. Some people denounce the world as unmixed evil; some say it is for the most part good, or at least innocent; some profess to see its deceitful workings everywhere; some will see them nowhere; some make their religion to consist in a separation from the world, some think the field of their religious duty is in the world; in a word, there is little or no agreement or certainty but in this, that there is such a power and reality as the world, and that it is of great moment to us to know what it is. Let us therefore endeavor to come at something better than these floating notions about it.

Our Lord here says to the apostles, that the world hated Him, and would hate them; and also, that they were not of the world, because He had chosen and taken them out of it.

Now to this it is sometimes said, that our Lord spoke of the unenlightened world before and at His coming, of the world by which He was rejected and crucified; that since He overcame sin and death, and cast out the prince of this world, it has been won to Himself; that now it is the Christian world. And again, that these words are spoken to the apostles, not to us; to those who had to encounter the world while unconverted, and by their words and sufferings to turn it to God; that they were indeed taken out of it, all unchanged as it was then; but that when the world became Christian, our place was no longer out of it, but in it; and it was no longer opposed to Christ and His servants, but united to them; so that it is fanaticism, or spiritual pride, or a blind and shallow view, to speak of the world we see in the words spoken by our Lord of the world then; and that it savors of some great personal faults, if we set ourselves in opposition to it, and bring ourselves under its censure and dislike. It is said with much force that the ages of polytheism and idolatry, of atheistical philosophy and sophistical schools, of impure and turbulent rites, lascivious and bloody spectacles in the theatres and the circus; of public tyranny, open political corruption, and all that complex spirit of lordly and daring enmity against God, which reigned in and through these things, has been cast out of Christendom; that it has been exorcised and the unclean presence is gone out of it; that it now sits at Christ's feet clothed and in its right mind. We are bid to look at the visible Church throughout the world; at the holiness of saints, the devotion of princes, the purity of

tribunals, the wisdom of legislatures, the multiplication of Christian states, the steadfast order of nations, their internal peace, the safety of the weak, the consolations of the poor, the reign of right and truth in all dealings of men, the sanctity of homes, and the high perfection of private life; the public honor of religion, the crowds that fill the churches and kneel at the altars of Christ. Can it be said that all this is the antagonist of Christ; that this is the world that hates Him, and out of which He has chosen you? Is not this to speak evil of His own work, and to set yourselves against Him in it? to slight His presence in turning from it, and to commit a kind of schism in separating from it? No one can deny that there is much force in this; and many people who desire to walk in the way of perfection are perplexed by it: for after all, it seems strange and unlikely to them that the world which they renounced in their baptism should be the world at Christ's coming—the world before Constantine—a thing of history. It was a safe vow, which we could never be tempted to break, and no hard thing to renounce that by which we could never be But this will not satisfy any earnest conscience. assailed. We must find, therefore, some better and fuller view; and for this purpose we shall do best to begin at the beginning of this entangled subject.

In its original sense, the world is altogether good. By the work and will of God it is all sinless and pure. "The earth and the world is the Lord's."* It means no more than the creation of God. It is only in its second intention that the world has an evil sense; but that sense is its prevailing and its true one. The first intention of it is cancelled for awhile, until the day of the restitution of all things.

In the second sense the world is the creation of God

^{*} Psalm xxiv. 1.

as it is possessed by sin and death. So subtil and farspreading is the original sin of man, that no living soul is without a taint. The living powers of the first man fell under the bias of evil, and the same has more or less swayed every one since born into the world. There is no doubt that sin becomes more complex and energetic as time goes on.—that there is in the character of the world a law of deterioration, like that which we see in the character of individuals. The original sin was not a measured quantity, so to speak, of evil, which, like a hereditary disease, might exhaust itself in the course of two or three descents. Every several generation renewed it afresh; every several man reproduced it, and sustained the tradition of evil by example, habit and license; it was perpetuated in races, in nations, in families; by custom, usage, and law. And what is this great tradition of human thought and will, action and imagination, with all its illusions, misjudgments, indulgences, and abuses of God's creatures, but the world? We mean by it something external to our minds, and yet not identical with the creation of God; something which has thrust itself between it and us; something parasitical, which has fastened upon all God's works, and has wound itself into its inmost action, and into its very being. For instance, Enoch, as we are told, was born into an idolatrous race: he found himself surrounded by a mighty delusion, which had grown up out of no one mind, or people, or age; it was the accumulated error of centuries, in which man had been forgetting God. And this great lie offered itself to him as a truth and a reality. It forced itself upon him with all the presumption of an established and long-admitted doctrine.

So, again, in the case of Abraham, until God called him out from his kindred, who "served other gods beyond

the flood;" and so, likewise, with those born in the times of the Judges, and in the times of the last kings of Judah, when the abominations of the Gentiles had filled the inmost chambers of Jerusalem. In all these there was a system of belief and practice, which spread corruption throughout the public and private life of the Jews; and that system was the worship and the kingdom of the God of this world, the great heathen tradition of mankind which had re-entered the precincts of Israel. And what makes this the more striking is, that they were specially God's elect. Abraham was chosen out of this world, and his children in him. Separation from the world was the very law of their existence as God's people. The world was, in truth, external to the family of Abraham. In one sense it may be said that they "were not of the world," and that God had chosen them "out of the world." And this continued to be true of them to the very last, through their captivity, and their restoration, down to the time of Christ's coming. They were strictly an elect people; and around them lay the world, out of which they were taken and set apart.

And yet it was specially out of this very people that our Lord chose His apostles. It was of that very people that He said, "If the world hate you, ye know it hated Me before it hated you." This was not said of Moabites or Idumæans, but of Israelites. All elect and separate as they were, they were the world still; and they hated Christ, and crucified the Lord of glory. And it was of this election of His apostles from among God's people Israel that He said, "If ye were of the world, the world would love his own; but because ye are not of the world, but I have chosen you out of the world, therefore the world was in the very heart of Jerusalem—in its Priests, in its

Levites, in its Scribes, in its Elders, in Sadducees, Pharisees, Herodians; in its ecclesiastical order, in its civil state, in its gates, at its altars, in the midst of the temple, in its rulers' houses, in its feasts and fasts, in the council and in the sanhedring, in all houses, in all chambers, in all hearts: that the great world-wide tradition of lust, pride, unbelief, selfishness, will-worship, prejudice, blindness, with all its vanities, pomps, glitter, and lies, was spread like a net over the whole face of the land? They had been born, as Abraham and Enoch, into the midst of an age at enmity with God. The world had interwoven itself with the whole framework of national and individual life; and between the presence of God and the conscience of man had hung a film, ever-shifting and many-colored, which tinged and distorted all things. The great tradition of the fall weighed upon the whole order of life in Galilee and Judea. The revelation of God was darkened by the grossness of their spiritual state. The work of grace which God had wrought by prophets and seers, and all the forerunning tokens and types, which should have prepared them for the Son of God, for His sorrows, and for His spiritual kingdom, were all misread by their eyes of When they read Moses and the prophets, the world was their expositor. As they lusted, so they believed. Therefore they eat and drank, planted and builded, married and gave in marriage, disputed in their synagogues, went to law with the poor, devoured the houses of widows and the bread of orphans, prayed in public, fasted visibly, gave alms with observation. This was the world out of which Christ elected His apostles,—the state of fleshly indulgence, dull infidelity, confident profession, fatal non-expectation of the day of His coming.

He first broke up the way through this bondage of death, and called them to follow Him forth into the realities of God's kingdom. All that they were born into they shook from them, and stood afar off, as from a thing under a curse.

The world, then, out of which they were taken, was not the Gentile world, but the disobedience of the visible Church.

We have here a clue which will lead us safely out of this question.

1. First, it is true to distinguish between the Church and the world, as between things antagonist and irreconcilable: for the Son of God, by His incarnation and atonement, and by the calling and mission of His apostles, has founded and built up in the earth a visible kingdom, which has no other Head but Him alone. That visible kingdom is so taken out of the world, that a man must either be in it or out of it; and must, therefore, be either in the Church or in the world. In the visible kingdom of Christ are all the graces and promises of life; in the world are the powers and traditions of death. We know of no revealed salvation out of that visible kingdom; we can point to no other way to life. There is but one Saviour, one Mediator, one Sacrifice for the sin of the world; one baptism for the remission of sins; one rule of faith; one law of holiness. "We are of God," writes St. John, "and the whole world lieth in wickedness." "I have manifested Thy name," saith our Lord, "unto the men which Thou gavest Me out of the world: Thine they were, and Thou gavest them Me; and they have kept Thy word. . . . I pray for them: I pray not for the world, but for them which Thou hast given Me; for they are Thine. . . . I have given them Thy word; and the world hath hated them, because they are not of the world, even as I am not of the world. I pray not that Thou shouldest take them out

of the world, but that Thou shouldest keep them from the They are not of the world, even as I am not of the world."* He made His Church so separate and visibly distinct from the world, that it became a broad and enduring witness of His advent, and of His divine mission to mankind. "Neither pray I for these alone, but for them also which shall believe on Me through their word;" that is, for the catholic Church to the world's end: "that they all may be one; as Thou, Father, art in Me, and I in Thee, that they also may be one in Us: that the world may believe that Thou hast sent Me." It is needless to multiply quotations in a thing so plain. It is certain that, in a very true, deep, and ineffaceable sense, the Church is so taken out of the world as to be absolutely separate from it, and opposed to it. It is so by the gifts of election and regeneration; by the graces of righteousness, illumination, and sanctity; by the laws, precepts, counsels of obedience; by the traditions, sacraments, and institutions of God. And this is a separation and distinctness not simply external or relative, as of things ceremonially consecrated; though even so, it would be no less actual; but it is parted from the world as a leavened mass from a mass unleavened—as a field in which seed has been sown, from a field lying fallow; that is, by the unseen presence of Christ, the inward endowments and virtual possession of righteousness and of immortal life. is, therefore, no less than a covert denial of the great mystery of the regeneration, to confound this separation and opposition between the Church and the world; and it has been commonly found, that wheresoever faith in the sovereign grace of God to us in our baptism has declined, there the distinction between the Church and the world has been confounded, and finally lost. In this sense, then, they that are

^{*} St. John xvii. 6, 9, 14-16, 20, 21.

of the world are not of the Church, and they that are of the Church are not of the world. There can be no real fellowship between those that are of the body of Christ and those that are not. The only intercourse the Church has ever held with the heathen has been either such as St. Paul permitted to the Christians in Corinth, who might still maintain the relations of outward kindliness with unbelievers, or direct missions for the conversion of nations to the faith. could be no closer fellowship; for as the world had its own complex scheme of political, social, and personal life, so had the Church, over and above its positive institutions, a whole moral character, founded on precepts and counsels both of obedience and devotion altogether separate and distinct. The communion of saints could no way blend with the fellowship of the impure. It had no unity with the violent, covetous, and unholy, or of those who believed in nothing unseen. The personal habits of the Christian, aiming at the example of the Son of God, could in no way adjust themselves to the habits of the heathen. And this St. Paul intends in his counsels about the marriage of Christians. There was a moral and formal contrariety between the rules of conduct and aim on both sides, which held the Church and the world apart.

2. But farther, it is no less true to say, that the world, which in the beginning was visibly without the Church, is now invisibly within it. So long as the world was heathen, it warred against the Church in bitter and relentless persecutions. The two great traditions—the one of God, the other of the world, the powers of the regeneration and of the fall—kept their own integrity by contradiction and perpetual conflict. The Church stood alone—a kingdom ordained of God, having her own princes and thrones, her own judges and tribunals, her own laws and equity, her own

public customs and private economy of life. All these ran clear from a source freshly opened, and in a channel newly sunk to preserve their purity. The streams of the world had not as yet fallen into the river of God: its waters were transparent still. It was when the conversion of individuals drew after it, at last, the whole civil state; when the secular powers, with all their courts, pomps, institutions, laws, judicatures, and the entire political order of the world, came into the precinct of the Church; then it was that the great tradition, as I have said, of human thought, passion, belief, prejudice, and custom, mingled itself with the unwritten usages of the Church. I am far from saying this with the intention of those who declaim against those ages, and sit in judgment on the Church. All this seems to imply a shortsighted and irrelevant habit of mind. Without doubt it was as much the design of God that the Church should possess itself of the empire of the world, as that Israel should possess itself of a fixed habitation in the land of Canaan, and that David's throne should be set up in Jerusalem. The typical or temporal import of this is no objection. was the design of Heaven that the Church should overspread mankind, and, like the leaven, work mysteriously in the whole world. Neither is it any objection to say, that the Church has thereby lost in purity or devotion, and the like. It is enough that it is doing God's behests, grappling with the world in its own precincts, and in its seats of power and pride. Whatever be the apparent tide of the struggle, we are sure of this, that the work of God is being wrought by the Church upon the world. When the world seems to prevail, yet even then the elect are being made perfect. And it is equally certain, that the probation of our faith is all the more keen and searching. When Noah was shut into the ark, his faith had a strong trial to endure; but he was

shielded from manifold temptations. It was after he had again possessed the earth that he was tempted and fell.* In the beginning the Church had a sorer and a more fiery trial: but who can say that the peril of souls is not greater now? In those days it was no hard matter to discern between the world and the Church. But now our very difficulty is, to know what is that world which we have renounced; to detect its snares, and to overcome its allurements. It is no longer an external adversary, raging, reviling, and wearing out the name of Christ. Now it is within. The world is inside the fold, baptised, catechised, subdued, specious, and worshipping. This is a far more dangerous antagonist.

According to the sure promise of Christ, and by the power of His presence, the Church has in a wonderful manner preserved inviolate the whole tradition of the Faith. All that He taught and commanded for the perfection of His clect has been kept spotless in the midst of this evil world. But no one can read the history of Christendom without discerning the same law of decline and deterioration, which has from the beginning obtained among mankind, prevailing, not over the Church as it is a work of the Divine presence, but over the moral, intellectual, social condition of nations professing Christianity. It would be out of place here to give detailed examples; but I may just refer to the corruption of Christian Africa in the time of St. Augustin, and of England under the later Saxon kings, and of the north of Italy in the sixteenth century. It is most certain that there is a power always working in Christian nations, which is not of God, nor of the Church, but of the world, of that corruption which every generation reproduces, and of that aboriginal evil which has been always working in

our fallen race, unfolding itself in endless forms, and perpetuating its effects by a most subtil transmission from age To be more particular: I will say, that the state of public morals, the habits of personal and social life, popular amusements, and the policy of governments, so far as they are not under the direct guidance of religion, are examples of the presence and power of that which is properly and truly called the world. And nobody need fear to add, that the tone and moral effect of all these, except when they are especially guided by religion to a Christian use and purpose, is almost always, in a greater or less degree, at variance with God. The laws of every Christian state, the customs of every Christian society, and the practice of families and individuals as contained in them, are, indeed, always professedly based upon the laws of God, and limited by the precepts of Christ. It is not. however, the outline but the filling in that determines the character: it is not the letter, but the interpretation that fixes the meaning, and gives emphasis to the sense: so it is with the complex social state of a Christian people. The laws of Christian faith are all there, but so glossed and paraphrased, so interlined by commentaries and lowered by adjustments, that it is no longer the Church warring its way through the world, but the world playing the Christian in a masque. This, then, is the world which in our baptism we renounced. It was no remote or imaginary notion, but a present and active reality: that very same principle of original evil which, in all ages, under all shapes, in all places, has issued in lust, pride, covetousness, vainglory. It surrounds us in the visible Church now as it surrounded the apostles in the Holy City of old. It cleaves to all things about us. It is in all places of concourse, in all business, in all pleasures, in all assemblies and spectacles,

in all homes, in all the circumstances of our personal life. We are not called to separate ourselves from any outward system, as they were, but to be inwardly as estranged from the evil that cleaves to the system around us, as if we were not of it. "I pray not that thou shouldest take them out of the world, but that Thou shouldest keep them from the evil." Let us, then, lay deeply to heart this great truth, that our only safety is in being inwardly dead to the love and fear of the world. Let us go boldly to all lawful work, even though it be in the midst of it; for in that God will keep us pure. However secular our toil may be, whether in trading, or tilling the ground, or in the administration of law, or in the government and service of Christian states, in all these, when God leads us, He will be our shield, and we shall be kept spotless. Only let us watch against craving, or lusting, or hungering after the honors, gifts, and gains of life. The desire of these things, though we be never corrupted by attaining them, will turn all our work to snares, and make all our duties to be perilous. He that loves these things is to be bought, and has his price, and all men know it; and even the world despises while it buys him for its own. Let us be on our guard against that basest of all idolatry, the worship of wealth, or rank, or numbers; and against that most hateful of all intoxication, the love of popular applause, and the admiration of men that shall die. The favor of the world is no sign of the saints. The cross is their portion. The voice of the many is no test of truth, nor warrant of right, nor rule of duty. Truth and right, and a pure conscience, have been ever with the few. "Many are called, but few are chosen." So it ever has been and shall be. Let us, therefore, pray God for strength to do our work in the world without fear, but to find our rest in Him. Let us not think ourselves safe in

a fancied separation from society around us: we cannot escape it any more than the light of day. Nevertheless. let us at least stand aloof from it all we may. Work in the world we needs must; but we need not to feast and revel, to accept its gifts, nor go wondering after its greatness. Let us not take licence to taste or to possess all its lawful things, for "all things are not expedient," "all things edify The world has too much craft to thrust upon us at first the offer of forbidden things. Soft things and fair, things harmless and without blame, come first and smooth the way for more subtil allurements. There is but one safeguard for Christ's servants; to be like Him in whom the prince of this world in the hour of temptation had nothing he could make his own. Our safety is not so much where as what we are.

SERMON XVI.

ON MIXING IN THE WORLD, AND ITS SAFEGUARDS.

St. Matthew xi. 18, 19.

"John came neither eating nor drinking, and they say, He hath a devil. The Son of man came eating and drinking, and they say, Behold a man gluttonous, and a winebibber, a friend of publicans and sinners."

There is a remarkable contrast between the examples of St. John Baptist and of our Lord. St. Luke tells us of St. John, that "the child grew, and waxed strong in spirit, and was in the deserts till the day of his showing unto Israel:" but of our Lord he says, that He went down "to Nazareth, and was subject" to the Blessed Virgin and Joseph, and that He "increased in wisdom and stature, and in favor with God and man."* There was a difference in them even from childhood. John lived apart from men, a severe, ascetic life, in hardship and solitude. Jesus dwelt in a house, among the habitations, trades, and cares of men: for thirty years His was a life such as ours, in all outward things unnoticed and commonplace. And so they both grew up; and in full manhood they came forth, the one a

preacher of repentance in the wilderness, having "his raiment of camel's hair, and a leathern girdle about his loins, and his meat was locusts and wild honey."* other a preacher of repentance in the world, sitting at meat in the houses of Pharisees and Scribes, and at the table of Levi and Zaccheus the publicans; going, when bidden, even to marriage-feasts, mixing in life, and seeming to partake of the habits and courtesies of men. In a word, John lived out of the world, and our Lord lived in it. And that is the truth which His enemies distorted against Him. "John came neither eating nor drinking:" he was severe, mortified, unbending, isolated; and they cast him out as a demoniac, saying, "He hath a devil." "The Son of man came eating and drinking:" pitiful, tender, compassionate, stooping to the weakness and burdens of common life; and they reviled Him as lax, self-indulgent, and dissolute, "a man gluttonous, and a winebibber, a friend of publicans," and a partaker in the revelling of sinners.

Now, of the many subjects naturally arising out of these words, there is one to which we shall do well to confine our attention: I mean the lawfulness of intercourse with the world, and the limitations within which it should be restrained. This is a very difficult question in practice, and often involves painful doubts and misgivings. We hear it much talked of, and by some in a very confident and sweeping way; which, however, for the most part, turns out to be only words after all. Nevertheless, there is a grave matter of Christian duty here at stake; and it is of great moment that we should come both to some clear understanding of it, and to some fixed and tenable principles on which to determine our own conduct. It is not to be denied, that our Lord's example, as contrasted with that of St. John, does

warrant, as a general principle, our entering into the world. But there are some points to be considered which will reduce the apparent breadth of that warrant to a much narrower measure.

We must rememoer, then, first of all, why He did so. It was not for His own sake, or for any of those motives and inducements which it would be an irreverence even to speak of. He went for the sake of others; He was "come to seek and to save that which was lost:"* as He told Zaecheus, giving the reason of His making Himself his guest. That day salvation was come to the publican's house.† For the same cause, He laid Himself open to the reproach, "This man receiveth sinners, and eateth with them;" and suffered also the woman which was a sinner to wash his feet with her tears. It was, therefore, plainly in the discharge of His ministry of salvation that He mixed at large among all men. The world was the field of His toil: it was the wilderness where His lost sheep were scattered abroad, and He therefore went out into the world to seek them.

And we must not forget Who He was that so adventured Himself: it was He who had overcome the tempter in the wilderness; the same in whom, when the prince of this world came to Him, he had no share nor title. It was safe for Him who was without sin to pass to and fro through all perils of contamination. He could no more be sullied than the light of day. Perhaps it was for this reason that, while prophets and seers, even to John, the greatest of all, had lived apart in watchfulness and mortification, our blessed Lord mixed among men, entered their homes, sat at their tables, and partook of their common habits, their food, and feasts, and social life.

These two considerations, however, while they remind us that both His work and His spotless sanctity made laws for Him which are not necessarily laws for us, do not take away the force of His conduct as a general rule to guide us in the same subject. After separating all differences, His is still our example. Let us see, therefore, how far it will warrant us.

1. First of all, then, it will not only clearly warrant, but actually enjoin upon us to mix in the world, so far as the calling or work of our life requires. And this must be determined for each one of us by a multitude of details; such as, our condition by birth, education, fortune, profession, outward relations of kindred, neighborhood, charity, and the like. Every body has his place in the world, and that place has its duties, charges, and character. We must be in a great measure guided by these. For instance, high birth, or the possession of great wealth, forces people into a sphere of life which has a multitude of very extensive relations. It is their duty to fulfil the obligations thereby laid on them. Princes must be surrounded by their courts; high-born and wealthy men keep large houses, and have many guests and numerous entertainments. There need be no worldliness in all this. It may be, indeed, little better than worldly ostentation; and it may feed and kindle all manner of worldly lusts: but it need not do so. Like all things, it is capable of perversion; but in itself it is only the natural sphere of the princes and great men of this world. It is, however, a very different matter, when men of humbler birth and less fortunes either strive to gain entrance to the ranks of those that are above them, or strain to be their equals. There is a proportion in all the dispensations of Providence: every man has his own range and limit, within which he is safe; and all things may be

lawful and sanctified by the word of God and prayer. The administration of property, and the management of estates, necessarily mixes men up with the world. So, much more, do professions and employments: statesmen, lawvers, soldiers, physicians, merchants, tradesmen of every sort, are compelled to meet and deliberate, to barter and consult, to act in common, to combine for worldly objects, without knowledge of each other's character-often with the full knowledge of facts which make them desirous of having no more intercourse with each other than they can help. Now it is obvious that all this is lawful and necessary; that it is even inevitable; that, as St. Paul says, to escape it, "we must needs go out of the world."* We may be compelled to meet very bad men, and infidels, and even heathens, and to transact with them such things as "maintain the state of the world." And all this is plainly not only allowed, but imposed on us by the providence of God, which has determined the conditions on which all these things depend; such as our birth, station, fortune, calling, relations in life. In so mixing in the world, we are carrying out the work which is set us to do; just as our blessed Lord, for the fulfilment of His work, went wheresoever it could be done.

What has been said of those whose duties are simply of a secular kind, applies even more strongly to those who bear sacred offices. They are bound, in faithfulness to their commission, to mix even among the worst of men; not, indeed, as companions, but as instructors, reprovers, and guides.

There are, however, multitudes with whom the pastors of the Church are compelled to mix in an ordinary way, and to watch their opportunities of usefulness. To them the example of our Lord is a direct precedent. The cour-

tesies and kindly offices of life they are under a sort of necessity to accept, that they may share the joys and sorrows of other men, and by their sympathy gain a hearing when they speak in their Master's name.

Thus far, then, is clear: It is not so much in the point of necessary work as in the matter of unnecessary society with the world, that the difficulty arises. And yet it will be found, that the limit of our common intercourse with people is very much regulated by the facts of our provi dential lot. Our Lord has sanctioned a marriage-feast by His own presence; and that will show that feasting is not unlawful in itself. There is a "gladness and singleness of heart"* in eating our bread, which is a duty. Sadness and sullenness are not the gifts of the Spirit; but thankful tempers, cheerful giving, mutual joy, music and dancing and the fatted calf: these things belong to the new creation, in which once more "every creature of God is good." Therefore we may fairly say, that such seasonable and measured participation of God's good gifts, and of the enjoyments naturally arising out of the relations which kindred, or neighborhood, or friendship involves, is lawful and good, and capable of the Divine presence and benediction. But this nobody disputes-nobody, that is, whose disputation it is profitable to hear. The true difficulty lies in so limiting these things in their extent, and so chastening their character, as to preserve them from being turned into occasions of temptation, and into hindrances to the spiritual life.

2. Our Lord's example, then, suggests to us, farther, that we ought to measure our intercourse with the world by what is safe for ourselves. It is perfectly certain, that the attraction and operation of the world upon the mind of most

persons is highly injurious. It first hinders the work of their sanctification, and next changes their tone of mind into its own temper and spirit. This is what St. Paul means when he warns the Romans, "Be not conformed to this world; but be ye transformed by the renewing of your mind."*

Here is the peculiar danger. All things about us are charged with some measure of the world's evil and power. No lines can be drawn round the infected quarters. They have neither beginning nor ending; no limit or boundary. The whole visible Church is affected by it; whole nations, states, and households. The evil is continuous, all-pervading, ubiquitous. If we would escape the world, we must needs go out of the world: nothing less than this will do it. And this shows the impossibility of that which some excellent persons, with the best intentions, have endeavored to do: I mean, to draw peremptory lines between their households and "the world." They might as well draw a line between themselves and the race of mankind; for, draw it where they will, they do but make a distinction without a difference; and moreover, they shut out of their precinct some of the holiest saints, and shut into it some who are the very worshippers of the world. And the ill effects of this mistake are manifold. It sayors much of rash judgment, self-preference, and separation; and it fosters a dangerous spirit of security, making people think that within their circle they are safe, and that this safety consists in outward lines of separation, instead of an inward grace of watchfulness and purity of heart. It is remarkable how, in families which have isolated themselves from the healthy unconscious action of open intercourse with others, evils of the strangest and most unlooked for kind

have unfolded themselves. It is with the spiritual as it is with the natural life; a false principle of sustenance or of action, once admitted, works out the most unwholesome and morbid effects. Perhaps this is one of the reasons why the children of persons of much real piety have not seldom turned out sinful or unsatisfactory. They have been brought up in a state of artificial separation from the world, without the real discipline of the inward character, which nothing but probation, or a truly devout life, seems to bestow.

Now from all this it is evident, that the danger of mixing with the world is very great; and that we have need, not only to be afraid of the positive evils spread throughout the common intercourse of life, and especially in relaxations, feasts, entertainments, with their exciting and ensnaring pleasures; but also to be afraid of ourselves. The more unlike we are to our Lord, the less safe is it for us to venture abroad; the more conscious we are that we are vividly susceptible of temptations, easily elated, or blinded, or led away, and that nothing but a strong inward principle of self-mortification can preserve us, the more we are bound to withdraw ourselves from the world, as from a scene of temptation, and a source of peculiar danger. Now it is certain that we shall be safe from the ill effect of the world just in the measure in which we are unwilling to mix in it; and that as we incline to it, the more susceptible we are of its contagion. If we do not believe it to be tempting and dangerous, we shall be sure to fall; if we do not go into it with shrinking and reluctance, we are certainly in peril. Thus much is evident already, that the god of this world has gone far to blind our minds to the reality of his presence and his wiles; that we must be in a state of no little hardihood, self-reliance, or insensibility. And in such a temper,

all intercourse with the world must be perilous. This is universally true, whether our contact with the world be for business or for pleasure; whether we be laymen or clergymen; whether it be public or private intercourse. in themselves lawful and safe become inevitable temptations to men who do not know their liability to be tempted in that particular form. The motives on which we go into the world, and the aims we set before us, will be no sufficient security. Statesmen who have thrown themselves, in pure patriotism, into the struggle of public life, often end in faction and partisanship. Even men in holy orders, who give themselves to a just and seasonable line of public action for the service of the church, do not seldom end in ambition and secularity; and others, who go into private society on the theory of promoting their influence for good, often grow careless and indevout, and adopt, as a settled habit, the very tone to which they yielded for a time with a view to raising it. And if these things happen to guides of souls, in the path of supposed or of real duty, what may we not fear for those who mix in the world only for pleasure? Can anything be more frivolous and impertinent than the conversation which even wiser men sometimes endure to hear and to partake of? If they would but confess the truth, would they not acknowledge that the greater part of their worldly visiting and mutual entertainment leaves them farther from God than they were when they entered upon it? Can they not trace the effect of the world on all their private devotions? Do they not find themselves troubled in their prayers by a multitude of thoughts? not the temptation to distraction and weariness in prayer greatly increased?

And what does all this prove, but that such intercourse is not safe for them; that they are being "conformed to this

world;" that the truth of their character to its own convictions and to itself is being frittered away; that they more readily catch the tone of those they live with, and adopt their system of judging and speaking, instead of impressing their own convictions on others, or even preserving their own consistency? To take one instance, of which this naturally reminds us: how unspeakably difficult is the government of the tongue; and how awful a fact it is to reflect upon, that every word we speak is an expression of the posture or inclination of the undying spirit that is in us; that every such inclination of the spirit God weighs in a balance; and that we are swayed by a thousand daily temptations to speak at random, or in haste, or in excessive terms, outrunning the truth of our hearts; and that "every idle word that men shall speak, they shall give account thereof in the day of judgment."* There is no stimulus to the tongue so great as intercourse with the world: men must talk, that they may not seem morose, foolish, contemptuous, or self-important. And yet what are the laws and conditions on which the world will allow a man to talk, but that he will adopt its own phrases, views, maxims, and freedom of speech? For those who would mix in the world with safety there is needed just the reverse of the very gifts which make men the world's favorites: namely, gifts of caution, retirement, and silence. In fact, they mix in it with least peril who are distinguished either for wanting or for concealing the facilities and endowments which the world most covets and cherishes. One principal rule by which to measure what is safe for us is, a thorough knowledge of our own infirmities—of the frailties of our character. And this, after all, is the true criterion of what is expedient for us. I say this, because it seems impossible to enter now into the

^{*} St. Matt. xii. 36.

particulars of this or that form of worldly amusement. For the most part, the entertainments and usages of the world shade off into each other with such graduated tints, that it is not possible in many cases to draw a line. Some things. indeed, are in their tone and effects, in the system by which they are supported, and in the consequences they produce, so plainly and undisguisedly dangerous, that there can be no hesitation in naming them. For instance, the whole system of theatres is such, that I do not see how any one can go to them with safety. No special pleading about their great moral lessons, and elevated heroic or national character, and the like will avail to save them from a direct condemnation, as one of the most subtil, complex, and widespreading snares of the world. Having said this, it is perhaps best to add no more than, that occasions and acts of public concourse, in which the reserve of private life is relaxed, are dangerous to the simplicity and purity of the mind; and that the entertainments and feastings of private life, where luxury, indiscriminate acquaintance, display of personal appearance or gifts, are admitted, are both dangerous and hurtful.

Thus much has been said by way of general principles and suggestions. All that can be done farther is, to give some particular precepts, which will serve as safeguards to counteract the influence of the world, where it cannot be avoided. When it can be, the wisest and happiest course for those that desire, in purity of heart, to see God, is, to withdraw themselves altogether from paths which need the force of so many precepts to make them at best only comparatively safe.

1. The first rule, then, to be laid down is this: that we take no lower standard of life than the example of our blessed Lord. Nothing but this will set before our con-

science a clear definite view of the true end of our Christian profession, which is plainly nothing less than to be made like, in life and spirit, to the holiness of our Lord Jesus Christ. At our regeneration we received a gift of the Holy Ghost, the grace of a heavenly nature; we were made inwardly capable of attaining to the sinless perfection of our Master. Not, indeed, in this life; but the dispositions, affections, inclinations of soul, which shall issue hereafter in that perfection, must be trained and nurtured in us throughout the whole course of this earthly life. When shall we bear in mind this plain truth, that the future perfection of the saints is not a translation from one state or disposition of soul into another, diverse from the former; but the carrying out, and as it were the blossom and the fruitage of one and the same principle of spiritual life, which, through their whole career on earth, has been growing with an even strength, putting itself forth in the beginnings and promise of perfection, reaching upward with steadfast aspirations after perfect holiness? If we forget this we shall understand nothing, -our whole life will be a confusion, our whole probation a perplexity; we shall be imposed on by false judgments, unsound examples, misleading principles of action. We shall think that the sum of religion is, what is called, to do our duty in the world—that is, to be outwardly blameless according to the letter of the second table of the law; to be honest traders. industrious students, hard-working laborers, kind parents, good-hearted friends. Truth, a forgiving disposition, benevolence, general good-will, a kind temper, a moderate and occasional indulgence in worldly amusements, a decent attendance on religious worship, and regularity in household morals and habits, make up the Christianity of most people. And so far as it goes, nothing may be said against

it. But tried by the life and mind of Christ, by the realities of holiness and of fellowship with God, by the humiliation and mystery of the cross, which are "the marks of the Lord Jesus," how defective, dim-sighted, unenergetic, and relaxed it must appear! The fact is, that the great multitude of those who live in the world have little perception of the intense and searching spirituality of the life of Christ, which their regeneration binds them to imitate. And therefore the life of most is as vague, pointless, and unmeaning. as the reasoning of men who do not know what it is they are going to prove. By this we may chiefly account for the infinite variety of imperfect characters, which have something of true Christianity about them, but are marred, stunted, and contracted. Of course, want of energy and perseverance will produce many of the same results; but in a majority of cases, really well-disposed people go through life with a low, cold, heartless notion of our Lord's example. They can see the exterior perfection of His life, as measured by the second table of the law; but the motives even of that perfection, much more the whole interior life which is related to the love and worship of God, they simply cannot perceive. It is too high, inward, and deep, for their spiritual senses, which are "exercised" to discern the broader and more sensible features of Christian duty, but cannot distinguish the characters and outlines of God's kingdom as it is impressed upon the affections, thoughts, and motions of our spiritual being. How, then, is it to be wondered at, if they see no inconsistency between habits of free intercourse with society and a life of religion? There is, indeed, no inconsistency with a life of their religion. It has nothing which is at variance with self-indulgence, and a relaxed tone of conversation. Days spent in visiting, and evenings in amusements, leave no effects

which are traceable in their morning and evening prayers; because those prayers have been long said with just so much of fervor and attention as is compatible with their habitual way of living: they are therefore no index. They would judge very differently, if they could once rightly perceive the purity, gentleness, meekness, deadness to the world, denial of self, subjugation of will, vivid zeal for the salvation of the elect and for the glory of God, which were in our blessed Lord. If they could understand, for instance, the meaning of one such word as "Take My yoke upon you, and learn of Me, for I am meek and lowly of heart;" or "I am not of this world;" they would see all things as if the light of the sun had waxed "sevenfold as the light of seven days." All the goings on of life—its eatng and drinking, planting and building, its buying and selling, marrying and giving in marriage—would be seen as they will be in the day of the Son of man. The snares and perils of life and ease, of wealth and pleasure, of business and refinement; the perilous entanglements and depressing influence even of common life; the false maxims and illusions of mankind, and the secret atheism of the world, would all be seen as by an intuition of the spirit. They would then see that the spirit of the world is the very antagonist of the mind of Christ; that none could dwell in it unsullied by its touch but He alone.

2. And therefore, in the next place, it is plain that we must so shape our way through life as shall most foster and promote our continual advance in attaining to the perfection of our new birth, which is the sanctity of Christ. And what is this but, in other words, to be true to the vows of our baptism? We then bound ourselves to "renounce the devil and all his works, the vain pomp and glory of the world, with all covetous desires of the same, and the carnal

desires of the flesh;" and promised that we would "neither follow nor be led by them." It is impossible to add strength to this vow; it is unconditional and peremptory, and extends over the whole subject of which we are now speaking. is no open question for a Christian, whether he shall renounce the world or no: he has renounced it already; he is already bound by a perpetual vow; and all that remains is to fulfil it, or to forswear himself. Now, there can be no doubt that the majority of baptised men fall below the standard of their promise: all do, indeed, in respect to its perfection; but I mean, in respect to the measure of their ability to fulfil it. Some do it deliberately, some unconsciously, some from the power of sin, and some from the weakness of their resolutions; but howsoever various the causes, it is certain that we may divide the visible body of baptised men into two classes: those who do, and those who do not, make the vow of their baptism the rule of their life.

In the first days of the Church the vow of baptism was made perfect in repentance, poverty, charity, in the fellowship of prayers, and holy communion; the Church was a fold in the midst of the world, encompassed by it, but separate. And yet it retained its inward purity only long enough to be a type and prophecy of its perfection in heaven. At Phifippi, Ephesus, Corinth, and elsewhere, even in St. Paul's day, Christians began to fall apart into the two great classes; so that the apostle had need to lay down precepts and rules, such as those we are now endeavoring to find. To the Corinthians he writes: "I wrote unto you in an epistle not to company with fornicators: yet not altogether with the fornicators of this world, or with the covetous, or extortioners, or with idolaters; for then must ye needs go out of the world. But now I have

written unto you not to keep company, if any man that is called a brother be a fornicator, or covetous, or an idolater, or a railer, or a drunkard, or an extortioner; with such an one no not to eat."* And again to the Thessalonians: "Now we command you, brethren, in the name of our Lord Jesus Christ, that ye withdraw yourselves from every brother that walketh disorderly, and not after the tradition which he received of us." + St. Paul here recognizes a class of men within the Church, or related to it, with whom the faithful ought to hold no intercourse; and they are either persons excommunicate, or such as, though still suffered to abide in the communion of the Church (for instance, the covetous and disorderly,) are living in breach of their baptismal vow. These and many other passages give us the precept of avoiding the contagion of an ill example, even among those whom the Church has not put under formal censures. The apostle also gives the most detailed counsels for purifying our conversation,‡ for edifying one another, for sanctifying households; and these give us a farther precept of forming our friendships and relations, both with individuals and with families, on the principle of promoting the entire conversion of our hearts to God. It was, without doubt, from this that persons of a more devout temper, and more kindled with the love of the heavenly kingdom, drew into closer fellowships within the unity of the Church; whole families, perhaps, such as that of Philip the evangelist, who "had four daughters which did prophecy;"¶ and "the house of Stephanas," and of Celoe and others, gave themselves to a stricter way of life. We may take these as examples of what is both possible and right for private Christians and households now.

^{* 1} Cor. v. 9-11.

^{† 2} Thess. iii. 6.

[‡] Phil. i. 27.

[§] Rom. xiv. 19.

¹ Tim. iii. 4, 5.

[¶] Acts xxi. 9.

There is nothing schismatical in a separation which both preserves all religious unity and makes those that live apart characteristically humble and charitable. It is most certain, that the man who does live by his baptismal vow will find himself much alone in his habits, thoughts, and sympathies. The face of the visible Church must be very different from what it has been, before holiness can fail to bring an apparent separation. So it is with families: if any household be consecrated to God by particular devotion, it will stand out from other families. And yet it dare not do less: the vow of its baptism is on it, and it must thereby measure all things. It must do and leave undone, possess and give away, seek and renounce, enjoy or deny itself, according to this rule. The religion of such a house is not only at the foot of the altar, or in its own hours of devotion; neither does it take cognizance only of certain portions of its daily life; but it is the rule of all its acts, the test of its friendships, the measure of its intercourse. And I do not see what any Christian household or man can do less than this. They are pledged to "work out their salvation with fear and trembling;" to have in them the mind that "was in Christ Jesus," in prayer, love, humiliation, and habitual fellowship with God. And how this is to be attained without abstinence from dangerous and inexpedient things, and from all familiar communication with those whose example, spirit, and habit of life, oppose or retard the work of our sanctification, it is not easy to understand. Where is the reason or consistency in habits of prayer, fasting, and self-discipline, if we do not refuse to expose ourselves to the levity, inflation, and vanity of the world? Surely all these things feed and excite the sins of the heart, and make miserable havoc in our habits of simplicity, watchfulness, humility, and recollection. We are

bound to strengthen and to shelter them against all inroads of unholy influence. And moreover: our vow binds us not only to avoid the desecrating and deteriorating action of society, but to give ourselves up with singleness of aim to the help and guidance of such minds and examples, and to such habits and counsels of spiritual wisdom, as shall most directly promote the unfolding and perfecting of the life of God which is in us.

And now, before I conclude, I will notice one general objection which may be expected to what has been advanced. It will be said, that this is a theory; that it is impracticable; that to adopt it men must go into the wilderness with St. John Baptist; that they must forsake the duties of life, and the interchange of courtesies and kindness, which we are bound to maintain.

In answer to all this, we need do no more than recall the example of our blessed Lord. He lived in the world; His work lay in it; He went to the houses of publicans-He went without fear, because He was perfect. It is absolutely necessary to our safety that we should go with fear, because we are sinners. Nevertheless, His example will warrant to us the lawfulness of mixing in the world as our duties and obligation require. What has been said ought to teach us these two things: first, to use great and discriminating care in choosing the friends and families with whom we mix, and the occasions and festivities in which we join. This principle of spiritual discernment, foresight, and caution, alone can keep us from serious entanglements, and, it may be, from grievous falls. I know of no lines of outward demarcation, nor any sufficent catalogue, distinguishing worldly from innocent amusements: our safeguard must be in ourselves. And the next thing we should learn is, when we can avoid even such intercourse as is lawful.

to do so. "All things to me are lawful, but all things are not expedient. All things to me are lawful, but all things edify not."* It is far better to bestow the time which we can rescue from the world in things that will deepen the work of God in our hearts, and perfect our repentance.

Or if we think well to go, let us go with a heart estranged from the fair and smooth things of this perishing world,from its honors, powers, pleasures, and refinements. None ever graced a marriage-feast as He who knew not the very taste of earthly happiness. None was ever so meek, gentle, and benign as He that was alive to God alone. So let us strive to mingle among men-to toil with them, sorrow with them, rejoice with them; to visit their homes, and partake of their hospitality, and not turn even from their days of festival-praying always in secret that we may be sheltered under His last intercession: "Holy Father, keep through Thine own name those whom Thou hast given Me, that they may be one, as We are;" "they are not of the world, even as I am not of the world;" "I pray not that Thou shouldest take them out of the world, but that Thou shouldest keep them from the evil."+

^{* 1} Cor. vi. 12.

[†] St. John xvii. 11, 15, 16.

SERMON XV.

POVERTY A HOLY STATE.

2 Cor. viii. 9.

"Ye know the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ, that, though He was rich, yet for your sakes He became poor, that ye through His poverty might be rich."

St. Paul is here stirring up the Corinthians to give alms to the poor saints, by the voluntary poverty of our Lord. tells them of the Macedonians, who, in the spirit of His example, made large offerings out of their "deep poverty;" and says that they "first gave their own selves to the Lord," and, with themselves, all that they had to His service. He then says, "Ye know the grace," the freeness and largeness of the charity of Christ, who, "though He was rich," in His eternal kingdom, in the bliss of His Father, "yet for your sakes He became poor;" stripped Himself of His heavenly state, laid aside His glory, "made Himself of no reputation;" was made man, hungered, thirsted; was weary, wandered without a place where to lay His head; suffered all shame, hardship, pain, and death; that through this, His poverty of all things, heavenly and earthly, ye, in the remission of sins, the cleansing

of the soul, the grace of adoption, and the inheritance of the kingdom of heaven, "might be rich."

Some perhaps might have expected that, at the coming of the Son of God into the world. He would have assumed the power and disposal of all things by which the world is maintained and governed; that is to say, that He would have carried on openly, and by a visible disposal, the divine administration of worldly affairs, as He ever does in secret; that His providence would have been manifested in His person. Of course, no one would expect that He should have affected earthly state or greatness: the very thought can hardly be expressed without a sin. It seems almost like the suggestion of Satan when he shewed Him all the kingdoms of the world, and the glory of them. And yet, we might have expected Him to be openly greater than all powers of the earth; to have made them acknowledge Him, and yield, as the wind and the waves did, to the power of His word. But, on the contrary, no man was ever lower in the world than He-more outcast, destitute, weak, and forsaken; none, perhaps, ever hungered oftener, or thirsted more, or wandered so wearily; was so banished, not from kings' palaces, and princes' courts, and the houses of great men, and the company of the soft, high, rich, and noble, but from home and hearth, and from the shelter and charities of life. Surely as the world had never seen before an example of such perfect holiness, so it had never seen such perfect and willing poverty. In the Gospels we read of His passing whole nights on the mountain, and in the fourth watch upon the sea. Once we read that He went "unto Bethany, and lodged there," in the house of a friend, the stranger's home. His life He began and ended as a wanderer, from the stable to the sepulchre. So true

^{*} St. Matt. xxi. 17.

to the letter were His words, "Foxes have holes, and birds of the air have nests; but the Son of man hath not where to lay His head." Of His own He had little but His raiment; even His daily food, they that followed Him "ministered to Him of their substance."*

Now this absolute destitution of all things needful for our bodily life was, without doubt, a designed feature in His humiliation. When He took upon Him our manhood, He took it with all its capacities of suffering; and He placed Himself, so to speak, in that position in the life of man where all the sorrows which came with sin into the world were surest to light upon Him. Weariness, toil, cold, hunger, loneliness, and shame, which are the portion of the destitute, He chose as His lot, and tasted in their sharpest forms. And He thereby learned to sympathise with the universal sufferings of humanity. He became a Saviour, not of any class or condition of men, but of all mankind: of man as man in his fallen, suffering, sorrowing humanity. It is this that gives to the poor a peculiar share in the sympathy of Christ. No man ever was so burdened, naked, desolate, but He was more so. His example has consecrated the state of poverty, and converted it into a discipline, and bestowed upon it a special grace. It is this that we will now consider.

1. First of all, the poverty of Christ is intended as an example to all men. To His earliest followers He gave the precept of poverty; He made it binding on them; He made it even the condition of entering His service and His kingdom. "If thou wilt be perfect, go and sell that thou hast, and give to the poor, and thou shalt have treasure in heaven;" or, as St. Mark records the same command, "One thing thou lackest: go thy way, sell whatsoever thou hast, and give to

the poor, and thou shalt have treasure in heaven." Or again, "Sell that ye have, and give alms; provide yourselves bags which wax not old, a treasure in the heavens that faileth not, where no thief approacheth, neither moth corrupteth."* Peter "said unto Him, Behold, we have forsaken all, and followed Thee: what shall we have therefore? And Jesus said unto them, Verily I say unto you, That ye which have followed Me, in the regeneration when the Son of man shall sit in the throne of His glory, ye also shall sit upon twelve thrones, judging the twelve tribes of Israel. And every one that hath forsaken houses, or brethren, or mother, or sisters or father, or wife, or children, or lands, for My name's sake, shall receive an hundredfold, and shall inherit everlasting "Whosoever he be of you that forsaketh not all that he hath, he cannot be My disciple." And this precept was obeyed to the very letter by His first followers, and by the apostolic Church. They sold their houses and lands, and laid the money at the apostles' feet. No man "called any thing that he possessed his own;" "they had all things common." Now, this community of goods was a close imitation of our Lord's example—a prolonging of the fellowship which He had with them and they with Him, after His departure. Poverty, toil, and a common life, were the daily bonds of their society with Him; and they chose to live on as He had left them, still realising His presence, "who though He was rich, for our sakes became poor."

Out of this common life came the fixed endowments of the Church. First, the bishop and his clergy, and the poor of Christ, lived of one stock and revenue, as it were at one table, at which the spiritual father presided in Christ's

^{*} St. Matt. xix. 21; St. Mark x. 21; St. Luke xii. 33.

t St. Matt. xix. 27-29.

[‡] St. Luke xiv. 33.

[§] Acts iv. 32.

stead. Afterwards, when the Church had peace, and, in God's good providence, was permitted to make itself fixed homes and certain dwelling-places, the necessity which lay on them by reason of the then "present distress" ceased; the members of the Church were not compelled to give up lands and houses; they had no longer to forsake their homes, to go out from all that they possessed; and the poor of Christ, the widows and orphans, had a full and certain living, "in peaceable habitations, and in quiet resting-places." which was a precept of necessity, became a counsel of perfection. It was a fuller and closer imitation of the life of Christ for those who, by the providence of God, were permitted to forsake all for the love of their heavenly Master. And there have been many, in all ages of the Church, who have willingly made themselves poor for Christ's sake, that through their poverty and labor of love the elect might be made rich in God's kingdom. Some forsook all that they possessed at once, and gave all their worldly goods at one offering to the service of the Church, or to the poor of Christ, and thenceforward lived by the labor of their hands or by the work of the gospel. Others retained their inheritance and their right to the goods that they possessed, but converted the enjoyment of them into a stewardship. They lived of them; but after taking for their own use just so much as their bare need required, they gave the rest by a perpetual and daily oblation, in alms to the poor. perhaps be said, that the state of the Church at this day, in its intermixture with the Christian world, with its political and social relations, is such as to make it neither right nor possible for most, if for any, to give up all that they possess, and to throw themselves into a state of poverty and dependence. Perhaps it may be; though the question admits of more discussion than people think; and we may refer to it

hereafter. For the present it is enough to say, that, at all events, the other principle, of holding the wealth of this world as a stewardship, as if the title were in God and the inheritance in the poor, is altogether possible, and easy to many, if only they have charity and devotion to adopt it. I do not say that it is possible for all men; far from it: rather that it is, like Holy Orders, a high privilege to which a man is called by God Himself. It is plain that they who have a household and family depending on them must first maintain them with all needful provisions. This is the stewardship of most men, to provide for their own, and is a kind of poverty in itself. But there are those who either have a larger income than they and their families require, or have none at all depending on them. In both these cases it is quite possible so to pitch the scale of household and personal expenses, as to leave a portion of their yearly income to be administered as a stewardship. I do not undertake to say what proportion ought to be so devoted. The divine wisdom has prescribed a tenth at least. St. Paul has given us a rule which cannot be gainsayed: "Having food and raiment, let us be therewith content." And the reason on which he grounds it is very awful, from its severe and simple truth: "for we brought nothing into this world, and it is certain that we can carry nothing out." The needs of an immortal being are very real, narrow, and few. would but measure our needs by the measure of a deathbed, or the necessities of a holy state, we should look with amazement and fear on the excessive and artificial habits of our daily life. Things we now look on as necessary would be seen to be wanton indulgences of self; our wants would be for the most part discovered to be fictitious, and our permitted indulgences to be a luxurious and dangerous softness.

It would seem, then, that the rules by which any one who has the care of a family committed to him should proceed are these: First, to provide for those depending on him whatsoever is really needed for proper food, raiment, and instruction of life; next, for the maintenance of his relations to others among whom the providence of God has cast his lot. We hear much of the duty of maintaining our position in society; and it is a worldly way of expressing what, beyond all doubt, is a truth, namely, that the circumstances of our birth, and the intellectual and moral condition into which we have been brought, are facts determined by the will of God; and as such demand a reverent observance. The whole political and social state of mankind is the work and ordinance of God; and therefore all the parts of it are the subjects of His disposition, and all parts and members of it have their functions, duties, and responsibilities, which we may not without strong and special reasons neglect or withdraw from. It cannot be doubted, therefore, that we are bound, for the sake of others to whom we are thus related, to bear our part in the burden of society. But nothing that has been said warrants our going beyond the strictest interpretation of what that position absolutely demands. And they that will fairly, and without secret inclinations to a lax judgment, ascertain what their position in life really demands, will find its exactions incredibly small. Again: it is undoubtedly the duty of parents to lay by such a measure of their means of life as a discreet foresight, checked by an honest trust in the providence of God, will prescribe. But this will not warrant hoarding, or carefulness to increase in wealth, or to leave riches to heirs and successors. warrants no more than such a care for others as prudence, I may say honesty, prescribes for ourselves. Now these

principles may be fairly and safely laid down for the direction of those that desire, in the midst of worldly cares and burdens, to imitate at least the spirit of our Lord's poverty. If, after satisfying these obligations, there remain any yearly income, it may be administered as the patrimony of the poor. And they that possess it may, to an extent and in matters which it is impossible to describe, follow the poverty of Christ by personal self-denials. It has pleased God to ordain the lot of many of His most perfect servants in the midst of the riches, state, and glitter of the world; to charge them with great possessions, vast revenues, large dominions, high offices, and a numerous retinue. Sometimes they have been set on thrones, or detained in courts and councils of state; or they have had great lordships, and the responsibility of a spiritual rule, and their whole life and outward condition has been full of power, and dignity, and worldly encumbrances. yet in the midst of all, by secret self-denial and selfrenouncement, they have lived a life of personal poverty in the presence of luxury and splendor. I put these as extreme cases; for what was possible in them must be easy to us. If they whose outward state was the very antagonist and contradiction of our Lord's poverty, could in secret make themselves poor like Him, then much more may we all, whose outward state is moderate and easy to control. All that is needed is energy of will and perseverance in maintaining the practice of personal self-denial. No one can say how far he may be able to advance in the spirit of poverty till he has tried it. A mind truly bent on following our Lord in this part of His humiliation will discover seasons, and times, and opportunities of exercising it, which it is impossible to set down. If one were to do so, it would lose its grace and dignity, and seem trivial,

unmeaning, commonplace, unworthy of the greatness and sanctity of the subject. It must be left, therefore, to the conscience of each person. And so it may be dismissed; once more saying, that what has been here thrown out is practicable for all persons, in whatsoever rank of life, even for the very highest in this earthly state; for the most burdened with worldly relations and offices; for the most encumbered with household cares, and the like; because, after all, it depends chiefly upon the secret mortification and impoverishment of the heart, which may be perfect, even when the natural expressions of it in act and deed are not permitted.

But there are others, as has been said, on whom the providence of God has laid no greater charge than to provide the little which is necessary for their own subsistence; and they may much more closely approach the example of our Divine Master. Suppose a man to receive an inheritance greater than his personal needs; what hinders his making the poor to be usufructuaries of his estate, and himself the steward, whose recompense is his own food and raiment? He need do no violence to the context of society; he may leave all things in their natural channel. The legal securities of his possessions would remain untouched. They might be bequeathed to his lawful heirs; only he would forsake his life-interest for the love of Christ, and to follow the example of His holy poverty. Perhaps the very suggestion may be thought almost fanatical, or at least to be a treason against the prerogatives of a refined selfishness by which the world is ruled. Nevertheless, there is in it more of reason, reality, sound sense, Christian prudence, than in the popular theory and practice of ordinary life. It is capable of being demonstrated by a severer and more certain proof than any worldly projects will admit, to be Tt.-15.

wise, cautious, forecasting, and in the highest degree expedient to the man that adopts it for his rule of life, and even to the world. This is taking the lowest ground. But let us not forget that there are higher reasons which will occur hereafter. Hitherto we have spoken only of those who are rich in this world, because to them the imitation of the poverty of our Lord may seem at first sight impossible. It is hardly necessary to do more than to say, that to those who are actually poor, His example is a singular consolation. It elevates their inevitable condition into an opportunity of following His footsteps in a path which leads to great perfection.

2. Another reason for His choosing so bare and destitute a condition was, that He, by His poverty, might set us an example of deadness to the world. The gifts and allurements of the secular state are among the chief dangers of Christ's servants. There are very few that can resist the offers of wealth, ease, elevation, power, and the like. world is strangely versatile and seducing, and is at the best a dangerous friend. Prosperity destroys not fools only. There is something peculiarly subtil and persuasive in high station, titles, and appointments, and in full homes, fair prospects, abundant incomes. What but this does St. John mean by saying, "Love not the world, neither the things that are in the world. If any man love the world, the love of the Father is not in him. For all that is in the world, the lust of the flesh, the lust of the eyes, and the pride of life, are not of the Father, but are of the world."* to be the note of Christ's true followers, "they are not of the world, even as I am not of the world."† In our baptism we renounced it. And He, foreseeing its peculiar subtilty, and the trial of His Church, especially in the days when the

^{* 1} St. John ii. 15, 16.

[†] St. John xvii. 14.

world was to come into its fold, stamped for ever in His own example the visible tokens of perfect deadness to the secular state, by choosing for Himself a life of poverty. "Though he was rich, yet for our sakes He became poor." He gave Himself for us, "that He might deliver us from this present evil world."* And in His own visible example He showed openly the work He came to do. He stood out from the world, apart from all its powers, gifts, and greatness. had no share in it, and it had nothing in Him. In the full tide of life He was as dead to it as upon the Cross. simply colorless, tasteless, powerless. He was there to counterwork the whole mystery of this tempting world, and to abolish all its lures. And this He did first by Himself. He stood aloof from it, disengaged and free to rebuke, warn, condemn, abase it. And such is the condition on which alone we can overcome the world. Just in the measure in which we accept its favors, and consent to be honored, gifted, enriched by it, we give it hostages or make ourselves its hirelings. I am not speaking of gross worldliness, ambition, They are self-condemned. I mean that and covetousness. far more insidious form of worldliness, in which interest and advancement seem to coincide with the line of duty. Men think they ought to refuse nothing that comes to them: as if all offers were necessarily from God; as if, by indirect means at least, and through the agency of the world, Satan could not in some measure fulfil his words, "all these things will I give thee." Now it is a remarkable fact, that many men to whom the world seems to open itself that they may set themselves in its very heart, in places of the greatest power, influence, popularity, lose their real force in the measure in which they advance into it, and are simply powerless when they are at the highest point of apparent

mastery. The world knows with whom it has to do, and lays its ambush for those who in secret are still alive to it. While they seem to be carrying God's kingdom into the very core of the world, they are only taken in a snare. Their admonitions, reproofs, and rebukes, with how much soever of human emotion and effect, fall very light upon it. The world hires them as eloquent orators to grace a feastday, or "as one that hath a pleasant voice, and can play well on an instrument," to drive away the vexing spirit, when, in spite of itself, it is disquieted. In the turmoil and onward movement of its affairs, when the blood stirs, and plans are laid deep, and great casts are ventured, for pleasure, or gain, or self-exalation, the voice of the charmer is drowned, or rudely bid to be still, and he himself cast out. A pitiful lot; full of humiliation and heart-breaking when any deep or noble thought is still in a man! What might not such have been and done, if only they had been dead to the world, had refused its offers, and used no powers but those which God bestowed, or they themselves had wrung by force from the world itself! This is another great lesson set us in the poverty of our Lord: so to die to the world, that it cannot find the price at which to buy our submission. This is the secret of strength and steadfastness: when the prince of this world hath nothing in us, nothing to which he can speak smooth things through the eye, or through the ear; when for us gold has no brightness, and honor is a burden, and high office wearisome to bear, and the multitude of followers make us long to be forgotten, and the manifold duties of exalted station are irksome to the soul whose single intention is to be united with the presence of God, then we are beginning to learn what it is to be dead to the life of the world. And this temper is an absolute condition to the doing of any great

and high service for Christ in His Church. There is a poverty of design, a weakness of purpose, an uncertainty and vacillation about all who still harbor a secret affection for the world. Howsoever high their theories or aspirations, there is some sidelong glance at the opinion, or judgment, or standard of others, which mars the singleness of their aim; some remote interest which pulls them back; some calculation of results, some forecasting of consequences, which make them seldom true to their present position or to themselves. But the man that covets nothing, seeks nothing, looks for nothing, nay, that would refuse and reject the solicitations of the world, unless they bore on them some sure and expressive marks of his master's hand, is above all worldly power. He is truly independent; out of the reach of hope and fear; self-resolved, and, next under God, lord of his own spirit.

3. And once more: the example of the Son of God was no doubt designed to show us the relation between poverty The very state of poverty is a wholesome and holiness. corrective of many subtil and stubborn hindrances of our sanctification. Let us embrace it with gladness. Let us, when the choice is before us, choose it rather than to be rich. In His awful warnings on the danger of riches, our Lord neither meant to say that rich men could not be saved, nor that the abuse of riches alone is dangerous; but that the very possession of them is full of peril. intoxicate the heart; they raise its pulse above the natural beat, and make the desires of the mind flushed and fever-Even the blameless and upright among rich men are full of artificial feelings, false sympathies, unreal standards of what is necessary, becoming, and right. Riches take them out of the universal category of man, and train them up in a sickly and unnatural isolation from the real wants,

sorrows, sufferings, fears, and hopes of mankind. Certainly they hinder, in a marked degree, the secret habits of humiliation, self-chastisement, and self-affliction, without which no high reach of sanctity is ever attained. How can a man who, without toil, forethought, or faith, lives daily on a full fare, and is warm and well furnished, put himself in the point of sight from which alone the Sermon on the mount or the Passion of our Lord can be fully read? There must be something of antipathy between states that arc so remote, if not opposed. It is not only the pampered and luxurious, but the easy and full, who harbor strange desires, excessive anxieties, irregular wishes, foolish cares. There is something of self-worship, which greatly retards their sanctification, and even hinders their conversion to God. Now, poverty is a very wholesome medicine for all this: sharp, indeed, and rough to the taste, yet full of potent virtues. It is a sort of discipline—the ascetic rule of God's providence. They that are poor are already and unconsciously under a discipline of humility and self-denial. What so chastens the desires of the heart, and restrains them within due bounds and order? what so reduces a man within the limit of his own sphere? How great simplicity and abstinence of mind there is in the poor of the world. A hard life, scanty fare, coarse raiment, plain food, a low-roofed dwelling, are all they have, and the continuance of them all they desire. Surely none stand fairer for Christ's kingdom than they. From what unnumbered temptations, day-dreams, hankerings, schemes, speculations, snares, are they altogether free. Their whole life lies in the well-known precinct of a lonely hamlet, where, from birth to the grave, they dwell in familiar daily converse with the very stones, and trees, and brooks, with simple and true thoughts of life and death, and the realities

of our fallen state. How clear and direct is their insight into the world beyond the grave. How little have they to divide their thoughts with God. How soon they release themselves from life. How simply they die. What are our hurried days and waking nights, but the tyranny of a multitude of thoughts, which are worldly, ambitious, selfish. or needless, empty, and vain? What is it that keeps us perpetually straining, and moiling, and wearing ourselves away, but some desire which is not chastened, some thought of the heart which is not dead to this worldly state? What makes us lament the flight of time, and the changes of the world, but that we are still a part of it, and share its life? What makes us die so hard, but that we leave behind us more treasures than we have laid up in heaventhat our hearts are not there, but here? How much of mercy and meaning does this put into all worldly reverses. The loss of fortune is, as it were, a call to perfection; the appointment of a poor lot in life, or of a precarious livelihood, are tokens of His will to make us share in the likeness of His poverty. Let us bless Him for every degree of approach He permits us to make towards His perfect life. Whether we be in the sacred or secular state, let us use the narrowness of worldly fortunes as a means of chastening our desires, subduing our thoughts, strengthening our trust in His care for us, and in making ourselves independent of all things but His truth, His Spirit, the laws of His Church, and the hope of His heavenly kingdom.

SERMON XVI.

DEVOTION POSSIBLE IN THE BUSIEST LIFE.

St. Mark vi. 30, 31.

"And the apostles gathered themselves together unto Jesus, and told Him all things, both what they had done, and what they had taught. And He said unto them, Come ye yourselves apart into a desert place, and rest a while; for there were many coming and going, and they had no leisure so much as to eat."

THERE is something very cheerless to our minds, in this insight into the life of our Lord. What unceasing toil was His! All day long crowded upon and thronged by the multitude, "coming and going" early and late: and He without home or shelter, and "no leisure so much as to eat." His rest was in prayers and watching under a midnight sky; His secret chamber the wilderness. "Come ye yourselves apart into a desert place, and rest a while." This was, no doubt, a particular occasion, probably when the Jews were going up to the Passover; and yet such seasons came not seldom in His life.

It would seem, indeed, as if our blessed Lord had in all things assumed the most painful lot of which our humanity is capable. He chose for His portion every thing we can endure. And surely in this there is great consolation, and a direct admonition for our guidance. We may take His life, as it is here manifested to us, as an example to those whose lot in this world is labor.

We are apt to think that a busy life is hardly compatible with a life of devotion. And we unconsciously make two rules of holy living; one for those who are busied in the world, and another for those who are free from the necessity of earning their bread. For instance, we tacitly assume that the poor can do no more than live lives of general religious obedience; that habits of devotion, or of minute personal discipline, are too refined and remote from them. So again in the case of men who are engaged in traffic and commerce, or in learned professions, or in the administration of law, or the government of the country; that is, traders, merchants, lawyers, politicians, statesmen, and the like. Whether we are aware of it or no, we are inclined to think that they may take a lower tone in the whole life of religion, and indulge themselves in freer habits, and aim at a less perfect standard of personal devotion. We seem to allow that attendance at daily prayers in the church, frequent communion, reading of holy Scripture in private, habits of religious meditation, and fasting, are next to impossible for men who lead busy and laborious lives. And they are ready enough to catch at what we allow. It is the very plea they put forward for exemption from the higher precepts and rules of a holy life. Sometimes this is done with no regret, but rather with a tone of perfect contentment; sometimes it is used to justify a thousand omissions of religious duty, and to make neglects appear mevitable; and sometimes, though, alas, but seldom, it is a subject of much disquiet, fear, and sadness.

Let us, then, consider this subject in the light which the example of our Lord throws upon it. We may learn from His life of toil, that there is nothing in a life of perpetual labor to hinder our attaining to the highest measure of perfection. There was never any one whose life was fuller of endless employments, or more broken by countless interruptions, than His. This may show us that the most laborious may be the holiest of saints. Indeed, the greatest saints are those who have been most like to their Lord in perpetual labors: as, for instance, the prophets and apostles, the first converters of nations, pastors in all ages, faithful servants of God in all states and conditions of life.

There are, however, two objections which may be made against this example. One is, that He, being sinless, must needs be independent of the means and conditions on which holiness depends in us, and therefore could suffer no obstruction by the multitude of His employments. The other is, that His work was not secular, but sacred; that it is an example in point for the labors of His pastors in the ministry of the Gospel, but not for those whose work and calling lies in the world, in the merchandize, traffic, and turmoil of this earthly life. One answer will be enough for both these objections.

1. It is true that He, being sinless, must needs be beyond the power of the worldly hindrances which obstruct a life of devotion in us. But is there not something really unsound in the idea that any thing which is our duty in life can be an obstruction to any other duty? Is it not in effect to say, that two laws of obedience and two obligations of the Divine will can cross each other, and that God can contradict Himself? Surely the truth must be, that whatsoever in our daily life is lawful and right for us to be engaged in, is in itself a part of our obedience to God; a part, that is, of our very religion? How long shall we go

on believing that there is no worship of God but prayers, and psalms, and public litanies, and private acts of devotion? Is not obedience a continual worship, and the life of a holy man a continual prayer? Whatsoever we do, if done "to the glory of God," is true worship. The tillage of the earth, the sweat of the brow, the toils of reason, the labors of the learned, the industry of merchants, the justice of magistrates, the wisdom of lawgivers, all these severally are the work entrusted to each of God; and when done in obedience to Him, are as direct a sacrifice of worship as the praise of our lips and the chants of choirs, solemn processions and the pomp of festivals. So far, then, from our worldly duties being obstructions to a devout life, they are closely and intimately related to the highest law of obedience, and may be made the occasion and expression of a fervent spirit of devotion. What were the public burdens of Moses, or the household cares of Jacob, or the royal offices and charges of David, but occasions of daily obedience to the Divine will? Whensoever, then, we hear people complaining of obstructions and hindrances put by the duties of life in the way of devoting themselves to God, we may be sure they are under some false view or other. They do not look upon their daily work as the task God has set them, and as obedience due to Him; or they are conscious that in their daily work there is something which is not wholly lawful; or that it is not carried on altogether by lawful means; or they know that they permit it to interfere with the duties of religion; or they do not rightly know what the duties of religion are; or they think devotion to be an occasional state of the mind separate and remote from the work of life, and even opposed to it. Now people talk in this way as if they really held, with the Manicheans, that this world is the creation of an evil being, and that all

things relating to it must needs clash with the holiness of the Supreme God. Let us, then, lay this down as an axiom, that whatsoever be the duties of our lot in life, they are the sphere and field in which God would have us to serve Him. They can obstruct nothing of the hidden life in us, so long as we have a clear sight of God in them, and do them all for His sake. And this answers the second objection. The distinction of secular and sacred is but external; all duties are sacred. Let us not think that there is no serving God except in the direct ministry of His Church. It is true that the pastors of Christ have this great privilege, that all their daily work is visibly and distinctly related to the will of God and to the habit of personal devotion. Our duties and our devotions are almost one and the same act. And this is a singular and inestimable benefit, for which we must answer with a fearful strictness at the last day. But the pastor and the peasant, the catechist and the sower, the bishop ruling in the Church and the judge sitting in the gate, the saint in his closet and the faithful householder ordering his family, all these are serving their Father in heaven by a simple, direct, and acceptable service. Their circumstances, as we say, in life, that is, the outer world of relations, duties, employments, by which they are encompassed, are the deliberate appointments of God's providence, and may be taken as a revelation in fact of the kind of service He requires of them. It is through these appointments that we are to worship God with the reverence and obedience of our whole heart. A life of devotion does not mean a life of separation from active duties, but the discharge of all offices, high or low, from the most sacred and elevated to the most secular and menial, in a devout spirit.

2 But we may go farther; and say, not only that the

duties of life, be they never so toilsome and distracting, are no obstructions to a life of any degree of inward holiness; but that they are even direct means, when rightly used, to promote our sanctification. For what are all our duties, toils and cares, but the lot which God in His mercy appointed to man after the fall? "In the sweat of thy face shalt thou eat bread, till thou return unto the ground; for out of it wast thou taken: for dust thou art, and unto dust shalt thou return."* It matters not what is the form of our labor, or the condition of our calling in life. The cares of princes, no less than the labors of the herdsman and the tillage of the ground, are all fruits of the same law of toil which God imposed upon Adam when he sinned; and it was hardly so much a curse as a blessing; hardly so much a penalty as a merciful provision. What would have been the career and destiny of man, if, after falling from righteousness and from God, he had been left in the free possession of all created things; if, with a heart corrupt, all the fruitfulness and richness of paradise had still been his earthly portion? Surely Heaven would have sickened at the sight of man: earth would have groaned under the burden of his sloth, lust, and atheism. Is there not mercy in the niggardliness of the earth, and the overcasting of the sky, and the changes of storm, and wind, and cold, and tempest, by which this world chastises our sloth and intemperate desires? If labor were not the lot of sinners, verily Babylon and Nineveh, Sidon and Tyre, Sodom and Gomorrah, would be but faint types of the pride and rebellion of mankind. Now, in this view we may look upon our calling and work in life as a humiliation, as a token of the In the case of pastors and preachers of the gospel it is manifestly so. The Church itself is a witness that sin

has entered into the world. If there were no sin, then there would be no need of a ministry of reconciliation, of sacraments of renewal, of the pastoral rod, or the fold separate from the world. So again in the highest civil employments: what are kings and princes, ministers and statesmen, but witnesses that the government of God has been shaken off, and that men must be governed by the sword? The same truth is still more evident in the professions which are devoted to war, to healing, to litigation; and hardly less in those which relate to the clothing, food, and necessities of this earthly life: the traces of the fall are upon them all. Now, if men would see their daily employments in this light, it would work a wonderful change in the feeling with which they undertake and pursue them: it would hardly be possible for a man to be proud, covetous, or ambitious in the very matter which reminds him that he is a fallen being, and in a condition which is the portion of a sinner. This is a strange reading of all worldly greatness. will the world bear to hear that all the pomp and splendor of thrones and legislatures, of courts and councils, and all its wealth, its "merchandise of gold and silver, and precious stones, and of pearls, and fine linen, and purple, and silk, and scarlet, and all thyine wood, and all manner vessels of ivory, and all manner vessels of most precious wood, and of brass, and iron, and marble, and cinnamon, and odors, and ointments, and frankincense, and wine, and oil, and fine flour, and wheat, and beasts, and sheep, and horses, and chariots, and slaves, and souls of men;"* that all this is no more than a gorgeous display of its fall from God? This humbling view of our daily work in the world will be very wholesome, in making us go to it as sinners, and in admonishing us to do our duties in humility and

^{*} Rev. xviii, 12, 13,

patience. In this way it will help to perfect our repentance; it will remind us that, at our best estate in this world, if we compare it with the bliss and rest of paradise, we are as the prodigal, outcast and naked, toiling under a base servitude in a far country. We shall therefore bear our daily task as a deserved and salutary yoke, by which we acknowledge our condition as penitents. The weariness, crosses, disappointments, and vexations, which arise in it: the early hours and late; the crowding and thronging of the multitude; all these are but as the dust, ashes, and sackcloth, of our just humiliation.

3. Another benefit in continual employment is, that it acts as a great check upon the temptations which beset an unoccupied and disengaged man. If we could reckon up the temptations which have assaulted us in life, we should find by far the greater number have come upon us in seasons of relaxation, when the mind is vacant, wandering, and off its guard. Employment, even of a mechanical sort, much more real toil and active labor, are most beneficial to Next to prayer and a life of devotional habits, there is nothing that keeps the heart so pure, and the will so strong and steadfast, as a life of active duty. This is no doubt one peculiar blessing of those who live hard and laborious lives, and accounts in a great measure, for the singular simplicity, straightforwardness, unconsciousness of evil, which is to be found among the laboring poor. Their poverty, and daily intentness of mind upon the pure and simple tillage of the earth shields them from a thousand assaults of evil, and a whole world of dangerous thoughts, schemes, desires, and designs, which throng upon the idle or unemployed. Compare the open and natural character of a poor man with the complex, suppressed, inward mind of those who live in the world with much time at their disposal, and little or no

laborious work. It is like the transparency of a child by the side of a darkened and deteriorated manhood. A lawful and regular employment, somewhat laborious, and even absorbing (so that it does not estrange a man's mind from God), is a great security against the temptations of the world and of our own hearts. It shuts out the approaches of temptations without number; and keeps the mind in perfect ignorance that such allurements exist in the world. It is the want of some fixed and regular course of duty that makes even good people inconsistent, uncertain, wavering, and sometimes listless, unwary, and infirm. Unsettled thoughts, roving imaginations, idle fancies, vacant hearts, wandering eyes, open ears, busy tongues, are the inseparable companions of a man who has little to do, or no rule and order of daily employment. From all this, steady labor would be his protection. Work is the very salt of our fallen nature, and keeps it from corrupting.

And besides this security against temptation, daily work is a daily discipline. It taxes us in those very habits on which a life of devotion rests; I mean patience, endurance, self-control. A life of industry is very nearly related to a life of religion; the staple of the character, so to speak, is the same.

"He that is faithful in that which is least is faithful also in much."* It is therefore most certain, that a life which is full of order, precision, self-denial, is not far from the kingdom of God; of course, I do not mean in men who are tainted by a worldly, covetous, careful spirit. The presence of any evil disposition will make even that which is good to be dangerous. The more laborious a covetous or ambitious man is, so much the worse; so much the more is he estranged from God, and enslaved by the wor-

^{*} St. Luke xvi. 10.

ship of the world and of himself. I am speaking only of the habits in themselves, apart from any particular quality or direction. They are the very same as those of the faithful servant, who traded well with his Lord's money, and are therefore capable of being sanctified by an habitual recollection of heart, and by remembrance of the presence of God. And besides this, there is in all continual employment, even in the ministries of faith and charity, a sense of exhaustion and weariness, which is a wholesome memorial of our infirmity. Every day as our strength goes from us, and every night as we lie down to sleep, there is an admonition of our fallen state. We are not as they "that excel in strength," whose living powers of obedience never waste; but one half of our life is spent in repairing the decays of the other half; and our Father in compassion draws a veil of darkness over us, and hides our humiliation, as it were, from heaven and earth. "Man goeth forth to his work and to his labor, until the evening:" and then "the night cometh, in which no man can work." rest are God's ordinance: He has joined them together, and man may not put them asunder. We cannot toil without resting, nor rest without toiling: for that is no rest, but a guilty and dangerous sloth, in which all the powers and energies of the soul are slackened and stupified. We find therefore, one universal sign of a holy life is habitual work -whether it be spiritual labor or secular is all one. A true Christian abhors idleness and protracted relaxation: he has something which warns him that his work is standing still, and that his own soul needs the discipline of labor to keep it within the rule of obedience; to tame its motions and chasten its desires; and for this, the work of the world may be, in one sense, even a better discipline than that of pastors; for it has in it more of weariness and humiliation,

16.

and less of many subtil dangers. They who labor in the world, in its marts, and courts, and treasure-houses, among the press and struggle of contentious and covetous men, if they have any reflection, any aspiration after the unseen rest, will be able to convert their daily business and profession into a wholesome discipline, and to look upon it as a burden which has in it not a little of shame and of the Cross. In this way hindrances shall turn to helps; and that which others yield to as an obstruction shall to them become a furtherance. It teaches them the emptiness and unrest of the world, and drives them, by a strong counteraction, to the only true rest, which is Jesus Christ.

But nothing that has been said must be thought to imply that a life of employment has not its peculiar difficulties. We need only look at busy men, and see how few are really devout, to satisfy ourselves that there must, after all, be some great dangers attending a life of constant occupation. And that is most true. What I have shown is this, that it is not labor and business, as such, that hinder men from a life of religion: but, on the contrary, that a busy man has many peculiar advantages, and that he may turn his whole employment into a discipline nearly related to religion. But it must be confessed that few really do so. It may be well, therefore, in conclusion, to notice one or two of the reasons which seem to account for this fact.

1. And first, it is because men engaged in laborious lives are very liable to get too much absorbed in things out of themselves. Their work, aims, projects, professions, and the like, grow to an unnatural importance, and encroach upon all their thoughts. Also, they become fond of the mere energy and habit of business. Dexterity, skill, foresight, calculation, become things pleasant in themselves, and are enjoyed for their own sakes. The

effect of this is, that the first and governing rule of their thoughts and habits, and of the times and arrangements of every day, is their work. Their prayers in private are regulated as to length with a view to punctuality in busi-The order of their household also is determined by The public offices of the Church, except on Sunday, it. are given up as impossible; frequent communion is avoided. as needing more habitual preparation than they can give to it. As a theory, they admit that the life of a Christian. as we find it in the Bible-devout, thoughtful, collected, estranged from the world-is the standard at which they ought to aim: but in practice, the example of others engaged in the same business or calling as themselves is the measure of their Christianity. As a fact, religion does not govern their life; it is only one of the secondary forces which help to determine their character.

2. Another effect, which is a consequence of the last, is, that they become forgetful of their own interior life. They live out of themselves. Their objects, aims, impulses, measures, rules, are without. They grow mechanical and This is sadly evident in many kinds of men, as, for example, among such of the hard-working poor as are not under the power of religion; and it is from these instances that men draw hasty and false conclusions. Some of them do, indeed, live a sort of animal life, toiling, feeding, and resting, as if they were created only to carry burdens, and to break up the soil of the earth. In such cases, it is difficult to overstate their insensibility and unconsciousness of all that makes up the hidden life of the soul. Acts of self-examination, reflection, religious meditation, and even prayer, are so strange and remote from their habitual thoughts and employments, that it is with

the greatest difficulty they can be brought so much as to understand what these things mean. Theirs is a life of sight and sense, a life of the body rather than of the soul. But it is not only among the poor that such are to be found. It is still more true of those who live in the midst of ambitious contests or speculations of gain; with this difference, that there is a high excitement of the intellectual powers, and a refined hardness of the heart, which make them even more impenetrable to the power of truth, and still more estranged from the discipline of their inner life. That which the world praises as enthusiasm in their profession, self-forgetfulness, devotedness to great aims, and the like, does really in most cases contain an utter neglect of their own true immortality. It is one of the saddest thoughts, that some of the greatest men of the world, as lawgivers, orators, leaders, statesmen, have lived and died, if not in open breach of the Divine laws, at least in an utter insensibility to their own spiritual being, its probation, and its destiny.

3. And lastly, this self-neglect leads directly to an entire forgetfulness of God. Indeed, it includes it. The two go together and involve each other. People, by losing sight of their own hidden life, soon lose also all perception of things unseen, and of the Divine presence as manifested in this world. It is this that makes the whole doctrine, ritual, and discipline of the Catholic Church, the whole mystery of sacraments and of the communion of saints, seem not only a perplexed and untenable theory, but to be a mere dream or vision of superstitious minds. To minds that live for this world, and for what may be seen, touched, and handled, there must be a provoking unreality about the whole theory of the Church. The very word 'mystical'

is a word of reproach in the mouth of the world. A 11 hidden agencies which are not calculable by science, all preternatural causes which cannot be reduced to a formula. or explained by processes of reason, all precepts and rules of which the direct bearing and consequence is not perceptible, are, to men trained in the service of the world, an imagination and a delusion. Now this does of course destroy all habits of devotion. There can be no life of prayer and communion with the unseen Presence, where the very Presence itself, if not doubted, is clouded and banished from our habitual consciousness. If the unseen world withdraw itself, and all its glorious realities become pale and dubious, how can our hearts open and yearn towards it? And such is the state to which the business, traffic, and work of this world may bring us.

But if there be any truth in what has been said before, the blame of this must be wholly our own. We can never come to this state, unless we allow the world to sap and to seduce our hearts away from us. What should have been the token of our humiliation, the chastisement of our spirits, and the discipline of our life, we have converted into a temptation and a snare; a burden to oppress our conscience, and a stimulus to excite our fallen nature. We have merged our Christianity in the world, and taken its maxims and rules to be the laws of our regenerate life.

Most true it is, that a life in the midst of the world is a life of peculiar danger. Employments, offices, charges, professions, bring great entanglements, doubts, and absorbing occupations. It needs a strong spirit to stem them in safety. To withdraw from the world is a sign not only of a desire for greater perfection, but of a consciousness of our own weakness. Let these, then be our safeguards; first,

to be thoroughly aware that, in a busy life, there must be manifold temptations; and next, that so far from being a dispensation from higher rules of devotion, we do indeed more truly need them. We need all the retirement we can get from the world to recollect ourselves, and to measure the deviations of our minds from the law of our Lord's example. We ought thankfully to take all the helps the Church provides for us. It was for the world, and for those who are forced to dwell in it, that the visible Church was set up. Without it, this noisy, importunate, besieging world would soon obliterate from our minds the traces of our unseen home. We ought to mould all our plans and habits of daily work upon the order of the Church, and make secular engagements bend and subject themselves to its sacred order of offices and hours. Daily prayers, the continual admonition of visible rites and tokens of faith. frequent receiving of the holy communion, days of festival, seasons of fasting, necessary as they are for pastors and retired Christians, are still more urgently needed by those whose habitual work brings on daily decays of fervor. They have to strengthen themselves against a multiplied action of the world, in depressing and deteriorating the standard of their inner life. For through our own imperfection, the most lawful and innocent callings become occasions of our own hurt. But this we may entirely believe, that, if we will seek God in our employments, He will convert them into a discipline of perfection; they will help us onward in our course; in the work of the world we shall be sanctified. Even in the unlikeliest duties and seasons, the most secular and remote from a devout life, when all seems dry, parched, and earthly, He will make us to understand that His grace is sufficient for us. He

will fulfil His promise, "When the poor and needy seek water, and there is none, and their tongue faileth for thirst, I the Lord will hear them, I the God of Israel will not forsake them. I will open rivers in high places, and fountains in the midst of the valleys: I will make the wilderness a pool of water, and the dry land springs of water."*

^{*} Isaiah xli. 17, 18.

SERMON XVII.

PRAYER A MARK OF TRUE HOLINESS.

St. Mark i. 35.

"And in the morning, rising up a great while before day, He went out, and departed into a solitary place, and there prayed."

The Evangelists seem especially guided to record, for our instruction, the private devotions of our Lord: they speak of them with a frequency and a particularity which shows how large a portion of His life was spent in prayer to God. We read in one place, "When He had sent the multitudes away, He went up into a mountain apart to pray: and when evening was come, He was there alone."* Again: "And He withdrew Himself into the wilderness, and prayed." Again: "And it came to pass in those days, that He went out into a mountain to pray, and continued all night in prayer to God."† And again: "And it came to pass about an eight days after these sayings, He took Peter and John and James, and went up into a mountain to pray. And as He prayed, the fashion of His countenance was altered, and His raiment was white and glister-

^{*} St. Matt. xiv. 23.

ing."* Now all these things bring vividly before us His habitual communing with His heavenly Father, before daybreak, all night long, in solitary places, on the mountain, in the wilderness; they teach us that a large part of His earthly life He spent in prayer. Now, there are many points of instruction suggested to us by this; but that to which I desire to refer is, the mysterious fact that He did pray Who is One with the Father and the Holy Ghost. Why should He who was sinless, perfect, and in need of nothing, pray? In one word, because, although as God He hears the prayers of men, yet as Man it was an act proper to His true humanity.

Let us consider, then, the reasons why in this He must needs have been as we are.

1. First of all, without doubt, He prayed for the furtherance of that work which His Father had given Him to do. It is remarkable, that the occasions of retirement and prayer mentioned by the Evangelists are those which precede the miracle of walking on the water, the going forth to preach, the choice of the apostles, the transfiguration, the temptation of Peter, and His own betrayal in the garden. Thus far His prayers seem to have reference to His work; and He Himself declared of the lunatic whom His disciples could not heal, "this kind goeth not out but by prayer and fasting."† It is plain, then, that His praying was no mere conformity to our necessities, no economy to serve only as an example for us; but a real supplication for such things as the work He had taken in hand demanded. What those things may be, it is not for us to imagine. For Himself nothing could be needed. There was in Him virtue to move mountains, and to suspend the laws of the world. may be, that His prayers were for those on whom and in

^{*} St. Luke ix. 28, 29,

whose favor His miraculous powers were to be exerted, inasmuch as their efficacy depended on the moral state of those who were to be subjects of His grace. In one place we read, "He did not many mighty works there because of their unbelief." To the two blind men He said, "According to your faith be it unto you."* His prayers, then, it may be, were for those on whom His power and His words should fall, that they might be disposed by the Spirit of God for the reception of His saving grace; or, as in the choice and mission of His apostles, that they might be true and faithful messengers of the kingdom of heaven. So also in His prayer for the unity of His Church at the last supper; and in His supplication on the cross, "Father, forgive them; they know not what they do:" what were these, but the beginnings of His all-prevailing intercession for us before the throne of God? The whole world, from its first sin to its last judgment, lay before Him; and the subtilty of Satan, the power of death, the misery of mankind, were ever on His soul. All holy Himself, yet in the midst of so great a fall of God's creation, how could there lack matter for continual prayer? Amidst the contradiction of sinners, and the deadness of the unbelieving, with the foresight of the great sin of the world which should be committed in His own Passion, with the whole career and probation of His Church through this perilous world, before His prophetic intuition, we may in some little measure understand what yearning desires of love and sorrow moved Him to all but unceasing intercession.

2. But His prayers were not altogether for others. Deeply mysterious as it is, they were offered also for Himself. We should hardly dare to say so, if holy Scripture were not most plain and explicit. For instance, when He

^{*} St. Matt. xiii. 58: ix. 29.

entered for the last time into Jerusalem, He said, "Now is My soul troubled: and what shall I say? Father, save Me from this hour: but for this cause came I unto this hour."* And at the last supper; "Father, the hour is come; glorify Thy Son." Again: "And now, O Father, glorify Thou Me with Thine own self with the glory which I had with Thee before the world was."† And in His agony in the garden: "O My Father, if it be possible, let this cup pass from Me; nevertheless not as I will, but as Thou wilt. . . . He went away again the second time, and prayed, saying, O My Father, if this cup may not pass away from Me, except I drink it, Thy will be done. . . . And He left them, and went away again, and prayed the third time, saying the same words." 1 "And being in an agony He prayed more earnestly: and His sweat was as it were great drops of blood falling down to the ground." It is, no doubt, of this awful passage of His life in particular, though perhaps not exclusively, that St. Paul writes, "Who in the days of His flesh, when He had offered up prayers and supplications with strong crying and tears unto Him that was able to save Him from death, and was heard in that He feared; though He were a Son, yet learned He obedience by the things which He suffered." | And in that last agony we read expressly, as if in answer to His prayers, "there appeared an angel from heaven, strengthening Him." Wonderful humiliation of the Son of God, to faint, to be in an agony, to pray, to be strengthened by an angel! Into this deep and hidden conflict of soul we cannot penetrate; but from it we may learn the awfulness of sin and death, which could thus afflict the Word made

^{*} St. John xii. 27.

[‡] St. Matt. xxvi. 39, 42, 44.

[|] Heb. v. 7, 8.

[†] St. John xvii. 1, 5.

[§] St. Luke xxii. 44.

[¶] St. Luke xxii. 44

flesh; and the mighty strength of prayer, which stayed up His soul, and drew from heaven an angel to uphold Him in the hour of darkness. It was a property of His true humanity that He should derive strength through prayer; and a part of His humiliation for us that He should need to pray.

3. And once more. He prayed while He was on earth, because prayer was the nearest return to the glory which He laid aside when He was made Man. It was, if we may so speak, His only true dwelling, rest, home, delight. We read of His weeping, and His being wearied, of His being troubled in spirit; but we never read that He rested, except upon the brink of a well by the wayside; nor that He slept, except in the ship.

Most utterly sad and desolate His outward lot in this world. "Foxes had holes, and the birds of the air had nests; but the Son of Man had not where to lay His head."

Prayer and converse with His Father in heaven was the only shelter into which the world could not break. Where He prayed was holy ground, and for the time was altogether His own. And to the mountain and the solitude He withdrew, leaving all, even the disciple whom He loved, that He might hold converse with His Father in heaven. It is remarkable that the public tokens of love which were given Him from heaven were all in acts of prayer. At His baptism, St. Luke writes, "Jesus also being baptised and praying, the heaven was opened, and the Holy Ghost descended in a bodily shape like a dove upon Him, and a voice came from heaven, which said, "Thou art My beloved Son; in thee I am well pleased."* At His transfiguration we read that He "went up into a mountain to pray. And as He prayed, the fashion of His countenance

^{*} St. Luke iii. 21, 22.

was altered, and His raiment was white and glistering. And, behold, there talked with Him two men, which were Moses and Elias: who appeared in glory, . . . and a cloud overshadowed them; ... and there came a voice out of the cloud, saying, This is My beloved Son: hear Him."* What may have been the visitations of His Father's love and consolation in His secret communion with Him, we cannot so much as conceive. Without doubt they were times of unspeakable bliss; when the light of God's countenance, and the fulness of His Father's love, were shed abroad in His soul. What must have been the communing of the Word made flesh with His heavenly Father; what mingling of eternal love, what perfect unity of will! And may we not believe that He, by whose Spirit the prophets spake of old, foresaw at all times, but specially in seasons of retired communion with God, the full mystery of love, the abolition of sin and death, the perfect reconciliation of God and man, the company of the elect, the holiness of the saints, the glorious martyrdom of His servants, the perfection of His Church, the new creation of God? If in His hours of agony the darker shadows of the future hung upon Him, may we not believe that in His hours of prayer the brighter lights of His invisible kingdom shone full upon His soul?

Now, from this view, we may learn, first, that a life of habitual prayer is a life of the highest perfection; and that our prayer will be more or less perfect in proportion as our state of holiness is more or less advanced. The most perfect example of prayer is His who was most perfect in holiness. None prayed such fervent, frequent, unwearied prayers as He who was without sin.

There is something at first sight paradoxical in saying,

* St. Luke ix. 28-31, 35.

that prayer is the beginning of conversion to God, and also the highest token of perfection. Yet so it is. Prayer is the very breath of the regenerate life. Without it no spirit of man can live. Prayer is also the nearest approach to the work of saints unseen, to the heavenly glory, to the beatific vision. It is well to bear this in mind; for in what do people more deceive and distress themselves than in the duty of prayer? Sometimes we see people living on in a full belief that they do pray, when we have every reason to believe that they have never so much as realized the very idea of what prayer is; for instance, persons of a correct life, with cold affections, strong understandings, watchful against what they call enthusiasm and excited feelings; or again, those who take the tone of the world, live in society, busy themselves with its usages and events; people of an external life, who live out of their own hearts, having their attention drawn away from themselves, and their thoughts active about this visible world. Now, such people are often exemplary in their regularity at all stated duties of religion; and they go through them with such a sufficiency of outward care and punctuality, that there appears nothing to be supplied. But, after all, something seems perceptibly wanting within. Perhaps it may be expressed in fewest words as the want of realizing their own personal relation to God, and the nearness of His presence to them in acts of prayer. But we have no need to speak of others. Who is there that does not know what this means? Who is there that has not passed through such a state of dangerous insensibility; and has become conscious now, in looking back, for how many years his prayers were really mere recitations, without realizing the awful directness of our approach to God? And yet all the time we were as unconscious of it as if there were nothing

that we did not fully perceive. How long this deceit still hung about us! And though we began at last to be painfully aware of our blindness and lukewarmness, our wandering and distraction in the very act of praying, yet we never half suspected the right cause. For example, how many of us have felt it easier to maintain at least external reverence in public worship than in private prayer, partly because the eyes of others were upon us, and partly because our attention was stimulated by the devotions of others. When we have gone into our own private room, we have seemed to become altogether changed; our thoughts abroad, our affections cold, and our very body weary of kneeling. On the other hand, many people greatly distress themselves about their prayers: I do not say needlessly, for there is need enough; but their distress is often an obstruction rather than a help. They complain of indevotion, of inability to pray, or to fix their minds. It seems to them to be altogether unreal, and a sort of forced and artificial state of mind.

Now, it is of course impossible to lay down any laws in a matter so mysterious, and so nearly related to the inscrutable workings of the Spirit of God. It is indeed true that sometimes men converted late in life, or after great sins, or by sudden causes, exhibit a wonderful vividness of compunction and a fervent spirit of prayer. But these are exempt cases; and even they often subside afterwards into the condition in which the great majority of men are to be found. For the most part the habit of prayer keeps pace with, or but little outstrips, the habit of patience, meekness, humility, and the like; that is to say, it is matured with the maturing of the spiritual life. And indeed it seems plain that it must be so; for what are the springs of prayer but a sense of sinfulness, a desire of

abasement and of sanctification? But before these can exist, the moral effects of past sins, by which the edge of the conscience has been blunted and the purity of the affections soiled, must be in part taken away. This is not the work of a day, but of a long season, often of years; and these hindrances must be borne as a deserved chastisement and humiliation. In this way even the matter of our distress becomes a wholesome discipline for our correction. We cannot, without long and persevering endeavors, imitate our Lord in His prayers, any more than in His patience. We must be first, in some measure, conformed to Him in the perfections of His heavenly life, before our hearts can pour themselves out in fervent intercessions. The most perfect prayers are those of saints and of little children, because in both there is the same freedom from the hard. unconcerned, self-contemplative habit of mind which besets the common sort of Christians, and the same presence of awe, tenderness of conscience, simplicity, and truth. very weakness of children has the same effect as the strength of saints. Children have not yet learned to know the world, and saints have renounced it, and both are free from its solicitations and intrusions.

2. There is another point to be considered. The spirit of prayer is a direct gift from God. This great truth has been so abused by the fanaticism and self-delusion of unstable men, that others of a more chastened temper have recoiled into the opposite extreme. They confine it practically, though they would not say so, to the acts of our own minds. To pray is a high grace given to us from heaven. For prayer does not mean the ready utterance which flows from excitement of imagination, or fluency of speech, nor any of the mere intellectual powers with which men have deceived others and themselves; but from the

depth of contrition and self-reproach, from earnest resolutions of self-chastisement, strong aspirations after perfect holiness and the bliss of fellowship with God. And all these are the gifts of that One Spirit which "helpeth our infirmities: for we know not what we should pray for as we ought: but the Spirit itself maketh intercession for us with groanings which cannot be uttered. And He that searcheth the hearts knoweth what is the mind of the Spirit, because He maketh intercession for the saints according to the will of God."* After all our endeavors and prayers, it is from Him that we must receive the grace of prayer. "I will pour out upon the house of David, and upon the inhabitants of Jerusalem, the spirit of grace and of supplications: and they shall look on Me whom they have pierced." It is in proportion as we receive clearer insight into the depth and ingratitude of sin, into the passion and love of Christ, that we shall learn to pray. "And they shall mourn for Him, as one mourneth for his only son, and shall be in bitterness for Him, as one that is in bitterness for his firstborn."†

Prayer springs from compunction, and compunction from love to Him whom our sins have pierced; and to perceive this is the gift of God, sometimes given early in the life of a penitent, but for the most part after years of fear and mortification; for these perceptions are not emotions raised by our own efforts, nor can we by any intellectual process gain them, or create them for ourselves; they are insights and intuitions of the Spirit freely given from above, and passively received by those who, in truth and sincerity of heart, have diligently waited upon God in prayer. There are, indeed, higher revelations with which He favors those whom He will: but they are not to be

^{*} Rom. viii. 26, 27.

expressed in words, nor to be understood, even if they could be uttered; nor are they to be sought by us, being too excellent for us; nor to be contemplated and rested in, when given; nor are they graces that are necessary for salvation, but gifts vouchsafed to few. And even they who receive them have some counter-token to make such high endowments safe. He who was caught up into the third heaven, lest he should be "lifted up," had also sent unto him "a thorn in the flesh, the messenger of Satan to buffet him." Let us therefore leave all, even our prayers, in God's hand. Let us not seek high things for ourselves, lest we should not be able to bear them; lest we should fall into the delusion of the enemy, and mistake heated and overstrained fancies for the realities of God's kingdom. To seek after high tokens of God's favor, is to pass a judgment on ourselves that we are such as may expect them, and could receive them in humility and in safety. But they who think so, plainly show that they are not such as could endure them without danger. Such things are rather for those who like Peter, when he saw the miracle of the fishes, said, "Depart from me, for I am a sinful man, O Lord." Yet even he, after that, when he saw somewhat of his Master's glory, talked of building three tabernacles, not knowing what he said.

Therefore let us be lowly even in our prayers; seeking to be real and sincere, conscious of our infinite spiritual wants, our manifold and exceeding imperfections. It is beyond all our deservings that we should be allowed to speak with Him at all. It is enough for us that we may "make our requests known unto God." For all that remains let us trust ourselves in His hands. He will show us such things as it is good for us to see in this state of humiliation. Let us, like our Lord, withdraw ourselves at times not only

from the world, but from those dearest to us, from our closest friendships and most intimate affections, that we may be alone with God. Let us learn how precious are solitary places, and hours when others are sleeping or away; in the night-season, or "a great while before day," when the earth and heaven are still, and the busy world has not yet come abroad to trouble the creation of God.

And lastly, we may learn that, as the sacrifice of Christ is the one only effectual sacrifice, so is His the only true and all-prevailing prayer. All our prayers are accepted in His, which are the life and strength of all. The intercession of His Church goes up perpetually through Him unto His Father. In itself it is weak and imperfect: but He is the life of His mystical body; and in Him the prayers of saints, the aspirations of pure hearts, the mourning of the contrite, the confessions of penitents, the strong crying of the afflicted, the self-reproaches of convicted sinners, ascend as one intercession, as a sacrifice of a sweet-smelling savor to the throne of God. In the vision which St. John saw, an "angel came and stood at the altar, having a golden censer; and there was given unto him much incense, that he should offer it with the prayers of all saints upon the golden altar which was before the throne. And the smoke of the incense, which came with the prayers of the saints, ascended up before God out of the angel's hand."* is He who "continueth ever," and "hath an unchangeable Wherefore He is able also to save them to the uttermost that come unto God by Him, seeing He ever liveth to make intercession for them."+

^{*} Rev. viii. 3, 4.

[†] Heb. vii. 24.

SERMON XVIII.

SHORT DEVOTIONS A HINDRANCE TO PRAYER.

St. Luke vi. 12.

"And it came to pass in those days, that He went out into a mountain to pray, and continued all night in prayer to God."

WE are not to suppose, because we read this only once in the Gospels, that it was only this once in His life that our blessed Lord spent all the night in prayer. The history of His words and deeds, as it is written by the Evangelists, does not profess to give all that He said or did. Indeed, St. John expressly declares, "There are also many other things which Jesus did, the which, if they should be written every one, I suppose that even the world itself could not contain the books that should be written."* We have but a small part in the four Gospels; and yet that part is so recorded as to contain, imply, and extend over all the rest. If we may reverently use a phrase of so critical a sound, it may be said that they contain the perfect idea and outline of His character, together with such instances as express the whole habit and principle of His life. fore these words of St. Luke may be taken to imply, not

only that He passed that particular night alone in prayer, or in an oratory* on the mountain, as the words may mean, but that such was His wont; that long retirement and protracted communing with God were habitual to Him. Now the point I would notice is, the great length of time He thus gave to prayer; and we will consider how far it has the force of an example or precept to us. Many people will say, that it applies to us, if at all, in a very remote and restricted way; and the arguments they bring are not without a show of reason. But a little deeper thought will convince us that the reverse is true. We will, however, take the chief objections, and weigh them one by one.

1. It is commonly said, that such prolonged acts of prayer issued from the perfection of His divine Person; that they were, so to speak, attributes of One who was without sin, and in unbroken fellowship with God. It cannot be denied that there is truth in this. We know that angels, who "excel in strength," serve God without intermission: and the heavenly hosts, in their adoration, "rest not day and night." In fact, it may be said that sustained devotion is a perfection—an endowment of those who are delivered from the power of sin. And a powerful argument comes in aid of this, from the sensible fact of our distraction and weariness in prayer, which seem to be universal, and to cleave to us, even to the best of men, to the end of life. But does not this objection put out of sight the most important truth of all? It is indeed most true, that the sustained and blissful communion which He held with His Father—a converse without the wandering of a desire or thought, a fellowship of consolation, strength, and peace -that this, indeed, is beyond our reach. Few attain, even

^{*} ἐν τἢ προσευχῆ τοῦ Θεοῦ.

in kind, an approach to it; and they seldom; and many never. They who enjoy it are admitted to it only for a while and at seasons; with long intervals and uncertain returns. In this, indeed, the example of our Master finds but a restricted counterpart in us. Yet it does not take off the force of it. His prayers were blissful as He was perfect; but ours are necessary because of our imperfections. We must not, however, suppose that His prayers were only adorations, because from one who stands in need of nothing. It is a mystery of faith, how He that filleth all should pray as if needing of another's fullness; yet it is only the mystery of the Incarnation in its consequences. It is akin to His temptation and His agony, in which He was ministered to and strengthened by angels. And we are expressly told that He prayed "with strong crying and tears," "and was heard in that He feared."* His prayers were uttered out of the depths of His sinless infirmities, and had their answers from on high; but in what way we know not, nor shall do well too curiously to seek. This brings His example nearer to us. His nights of prayer, then, were not simple exercises of His exceeding spiritual strength; they were also the earnest cleaving of man to God. And if the infirmities of a sinless being drew Him so mightily to God, how much more ought the sin that is in us to drive us to the Divine Presence for healing and for strength! contrast of our weakness with His perfection gives us no discharge from His example: rather, it adds a greater force. It brings out a farther and deeper reason, which makes the law of prayer to us the very condition of life. If we do not pray, we perish. It is no answer to say we are weak, and cannot continue in prayer as He. That very weakness is in itself the necessity which forces us to

pray. His perfect prayers are only the standard we must aim at—the pattern of what our prayers should be. If ours are unlike His, so much the greater need to give ourselves to greater devotion: the more unlike, the more need there is to pray. All that can be made of this objection, then, is this: Such is our sinful and weak state, that His perfect devotions are beyond our strength. And the conclusion that follows is, therefore, not that we may contentedly aim at a lower rule, but that we ought all the more to humble, and train ourselves upon a discipline which leads to His perfection. In a word, the very objection which pleads the difficulty of following His example, proves the necessity which constrains us to follow it.

2. Again, it is often said, "There can be no doubt that more time ought to be given by us all to the duty of prayer. Well were it if we were able to follow, in all things, the example of our Lord; but this is plainly impossible. We are entangled in the world, burdened by its duties and its employments; our time is not our own; it is very hard to get an unbroken hour. There is always something demanding our whole attention: business, labor, the claims of others, the harmless usages of society, the charities of life, the cares of home, the service of the sick and poor, the instruction of children, and the like. In a word, it is impossible for those who live an active and a busy life to find time for long private devotions."

From the tone in which some people speak, one would think that our blessed Master had lived a leisurely and unimpeded life; that He had nothing else to do but to live alone in retirement and solitude, in prayer and contemplation: and this of One, whose whole life was toil, amid crowds and multitudes, hungry and wayworn, full of calls and interruptions. Certainly the life of our Lord exhibits

to us the most perfect example of constant employments. If anything in it be prominent, it is the multitude of works, the never-ending service of all that came or sent for Him. in sick chambers, in homes of sorrow, in synagogues, in Pharisees' houses, in the Temple, in the mid-stream of men. It were rather true to say, that hardly any man's life was ever yet so broken in upon, and taken from Him by labor, and care, and the importunity of others, as His; and yet He is to us the perfect example of devotion. was the toil of the day that turned His night into a vigil. That which we plead as excuse was the very cause why "He went out into a mountain to pray, and continued all night in prayer to God." In which He teaches us, that whatever else we forego, we may not forego our prayers; whatever else is at our will to give up, this is not; however necessary we may think other things, this is the thing needful above all; our work must be done, and yet our devotions must not be left undone. Our Lord's example in this is especially pointed and instructive to those who are wont to plead their worldly duties in excuse. He has abolished this plea beforehand; He has exposed its untruth by anticipation; and, moreover, He has taught us that here again the very reverse of this excuse is the truth. They who live in the world are so far from being released from stricter habits of private devotion, that they, above all, need them most. The busier their daily thoughts, the greater need of recollection at night. The more closely the world presses upon them all day long, the more need is there for them to break loose from it, and to give themselves up again to God, when the day is done. What else remains to them? If the world has indeed the dominion of their days; if so long as light lasts, their whole activity and all its powers must be given to trade, or merchandise,

or studies, or official employments, or the practice of courts, or even to ministries of healing, as physicians and pastors; what remains to them, but to reclaim from the hours when at last the world is at rest some of the time on which it keeps so tyranuous a hold? Verily these are they who, most of all men, have need to "redeem the time, because the days are evil."* It is indeed true, that multiplicity of labors and employments makes retirement very hard to obtain; but it makes it all the more necessary. All activity not controlled by the presence of God, has in it a tendency to withdraw the mind from Him, and to render it less open towards Him, less susceptible of passive impressions, and less conscious of an unseen presence. So, again, all excitements, not only of a worldly and corrupting sort, as pleasure, gaining, ambition, and the like, but even the purer kinds, are adverse to devotion. A highly intellectual habit of thought, such as students or professional men usually live in, has a very subtil effect on the mind: it makes it over-active; so that the stillness and fixedness necessary in prayer are irksome and peculiarly difficult. Also it tends to dry up and to deaden the affections, on which devotion is chiefly engrafted. This is true even of pastors, in the study of divine truth, and in the exercise of their spiritual ministry. Over-activity often leads to indevotion, and busy care about others to forgetfulness of our own soul. And if this be true of us, how much more of those whose lot is cast in the world, and whose scene of toil is among the snares and secularities of life! But into this I will not go farther now; we shall have need to come back to it hereafter. All that it is necessary to say is, that the common excuse made by even well-meaning people for their low habits of devotion, is no excuse at all: rather, all the force it has is on the other side, in the way of warning and admonition. Alas for the man that is too busy to pray; for he is too busy to be saved.

3. But once more. It may be said, "All this proves too much; for if it prove any thing, it proves that we ought to give up our natural rest and our night's sleep, and to break the common habits of a regular life in a way that health and sound discretion, and almost the humility which avoids singularities and extremes, would equally forbid." It may be asked, "Do you literally mean, that we ought ever to 'continue the whole night in prayer?' for if not, do you not give up the argument and the example; and then what measure of time will you fix?" It may not be amiss to say, that better men than ourselves, and that in all times, have seen reason to take these words even to the letter; and their lives have been a witness to their sound discretion, and to their humility. The very name of vigil, which the Church puts into our mouths, has some deeper and fuller meaning than we are wont to give it. This is an age of metaphors and accommodations: words once realities are now but figures, symbols of vague notions. Now-a-days a vigil is the evening before a Feast, in which men used in early times to watch and pray; and it stands for the duty of watchfulness. We have grown to be great masters of defining by glosses and parables. This at least may be said: there are many of us who would think it reasonable and discreet to spend a whole night in study, or writing, or in conversation, or in the levities of the world, or in travelling; who have done and still do this, and yet have never passed a night in contemplation and prayer, and would think it extravagant to do so. My object in saying this is, to show in what unequal scales even fair and religious people weigh these things. Is it not true, that people who would, without

a word, travel many nights together for business or amusement, would positively resent the notion of spending even a few hours of Christmas or Easter Eve in prayer and selfexamination? However, it is enough for the present purpose to say, that whosoever would live a life of prayer, must spend no small part of every day in praying. There is no art or science, no practice or faculty of which the human mind is capable, that demands for its acquirement so much time as a habit of prayer. One of the chief reasons why we find it so hard to pray, one of the chief causes of all our distraction, wandering, and indevotion, is, the infrequency and shortness of our prayers. It is indeed true, that prayer is in one sense a gift of God: He pours out on whomsoever He will "the spirit of grace and supplications;"* "the Spirit also helpeth our infirmities: for we know not what we should pray for as we ought: but the Spirit itself maketh intercession for us with groanings which cannot be uttered."† Nevertheless, the same is equally true of purity and humility; they both are gifts of grace, vet subjected to the conditions of our nature, and to be made our own by discipline and in time. So it is with prayer. And, indeed, if we will but consider what the act of prayer is, we shall see that, of all the spiritual powers of the regenerate soul, it is the highest and most nearly akin to perfection. It is no less than speaking with God under a consciousness of His presence, with kindled desires, and a submitted will. It implies the presence and energy of faith, love, and repentance. Such as we are, such our prayers will be. It is the unfolding of ourselves in God's sight; and there must needs go before it and with it a knowledge of ourselves, founded on habitual self-examination. And for this, stated and not short seasons of silence

^{*} Zech. xii. 10.

and retirement in the presence of God are absolutely needed.

Now what is actually the state of most people? They pray twice in the day. Their prayers are, for the most part, certain fixed and ever-recurring forms of devotion: in themselves good, but necessarily general both in confession and petition. These prayers are said over with more or less of attention, desire, feeling, and emotion. They take, it may be, a quarter of an hour in the morning, and the same at night. They are often not preceded by conscious preparation, nor followed by prescribed acts of reflection. They are parentheses in the day, which will not read into the context of life, but are entered and left by a sensible transition of the mind. To this, perhaps, is added, in most cases, a reading of the Bible once in the course of the day. With some there lingers still the remains of an excellent and most significant practice of reading the appointed Psalms and Lessons—a memorial of better times, and an unconscious act of unity, in spirit and intention, with those who daily pray before the altars of the Church. Now the time spent in these habits is half an hour in prayer, and perhaps the same in reading. If to this be added family prayers, a quarter of an hour in the morning, and the same at night, I believe we shall have taken no unfavorable sample of the measure of time given to their daily prayers by persons even of a serious and religious character. It cannot be doubted that such people would pass for devout persons; nor will I, which God forbid, gainsay their claim to be so esteemed. But what does it come to, after all? One hour and a half in every twentyfour. And how are the rest allotted? Nine or ten to sleep and its circumstantials, two or three hours spent over food; four or five, that is, whole mornings and whole evenings,

given up to conversation, visits, amusements, and what the world calls society; the rest consumed in various employments of various degrees of nearness to, or remoteness from, the presence and thought of God. Now, assuredly, if this world were not a fallen world, if all its spontaneous daily movements were in harmony with the will of God and the state beyond the grave, there would be no harm in resting upon those movements, and in being borne along with them. But if it be indeed a world fallen from God; and if in its fairest forms it be still, at least by privation of righteousness, sinful in His sight, then to live in it as if it were not fallen cannot but estrange us from real communion with Him. An hour and a half of better thoughts in every day will not disinfect our hearts, and counterwork the perpetual and transforming action of the world in all the rest of our time. In this point, busy and toilworn people have an advantage over the more leisurely; for business and labor are a part of the fall, and have in them chastisement and humiliation. There is great danger, in cases like that which I have taken, lest such minds, though in many ways blameless and pure, should be strangers to the deeper things of God, and to the realities of compunction and devotion.

To the case I have supposed, one more point may be added: I mean, attendance at the daily prayers of the Church. Measured by time, this adds somewhat more than another hour in the day; but after all, what is it? Not so much as three hours for God, and one-and-twenty for ourselves. Alas for us! what would they judge of us, those saints of old, who wore the very stones with their perpetual kneelings? What would they say of our distribution of time? Would they acknowledge us among the number of those that pray? What would they answer to

our complaints of wandering and distraction, and unseasonable thoughts, and unconsciousness of God's presence? Would they wonder that it is so with us? I trow not. Should we not hear: "In the evening, and morning, and at noonday will I pray, and that instantly, and He shall hear my voice," "Seven times a day do I praise Thee, because of Thy righteous judgments." "Mine eyes prevent the night watches, that I might be occupied in Thy law." "My soul waiteth for the Lord more than they that watch for the morning: yea, I say, more than they that watch for the morning." "My voice shalt Thou hear betimes, O Lord: early in the morning will I direct my prayer unto Thee, and will look up." "At midnight will I rise to give thanks unto Thee, because of Thy righteous judgments." "I have thought upon Thy name in the night season, and have kept Thy law."*

I will add only two remarks, and then conclude.

1. First, it is plain that there can be no exact measure of time fixed for our prayers. If any were fixed, we should be in great danger of forming a mechanical habit, and of resting in it when mechanically fulfilled. It is the very character of our trial that we are under a law of liberty. It were easier to many to recite a prescribed number of prayers in a prescribed space of time, than to say one prayer with devotion. This is a wholesome and necessary admonition to those who have the blessing of the daily prayers of the Church. The salt which alone can keep the daily service from corruption is increased prayer in private. If this "have lost its savor, wherewith shall it be salted?" In such frequent, prolonged, public, and, I may say, familiar approaches to God, there is great danger of forming a hard, business-like insensibility in the very act

^{*} Psalm lv. 17; cxix. 164, 148; cxxx. 6; cxix. 62, 55.

of praying. No time, then, can be exactly prescribed. The end alone can measure what is needful. end is, the fellowship of a wakeful and collected mind with God. No time that fails to attain this, be it short or long, is enough. But though no measure of time can be fixed for all, yet one thing it is safe to say: we ought all of us to be longer on our knees before God than we are at present. And longer we should be, if we truly knew our own state, or if we had so much as a moment's clear perception of the awfulness of God's presence, or of the bliss of perfect prayer. This at least may be said, that to hurry suddenly into His presence, and to hurry out of it again, is no sign of our so much as understanding the first idea of worship. There is something irreverent in these sudden transitions; as if our minds were always meet to approach Him, and there were nothing needed but a momentary act of our will. Our prayers cannot fail to be full of distraction, if we enter upon them without first setting ourselves, by acts of conscious recollection, in His presence. What, after all, is the key of our distractions, but the fact that we so faintly realize the presence of God when we are upon our knees? Another practical rule is this: we may be sure that we do not give time enough to prayer, so long as either the ordinary habits of our life continue to thrust themselves in upon our devotions, or our habits of devotion fail to check and sanctify the ordinary habits of our life. Till we reach this point, we shall be in no danger of giving too much time to our prayers; and that is a sufficient and a safe practical answer, and a good rule to go by.

2. The other remark I would make is, that there are peculiar difficulties and temptations attending a habit of prayer, by which people are often greatly distressed. The more they endeavor to prolong their acts of prayer, the more

sensible they become of the instability and levity of their minds. Many feel this in respect to the prayers of the Church, especially when the Holy communion is administered. But perhaps the commonest form of this trial is in the daily service. Really earnest people, who delight in being, day by day, before the altar, and would not forfeit the prayers of morning and evening for any inducement, do nevertheless sometimes go through the whole service with a perfectly absent mind. At the beginning of every prayer they resolve to unite their desires to it throughout, and at the end come to themselves again, and perceive that all has been a blank before them. This is very disquieting, and fills them with painful and mistrustful thoughts. It is indeed a matter for compunction and humiliation. It is a token of their great spiritual infirmity. But it is a good thing to be made painfully aware of it. And this is one of the benefits resulting from the length of the prayers, and from the habit of daily service. It acts as a detector to test and exhibit their true internal state. With shorter and less frequent services they might have gone on for ever without finding out their secret indevotion; and all the while it would be no less real, though undiscovered. It is good to be convicted, lest we deceive ourselves. And the use we should make of the offices of the Church when we cannot follow them is, to chastise our indevotion by them, and to strengthen the habits of silence, reverence, and attention, which are the basis of a devout spirit. Even though, through our weakness or our sin, we fail to sustain our conscious and direct prayers, yet frequent and stated returns to God's presence lay the foundations of obedience, and obedience is the very source of fervent prayer. In the relaxed state of our spiritual discipline, it is good to have this undesigned, though somewhat austere rule. There is

another part of our public worship, which, though not intended, supplies a highly beneficial practice of devotion. I mean, the great length of time while the Holy Sacrament is being distributed to communicants. Some people strongly and inconsiderately complain of this. But it is a blessed and wholesome thing to be so encompassed, as it were, by the presence of God, that for a while we car. employ ourselves in nothing but prayer and meditation. In our busy, excited, intellectual, distracted life, it is a good thing to have even our mental activity for a while forcibly suspended, and our minds left wholly without support or stay, except in the thought of God. It is good to have even religious books withdrawn for a time; for manuals of devotion often divert the mind from its own personal acts, and substitute the thought of devotion for the reality. While the Body and Blood of Christ are being given to His people at the altar, we can do nothing but turn inwardly upon our own consciousness of His presence with us, and of our actual state before Him. Let us, then, look upon all trials and difficulties in prayer as no more than we must meet in the discipline of every part of a holy life. And let us be thankful that we are in any way brought to know how far we are fallen from God, how unmeet for the inheritance of the saints in light, whose ministry of love and worship has no intermission; only let the consciousness of our distractions in prayer make us pray oftener, and more; for by prayer alone can they be overcome. There is no other cure. Let us, in spite of all, cleave to this, and we shall find all well at last, when we shall no longer worship Him under the veil of His unseen Presence, but before the Throne, where our "eyes shall behold the King in His beauty."

SERMON XIX.

THE LONGSUFFERING OF CHRIST.

St. Matthew xviii. 21, 22.

"Then came Peter to Him, and said, Lord, how oft shall my brother sin against me, and I forgive him? till seven times? Jesus saith unto him, I say not unto thee, Until seven times: but, Until seventy times seven."

In St. Luke's Gospel this same answer is given with a change of expression which makes it even more emphatic: "Take heed to yourselves: If thy brother trespass against thee, rebuke him; and if he repent, forgive him. And if he trespass against thee seven times in a day, and seven times in a day turn again to thee, saying, I repent; thou shalt forgive him."* In St. Matthew's Gospel, the parable of the two servants who owed, the one ten thousand talents, and the other an hundred pence, immediately follows. It is therefore evident, that the great law of mutual forgiveness is founded both on the law of nature, and on the fact of the still greater forgiveness which we have received at God's hand. If He have forgiven us so much, what is there that we shall not forgive our brother? if He have forgiven us so

often, how can we ever refuse forgiveness? Seventy times seven, seven times in a day, what is this to those who have the forgiveness of God through the blood of Jesus Christ?

But the point I wish to draw attention to is, not the duty of forgiveness as it is here enjoined, but the character of Christ as it is revealed in these words. It is plain that He does not lay on us a rule of mercy by which He does not proceed Himself. He has not two measures, or an unequal balance. As He would have us measure to others, so He will mete to us. The law He here lays down is a transcript of Himself: this seventy times sevenfold remission, what is it but His unwearied mercy? and what is this "seven times in a day," but His all-enduring patience?

Now it is this particular truth which distinguishes the Gospel from all religions of nature, and even from all other measures of the earlier revelations of God. The great truth here revealed to us is, the love, clemency, forgiveness of God to sinners. All this was, indeed, exhibited before in promises and prophecies, and in God's manifest dealings with His chosen people of old; but it was never so fully revealed as by the Incarnation and atonement of Christ. It may be said with truth, that a full perception of this great mystery of mercy is the very life of faith; and that there is nothing we are slower and more unwilling to believe in its truth and fulness. The greatness of it is too large for our narrow hearts. It is very easy to say, God is merciful, Christ is full of compassion; but these general truths, as we utter them, are limited and overcast by others not less certain. For if the Gospel has revealed God's mercy, it has also revealed God's holiness; if it has taught us that God is Love, it has also taught us that He is "a consuming fire." With the atonement, we have learned the judgment to come; with the sacrifice of Christ, we

have learned the guilt of sin; with the gift of regeneration, the defilement of our inmost soul; if baptism has brought us remission, it has made sins after baptism more fearful. The Gospel is an awful twofold light, before which even faithful Christians tremble, and often see but in part, and, through weakness and fear, and the earthliness of their hearts, often believe and speak amiss. It seems inconceivable that God should pardon so great sins as ours; or if He pardon us once, that He should pardon us when we fall again. The number and the frequency of our falls and swervings, the many warnings and the full light against which we often offend; the periodical returns of temptation, and, with them, of disobedience; the depth and intensity of guilt which even lesser sins attain by repetition after repentance; above all, when committed neither by surprise, nor by suddenness, but with a certain measure of deliberation, and with enough of resistance to show that nothing can be pleaded in excuse: all these, and a multitude more of particulars, which it is impossible to touch on in detail, make people often feel that, undoubted as is the perfect and exhaustless mercy of Christ, yet in their particular case there are features which shut them out from the consolation they would readily minister to others.

Now I am not going to argue against this feeling, so far as it promotes in us bitterness of repentance, fear, humiliation, and prayer for pardon. It is to be corrected only when it clashes with the perfect revelation of our Lord's character, and of His dealings with us. Too much humbled we cannot be, too tender of conscience, too fearful to offend; but we may dishonor Him by unworthy and faithless mistrusts, by thinking that He is verily such an one as ourselves, and that His forgiveness is no readier and broader than the perception we form of it in our hearts. If there

be any one thing of vital force in a life of Christian obedience, it is a true and full knowledge of Him whom we obey. His character is our very law; it imposes on us the conditions of our whole life, in thought, word, and deed, and defines the whole of our relations to Him. Now these words of His in the text reveal to us that to those who repent, howsoever often they may have sinned, there is perpetual forgiveness; that as often as we turn to Him, saying in truth, "I repent," He will take us back again. And this is, indeed, the very grace and mystery of the Gospel. Let us consider it a little more fully.

- 1. The state of man by creation was this: God made him sinless; he sinned, and died,—one sin, and all was lost. The work of creation had in it no remedial provision, it was a state of sanctity for a sinless creature; it contemplated no fall, no imperfection, no infirmity. Once fallen, all was marred; the relation of God and man once broken, the power of restoration must be sought in a new order and law of grace. The state of creation, then, was awful and severe in its perfection, and in itself had no remedy or healing for sin. Adam fell, lost his gift of righteousness, and passed under the power of death. He begat a son in his own likeness, and handed on the dark inheritance of the fall; the tide had set away from God, and every generation swelled the stream and made it run more fiercely. The first Adam was shorn of all his powers, and there was no help in him. The fall and sorrow were the heirloom of his children.
- 2. Now it is exactly in this point that the Gospel, or the new creation, of which Christ our Lord, the second Adam, is the head and root, differs from the first. It is a mystery of restoration; it has in it an inexhaustible source of healing for the sin of the world. By one act of disobedience the

first creation passed away for ever. The second is the perpetual remedy of sin. And this is the meaning of St. St. Paul's words: "As by one man sin entered into the world, and death by sin; and so death passed upon all men, for that all have sinned.... Death reigned from Adam to Moses, even over them that had not sinned after the similitude of Adam's transgression, who is the figure of Him that was to come. But not as the offence, so also is the free gift. For if through the offence of one many be dead, much more the grace of God, and the gift by grace, which is by one man, Jesus Christ, hath abounded unto many. And not as it was by one that sinned, so is the gift: for the judgment was by one to condemnation, but the free gift is of many offences unto justification. For if by one man's offence death reigned by one; much more they which receive abundance of grace and of the gift of righteousness shall reign in life by one, Jesus Christ."* In the first creation repentance had no place: in the second, repentance is the first idea and law; it is a dispensation given to penitents. That is to say, Christ has made atonement for sin; He has taken away the sin of the world. By His obedience, and by His death, He has cancelled, in the unseen world, the sentence which is to us as inscrutable as the existence and origin of evil, to which mystery it is related. In this sense, then, the Gospel is emphatically a remedial dispensation; and for this end the Incarnation and atonement of the Son of God was accomplished. And farther: by its very first law it contemplates in us imperfection, frailty and evil. It is a power to heal, and its mission is to the sick. That which could not so much as enter into the scope of the covenant of creation, fills the whole field of intention, so to speak, under the Gospel. It has to do

^{*} Rom. v. 12, 14-17.

with creatures both infirm and infected with sin; and for their raising, cleansing, and recovery, the whole ministration of the Spirit by mysteries and sacraments is shed abroad. And still more: even in those who are made partakers of these gifts of peace and grace—that is, in the regenerate—there yet remains the infection of original sin. To the end of life, though never so much subdued, it lingers The most perfect saint is not sinless; this, since creation, has been the prerogative of One alone. It will be the inheritance of saints in bliss; but on earth, so long as they are in the flesh, there is in them the mystery of the fall. In some it is the spur to watchings, fastings, mortifications, prayers; it keeps them in perpetual watchfulness. God wonderfully keeping them, their footsteps never slide. These are they of whom St. John says, "Whosoever is born of God doth not commit sin; for his seed remaineth in Him; and he cannot sin, because He is born of God." And again: "He that is begotten of God keepeth Himself, and that wicked one toucheth him not."* There is, doubtless, a state in which the fallen nature, though still in us, does not shape itself into sin-a high and rare endowment, the earthly crown of those who walk with God in a perfect way. In others (and they are the greater number, even among such as may be counted holy), the sin of our nature still abides, in the form of ignorance, obliquity, passion, frailty, and the like. Though these things be not imputed to them to their condemnation; though they do not so far prevail as to break their bond of peace with their unseen Lord; yet they are imperfections which the law of the first creation would not endure; they could find no sufferance but in a dispensation of healing, and under a law of restoration. The obedience of imperfect saints, though it could

^{*} St. John iii. 9; v. 18.

in nowise bear the severity of God's judgment, yet is pleasing in His sight for Christ's sake; and their imperfections are not laid to their charge as sins. The Incarnation of the Word made flesh has laid the beginnings of a new creation, in which, until they be made perfect, the imperfect obedience and imperfect nature of His servants is accepted as well-pleasing in the sight of God. Not that the Gospel is a relaxation of the Law, or a sort of easy compromise, by which, for Christ's sake, a lower standard of obedience is accepted in full, as if it were perfect. Far from it. As the light of truth has from the beginning waxed stronger and stronger in the world, shining more and more, through the ages of patriarchs and prophets, unto the perfect day, so did both the law of righteousness and the gifts of grace expand and grow upward to the law of Christ's example and the gift of regeneration. As a law of obedience, the Gospel is higher, deeper, holier, and more peremptory, in proportion as the grace of the Gospel is mightier and more abundant. It is not of types and shadows that St. John speaks, when he says, "the darkness is past, and the true light now shineth;" but of the gift of righteousness, and of the law of love. Except the righteousness of a Christian exceed the righteousness of Gentile and of Jew, it will go hard with him in the day of judgment. "To whom much is given, of him shall much be required." The grace of regeneration and of the holy eucharist has not been given to Christians that they should live less humbly in obedience and fear than the Jews. As they have greater gifts, blessings, and endowments, so have they higher laws, more searching precepts, more perfect counsels of devotion. Thus much is said by the way, lest in what has been expressed, anything should seem by the farthest consequence to detract from the sanctity of the Gospel as a law

of life. As a law of obedience, it is a transcript of Christ's perfection; but as a ministry of grace, it is full of healing and of divine compassion. It is a dispensation of forgive ness; and the very spirit and life of it is in this precept of our Master: "I say not unto thee, Until seven times: but, Until seventy times seven."

Let us now take some particular cases to which this truth is directly applicable.

1. And, first, of those who fall into sin after baptism. In one sense this all men do; even those I have spoken of before, in whom the virtual presence of sin seems to us never to become actual; even they have all sinned. am not speaking of these, nor, indeed, of any whose life has been such as to keep unbroken the relation of peace and forgiveness between them and their Lord. We have now to deal with the case of those who after baptism fall into sins which forfeit the favor and countenance of God. dealing with these persons there have been two extremes: one is that of the Novatian heretics of old, who denied that there was to such any place for repentance; the other in these days, of those who treat sin after baptism as lightly as sin before it. Both these errors are a dishonor to our blessed Master: the one to His compassion, the other to His sanctity. It cannot, for a moment, be denied, that sin done in spite of the grace of baptism, and of the light of the Spirit is far guiltier than the sins of any unbaptised man can be. We cannot say what wound it may inflict upon the soul, what it may forfeit in the kingdom of life, into how great peril it may bring us of the second death. Nevertheless, we were baptised into a state of repentance; we were thereby made partakers of the healing and perpetual restoration of the Gospel; we were put into a living relation

to the Redeemer, in which there is the law and the grace of repentance for all sinners. We were regenerated that we might be penitents: not, indeed, that we should lav up new matter for repentance—there is no need of that, God knoweth; but that we should repent all our days of the fallen nature which by our birth-sin is within us. And this regeneration contains in it also the grace of repentance for those who fall again, and after their fall turn to Him for pardon. The grace of baptism, which should have been unto holiness, if resisted and baffled, may still become the grace of repentance. It is the plank of escape after shipwreck, perilous but sufficient, if clung to with a fast hold and a steady heart. So far, then, is sin after baptism from being excluded from forgiveness, that it is baptism that lays the foundation both of grace and promise to the repenting Christian.

2. Again: there is a darker case than that of those who have sinned after baptism: I mean, of those who have sinned after repentance. So deep and lasting is the hurt done to the spiritual nature of man by sin, that even after it is repented of, it still soils and weakens his heart, and for this reason so many who have become penitent of their past sins are again drawn into relapses. The same outward solicitations, after a while, address themselves with subtil allurements and sudden returns to the same surviving passions; and there are few penitents who have not been more than once retaken in the same snares, after they have begun to break them. There is no need to say that this is a dangerous condition. Such a man grieves not only the Spirit of regeneration, but the Spirit of repentance; he lessens the force and power of warnings and convictions, fears and hopes, upon his conscience and heart. So much

of the discipline of salvation has been tried upon him in vain; his after backsliding seems to betray the falsehood of his seeming repentance.

3. And once more: there is still a more fearful case even than these, namely, that of a Christian who sins after a course and habit of religion. We deceive ourselves by thinking that none turn aside into after sins but those whose profession of repentance and of religion has been insincere. It is most certain, however, that people of a sincere but shallow or secure habit of mind do fall by the strength and suddenness of temptation, and by their own want of watchfulness and mortification of heart. Sins which they would never believe themselves capable of committing, they sometimes wake up and find that they have indeed committed. For all such men Satan lays cunning snares: he knows what baits have most allurements for them; and he dresses up his temptations with his own stolen light, making them seem all fair and akin to God's service. He knows how to open pitfalls in all lawful and in all holy places-in our homes, in our chambers, in church, at the very altar; and many whose religion is sincere but frail, fall heavily, and and with high provocation of the Divine longsuffering. In such men, so enlightened, so familiar with holy things, so aware of temptation, evil thoughts, unhallowed motions, dishonest casuistry, cheatings of conscience, evasions of light, deafness to warning, wilfulness, trifling with the preliminaries of temptation, and the like, have intenser spiritual evil than the ruder and broader disobedience of less practised and instructed minds. There is something very awful in the reiterated commission of any sin long known, professedly repented of, and habitually prayed against. If sin after baptism, or sin after repentance, be a provocation, what is sin against the light of many years and the realities

of a mature probation? In such persons, year by year sin becomes more exceeding sinful; though their greater sins be forsaken, yet the less become more guilty; though they be less frequent, yet each one outweighs a multitude of sins done in the days of weakness and of twilight.

Still even for all these there is mercy. There is unspeakable consolation for them in the words, "not until seven times, but until seventy times seven;" "if he trespass against thee seven times in a day, and seven times in a day turn again to thee, saying, I repent; thou shalt forgive him." What else remains to us but this alone? and what does this teach us, but that no provocations, no reiterations of disobedience, how often soever committed, even between the sunrise and the sunset, shall shut out the true penitent from pardon? This is the one and only condition: "if he turn to thee, saying, I repent." There is no limitation in the covenant of God, no tale of sins fixed by number, no measure of duration or of frequency registered in heaven. If only the sinner repent—this is the one and only necessary condition; the longsuffering and compassion of the Son of God are inexhaustible. If any sinner be lost, he will be lost through his own impenitence.

Let us, then, fear to lose time in turning to Him. Delay hardens men's hearts. "Kiss the Son, lest He be angry, and so ye perish from the right way, if his wrath be kindled, yea, but a little."* Let us, when through our great frailty we sin against Him, go to Him straightway, and cast ourselves at His feet, and put our mouth in the dust; let us confess all we have done, with all its aggravations, leaving nothing for the accuser to add against us. Morning and night let us lay ourselves open before our forgiving and pitiful Lord. When we have fallen into any

definite and particular sin, let us record on our knees before Him our solemn resolution to avoid with all watchfulness, all the preambles and invitations by which we have been betrayed to it. Let us lay the rod upon ourselves, praying Him to spare us. Let us ask of Him not forgiveness alone. but bitterness and brokenness of heart, perpetual compunction, shame at our ingratitude, trembling and awe at our rashness in sinning against Him, the brightness of whose Presence would smite our whole being into dust and ashes. Blessed truth, that with Him is forgiveness seven times a day! for seven times a day do we commit greater sins than lost the paradise of God. "How then can man be justified with God? or how can he be clean that is born of a woman? Behold even to the moon, and it shineth not; yea, the stars are not pure in His sight. How much less man, that is a worm? and the son of man, which is a worm?"*

* Job. xxv. 4-6.

SERMON XX.

THE GENTLENESS OF CHRIST.

Isaiah xliii. 3.

"A bruised reed shall He not break, and the smoking flax shall He not quench."

In this prophecy Isaiah foretells the gentleness of Christ. St. Matthew quotes it when he is recording the longsuffering of our Lord with the Pharisees. He had healed the man with the withered hand on the Sabbath day: the Pharisees lay in wait to entangle Him by questions; and when He had baffled them, they "went out, and held a council against Him, that they might destroy Him. But when Jesus knew it, He withdrew Himself from thence: and great multitudes followed Him, and He healed them all; and charged them that they should not make Him known." This He enjoined, it seems, lest the Pharisees should be goaded and provoked, by the unwelcome proofs of His divine power, into precipitate acts against Him. For their sakes He would have concealed Himself; lest, by contending with Him, they should destroy themselves. His whole ministry was full of the like gentle and tender forbearance,

"That it might be fulfilled which was spoken by Esaias the prophet, saying, Behold My Servant, whom I have chosen; My Beloved, in whom My soul is well pleased; I will put My Spirit upon Him, and He shall show judgment to the Gentiles. He shall not strive, nor cry; neither shall any man hear His voice in the streets." His ministry was not a public disputation, with clamor and popular applause, with factions in the city, and a following of people. It was silent and penetrating, "as the light that goeth forth;"* spreading every where with resistless power, and yet from a source often withdrawn from sight. "A bruised reed shall He not break, and smoking flax shall He not quench;"t which seems to say, so light and soft shall be His touch, that the reed which is nearly asunder shall not be broken down, and the flax which has only not left off to smoke shall not be put out. A most beautiful parable of tenderness, of which Moses, the meekest of men, was a type, when he said in the Spirit: "My doctrine shall drop as the rain, my speech shall distil as the dew, as the small rain upon the tender herb, and as the showers upon the grass;"‡ and of which the Psalmist prophesied when he said, "He shall come down like the rain upon the mown grass: as showers that water the earth. In His days shall the righteous flourish; and abundance of peace so long as the moon endureth." The same was foretold by Isaiah: "Behold, a king shall reign in righteousness, and princes shall rule in judgment. And a man shall be as an hiding place from the wind, and a covert from the tempest; as rivers of water in a dry place, as the shadow of a great rock in a weary land." It was in His gentleness, His

^{*} Hosea vi. 5. † St. Matt. xii. 14-20. ‡ Deut. xxxii. 2

[§] Psalm lxxii. 6,7. || Isaiah xxxii. 1, 2.

tender compassion, His longsuffering and patient endurance of sinners, that these prophecies were fulfilled.

Let us first take such examples as are recorded in holy Scripture; and then draw, from this view of our blessed Lord's character, the instruction which is implied in His perfect gentleness to sinners.

We see it, then, in all His dealing with His disciples. Wheresoever there were the first faint stirrings of faith or love. He cherished and sheltered them with tender care. In His teaching He led them on little by little, line upon line, drawing them first to familiar converse with Himself; not upbraiding their slowness; not severely rebuking their faults. When James and John would have brought fire from heaven, He said only, "Ye know not what manner of spirit ye are of."* To Philip, when he blindly asked to see the Father, "Have I been so long time with you, and yet hast thou not known Me, Philip?"† And when He detected their ambitious contests which should be the greatest, "being in the house He asked them, What was it that ye disputed among yourselves by the way?"t Even at the last supper He said, "I have many things to say unto you, but ye cannot bear them now:" and to St. Thomas, after his vehement unbelief, "Reach hither thy finger, and behold My hands; and reach hither thy hand, and thrust it into My side: and be not faithless, but believing." And to St. Peter, in chastisement for his three open denials, He said thrice, as in a doubting, melancholy tenderness, "Simon, son of Jonas, lovest thou Me?"

And so in like manner to all the people. It was to the whole multitude He said: "Come unto Me, all ye that

^{*} St. Luke ix. 55. † St. John xiv. 9. † St. Mark ix. 33, 34.

[§] St. John xx. 27. || St. John xxi. 15-17.

labor and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest. Take My yoke upon you, and learn of Me; for I am meek and lowly in heart: and ye shall find rest unto your souls. For My yoke is easy, and My burden is light."* He permitted so near an access to all men, that it was turned to His reproach. He was "a friend of publicans and sinners." "This man receiveth sinners, and eateth with them." Again, we read: "One of the Pharisees desired Him that He would eat with him. And He went into the Pharisee's house, and sat down to meat. And, behold, a woman in the city, which was a sinner, when she knew that Jesus sat at meat in the Pharisee's house, brought an alabaster box of ointment, and stood at His feet behind Him weeping, and began to wash His feet with tears, and did wipe them with the hairs of her head, and kissed His feet, and anointed them with the ointment. Now when the Pharisee which had bidden Him saw it, he spake within himself, saving, This man, if he were a prophet, would have known who and what manner of woman this is that toucheth him: for she is a sinner. And Jesus answering said unto him, Simon, I have somewhat to say unto thee. And he saith, Master, say on. There was a certain creditor which had two debtors: the one owed five hundred pence, and the other fifty. And when they Lad nothing to pay, he frankly forgave them both. Tell me therefore, which of them will love him most? Simon answered and said, I suppose that he to whom he forgave most. And He said unto him, Thou hast rightly judged. And He turned to the woman, and said unto Simon, Seest thou this woman? I entered into thine house, thou gavest Me no water for My feet: but she hath washed My feet with tears, and wiped them with the hairs of her head. Thou gavest Me no kiss: but this

^{*} St. Matt. xi. 28-30.

woman since the time I came in hath not ceased to kiss My feet. My head with oil thou didst not anoint: but this woman hath anointed My feet with ointment. Wherefore I say unto thee, Her sins, which are many, are forgiven; for she loved much: but to whom little is forgiven, the same loveth little. And He said unto her, Thy sins are forgiven."* And once more: "The Scribes and Pharisees brought unto Him a woman taken in adultery; and when they had set her in the midst, they say unto Him, Master, this woman was taken in adultery, in the very act. Now Moses in the law commanded us, that such should be stoned: but what sayest Thou? This they said, tempting Him, that they might have to accuse Him. But Jesus stooped down, and with His finger wrote on the ground, as though He heard them not. So when they continued asking Him, He lifted up Himself, and said unto them, He that is without sin among you, let him first cast a stone at her. And again He stooped down, and wrote on the ground. And they which heard it, being convicted by their own conscience, went out one by one, beginning at the eldest, even unto the last: and Jesus was left alone, and the woman standing in the midst. When Jesus had lifted up Himself, and saw none but the woman, He said unto her, Woman, where are those thine accusers? hath no man condemned thee? She said, No man, Lord. And Jesus said unto her, Neither do I condemn thee: go, and sin no more."t

Now it is obvious that the source of this perfect tenderness to sinners is none other than the Divine compassion. It was the love and pity of the Word made flesh. It teaches us, however, some great truths, full of instruction, which we will now consider.

^{*} St. Luke vii. 36-48.

1. First, it is plain that this gentle reception, even of the greatest sinners, implies that where there is so much as a spark of life in the conscience, there is possibility of an entire conversion to God. Where there is room to hope any thing, there is room to hope all things. The greatest of sinners may become, we dare not say how great a saint. Such is the nature of sin, and of the human soul, and of all its energies and actings; such, also, the virtue of the blood of Christ; and such the power of the Holy Ghost, that be the sinner what he may, he may be purged and made white with the purification of the saints. I am speaking not of what is easy, or common, but of what is possible, and, by true conversion to God, pledged and sure: neither am I saying that there shall not be some difference between what such converted sinners will be, compared with what they might have been; but this is certain, that "though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool."* Such is the mysterious nature of the human spirit, of its affections and will, such its energies and intensity, that it may, at any time, be so renewed by the Spirit of the new creation, as to expel, with the most perfect rejection, all the powers, qualities, visions, and thoughts of evil. We know so little of spiritual natures, that we are compelled to use metaphors; and often our illustrations become our snares, and we turn them into arguments, and reason from visible things to the inscrutable conditions of our spiritual being. For instance, we speak of the stains of sin, the soils of lust, the scars and wounds made by transgression in the soul: and it is true that what stains, soils, scars, wounds, are to the body, such are lusts, in deed, desire, and thought, to the soul. But we cannot therefore say that

the spiritual nature is not susceptible of a healing and purgation which is absolutely perfect, to which the cleansing or health of the body is no true analogy. For instance, the very life of sin is the will. By sin it is a corrupt and unclean will; by conversion it becomes cleansed and pure. So long as it is here subjected to the action of the flesh, it is imperfect; but when disembodied, what shall hinder its being as pure as if it had never sinned? What is the substance of the will? What is sin? And in what does sin inhere but in the inclination of the will? When this is restored to perfect holiness, what effect of the fall will remain? We are greatly ignorant of all these things; but it is evident that, be we what we may, if our repentance and conversion be true, there is no height of sanctification, no approximation to the Divine Image, that we may not make in this world, and in the world to come be made sinless in the kingdom of God. And if our spiritual nature may be made sinless in the life to come, how can we limit its purification in this world? How can we say that it may not be brought out from the effects of any sin, or habit of sinning, as intensely and energetically pure as if it had never been bribed and corrupted by evil; and, moreover, sharpened with a peculiar abhorrence of the defilement from which it has been delivered? Such is the mysterious complexion of a spiritual nature, that it may, in a moment, and by an act of volition, virtually and truly anticipate an habitual condition of the soul; as, for instance, in a true death-bed repentance there is contained a life of penance and purity, though it be never here developed into act. And this may throw light on many questions; such as the condition of the heathen, and of those that are born in separation from the unity of the Church, and on the state of those who, after baptism, by falling into sin, have

resisted the grace of regeneration. Of these last, it would appear that their condition is changed for the worse, in the point of having sinned with greater guilt, and done despite to that which should have been their salvation. By consent to sin, they have made the work of repentance more difficult and doubtful. The blood of Christ, and the grace of the Holy Ghost, have yet the power of a perfect healing and purification; but repentance, which, on their side, is the condition, it is harder to fulfil. Still, wheresoever there are the lingering remains of grace, or the least beginnings of contrition, there is hope of a perfect repentance, and of a perfect sanctity. It seems, then, that it was for this reason that our blessed Lord, the sinless One, suffered publicans, sinners, and harlots, and even the adulteress, to draw near to Him; because in them, under the foul gatherings of sin, which spread like a crust of leprosy upon them, and in the darkness and death of their inmost soul. He could see the faint strength of a living pulse, the dim spark of sorrow, fear, remorse, and desire to be redeemed from the bondage of the devil, and therefore the susceptibility of perfect holiness, the unextinguished capacity of an inheritance with the saints in light.

2. Another great truth implied in our Lord's conduct to sinners is, that the only sure way of fostering the beginnings of repentance is to receive them with gentleness and compassion. This is a truth which is in the mouth of more than rightly understand it. Our Lord appears to have dealt with those who came to Him in two ways. Some He received, as we have already seen, with a Divine love and pity, and some with a piercing severity. But these last were those only of whom, it seems, there was hope no longer. The reed was already broken, and the flax was quenched. "Woe unto you, Scribes and Pharisees, hypo-

crites! for ye shut up the kingdom of heaven against men: for ye neither go in yourselves, neither suffer ye them that are entering to go in. Woe unto you, Scribes and Pharisees, hypocrites! for ye devour widows' houses, and for a pretence make long prayers: therefore ve shall receive the greater damnation. Woe unto you, Scribes and Pharisees, hypocrites! for ye compass sea and land to make one proselyte, and when he is made, ye make him twofold more the child of hell than yourselves!"* These were they that had "rejected the counsel of God against themselves, not being baptised"t by John unto repentance. said unto them: "Verily I say unto you, That the publicans and the harlots go into the kingdom of God before you. For John came unto you in the way of righteousness, and ye believed him not: but the publicans and harlots believed him: and ye, when ye had seen it, repented not afterward, that ye might believe him."1

Now, that which made our Lord so change His voice was the inward state of those to whom He spoke. He saw their falsehood, guile, and hollowness; that they were white without, but all unclean within. Their whole spiritual being was estranged from Him, and set in array against His truth and holiness: they were beyond the attractions of pity, and the power of compassion. Towards these His perfect sanctity breathed a holy indignation. To be gentle was to betray the work of God, and to add boldness to their impiety. He met them as He will meet them once more, in the day of judgment; but at the time He spoke, even His denunciations were mercies; warnings of a doom still delayed; offers of pardon to those who would be converted, that He might heal them.

^{*} St. Matt. xxiii. 13-15.

¹ St. Luke vii. 30.

[‡] St. Matt. xxi. 31, 32.

But on those in whom there is the faintest stirring of repentance, the love of Christ falls with a soft but penetrating force. For there are in us, as it were, two minds, with two arrays of feelings, which are awakened and excited into act just as the tone and bearing of those who admonish us vary in their character. Impatience, irritation, self-defence, unfairness, resentment, self-approval, wilfulness, are so marshalled together, that they move all at once, and oppose themselves in one array and front against a harsh voice and a severe hand. And all these are the direct stimulants of pride and hardness; the most fatal hindrances to confession and repentance. To receive sinners coldly, or with an averted eye, an estranged heart, and a hasty unsparing tongue, will seldom fail to drive them into defiance or self-abandonment. A sinner that is out of hope is lost. Hope is the last thing left. If this be crushed, the flax is extinct. Through rough usage sinners fall into despair, and through despair into reckless contradiction of God's will, and thence into deliberate sinning, into taking pleasure in evil deeds, and, lastly, into "glorying in their shame." From this there seems no rising again: it is the nearest approach to the state of fallen angels. Such are the effects of a merciless severity; whether it arise from harshness in the reprover, or from a rigid tone of morals, and a mistaken jealousy for the glory of God. I have said that many, who little understand what they are saying, are wont to speak boldly of the tenderness wherewith sinners should be welcomed to repentance: and they show their misunderstanding in this; they confound the pure severity of compassion with personal harshness of Nothing can be more dangerous and repulsive than a harsh spirit. Truth told without love is perilous in the measure in which it is true. The promises of God,

held out without tenderness, are so offered as to turn sinners away from merey. But if anything can be more dangerous than this, it is the presumptuous way in which men give largess of God's mercy, and encourage sinners to believe themselves to be forgiven before they are penitents, or to be penitents before they have more than entered on the threshold of repentance. What can be more unreal and misleading than to press on men the belief that they are forgiven, when their whole soul cries aloud that they have not repented; or to persuade them that their sins are blotted out, if only they can bring themselves to believe so? as if self-persuasion, without contrition of heart, were a full remission of sins. What antinomianism, what superstitious reliance on forms and rites, what blind seeking to charms and divinations, can be farther than this from the forgiveness of the Gospel? Our blessed Lord, who was so tender and merciful, did not so slightly heal the wounds of those who came to Him. With ineffable compassion He spoke words of fear and warning. It was His very tenderness that gave them such a penetrating sharpness. "Except ye repent, ye shall all likewise perish." "Except ye be converted, and become as little children, ye cannot enter into the kingdom of heaven." "Strive to enter in at the strait gate: for many shall seek to enter in, and shall not be able." "Many are called, but few are chosen." "He that endureth unto the end shall be saved." "No man having put his hand to the plough, and looking back, is fit for the kingdom of heaven." "He that taketh not his cross, and followeth after Me, is not worthy of Me." And also the parables of the last judgment, and of the unprofitable servant, the wedding garment, the barren fig-tree, and the like; what do they teach us, but that conversion, and a life of repentance, and the reaching of life eternal, are awful and arduous

realities, full of danger and anxious fear? His tenderness was not to dispel the fears of penitents, but to change them into a holy and saving fear; to teach them to be afraid, not of Him, but of themselves; to trust in His tenderness as thoroughly as they mistrusted their own hearts. One great hindrance in the way of true conversion is an imperfect knowledge of His Divine character, and a mistrust of His infinite compassion. His tenderness is a thing so far above the thoughts even of saints, that it is no wonder that sinners, fallen and soiled with evil, should not be able to believe it. The mysteries of faith are not more above the understanding of men to comprehend, than the gentleness of Christ is beyond their hearts to conceive. That One so pure, so keen in His holy will, so grievously provoked by habitual disobedience, should endure the approach of sinners, is contrary to every natural suggestion of their minds. They fear to come within the range of those eyes that are "as a flame of fire." Their own consciousness of inward sinfulness makes them turn even from repentance. There is in every sinner a great burden of misery, soreness and alarm; but even these, instead of driving him to confession, make him shut himself up in a fevered and brooding fear. And it was in this peculiar wretchedness of sin that the gentleness of our Lord gave to the sinners who approached Him both solace and hope. They felt that, shrink as they must from priest and scribe, Pharisee and Sadducee, ay, and from all human eyes and human hearts, there was in Him something that no one else possessed, a softness of eye, and a gentleness of speech, a meekness of bearing, and a compassion in His touch, which drew them away from all men, and out of their very selves, to cast their whole being upon Him. It was a strange courage which came upon them; a boldness, full of trembling, yet an awe without

alarm. What little motions of good were in them, what little stirrings of conscience, what faint remainder of better resolutions, what feeble gleams of all but extinguished light—all seemed to revive, and to turn in sympathy towards some source of kindred nature, and to stretch itself out in hope to somewhat long desired, with a dim unconscious love. It was an affinity of the spirit, working in penitents, with the spirit of Christ, that made them draw to Him. Him they felt that their worst fears were quelled. were not afraid to confess their unworthiness. Him to be pitiful, and that He would bear long with them, and not cast them out, or upbraid them for their soiled and miserable state; and this opened a new future to them. It seemed to break through a prison wall; to make a breach in the thraldom of their daily round of sins, in the oppressive consciousness of guilt. They seemed to see before them a promise of peace, and a hope that one day they should be set free from the bondage of themselves. mere transitory thought that forgiveness is yet possible, that the favor of God is not for ever gone, that they may even now one day enter into bliss-all this makes the heart of the weakest to be strong, and of the hardest to melt away. And what is the very life of this hope but the tenderness of Christ, the unwearied patience, the longsuffering, and gentle pity of our Redemer? Therefore, it was not only because of His infinite compassion as God, that He so dealt with sinners; but because, knowing the nature of man, its strange depths and windings, its weakness and fears, He knew that this was the surest way of winning them to Himself.

And to come to ourselves in particular: we have, each one of us, made trial of this same gracious and tender compassion. As, for instance, in the many years between our

baptism and our repentance; for how few they are, who, after baptism, have not so fallen as to need a particular and deep repentance! For how many years the grace of our regeneration lay in us oppressed, and to all outward eves extinguished! What multitudes of early faults, premature sins, even in childhood, have most of us committed; and how soon did the whole range of evil open itself upon us; and how consentingly did we enter upon it-first in its outskirts, and, perhaps with fear; and in a little while with an habitual self-possession, until we became worldly, selfish, and fearless! What but His patience would have borne with us? What but His gentleness would have cherished our few better dispositions and holier thoughts, and fostered them into convictions of repentance? Perhaps there was nothing of God in us but a few texts of Holy Scripture, a dread of the lake that burneth with fire and brimstone, and a few prayers, said with unclean lips in the very midst of actual sins; and that even this should have been fostered by Him into the grace of illumination, of holy fear, and of devout prayer; that the small and all but stifled motions of spiritual life should be now unfolded into the reign of Christ's kingdom in our hearts-is a strange and surpassing mercy, a very miracle of patience. And again, even after bringing us to repentance, what provocations have we offered to His longsuffering! How shallow and vapid has our contrition been; at least, for how long a time was it little better than a sullen fear or a selfish remorse! And by what breaches of better resolutions, by what reservations of indulged faults, by what retractings of our expressed intentions, has our repentance been retarded! For how long a time were we two distinct characters, as distinct as if we had a twofold personality! In secret how full of confessions and protestations of abasement; and yet in the sight of the world how buoyant and self-trusting! How long did we keep back some sins still unconfessed; how full of wiles were we in extenuating them, even on our knees; how often we went back to them again; and with how little indignation at our relapses! Nevertheless He bore with all. He gave us time, and the pleadings of His Spirit, and wakened us up to see our shame, because He saw that the reed was not altogether broken.

And, once more: even in those whose repentance is far advanced there is much to call for His forbearance and compassion; as for instance, in the slow formation of their religious character. Even in those who live a religious life, what imperfections still remain, what a mixture of motives and purposes, what littleness and inconsistency, what fear of man, what worship of the world! How few can, even after their conversion to God, resist impressions from without, as from the maxims, examples, rules, tone of society! How few are steadfast against the swaying to and fro of public opinion, and are able to keep themselves from the fluctuations by which the face of the Church is disturbed! And well were it if only these greater things moved us: most men are at the mercy of much less active and powerful causes. For the remainders of old tempers, such as pride, anger, self-will, are still within them, and make them susceptible of manifold temptations. acquiesce in a low standard of devotion, and weaken themselves by yielding to the weaker practice of others; and all this produces a wavering ambiguous life, which is neither worldly nor devout, having the beginning of better things, but in a hindered and obstructed state. Such people often settle down into a languid and lukewarm habit, which must be a slight of peculiar point and emphasis to

Him who, for their redemption, died in agony. The tardy, wavering, inconstant, and often retrograde movement of our religious life must be highly displeasing in His sight. And that we are spared and still aided by His grace, by His truth and Spirit, and by His special providence, is a signal proof of His changeless compassion, and patient endurance even of sinful infirmities. Only let us compare ourselves with His dealings towards us. Let us see what we are by the side of what we might have been, if the grace of our baptism, and the lessons of our childhood, the humiliation and discipline of our repentance, had taken its full effect, and had wrought their perfect work. Let us compare what we do with what we know, what we know with what He has taught us, what we pray for with what we really desire. How laggard and half-hearted is our religion at its best estate! How full of dark spots and deep hollows is the brightest and fairest character! How much do we provoke and try His pity; ever going back, swerving aside, doing great things weakly, and high things feebly, and holy things coldly! "If Thou, Lord, shouldst be extreme to mark what is done amiss, O Lord, who should abide it? But there is mercy with Thee, therefore shalt Thou be feared."

And one more example we may take, in His dealing with those that are tried by affliction, by loss of those they love, or by sickness, anxieties, disappointments. All these things are in His hand; and He lays them on, not all at once, but little by little, to prepare us for greater trials. We never have more than we can bear. The present hour we are always able to endure. As our day, so is our strength. If the trials of many years were gathered into one, they would overwhelm us; therefore, in pity to our little strength, He sends first one, then another, then removes

both, and lays on a third, heavier, perhaps, than either; but all is so wisely measured to our strength, that the bruised reed is never broken. We do not enough look at our trials in this continuous and successive view. Each one is sent to teach us something, and altogether they have a lesson which is beyond the power of any to teach alone. But if they came together, we should break down, and learn nothing. The smoking flax would be put out; and we should be crushed "into the dust of death."

And now to conclude: how great a consolation there is in this Divine tenderness of our Lord! How it bids good cheer to those who have at last begun to amend their lives, but are sorely burdened, and at times tempted to give up for lost! Be your beginning never so late, yet if it be true, all shall one day be well. It is a word of cheer to us all. Alas for us, if He were soon wearied out as we are, soon provoked, ready to upbraid, sharp in the strokes of His hand; where should we have been long ago? What in His sight is the whole Church under heaven, but a bruised reed, and weak; a smoking flax, smouldering, struggling, ready to expire? Even in its best estate, in its first love, in the fervor of its first conversion, it is little more. And what is it now? The age of prophets, apostles, martyrs, is past; and for the saints, they seem few and hidden. The Church is bruised by schisms; her strength bowed down from its ancient stateliness, to droop along upon the earth; her lights are scattered and dim; here and there they shine out feebly and alone, as if to say that the flax is not wholly quenched. Where is now the strength and fervor of other days? Where are the penitents, and the mourners, and the prostrate? Where are the companies of those who chastened themselves with fasting, and were strong in spirit, following in the path of the Cross? Where

are they that forsook home, and all that they had, to live as strangers, for the love of the heavenly country? Where are now the pure, and the meek, the holy and humble men of heart, the devoted, and the gifted? Surely the days are already come, when, because iniquity abounds, the love of many hath waxed cold; and truth is perishing, in preparation for that day of which the Lord asked, "When the Son of Man cometh, shall He find faith on the earth?"

END OF VOLUME II.

PRINTED BY JOHN B. M'GOWN

106 Fulton-street.



Α

CATALOGUE

OF

THEOLOGICAL WORKS,

EMBRACING

ACOLLECTION

OF

RARE AND VALUABLE AUTHORS

IN THE DEPARTMENTS OF

POLEMICAL AND PRACTICAL DIVINITY, COMMENTARIES ON THE HOLY SCRIPTURES, AND ON THE LITURGY OF THE CHURCH;
MANY OF WHICH HAVE BEEN RECENTLY IMPORTED.

INCLUDING

THE CHIEF WORKS

OF THE

DIVINES OF THE CHURCH OF ENGLAND AND AMERICA.

FOR SALE AT THE PRICES AFFIXED,

BY STANFORD AND SWORDS,

137, BROADWAY, NEW-YORK.

1851.

The Subscribers respectfully solicit orders for any of the Works embraced in this Catalogue, which will be promptly executed, and the terms of payment made satisfactory. They would also acquaint the Clergy and others, that having facilities in London, they are enabled to execute orders for such Books as are not to be procured in this country, with prompine s and on the most favorable terms.

S. & S. keep constantly on hand a full supply of the exford and london editions of the holy fible, from the largest imperial folio, to the smallest sizes—a portion of which being in sheets, can be bound to order.

Various editions of the book of common prayer, in folio, quarto, octavo, and the lesser sizes, in every variety of paper and binding constantly on hand, and will be furnished at as low a price as at any similar establishment in the country. They would especially invite attention to their new editions for the Desk, which for beauty of type and paper are unequaled. They may be had bound in various styles to suit either the Desk or Lectern, in 4to or folio.

An excellent edition of the 18mo, prayer book, well printed and durably bound, furnished to Secieties and others at \$20 per one hundred copies.

They have also a minor catalogue comprising a list of about 700 volumes, suitable for Parish and Family Libraries, which may be had on application

Sun lay School Libraries furnished at the lowest prices.

STANFORD AND SWORDS.

New-York, Sept., 1851.

THEOLOGICAL CATALOGUE.

1	ABBADIE, Dr. James, on the Divi-			Another copy, half calf, \$1, Edinburgh,	1806
_	nity, 12mo., 75c. London,	1802	24	ADDISON'S Evidences of the Chris-	
2	——————————————————————————————————————	1910		tian Religion, with Notes of the	
2	phecy, 63c. Loudon, ABBOTT'S Scripture Natural Histo-	1040		learned De Correvon, edited by Dr. Purdy, fine calf, \$1,50, London,	1807
o	ry, 75c. Boston,	1833	95	ADVICE to a Young Christian, 38c.	1001
4	Corner Stone, 75c. do.	1834	. 20	New-York,	1844
5	Notes on the New Testa-		26	AFFLICTED Man's Companion, 31c.	
	ment, 12mo., \$1,25, Boston,	1842		Philadelphia,	1815
6	- Way to do Good, 75c.		27	AFFLICTED'S Refuge, The, 50c.	
	Boston,	1836		Edinburgh,	1840
7	Young Christian, 75c.	1005	28	AFRICAN MISSIONS, History of,	
_	London,			by Mrs. Hening, 12mo., 75c.	1010
	Teacher, 75c. do.	1834	20	New-York,	1849
9	ABBOTT, Rev. Jas, History of the Roman and English Hierarchies, \$2		29	AIDS to Reflection, by Coleridge, with	
	London,	1833		a Preliminary Essay, by Rev. Dr. M'Vickar, 12mo., 75c. New-York,	1849
10	ABEEL, Rev. David, Memoir of, 50c.	.000	30	AINSWORTH, Robert, Latin and	1013
	New-York,	1849		English Dictionary, 2 vols., quarto,	
11	ABERCROMBIE, Rev. J., D. D., Lec-			\$2,50, London,	1736
	tures on the Church Catechism, 75c.		31	ALEXANDER on the Canon of Scrip-	
	Philadelphia,	1811	!	ture, 75c. Princeton,	1826
12	John, M. D., Mis-	3045	32	Evidences, &c., of	
10	cellaneous Essays, \$1,50, Edinburgh,	1847		Scripture, 75c. Princeton,	1826
15	ABERNETHY'S Sermons, 4 vols., 8vo., \$4. London,	17.19	55	Joseph Addison, On	
1.1	8vo., \$4, London, ADAM'S, Rev. Thomas, Exposition of	1,40		the Early Prophecies of Isaiah, 8vo., \$3, New-York,	1910
1.1	the Four Gospels, edited by the		34	8vo., \$3, New-York, On the Latter Pro-	1040
	Rev. A. Westoby, with a Memoir,		01	phecies of Isaiah, 8vo., \$2,50, N. Y.,	1847
	2 vols., \$5, London,	1837	35	ALLEN, Thos., A Chain of Scrip-	
15	Three Divine Sisters, 12mo.			ture Chronology from the Creation	
	\$1, London,	1847		to the Death of Christ, 4to., \$1,50,	
16	Exposition of St. Matthew,	1000		London,	1659
3 47	8vo., \$1,50, London,	1822	36	Practice of a Holy Life,	1510
1 (On St. Peter, imp. 8vo., London.	1919	0 4	Svo., \$1, London, ALLEN, Samuel J., Defence of the	1716
18	On Romans, 75c. Bath,		01	Church, 8vo., \$2,50, London,	1924
19	Private Thoughts on Reli-	1000	38		1830
	gion, 30c. London,	1840		ALLESTRY, Dr. R., Sermons, &c.,	1000
20	ADAM, Rev. M. T., on the Millenium,			folio, \$4, London,	1684
	63c. New-York,	1837	40	ALLEY, Jerome, Vindicæ Christianæ,	
21	ADDINGTON, Stephen, D. D., on			Svo., \$2, London,	1826
0.2	Baptism, \$1, London,	1771	41		1672
22	ADDISON, Joseph, Evidences of the		42	ALLIENE'S Alarm to the Uncon-	1000
	Christian Religion, with additional Discourses, fine calf copy, \$1,25,		19	verted, 50c. New-York,	1223
	London,	1807	49	Life and Letters, 50c. New-York,	1840
	250,000,	- 50 • 1		1.0W-10IK,	. 0.10

4	THEOLOG	ICAL	CATALOGUE.
44	ALLINE, Henry, D. D., The Two Mites, 50c. Dover,	1804	Overall, Bishop, Convocation Book, \$2.50.
45	ALLISON'S Sermons, 8vo., \$1,50, Edinburgh,		Thorndike's Works, 2 vols., \$7.50. Wilson, Bishop, Works, by Keble,
46	1. 01		Vol. II. and III., \$6. 64 ANGLO-SAXON COURSE OF
47	ALLIX, Reflections on the Scripture, \$2, London,	1688	STUDY: A Compendious Anglo-Saxon and
	ALMOST Christian, by Mead, 50c. New-York,	1849	English Dictionary, by the Rev. Joseph Bosworth, D. D., F. R. S.,
	ALTAR, Steps to the, A Manual for the Blessed Eucharist, 25c. N. Y.,	1849	&c., &c., 1 vol., 8vo., cloth, \$3. A Grammar of the Anglo-Saxen
	AMBROSE, Rev. J., Looking unto Jesus, &c., \$2, Pittsburgh,	1832	Language, by Louis F. Klip-tein, A. M., LL. M., and Ph. D., of the
	AMERICAN Church, Wilberforce's Account of, \$1, New-York, AMES, William, on Conscience, small	1850	University of Giessen, 12mo., cloth, \$1,25.
	4to., \$1.75, London, ANDERSON, Christopher, Annals of	1639	Tha Halgan Godspel on Englise, the Auglo-Saxon Version of the Holy Gospels, edited by Benja-
54	the English Bible, 8vo., \$1,75, N. Y.	1849	min Thorpe, F. S. A., reprinted by the same, 12mo, cloth, \$1.25.
01	the Church in the Colonies, 2 vols., \$4.50, London,	1849	Analecta Anglo-Saxonica, with an In roductory Ethnological Essay,
55	ANDERSON, Rev. Robt., The Lord's Prayer, A Manual of Religious		and Notes, Critical and Explana- tory, by Louis F. Klipstein, A. M.,
56	Knowledge, (Burns,) 63c. London, ANDREWES, Bp., Private Prayers,	1841	LL M, and Ph. D. of the University of Giessen, 2 vols., 1200
	edited by Dean Stanhope, 8vo., \$1, London,	1730	pages, \$3,50. Natale Sancti Gregorii Papæ, El-
57	Archdeacon Daubeny, \$2, London,	1821	frie's Homily on the Birthday of St. Gregory, and Collateral Ex-
58	tion, 50e. New-York,	1850	tracts from King Alfred's Version of Bede's Ecclesiastical History and the Sayon Chronicle
59 60	new edition, 4 vols., \$10, Oxford, Sermons on the Pas-	1841	tory and the Saxon Chronicle, with a full Rendering into Eng- lish, Notes Critical and Explana-
61	sion, 38c. New-York, Devotions, various edit.	1847	tory, and an Index of Stems and Forms, by Louis F. Klipstein,
	ANECDOTES Illustrative of the Character of Christian Ministers in the		A. M., LL. M., and Ph. D., of the University of Giessen, 12mo., 50c.
	United States, by Bclcher, 12mo., \$1, Philadelphia,	1849	A Glossary to the Analecta Anglo- Saxonica, with the Indo-Germanic
63	ANGLO-CATHOLIC THEOLOGY, Library of, 8vo., viz:		and other Affinities of the Lan- guage, by Louis F. Klipstein,
	Audrewes, Bp., Sermons, vol. 1-5, \$14. ———————————————————————————————————		A. M., LL. M., and Ph. D., of the University of Giessen. <i>In pre-paration</i> .
	Beveridge, Bp., Works, 9 vols., \$20. Bramball, Archbishop, Works, 4		65 ANNALS of Scottish Episcopacy, by Bishop Skinner, \$3.50, Edinburgh, 1813
	vols., \$9. Bull, Bp., on Justification, 2 vols.,		66 ———————————————————————————————————
	\$4,50. Cosins, Bp., Works, 2 vols., \$1,75.		67 — — of the Poor, by the Rev. Legh Richmond, 50c. New-York, 1849
	Crakenthorpe's Defensio Ecclesiæ Anglicanæ, \$3,25. Gunning on the Pascal, or Lent		ANNE, Queen, Memoirs of the Four Last Years of Her Reign, by Bishop Gibson, \$1, London, 1729
	Fast, 8vo., \$2,75. Hammond's Practical Catechism,		68 ANNOTATIONS of the Celebrated Assembly of Divines, folio, \$6,50,
	\$3,25. Hickes' Two Treatises, 2 vols., \$5. Johnson's Works, 2 vols., \$6.		69 ANTIENT Christianity, by Professor Taylor, complete edition, 2 vols.,
	Land, Archbishop, Works, Vol. I., \$2,50.		8vo., \$1, London, 1844 70 ————— Christianity, by the same,
	Marshall's Penitential Discipline, 1 vol., \$2.		\$1, Philadelphia, 1840 71 — Liturgy of the Church of
	Nicholson, Bp., on the Catechism, \$2.	1	England, according to the uses of

Surum, Burgor, York, and Hereford, e lited by Maskell, 8vo., \$3,	as professed by a daughter of the Church of England, 8vo., \$1,
Pickering, 1814 . 72 ANTIENT History, by Elward Farr,	London, 1705 97 AUTHENTICITY and Inspiration of
4 vols., \$2, New-York, 1850 73 ————————————————————————————————————	the Bible, \$1, New-York, 1846 98 AWAKE Thou Sleeper, a Series of
Church Building, 75c. London, 1841	Discourses, by the late Rev. John
74 ANTHON, Rev. H. mry, D. D., The Caurchman Warned, 25c. N. Y., 1843	A. Clark, D. D., 75c. New-York, 1848 99 AVRILLON, A Guide for passing
75 — Annals of St. Murk's	Advent Holity, edited by Dr. Pu-
Charch, New-York, 25c. New-York, 1845 76 APJALYPSE of S. John, or Pro-	sey, \$2.25, London, 1844 100 ——————————————————————————————————
phecy applied to the Charch of Rome, &c., &c., by the Rev. George	Lant Holily, edited by Dr. Pusey, \$2,25 London, 1844
Croty, D. D., \$2,50, London, 1828	101 — The Year of Affection,
77 APOCRYPHA, with Notes of Mant & D Oyly, and Bishop Hobart, 4.0., \$1,	drawn from the Canticles, \$2, do. 1845 102 BABYLON and Persepolis, by Rich,
New-York, 1825	8vo., \$3, London, 1839
78 APOSTOLIC Fathers, The Gennine Epistles of by Archbishop Wake,	103 BACON, John and Cadogen, Memoirs of, by Rev. Richard Cecil, 12mo.,
new e lition, \$1.50, New-York, 1850 79 APOSTOLIC Fathers, and John	63c. London, 1822 104 BAGSTER'S Polyglott New Testa-
Am It's Pure Christianity, edited	ment, in French, Italian, Spanish,
by John Westley, \$I, London, 1815 89 APPLETONS Works, 2 vols., 8vo.,	and German, 4to., \$4,50, London, 1823
\$1. Andover, 1837 81 AQUINAS, Thomas, Commentary on	Scriptures published by Bagster. 105 BAILEY, Rev. Henry Ives, the Li-
the Four Gospels, from the Works	turgy Compared with the Bible,
of the Fathers, translated from the Cafena Aurea, 4 vols., 8vo., \$20,	\$1 50, London, 1848 106 BAIRD, Rev. Dr., Religion in Ame-
Oxford, 1848 82 ARCHITECTURE, A History of,	rica, including a View of the Va- rious Denominations in America,
from the Earliest Times, its Present	75c. New-York, 1845
Condition in Europe and America, with Sketches of Eminent Archi-	107 ——— Protestantism in Italy, with an Account of the Waldenses,
tess, large 8vo., numerous plates, by Tathill, \$3.50, Philad lphia, 1848	12mo., \$1,25, Boston, 1847 108 BAKER, Sir Richard, a Chronicle of
83 - Essay on Gothic,	the Kings of England to the Death
br Moller, 8vo., \$1,50, London, 1824 84 ARCHITECTURAL Director, a most	of King James, relating to Church and State, folio, §4, London, 1674
ex ensive work, touching every point,	109 BAMPTON, Lectures, by Holmes,
full of designs, &c., &c., 8vo., \$4. London, 1848	110 The same for 1816, by
85 ARMINIUS, Rev. James, D. D. Me- moir of, by Rev. Nathan Burgs,	Bp. Heber, \$2,75, Oxford, 1816 111 BANDINEL, James, Sermons, 8vo.,
D. D., 50c. New-York, 1814	\$2, Oxford, 1780
86 ARNOLD, Rev. Thomas, D. D. Life and Correspondence, \$1,50, N. York, 1846	or the Free Christian Baptism, by
87 ————————————————————————————————————	James Kelly, 63c. London, no date. 113 BAPTISMAL Fonts, Illustrations of,
th · Apocrypha, folio, \$3, Lou Ion, 1714	by F. A. Paley, 8vo., numerous plates, \$4,50, London, 1845
89 ATALYASIUS, St., Select Trentises, \$259, Oxford, 1842	114 BAPTISTS, Abridgment of David
90 — Opera Omnia Lati- næ folio, \$4.50, Paris, 1520	Benedict's History of, 12mo., 75c. Buston, 1820
91 ATTERBURYS Sermons, 4 vols. in	115 BAPTISTERY, The, 2 vols., 8vo.,
2, 8vo., \$3,50, London, 1734 92 ————————————————————————————————————	\$5, Oxford, 1842 116 BARCLAY, Robert, Apology for the
8vo., old ealf gilt, \$4, London, 1734 93 AUGUSTINE, St., Confessions of,	Q mkers, 8vo., \$1. London, 1701 117 BARNES, Rev. Albert, Notes on the
(L'b: Fathers,) \$2.50, Oxford, 1838	Four Gospels, 2 vols., \$150, N. Y., 1843
91 — St., Confessions of, 75c. Boston, 1844	118 — Notes on the Ephesians, Colossians, and Philippians, 75c.
95 AURICULAR Confession, a Discourse Concerning, 4to., \$1.50, London, 1648	New-York, 1845 119 — Notes on Thessalonians,
96 AUSTIN, Mrs., Christian Religion,	Timothy, and Titus, 75c. N. Y., 1841

120 BARNES, Notes on the Acts, 75c.		149	Another copy, 75e.	
New-York,		150	BAXTER, Saints' Rest and Call to	
121 — Notes on Romans, 75e. do. 122 — Notes on First Corinthi-	1834		the Unconverted, various editions.	
122 — Notes on First Corinthi-		151	BAYLE, Peter, Commentary on Luke	
ans. 75c. New-York,	1843		xiv. 23, 2 vols., \$1,50, London, 1	.708
123 — Notes on Second Corinthi-		152	BAYNES, Rev. H. S., The Church at	
aus and Galatians, 75c. New-York,	1845		Philippi, 12mo., 75c. London, 1	834
124 Notes on Job, 2 vols., \$2,		153	BAZIN, L'Abbé, Philosophy of His-	
New-York,	1845		tory, 8vo., \$2, London, 1	829
125 — Notes on Isaiah, 3 vols.,		154	BEAN, J., Family Worship, 8vo.,	
\$5, Boston,	1845		\$1,50, London, 1	802
126 ——— Notes on Hebrews, 75c.	10.0	155	BEAN, Rev. James, Family Prayers,	002
Boston,	18.11	200	8vo., \$1,25, London, 1	\$10
127 ———— Practical Sermons, design-	1011	156		842
ed for Vacant Congregations, \$1,25,	1	157	- Christian Minister's Affection-	042
Philadelphia,	1911	10.	ate Advice to a New Married Cou-	
	1850			015
	1000	150	ple, 25e. Boston, 1	919
129 BARONH Cleraris Annalum Epito-	- 1	199	BEASLEY, Rev. F., D. D., Search of	000
me, thick folio, \$6, the best abridg-	1000	1.50	Truth, \$1,25, Philadelphia, 1	822
ment of Baronius, Coloniæ,	1602	159		
130 BARRADH, Sebas, Commentaria in			dox Faith, Trenton, 1	830
Concordium et Historiam Evange-		169	BEAUSOBRE & L'Enfant's Intro-	
licam, \$4.50, Coloniæ,	1601		duction to the Scriptures, \$1,50,	
131 BARRETT, Richard A. F., Synopsis	1		London, 1	837
of Crisicisms on the Old Testa-	}	161	BEAVEN'S Account of S. Irenæus,	
ment, 3 vols., 8vo., \$12, London,	1847		8vo., \$3, London, 1	841
132 BARROW, Rev. Isaac, D. D., Works		162	BEDDOME, Rev. Benjamin, Scr-	
of, 3 vols., 8vo., \$6,50. Edinburgh,	1842		mons, with Memoir of the Author,	
133 — Works, 3 vols., 8vo., cloth,	1		\$2, London, 1	835
\$5.50, New-York,	1845	133	BEDE, Venerable, The Ecclesiastical	
134 Works, edited by Hughes,			History of the English Nation,	
elegan copy, 7 vol., \$14.50. Lond.,	1821		\$1.50, London, 1	950
135 — Treatise on the Pope's	1	1.04	BEDELL, Rev. G. T., D. D., Memoir	.000
S ipremacy, edited by Dr. Hawks,		104		000
	1911	165	of, \$1, Philadelphia, 1	ಂಟ
	1011	100		005
136 BARTLETT, W. H., Walks about the		130	Pluladelphia, 1	855
City and Environs of Jerusalem, a		100	Ezekiel's Vision, 31c.	0 = 0
splen lid illustrated volume, \$3,	1015	10=	New-York, 1	
London,	1849	167	——————————————————————————————————————	850
137 BASHAI Fabri Sorani Thesaurus		168		850
Eruditionis Scholasticæ, 2 vols., fo-		169	Is it Well! 31c. do. 1	850
lio, 86, Frankfort,	$1769 \pm$: 170	——————————————————————————————————————	850
138 BASHRE, I am, D. D., Correspond-		171		
138 BASIRE, Lauc, D. D., Correspond-			Amusements, 31c. New-York, 1	849
ence of, \$2,50, London,	1831	172	Pay thy Vows, 31c. do. 1	849
139 BASNAGE, The History of the Jews			——— Basket of Flowers, 31c.	
from Jesus Christ to the Present			Philadelphia, 1	848
Time, translated by Thos. Taylor,		174	BEECHER, Rev. E., On Baptism, its	
A. M., folio, 89, London.	1708		Import and Modes, \$1,25, N. Y., 1	849
Exceelingly rare.		175	BELLARMINE, Cardinal, his Notes	
140 BATES, W., Spiritual Perfection, \$1,		- • •	on the Church Examined and Con-	
Loadon,	189.1		futed, \$2, London, 1	840
141 BATHER, Archileacon, Hints on the	1001		BENEDICTS History of the Bap-	010
Are of Catechizing, \$1,25, London,	1839	119	tists, abridged, 2 vols. in 1, 75c.	
142 BAUDRAND, The Abbé, On Perfec-	1040			200
	1500		Boston, 1. DENTIAM David Perfections on the	∪ندن
143 BAXTER, Richard, Select Works of,	1190	111	BENHAM, Dauiel, Reflections on the	
	1044		Genealogy of our Saviour, 4to., \$2,	200
2 vols., Svo., \$3, New-Haven,	1844		London, 1	530
144 — Walking with God, Svo.,		178	BENNETT, Rev. Benjamin, Christian	011
\$1.25, London,			Oratory, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3.50, Lond., 1	
145 — Key for Catholies, do. 146 — Call to the Unconverted,	1839	179	Another copy, 1 vol., 8vo., \$1,50, do. 1	812
146 ————— Call to the Unconverted,		180	Rev. James, D. D., Lec-	
8vo., \$1, Lon-lon.			tures on the Acts of the Apostles,	
147 — Dying Thoughts, \$1, do. 148 — Reformed Pastor, \$1,	1840		\$2,50, London, 1	847
		181	James, On the Theology	
Glasgow,	1829		of the Early Christian Church, do. 1	841
,			•	

182	BENSLEY, Benj., Henry VIII. and	212	BEVERIDGE, On Public Prayer,
	His Cotemporaries in the Reformation, 12mo., 75c. London, 181	7 213	63c. New-York, 1845 On the Ministry, 75c.
183	BENSON, Rev. George, D. D., Ser- mors, \$2, London, 174	8 214	New-York, 1845 ————————————————————————————————————
181	BERENS, Rev. Edward, The History		Amsterdam, 1697
	of the Prayer Book of the Church of England, \$1,25, Oxford, 184		BIBLE, The Holy Scriptures, faithfully and truly translated by Myles
185			Coverdale, Bishop of Exeter, in
186	New-York. 183 BERG, Joseph F., The Great Apos-	-	A. D. 1535, reprinted from the copy in the Library of the Duke of Sus-
	tacy identical with Papal Rome, 50c. Philadelphia, 184	7 216	sex, Bagster, 4to., \$9, London, 1838 A copy of Baskett's imperial
187	BERKLEY, Bishop, Minute Philo-		folio, \$6, Oxford, 1717
188	sopher, \$1, New-Haven, 180	$\begin{vmatrix} 3 & 217 \end{vmatrix}$	with a brief Hermeneutic and Ex-
	Wright, 2 vols., \$4, London, 184	3	egetical Commentary, by Rev. J.
189	BERRIAN, Rev. William, D. D., History of Trinity Church, New-York,		T. Hussey, D. D., 3 vols., \$12, London, 1844
190	illustrated with plates, \$2, N. Y., 181 ——————————————————————————————————	7 218	
130	\$1.50, New-York, 182	2	Thompson, Secretary to Congress, 4 vols., \$12, Philadelphia, 1808
191	nion, 50c. Holy Commu- New-York, 184	7 219	Exceedingly rare. Comprehensive Commenta-
192	———— Family Prayers, 12mo.,		ry, 6 vols., royal 8vo., \$12, Phila., 1848
193	\$1, New-York, 184 ————————————————————————————————————		Companion to the same, with best Concordance, Key, Scriptural
194	Enter into thy Closet,		Biography, &c., large 8vo., \$3,59,
195			Philadelphia, 1846 ———————————————————————————————————
196	63c. New-York, 184	5	with large additions by Bp. Gleig, 3 vols., 4to., \$12, London, 1847
	Friends, 12mo., 75c. New-York, 184	9 222	——— Commentary, by Scott, 6
197	BERRIMAN, Rev. William, D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3. Lond., 175	1	vols., 8vo., \$12; 3 vols., 8vo., \$5, Boston and New-York, 1847
198	BEST, Rev. Saml., Pietas Domestica, Prayers and Sermons, \$1,50, Lond., 184	223	Same work, 5 vols., 4to., \$20, London, 1846
199	Companion to Family Prayer,	224	Commentary, by the Rev.
200	\$1,75, London, 184 —— Parochial Sermons, \$1,25, do. 184		Matthew Henry, 6 vols., 8vo., \$10,- 50, Philadelphia, 1848
	BEVANS, Rev. James, Vindication	225	Townsend's, Arrangement
	of the Authenticity of the Narra- tives in the two first chapters of		on the Basis of Lightfoot, edited by Rev. Dr. Coit, 2 vols., royal 8vo.,
	St. Matthew and St. Luke, \$2.50, London, 182	2 226	\$5, Boston, 1839 Commentary, by Rev. Adam
202	BEVERIDGE, Bp., Fifty-nine Ser-		Clarke, 6 vols., 8vo., \$12, Balt., 1847
203	mons, 2 vols., 8vo., \$4, London, — Thesaurus Theologi-	_ 227	Paraphrase, by Patrick, Lowth,
	eus, 2 vols, \$5,50, Oxford, 184	S	Whitby & Lowman, 4 vols., 8vo., various styles, from \$9 to \$16,
204	Explained, 75c. Oxford, 184		Philadelphia, 1848
205	vols., 8vo., \$21, Oxford, 184	4 228	
206		229	Same work, 4 vols., 4to., \$11, Bost., 1812
207	XXXIX. Articles, \$2,50, Oxford, 184 ————————————————————— Sermons, 2 vols.,	7 230	Same work, in 1 vol., with large additions by Edward Robinson,
	\$3,50, London, 181	5	D. D., royal 8vo., \$4, Boston, 1847 ———————————————————————————————————
208	Christian Church, \$1,50, London, 170	9 231	edition for the Desk, rich Turkey,
209	Religion, edited by Stebbins, 2	232	extra gilt, \$30, and so down to \$18. ———————————————————————————————————
	vols., \$1,50, London, 183		a great variety, best Oxford edi-
210	Religion, 50c. Philadelphia, 179	6 233	tions, and at various prices.
211		1	all prices and in every style of
	rengion, thea rame, or, as, mond, 171	o	binding.

234 BIBLE, Harpers' Illuminated and	1 004	DUDTIA II. M
	264	BIBLIA, Vetus Testamentum, ex
Pictorial, embellished with 1600		Versione Septuaginta, edit. Lam-
Engravings, richly bound, folio,	ŀ	bertus Bos, folio, \$5, Franqueræ, 1709
\$20, New-York, 1847	265	
235 — In Arabic, 4to., \$6, London, 1811	ĺ	Van Ess, \$3,50, Liepsic, 1844
236 ——— In Welsh, thick 8vo., \$2, do. 1837	266	——— Ecclesia Polyglotta, The
237 — In French, 8vo., \$2,50, Paris, 1839 238 — In French, 12mo., \$1, N. Y., 1849 239 — La Sainte, par D'Maiten,		Sunday Lessons and Psalms in He-
928 - In French 12mg St. N. V. 1849		brew, Latin, and English, edited
10 Sainta per D'Maitan	1	
239 — La Samte, par D'haiten,	ook.	
12mo, 51, fans, 1846	267	BIBLICAL Dialogues, by Rawson, 2
240 ——— In Spanish, 8vo., \$3, N. Y., 1849 241 ——— In German, 8vo., \$3.50, do. 1848	1	vols., 12mo., \$1,50, Boston, 1822
241 — In German, 8vo., \$3,50, do. 1848	268	BICKERSTETH, Rev. Edw., Works,
949 In German 12mo \$1 do 1848		8vo., \$2,50, New-York, 1832
243 — In Dauish, 12mo., \$1. do, 1848	269	
243 — In Danish, 12mo., \$1, do. 1848 244 — In Swedish, 12mo., \$1,50, do. 1848.		including Tracts and Sermons,
245 — In Italian, \$2,75, do. 1848		
245 — In Italian, \$2,15, 40, 1046	070	
246 — In Syriae, 4to., \$5, London, 1847 217 — Pictorial Dictionary of, or a	270	
217 — Pictorial Dictionary of, or a		arranged by himself, \$1,50, Lond., 1847
Cyclopædia of Biblical Illustra-	271	A Sober Inquiry
tions, with many hundred plates,		on Christ's Reign with His Saints,
2 vols., folio, \$7,50, London, 1845		&c. &c., 50c. London, 1842
248 ——— Pictorial Illustrations of the,	272	
9 vals two \$250 Now Voils 1941	2.2	Martyrs, first collected and pub-
3 vols., 8vo., \$3,50, New-York, 1841		
249 — The Picture, edited by Rev.		li-hed in 1564 by Myles Cover-
H. Caunter, 8vo., \$3, (144 engrav-		dale, 8vo., \$2,50,
ings,) London, 1848	273	
250 — Society, History of the Ame-	1	the Holy Communion, 75c. Lond., 1848
rican, by Strickland, 8vo., \$1,75,	274	
New-York, 1849		the Baptismal Font, 50c. London, 1842
	275	
251 —— Letters, by Lucy Barton, 50c.	210	
London, 1832		edited by Rev. Dr. Balch, 75c. N. Y., 1845
252 BIBLIA Hebraica, Leusden Vander	276	
Hooght & D'Allemand, large 8vo.,	277	— Devout Communi-
\$3.50, London, 1846	1	cant, 38c. New-York, 1849
253 — Hebraica, edit. Augusti	278	
Hahn, 8vo., \$3, Liepsic, 1846		tism, \$1, Philadelphia, 1841
254 Same edition, 12mo., \$1.75, Liepsic, 1846	279	
	210	
255 Same work, reprinted in Philadel-		75e. Philadelphia, 1843
phia, 8vo., \$2,50, Philadelphia, 1849	280	
256 ———— Sacra Vulgatæ, folio, \$5,	1	Gospels, 75c. Philadelphia, 1833
256 ——— Sacra Vulgatæ, folio, \$5, Bamberg, 1693	281	Gospels, 75e. Philadelphia, 1833
Bamberg, 1693	281	Gospels, 75e. Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies.
Bamberg, 1693 257 ———— Hebraica—Latina. Monta-		Gospels, 75c. Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, Philadelphia, 1841
Bamberg, 1693 257 ————————————————————————————————————	281 282	Gospels, 75e. Philadelphia, 1833
Bamberg, 1693 257 ————————————————————————————————————	282	Gospels, 75e. Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, \$1,50, Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830
Bamberg, 1693 ———————————————————————————————————		Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, \$1,50, — Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor
Bamberg, 1693 257 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671	282	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, \$1,25,
Bamberg, 1693 ———————————————————————————————————	282 283	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies. \$1,50, — Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, \$1,25, London, 1846
Bamberg, 1693	282	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, \$1,25, London, 1846 Scripture Help,
Bamberg, 1693 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old call, very rare copy, \$12,50, Autwerp, 1671 —— Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728	282 283	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, \$1,25, London, 1846 Scripture Help,
Bamberg, 1693 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old call, very rare copy, \$12,50, Autwerp, 1671 —— Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728	282 283 284	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, \$1,50, — Philadelphia, 1841 This and Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, 81,25, London, 1846 Scripture Help, London, 1831
Bamberg, 1693 ———————————————————————————————————	282 283	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 — Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, 81,25, London, 1846 — Scripture Help, London, 1831 — Scripture Help,
Bamberg, 1693 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 —— Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731	282 283 284 285	Gospels, 75e.
257 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 258 —— Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 259 —— Gregoriana, folio, \$4, 259 —— Gregoriana, folio, \$4, 261 —— Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket	282 283 284	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, 81,25, London, 1846 Scripture Help, Loudon, 1831 Scripture Help, London, 1831 Scripture Help, London, 1844 Practical Guide to
Bamberg, 1693 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old call, very rare copy, \$12,50, Autwerp, 1671 —— Interpreti Sebas Castalionis, folio, \$4, Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 —— Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 —— Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828	282 283 284 285	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, \$1,25, London, 1846 Scripture Help, Scripture Help, \$1,75, best edition, London, 1844 Practical Guide to the Prophecies, 5th edition, \$1,50,
Bamberg, 1693 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 —— Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 Same work, 3 vols, \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 —— Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 —— Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols, beautiful edit, \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 —— Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones	282 283 284 285 286	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, \$1,50, — Philadelphia, 1841 The Prophecies of Student, The Prophecies of Student, The Practical Guide to the Prophecies, The Practical Guide to London, 1844 The Practical Guide to London, 1836 London, 1844 London, 1846 London, 1836
Bamberg, 1693 257 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 258 — Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 259 — Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi,	282 283 284 285	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1823 On the Prophecies, Pliladelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, \$1,25, London, 1846 Scripture Help, Toe. Scripture Help, \$1,75, best edition, London, 1844 Practical Guide to the Prophecies, 5th edition, \$1,50, London, 1836 London, 1836 London, 1836
257 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 258 — Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 259 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticanæ edit.	282 283 284 285 286	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, \$1,50, — Philadelphia, 1841 The Prophecies of Student, The Prophecies of Student, The Practical Guide to the Prophecies, The Practical Guide to London, 1844 The Practical Guide to London, 1836 London, 1844 London, 1846 London, 1836
Bamberg, 1693 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old call, very rare copy, \$12,50, Autwerp, 1671 258 —— Interpreti Sebas Castalionis, folio, \$4, Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 —— Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 —— Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 poeket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 —— Sucra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticame edit. collationem, \$6, Bamberg, 1693	282 283 284 285 286 287	Gospels, 75e.
Bamberg, 1693 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old call, very rare copy, \$12,50, Autwerp, 1671 258 —— Interpreti Sebas Castalionis, folio, \$4, Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 —— Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 —— Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 poeket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 —— Sucra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticame edit. collationem, \$6, Bamberg, 1693	282 283 284 285 286	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, \$1,25, London, 1846 Scripture Help, London, 1831 Scripture Help, \$1,75, best edition, London, 1844 Practical Guide to the Prophecies, 5th edition, \$1,50, London, 1836 ———————————————————————————————————
Bamberg, 1693 —— Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 —— Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 —— Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 —— Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 —— Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticame edit. collationem, \$6, Bamberg, 1693	282 283 284 285 286 287 288	Gospels, 75e.
Bamberg, 1693 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 — Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticauæ edit. collationen, \$6, Bamberg, 1693 — One of the most accurate cultions of the Vulgate.	282 283 284 285 286 287	Christ, \$2,
257 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 258 — Interpreti Sebas Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 259 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticanæ edit. collationen, \$6, Bamberg, 1693 263 — One of the most accurate colorion of the Vulgate. 263 — Vetus Testamentum Græ-	282 283 284 285 286 287 288 289	Gospels, 75e.
257 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 258 — Interpreti Sebas Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 259 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticanæ edit. collationem, \$6, Bamberg, 1693 263 — One of the most accurate editions of the Vulgate. 263 — Vetus Testamentum Græcum, E. Codice M. S. Alexandrino,	282 283 284 285 286 287 288	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833 On the Prophecies, Philadelphia, 1841 Christian Student, Boston, 1830 Family Expositor of St. John and St. Jude, \$1,25, London, 1846 Scripture Help, London, 1831 Scripture Help, \$1,75, best edition, London, 1844 Practical Guide to the Prophecies, 5th edition, \$1,50, London, 1836 ———————————————————————————————————
Bamberg, 1693 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Autwerp, 1671 258 — Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sucra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticamæ edit. collationem, \$6, Bamberg, 1693 — One of the most accurate editions of the Vulgate, 263 — Vetus Testamentum Græcum, E. Codice M. S. Alexandrino, Cura et Labore II. H. Baber, A. M.	282 283 284 285 286 287 288 289	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833
Bamberg, 1693 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 258 — Interpreti Sebas, Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticanæ edit. collationem, \$6, Bamberg, 1693 — One of the most accurate editions of the Vulgate. 263 — Vetus Testamentum Græcum, E. Codice M. S. Alexandrino, Cura et Labore H. Baber, A. M. Imperial folio, vellum paper, \$10,	282 283 284 285 286 287 288 289 290	Gospels, 75e.
257 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very vare copy, \$12,50, Autwerp, 1671 258 — Interpreti Sebas Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 259 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticanæ edit. collationem, \$6, Bamberg, 1693 355 One of the most accurate editions of the Vulgate. 263 — Vetus Testamentum Græcum, E. Codice M. S. Alexandrino, Cura et Labore H. H. Baber, A. M. Imperial folio, vellum paper, \$10, London, 1816	282 283 284 285 286 287 288 289 290	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833
257 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very rare copy, \$12,50, Antwerp, 1671 258 — Interpreti Sebas Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 259 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, Bamberg, 1731 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticame edit. collationem, \$6, Bamberg, 1693 263 — Vetus Testamentum Græcum, E. Codice M. S. Alexandrino, Cura et Labore H. H. Baber, A. M. Imperial folio, vellum paper, \$10, London, 1816	282 283 284 285 286 287 288 289 290	Gospels, 75e. — Philadelphia, 1833
257 — Hebraica—Latina. Montanis' celebrated Hebrew Bible, Old and New Testaments, with Interlinear Latin, folio, fine old calf, very vare copy, \$12,50, Autwerp, 1671 258 — Interpreti Sebas Castalionis, folio, \$4, Basil, 1556 259 Same work, 3 vols., \$4,50, Liepsic, 1728 260 — Gregoriana, folio, \$4, 261 — Sacra Vulgatæ, 7 pocket vols., beautiful edit., \$4, Vesuntione, 1828 262 — Sacra Vulgatæ, Editiones Versiculis Distinctæ, D. Marquardi, Episcopi, folio, cum Vaticanæ edit. collationem, \$6, Bamberg, 1693 355 One of the most accurate editions of the Vulgate. 263 — Vetus Testamentum Græcum, E. Codice M. S. Alexandrino, Cura et Labore H. H. Baber, A. M. Imperial folio, vellum paper, \$10, London, 1816	282 283 284 285 286 287 288 289 290	Gospels, 75e.

	STANTOND & SWON	, 10	, 510	ONDWAI, MINITORE.	-
292	BIDDULPH, Essays on the Liturgy,		320	BLENCOE, Rev. Edward, Plain Ser-	
293	abridged, \$1, Boston, ————————————————————————————————————			mons to a Country Congregation, \$2,50, London,	1829
	Psalm, \$1,50, London,		321	BLOMFIELD, Bishop of London,	
294		1004	0.00	Parish Sermons, 8vo., \$3, London,	1847
295	Bristol, BIDLAKE, Jno., Lectures, 8vo., \$1.50,	1821	922	ple'e, 50e. Family Prayers, com- Loadon,	1837
200	London,	1813	323	BLOOMFIELD, Rev. S. T., Greek	100,
296	BINGHAM, Antiquities of the Chris-		004	Testament, 2 vols., \$4,50, Phila.,	1848
	tian Church, 9 vols., 8vo., \$25, London,	1840	324	ca, a Selection from the Greek Tes-	
297	Antiquities of the Chris-	.019		tament, forming a Narrative of the	
	tian Church, 2 vols., imperial 8vo.,			Events of our Lord's Ministry, \$1,	
298	\$7,50, new edition, London, Same work, abridged by Professor	1850	325	London, ————————————————————————————————————	1846
200	Henry, 8vo., \$1, Philadelphia,	1837	020	vols., 8vo., half ealf, \$35, London,	1826
299			326	Critical Digest, 8	
	gy for the Church of England, \$1.50, London,	1706	327	vols., 8vo., cloth, \$30, London, ————————————————————————————————————	1826
300	BINGHAM'S Scholastical History of	1100	021	mons, 8vo., \$2,50, London,	1529
001	Lay Baptism, 8vo., \$1,25, Lond.,	1712	328		1500
301	BISHOP, Rev. William, Village Sermons on Personal and Relative		290	\$2,25, London, Rev. G. W., Ser-	1529
	Duties, &c., 2 vols., 12mo., \$1,75,		020	mons for Country Congregations,	
000	London,	1828	0.00	12mo., \$1,50, London,	1846
302	Rev. Thomas Moyer, Lectures, 8vo., \$1,38, London,	1726	350	BLOXAM, M. H., Principles of Go- thic Ecclesiastical Architecture, 8th	
303	BISSE, Rev. Thomas, D. D., Beauty	112.		edition, 200 engravings, \$1,75,	
	of Holiness, new edition, by Pocoek,	1040	991	London,	1846
304	\$1,25, Cambridge, Beauty of Holiness, 75c., new	1940	201	BLUNT, Rev. Henry, History of Abraham and Jacob, 12mo., \$1,	
	edition, London,	1848		Philadelphia,	1841
305	BISSLAND, Thos., Preaching of the Cross, \$1, London,	1000	332	Christ, \$1, Philadelphia,	1040
306	Cross, \$1, London, BLACKALL, Bishop, Discourses up-	1000	333	Christ, \$1, Philadelphia, Lectures on the Life of St.	1040
	on our Saviour's Sermon on the			Paul, \$1, Philadelphia,	1841
207	Mount, 8 vols., \$10. London, BLACKBURNE, Archdeacon, Works,	1717	334	of St. Peter, \$1, Philadelphia,	1820
001	7 vols., 8vo, \$6,50, Cambridge,	1804	335	———— Sermons, 75c. do	1841
	Va'uable.		336	———— Seven Churches in Asia,	
308	BEACKSMITH, A Letter from a, to the Ministers and Elders of the		337	75c. Philadelphia,	1839
	Church of Scotland, 25e. Balt.,	1841	338	———— Discourses on the Articles,	1000
309	BLAIR, Rev. Hugh, Life of, \$1,	1007		75e. London,	1835
310	Edinburgh, ————————————————————————————————————	1901	999	Family Exposition, Genesis, \$1, Philadelphia,	1841
	London,	1792	340	Family Exposition, Exodus,	
311	Sermons, 5 vols., 8vo., \$4, Dublin,	1700	211	75c. Philadelphia,	1842
312	Sermons, 8vo., \$2, new edi-	1100	511	bers, 75c. Exposition, Numbers, 75c. Philadelphia,	1843
	tion, New-York,	1844	342	——— Posthumous Sermons, 63e.	
313	Wm., On Popery, 8vo., \$1, London,	1819	212	Philadelphia, On the Lord's Supper, 25c.	1845
314	BLAKE, Rev. J. L., D. D., Evidences	1010	010	Philadelphia,	1846
015	of Christianity, 75c. New-York,	1840	344	Rev. J. J., University Ser-	
315	50c. Confirmation, Philadelphia,	1839	345	mons, 8vo., \$1,75, Cambridge, ————————————————————————————————————	1847
316				\$1,25, Cambridge,	1836
	Calvary, or a Harmony of the Last Hours of the Saviour, 50c. Boston,	1044	346	Sketch of the Reformation	1005
317	BLAKEY, Rev. R., Lives of the Fa-	1044	347	in England, 75c. Philadelphia, ———— Veracity of the Gospel and	1837
	thers, plates, \$2, London,	1842		Acts, 12mo., calf, \$1,25, London,	1828
318	BLAYNEY, Rev. Benjamin, on Jere- miah and Lamentations, \$2, Lond.,	1896	348	J	1000
319	BLEDSOE, Albert T., Examination	1000	349		1029
	of Edwards on the Will, 75c. Phila.,	1845		\$1,50, London,	1823

350 BOGATZKY, C. H. Y., Golden Treasury for the People of God, 75c.		to Discover the long Lost Tribes of Israel, 8vo., \$1,50, very rare,
Lendon, 18	117	Trenton, 1816
G 11 M		BOURDALOUE, Whole Works, 3
the People of God, 75c. N. Y., 18		vols., royal Svo., blue calf, fine
352 — Edifying Thoughts on	1.2	eopy, \$9. Paris, 1840
God's Paternal Character, \$1,	380	
London, 17		8vo., \$2, Harlow, 1806
353 BOGUE, David, Theological Lec-		BOWDEN, Rev. John, D. D., On
tures, 3vo., \$2, New-York, 18		Episcopacy, to which is appended
354 BOGUE & Bennett's History of Dis-		the Essay of Dr. J. E. Cooke, 2
senters, 4 vols., 8vo., elegant copy,		vols., \$1, New-York, 1831
\$6, London, 18	808 382	
355 BOJESEN, Dr. E. F., Hand-Book of	002	Calvinism, 13c. New-York, 1816
Roman Antiquities, edited by Dr.	383	and the second s
	848	fession of Catholic Faith, in Reply
356 BOLLES, Rev. J. A., Episcopal		to Archbishop Carroll, of Mary-
Church Defended, 38e. Batavia, 18	843	land, 8vo., 50c. New-York, 1816
357 BOLTON, Miss, The Lighted Valley,	381	
or the Closing Scenes in the Life	i	Discourses for the Use of Families,
of a Beloved Sister, 75c. N. Y., 18	350	\$1,50, London, 1816
358 Robt. E., History, Civil and		BOWDLER, Rev. Thomas, Sermons
Eccle dastical, of West Chester Co.,		on the Gospel Covenant, Advent,
2 vols., 8vo., plates, &c., \$4, N. Y., 18	348	Christmas, &c., \$2.50, London, 1845
359 BONAR, Rev. And., The Last Days		BOWEN, Bishop of South Carolina,
of Eminent Christians, 12mo., \$1,		Sermons, 2 vols., Svo., \$4,
London, 18	3.17	Charleston, 1842
360 — Scenes from the History of		Prayers, Private, 25c. do. 1887
the Christian Church, 12mo., \$1,	388	———— Rev. Thomas, Companion
London, 18	347	for the Prisoner, 12mo., \$1, Lond., 1828
361 — Rev. Horatio, The Night of	389	BOWER, Archibald, History of the
Weeping, 18mo., 38c. New-York, 18	349	Popes, 3 vols., 8vo., \$6, Phila., 1847
362 ———— The Morning of Joy, 18mo.,	390	BOYLE, Hou. Robt., On Veneration
38c. New-York, 18	849	Due to God, \$1.25, London, 1836
363 BONNECHOSE, The Reformers be-	391	R., Lectures, 4 vols., 8vo.,
fore the Reformation, 50c. N. Y., 18		\$4,50, Dublin, 1737
364 BONNER, Bishop, Life and Defence,	392	BOYS, Wrought Gold, \$1,25, 1850
\$2, London, 18	$842 \mid 393$	BRADBURY, Rev. Thomas, Ser-
365 BONNETT, Rev. A., Meditations on		mons, 8vo., \$2, London, 1728
the Lord's Prayer, 50c. N. Y., 18	$847 \mid 394$	BRADFORD, Alden, Evangeheal
366 — The Family at Bethany,	040 000	History, 63e. Boston, 1813
50c. New-York, 18	843 395	
367 BOOK of Common Prayer, in the	000	Works of, \$1, London, 1826
Language of the Six Nations of		BRADLEY, Rev. Charles, Sermons,
Indians, 50c. New-York, 18	005 005	\$2,50, London, 1844
368 — of Family Worship, \$2, do. 18	000 001	High Wrombo 9 role \$2 Lord 1996
569 — of The Denominations, large	007 000	High Wycombe, 2 vols., \$3, Lond., 1836
12mo., \$1,50, Lordon, 18	001 996	Clarkers and Clarkers \$1.25
370 ——— of The Fathers, 8vo., \$1,50,	007	Clapham and Glasbury, \$1.25,
London, 19 371 BOOKER, Rev. Luke, On the Future	399	New-York, 1845 Practical Sermons, 8vo.,
State, 12mo., 50c. London, 19		\$2,50, New-York, 1848
372 BOOS, Martin, Life and Persecutions		BRADY, Rev. N., D. D., Sermons,
of, edited by Rev. Chas. Bridges,	100	\$1, London, 1718
12mo., \$1,50, London, 13	101 028	BRAIDWOOD, Rev. W., Miscella-
373 BOOTIFS Reign of Grace, 12mo.,	200 TU	neous Writings, with Life, &c., by
75c. Philadelphia, 1	828	W. Jones, \$2, Edinburgh, 1838
274 ——— Reign of Grace, 24mo.,	400	BRAINARD, Rev. David, Life of,
75c. London, 1		75c. Boston, 1821
375 BOSTON, Rev. Thomas, Complete		B BREAD of the First Fruits, 2 Kings
Works, 3 vols., 8vo., \$8,50,	100	iv. 22, or Short Meditations, &c. &c.,
Aberdeen, 1	848	by the author of The Week, 12mo.,
376 — Fourfold State, 50e. N. Y., I		\$1.25, London, 1835
377 — Crook in the Lot, 38c. do. 1		BRECKINRIDGE, Rev. R. J., Fo-
378 BOUDINOT, Elias, LL. D., A Star		reign Travels, \$1, Philadelphia, 1839
in the West, or a Humble Attempt	40	5 Secret Councils

	of the Jesuits, 12mo., 38c.	1005	435	BROOKS, Benjamin, Religious Liber-	
406	Baltimore, BRENT'S Translation of Father	1835	436	ty, 2 vols., 8vo., 82.50, London, BROWN, Rev. David, Memoir of,	1820
	— Paul's History of the Council of	1500		with a Selection of his Bermons	
407	Trent, folio, \$8, London, BRETSCHINEIDER, Lexicon Manu-	1720	437	preached at Calcutta, \$1,50, Lond., of N. Y., Contrast between	1816
	ale, §3, Leipsic,	1829		Christianity and Calvinian, 50c.	
408	BRETT, Thomas, D. D., Collection of all the Liturgies, \$3,50, London,	1838	438	Fredonia, Rev. John, Dictionary of	
409	T., History of the World,			the Holy Bible, 8vo., \$3, London,	
410	8vo., \$1,50, London, BREWSTER, Rev. John, Meditations	1732	439	Bible, with Memoir of the Author,	
***	of a Recluse, \$1,50, London,	1816		and Essays, \$1,75. New-York,	1842
411	tents, \$1,25, London,	1813	440	Concordance, 50e. do. Cliristian Pastor's Manual,	18 45
412	Lectures on the Acts,			81 Philadelphia	1837
119	2d edition, \$2, London, BREVIARIUM Parisiense, Pars Au-	1830	442		1000
410	tunnales, \$2, Paris,	1832	443	- Rev. John W., The Christ-	1020
414		1900		mas Bells, a Tale of Holy Tide,	1040
415	tiva, \$1,50, Paris, Constantiense, \$1,-	1022	444	75c. New York, Julia of Baia, or the Days	1942
110	50, Paris,	1822		of Nero, 63c. New-York,	1843
416	no, \$1,50, Paris,	1774	445	ci, 75e. Sir Thomas, Religio Medi-	1814
417	BRICHAN, David, D. D., Sermons,		446	Rev. William, D. D., Anti-	
418	2 vols., \$1,75, London, BRIDGE, Rev. William, The Works	1812		quities of the Jews, 2d edition, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3, Philadelphia,	1826
	of, now first collected, 5 vols., 8vo.,		147	Antiquities of the Jews, 2	
419	\$9, London, BRIDGES, Rev. Charles, Exposition	1845	4.18	vols., \$2.50, Philadelphia, BROWNE, Henry, Chronology of the	1837
	of the 119th Psalm, \$1, Phila.,	1841	110	Holy Scriptures, 8vo., \$3,50, Lond.,	1844
420	12mo., 75c. London,	18.19	449	william, History of Missions, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2,50, Phila.,	1816
421	———— Sacramental Meditations,		450	BROWNELL, Right Rev. Bishop,	1010
422	63e. London, On the Christian Minis-	1844		The Religion of the Heart and Life, 5 vols., \$3,50, Hartford,	1940
122	try, \$2,50, London,	1835	451	Exposition of the	
423	try, \$1,50, London,	1090	452	New Testament, \$1,50, Hartford,	1834
424		10.00	402	Book of Common Prayer, \$3,50,	
425	try, \$1,50, New-York, ————————————————————————————————————	$\frac{1847}{1850}$	453	New-York,	1850
	BRISTED, Rev. John, Thoughts on	1000	1	pamplilet form, 18c. Hartford,	1843
107	the Church, \$1,50, New-York,	1822	454	BROWNING, W. S., History of the	
427	BRITISH Pulpit, 6 vols., \$10, London,	1834		Huguenots, \$1,50, new edition, Philadelphia,	1845
428		1040	455	BROWNLEE'S Letters on the Ro-	
429	Suddards, 2 vols., 8vo., \$4, N. Y., Reformers, containing the	1040	456	man Controversy, 8vo., \$1, N. Y., BUCHANAN, Rev. Claudius, Chris-	1834
	Writings of the most Emment, 12	7 .		tian Researches, Svo., \$2, London,	1812
430	vols., half calf, \$14. various BROADLEY, Rev. Robt., Defence	dates.	457	\$1,75, Christian Researches,	1811
	of the Christian Religion, 12mo.,		458	Christian Researches,	
431	\$1, London, BROGDEN, James, Catholic Safe-	1831	459	12mo., 75c. Works of Arm-	
	guards, 2 vols., 8vo., \$6, London,	1846		strong's edit., 50c. Boston,	1812
432	\$2,50, Con the Liturgy, 3 vols., London,	1842	460	ing Christianity in India, 38c. Bost.	1814
433	BRONSON, Rev. Asahel, Plain Ex-		461		
	hibition of Methodist Episcopacy, 12mo., 63e. Burlington,	1844	462	son, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2,50, London, ————————————————————————————————————	1819
434	BROOKE, Rev. Thomas, Baptismal	2011	102	the Office and Work of the Holy	
	Regeneration not the Doctrine of Holy Scripture nor of the Church		463	Spirit, \$1,25, New-York, Comfort in Affliction,	1847
	of England, 12mo., \$1, London,	1848	138	12mo., 75c. New-York,	1842

461	BUCHANANI, Georgii, Psalmorum		493	BURGESS, Tracts on the Doctrine	1014
	Davidis, Paraphrasis Poetica, 32mo., 81. Herborne,	1721	491		1814
465	BUCK, Rev. Charles, Whole Works, 6 vols., \$1.50. Philadelphia,	1000	495	State, 12mo., \$1, London,	1805
466	6 vols., \$4,50. Philadelphia, Theological Dictionary, \$1,25,	1923	470	7, \$1,25, 2d edition, London,	1821
	Philadelphia,	1820	496	George, Bp., Translation	
467	Theolog. Dictionary, 18mo., Philadelphia,	1836	497	of the Psalms, 75c. Hartford, ————————————————————————————————————	1840
468	Religious Anecdotes, 75c.	1010	100	 S1. Philadelphia. 	1850
469	Budder Budder Boston, Budder Sermons on Faith and	1843	498	BURKITT, Rev. Wm., Poor Man's Help, &c., 25c. Albany,	1804
	Duty, 2 vols., \$2,50, London,	1826	499	Notes on the New Tes-	
470 - 471	Another copy, boards, \$1,75, ——————————————————————————————————		500	tament, 2 vols., \$4, Philadelphia, Same work, in large folio, nume-	1847
	London,	1830		rous plates, \$6, London.	1752
472	and in the Carden, N. Y.,	1844	501	BURNETT, Rev. Gilbert, D. D., History of the Reformation, 8vo., 4	
473	BUDD, Rev. Henry, On Infant Bap-		F 0 0	vols., \$7, New-York,	1843
474	tism, \$2,50, London, Silent Preacher, or a Selec-	1828	502	edited by Bishop Jebb, 63c. N. Y.,	1833
	tion from the Works of Hooker,		503	———— History of the Reforma-	2000
475	\$1, London, BUDDEI, J. Francisci, Historia Ec-	1829	504	tion, 3 vols., 8vo., \$2,50, On XXXIX. Articles,	
	cles. Vetus Test., 2 vols., 4to., \$4,		-0-	\$2, New-York,	1846
476	a very learned work, Halle, BUDS, Blossoms, and Fruits of the	1788	505	tion, abridged, 2 vols., London,	1833
	Church, by the Editor of the Ever-	1010	506	Treatise on the State of	
477	green, 50c. New-York, BUEL, Rev. Samuel, Reply to Arch-	1843		Departed Souls, \$1,25, London, Several other editions.	1.30
	bishop Whately, 38c. Phila.,	1844	507		7 1 0 0 0
478	BULL, Bishop, The Whole Works of, edited by Dr. Burton, Life by Nel-		508	Time, 2 vols., folio, \$6,50, Lond., Mystery of Romanism,	1729
470	son, 8 vols., \$19, Oxford,	1846	509	50e. London,	1673
479	London,	1845		Resurgentium, liber 4to., \$2, Lond.,	1723
480	Vindication of the Church of England from the Errors and Cor-		510	Time, royal 8vo., \$5, London,	1910
	ruptions of the Church of Rome,		511	———— State of the Dead,	
481	50c. Baltimore, BULLI, Georgii, Opera Omnia, Latine	1845	512	12mo., \$1, London, Another copy, \$1,25, London,	
	Conscripta, folio, \$8, Londoni,	1721	513	Theory of the Earth,	
482	BULLINGER, Henry, (of Zurich,) Sermons on the Sacraments, \$2,25,		514	10110, \$2, London,	1697
400	new edition, Cambridge,	1840	-1-	tians, Svo., \$1, London,	1733
483	BUNYAN, Complete Works of, 2 vols., \$2, Philadelphia,	1842	515	de. de., 8vo., \$1,50, London,	1718
484	1 , ,	1010	516	— and Dr. Stillingfleet's	
485	The Jerusalem Sinner	1042		Conference, held in London, April, 1676, with some Gentlemen of the	
486	Saved, 75c. New-York, Pilgrim's Progress, vari-	1846		Church of Rome, \$1,50, exceeding-	1000
	ous editions.		517	— De Fide et Officius Chris-	
487	Holy War, pictorial edition, quarto, \$2,50, London,	1844	518	tianorum, \$1,50, Londoni, ————————————————————————————————————	
488	BURDER, Rev. George, Life of, 75c.			edition, London,	1847
489	New-York, Village Sermons, \$1,50,	1833	519	Pastoral Care, \$1,25, do.	1800
490	Philadelphia, Samuel, Oriental Customs,	1844	520	——— Thomas, Sacred Theory	a be a be
	\$1,50, Philadelphia,		521	of the Earth, folio, \$2,50, Lon lon, Boyle Lectures, 2 vols.,	1767
491	men, \$1,50, Philadelphia,		500	8vo., \$3, London, BURNS, Rev. Jabez, On the Para-	1726
492	BURGESS, Bishop of St. David's,		""	bles and Miracles, 12mo. 75c.	
	Tracts on the Divinity of Christ, \$3, London,		523	New-York,	1849

_				
	ciples of Christian Philosophy, 12mo., \$1, London, 183:	.	Cross, 8vo., Parker Society, \$2,50,	1040
524	BURNS, Christian Fragments, 18mo.,	555	Cambridge, CALMET'S Dictionary of the Bible,	1846
525	5)c. New-York, 184° BURTON, Warren, Cheering Views	7 556	full edition, 4 vols., 4to., \$11, Bost., A beautiful copy, 9th edition, 5	1814
	of Man and Providence, 38c. Bost., 1829		vols., 4to., \$17, London,	1847
	tory of the Church, \$1, N. Y., 183;		as published by the late Charles	
527	Te-timonies, 8vo., \$3,75, Oxford, 1829	,	Taylor, with the Fragments incorporate l, 8th edition, revised by	
528	Regius Professor, Oxford,		Prof. Rebinson, \$4, Boston.	1843
	Sermons, &c., \$1, elegantly bound, London, 1839	2 330	cred and Profane, 8 vols., 4to.,	
529	2 vols., 8vo., \$2,50, London, 1684		(French.) \$14, a work of great learning, Strasbourg,	1795
530	Rev. George, Essays on	559	CALVARY, A Poem, by Cumber-	
53 I	Daniel and John, \$1,25, London, 1760 BURTON'S Anatomy of Melancholy,		land, 8vo., 50c. Morristown, CALVIN, John, Memoirs of, by Wa-	1815
532	8vo, \$2, New-York, 1850 BURWELL, Rev. A. H., (of Canada,))	terman, \$1, Boston,	1813
002	Voice of Warning, &c., 12mo., 38c.		edition, translated by Henry Beve-	
533	Kingston, 1835 BUSH, Rev. Dr., On the Resurrec-		redge, 2 vols., royal 8vo., \$6, Edin., Institutes, 3 vols., \$5,	1815
534	tion of the Body, \$1. New York, 1845 ——— Treatise on the Millenium,	563	New-Haven,	1816
	12mo., 75c. New-York, 1832		New-York,	1819
	On the Soul of Man, 50e. do. 1845 BUSHNELL, Horace, Views of Chris-	564	Religion, 2 vols., \$3, Philad-lphia,	1811
	tian Nurture, 12mo., 63c. Hartford, 1847 BUTLER, Bi-hop, Sermons, \$1,25,	565	Commentary on Psalms,	
	New-York, 1848	536	1 vol., 8vo., \$2,50, Edinburgh, ————— In stitutes of the Christian	1849
538	————— Whole Works, 8vo., \$2, New-York, 1848		Religion, by Allen, 4(o., \$3,50, new edition, London,	1844
539		567		
	75e. New-Vork, 1837	568		
540		569	Philadelphia, CAMBRIDGE Concordance to the	1836
54 I	Analogy, edited by Wilson, 8vo., \$1,50, New-York, 1846	1	Old and New Testaments, with the various Readings, &c., foho, \$3,50,	1699
542		570	and Saybrook Prat-	
5 43	the Church, 75c. Utiea, 1839 Lectures on the Book of		forms, 62c. Boston, CAMPBELL, David, Illustrations of	1829
544	Common Prayer, \$1, Washington, 1849 ————————————————————————————————————	572	Prophecy, 50c. Boston, Rev. George, Lectures	1840
	16mo., 50e. New-York, 1850		on Eccle instical History, 2 vols.,	
949	rors, a Course of Lectures, 50c.	573		
516	New-York, 1850 Chas, Life of Grotius,	574	tical History, 1 vol., \$1,25, Lon.l., Lectures on Pulpit Elo-	1807
	London, 1826 BUTTERWORTH'S Concordance of	575	quence, 63c. London,	1825
944	Holy Scripture, \$1,50, Boston, 1844	313	cles, 8vo., \$1,50, a new edition,	
$\frac{518}{549}$	Another copy, 8vo., \$2,50, Lond., 1812 BUXTORFIFS Hebrew Lexicon,	576	London, On Miracles, \$1,	1839
550	8vo., \$3,50, Glasgow, 1824 CADOGAN, Hon. Rev. W. B. Ser-		Glasgow, Many other editions of the	1839
	mons, \$2,50, Lordon, 1798		same work.	
551	250, Discourses, 1 vol. 8vo., London, 1798	577	Four Go-pels, 2 vols., \$4, Andover,	1827
	CALAMY, Rev. E., Sermons, \$1, do. 1710 CALDERWOOD, Rev. David, The	578		
900	Pastor and Prelate, or Reformation		Edinburgh,	
554	and Conformity, 50c. Phila., 1844 CALFHILL, John, D. D., An Answer	579 580	Same work, 4to., \$2, Phila., :	1796
	to John Martial's Treatise on the		Eloquence, \$1,25, Boston,	1832

14	THIS BOUTON		11130001	
581	CAMPBELL, On the Four Gospels, 4 vols., 8vo., \$12, Boston, 1824		CARY, Rev. Henry, Testimonies of the Fathers of the First Four Cen-	
5 82	CANONS of the Six Councils, by Hammond, \$1,25, New-York, 1844		turies, &c. &c., \$2,50, Oxford, CASES of Conscience, by Pike and	1835
583			Haywood, \$1, Savannah, of Conscience, by Bishop	1826
584	CANTICLES of the Church, from the Morning and Evening Services, ar-	1	Sanderson, \$1,75, London, CASWALL, Rev. H., Prophet of the	1678
	ranged in Bars for Chanting, 13c. New-York, 184-		19th Century, or History of the Mormons, \$1,25, London,	1843
585	CARDIPHONIA, or the Utterance of the Heart, by Rev. John New-		edited by the Rev. W. W. Spear,	
586	ton, 75c. CARDWELL, Rev. E., D. D., Lectures on the Coinage of the Greeks	607	for Inquirers after the Way, the	184€
	and Romans, 8vo., cloth, \$1,50, Oxford, 1849		Truth, and the Life, edited by the Rev. Dr. Tyng, 25c.—Philadelphia,	1847
587	of the Reformed Church of Eng-		CATECHISMO del Concilio di Tren'o, \$1, Venetia,	1560
	land, being a Collection of Injunc- tions, Declarations, Orders, Articles of Inquiry, &c., from 1546 to 1716,	609	CATHEDRAL, The, or the Catholic and Apostolic Church of England, a splen lid volume of Church Poe-	
	with Notes, historical and explana- tory, 2 vols., 8vo., cleth, \$5,50,		try, plates, and richly bound, \$3,50, Oxford,	
588			CATHOLIC Union, Hints on, by Dr. Muhlenburgh, 50c. New-York,	1830
	tion of Articles of Religion, Canons, and Proceedings of Convocations, from 1547 to 1717, with Notes, 2		CATTENBURG, Adriani, Syntagma Sapientiae Mosaicae, 4to., \$1.50, Amsterdami,	
589	vols., 8vo., cloth, \$5,50, Oxford, 184:	612	CAUNTER, J. H., Holy Bible, with Notes, \$4, London,	
	ences, and other Proceedings con- nected with the Revision of the Book of Common Prayer, from	613	CAUSES of the Decay of Christian Piety, by the Author of the Whole Duty of Man, \$1,50, London,	
	1558 to 1696, 8vo., cloth, \$2,50, Oxford, 184		CAVE, Rev. William, Antiquitate Apostolica, folio, \$2, London,	
590	DD 200 1		Lives of the Fathers, 3 vols., 87, Oxford,	
591	\$3, 2d edition. Oxford, 184 CARMICHAEL, Rev. William M., D.D., The Early Christian Fathers,	616	Primitive Christianity, 2 vols. \$1,75, London, Same work, edited by Dr. Carey,	
592	\$1.25, New-York, 184- CARNES, Rev. R. H., The Two Co-	1	8vo., \$1.75, Oxford, A Dissertation on the Go-	
593	venants, \$2,50, London, 1826 CARPENTER, Rev. Thomas, Chris-		vernment of the Antient Church, \$2, a very rare book, London,	1683
59 t	tian's Manual, 75c. London, 183:	i	CROLY, Rev. George, On the Apo- calypse, \$1.75, London,	182
505	duction to the Holy Scriptures, \$3, London, 182	3	CECIL, Rev. Richard, Whole Works, 3 vols., §2,25, New-York,	
596	the Bible, 75c. London, 183)	Remains and Mi-cellanies, \$1,50, New-York, Original Thoughts on Scrip-	
	nion, royal 8vo., \$6.50, London, 181 Geography of the	3 022	ture, edited by Catharine Cecil,	
	New Testament, 75c. Cambridge, 181 CARR, Rev. Geo., Sermons, 3 vols.,	1 622	12mo., \$1, New-York. Life of Newton, 28c. N. Y., Memoirs of Cadogan and Ba-	184
	\$2, Edinburgh, 179 CARTER, Mrs. Elizabeth, Memoirs	1	con, 63c. London, Memoir of Mrs. Hawkes, \$1,	182
	of, \$1, Boston, 180 CARWITHEN, Rev. I. B. S., View	9	Philadelphia, Sketches of, by a Pre-byter	184
	of Brahminical Religion, \$1,50, London, 181	1	of Western New-York, 25c. Utica, CHADWICK, Jabez, on Christian	183
601	Another copy, with Rev. J. W. Cun- ningham's Essay on the Means		Bapti-m, 50c. Ithaca, B CHALMERS, Rev. Thos., D. D., Ap-	1833
	of Introducing Christianity in India, 8vo., \$2, London, 1808 & 181		plication of Christianity to Com- mercial Affairs, 75c. New-York,	

		.,	
629	CHALMERS, Select Works, 4 vols.,		CHAPMAN, Rev. John, Eusebius, or
630	\$6, New-York, 1848 Sermons, 2 vols., \$3,	1	Christian's Defence, 2 vols., \$3, Cambridge, 1739
631	New-York, 1850 ———— On Romans, \$2,25,	658	of Departed Saints, 75c. London, 1842
632	New-York, 1844 Natural Theology, 2	659	of the Gospels, in Greek, 4to,
633	vols., \$1,50, New-York, 1844		\$4,50, London, 1836
	2 vols., \$1,50, New-York, 1845		Theologian.
	Moral Philosophy, 75c. New-York, 1845	660	CHARNOCK, Rev. Stephen, D. D., Treatise on Providence, 75c. Phila., 1816
635		661	——— On Regeneration, 75c.
636	Political Economy,	662	
637	75c. New-York, 1833 Memoir of the Life	663	\$2,50, London, 1849 Choice Works of, edit-
	and Writings of, by his son-in-law, Rev. Wm. Hanna, LL. D., 3 vols.,	664	ed by Symington, 75c. New-York, 1847 CHASE, J., On the Constitution and
200	\$3, New-York, 1850		Canons, 8vo., \$2,50, New-York, 1848
	CHANDLER, Rev. Saml., Sermons, 4 vols., 8vo., \$3.50, London, 1759	669	niscences, 2 vols., 8vo., \$4, Boston, 1848
639	Tlistory of Persecutions, &c., 1 vol., 8vo., \$2, Hull, 1813	666	CHAUNCEY, Rev. C., D. D., Dissertations on the Fall, \$1, London, 1785
640	Paraphrase on the	667	Rev. Charles, D. D., of
	Prophecy of Joel, 4to., \$1,75, London, 1735		Boston, Seasonable Thoughts on the State of Religion in New Eng-
64I	——————————————————————————————————————		lan l, \$1,50, Boston, 1743
642	London, 1768	668	A very rare volume. CHECKE, Sir John, Life of, by
	tian Religion, \$2, London, 1725 Samuel, D. D., Ser-		Strype, \$1,25, Oxford, 1821 CHEVERUS, Cardinal De, Life of,
	mons, 4 vols., \$4, London, 1769		\$1, Philadelphia, 1839
644	William of Wykeham, 50c. Lond., 1842	670	CHILLINGWORTH, W., Works of, \$1,25, London, 1847
645	CHANNING, Wm. Ellery, Works, 6 vols., \$3, Boston, 1847	671	
646	CHANTS. The Church Chant Book,	672	CHILLON, A Tale of the Reforma-
647	by Rev. Wm. Staunton, 75c. N. Y., 1849 The Manuscript Chant		tion of the Sixteenth Century, 63c. Philadelphia, 1845
	Book, \$1,50, Philadelphia, 1849	673	CHISSOLD, Rev. Henry, The Last Hours of Eminent Christians, \$2,50,
619	Gregorian, 25c. N. Y., 1850 A Selection of Cathedral,		London, 1829
	by Hayter, 50c. Boston, 1849	674	CHRISTIAN Treasury, containing
000	for Church Choirs, 2 vols., 4to., \$2,		Magee on the Atonement, and other valuable Works, royal 8vo.,
	London, 1847		\$3, London, 1845
691	CHAPIN, Rev. A. B., View of the Organization and Order of the Pri-	675	Magazine, 2 vols., \$1,- 50, New-York, 1807
250	mitive Church, 75c. New-Haven, 1850	676	———— Treasury, 3 vols., \$6,-
652	——— Views of Gospel Truth, being a Comparison of the Doctri-	677	75, London, 1848 Theology, by George
	nal and Practical Developments of		Prettyman, D. D., 2 vols., \$3, Lond., 1799
653		678	delity, 63c. London, 1823
	Protestantism, being a Review of the Rev. E. Hall's Work, The Pu-	679	translated into English, \$1,25,
	ritans and their Principles, 63c.	200	London, 1847
654	New-York, 1847 CHAPMAN, Rev. G. T., Sermons on	680	thirteen valuable Treatises, \$3,50,
655	the Ministry, \$1, Boston, 1844 ———————————————————————————————————	681	Edinburgh, 1842
	ans, \$1,25, Hartford, 1836	001	played in the Life and Writings of
656	Notes on the New Testament, 50c.	682	St. Paul, 75c. New-York, 1845 Remembrancer, by
	Canandaigua, 1819		Youmans, 50c. New-York, 1830

with Notes, &c., by H. M. Mason, D. D., 63c. Philadelphia, 1826 704 CHRYSOSTOMI, Dionis, Opera Græce Adolphi Emperii, 8vo., \$3,

Brunsvigæ, 1844 - Joannis, In Divi 705 -Pauli Epis. ad Corinthios, 8vo., \$3,50, Oxoni, 1848

16

684 -

686 -

687

688

689

690

691

692

693 -

696 -

697 -

698 -

699 -

701 -

75c.

\$1,25,

ioners, 50c.

K. Hervey, \$1,

tianæ, 8vo., \$1,50,

England Svo., \$1,

Richard Steele, 63c.

2 vols., \$1,

Defended, 75c.

Eminent, 75c.

copalian, 63c.

Henry Scudder, \$1,

- Half

706 CHUBB, Thos., Collection of Tracts, 4to., \$2,50, Basil, 1730 707 CHURCH of Christ in the Middle

Age:, \$2, London, 1845 - at Lyons, Epochs of the, 708 88c. Cambridge, 1843

New-York, 1836 — Awake, thou Sleeper, 75c.

New-York, 1845 730 — Gleanings by the Way, 75c. New-York, 1845

- Rev. William A., The Steward's Reckoning, a Series of Ser-

mon≈, 50e. New-York, 1833 732 CLARKE, Rev. Adam, Succession of Sacred Literature, 2 vols., \$4,

London, 1830 ---- Commentary on the New 733 -Testament, 1 vol., 8vo., \$2, Philadelphia, 1842

-					
734	CLARKE, Gospels Harmonized, with		761	CLEMENTIS, Romani, Recognitio-	
735	Notes, 1 vol., 8vo., \$3, London,	1836	F.00	nes, &c., \$1,25, Leipsie, CLERGYMANS Instructor, a Col-	1838
1.00	and New Testaments, 4 vols., \$12,		102	lection of Tracts on the Ministerial	
736	On the Attributes, Svo.,			Duties, \$2,50, Oxford,	1843
hoh	\$1, London,	1828	763		
737	——————————————————————————————————————	1811		by Bishops Hobart and Ives, in pocket-book form, \$1,50—dark	
738	On the Eucharist, 50c.			binding, 75e. New-York,	1849
	New-York.	1812	761	Vade Mecum, an	
789 710	Life of, do. Rev. James S., Naval Ser-			Account of the Ancient and Pre- sent State of the Church of Eng-	
110	mons, \$1, London,	1797		land, the Rights and Duties of the	
741	Rev. Samuel, D. D., Ser-			Clergy, &c. &c., \$1,50, London,	1723
710	mons, 10 vols., \$10, London,	1730	765		10.07
142	vols., folio, 5.h edit., \$5,50, Lond.,	1742	766	ing the Liturgy, 50c. Phila., Recreation, or Sa-	1847
743	- A General Martyrologie,			cred Thoughts in Verse, 75c. Lond.,	1831
	folio, \$4, London,	1657	767	CLERKE, Richard, D. D., Sermons	
744	A most rare work. Paraphrase on the Four			preached by that most learned Di- vine, one of the translators of our	
111	Evangelists, 2 vols., \$3, London,	1795		Bible, folio, \$3. London.	1637
745	Paraphrase on the Four			A great rarity.	
5.40	Evangelists, 2 vols., \$2,50, London,	1736	768	CLINTON, Rev. Isaac, Treatise on	1000
746	Evangelists, 2 vols., \$4, London,	1741	769	Infant Baptism, 50c. Springfield, CLOSE, Rev. F., Sermons on the Li-	1820
717			100	turgy, \$1,50, London,	1844
	Evangelists, without the Text, 1	*	770	turgy, \$1,50, London, Typical Sermons, \$1,25, do. Mi-cellaneous Sermons, 2	1847
748	vol., §2, London, Exposition of the Church	1808	111	vols., \$3.50, London,	1997
140	Catechism, \$1,50, London,	1729	772		1001
749				dered and Illustrated, \$1,50, Lond.,	1841
	of Eminent Divines, 4to., \$2.50,	1000	773		1040
750	very rare, London, Scripture Promises, 50c.	1002	77-1	75e. Loudon, CLOUD of Witnesses, for the Royal	1042
	London,	1839		Prerogatives of Jesus Christ, \$1,	
F = 1	Various editions of the same.			Glasgow,	1836
751		1727	775	COBIA, Rev. Daniel, Sermons, &c., \$3. Charleston,	1888
752	CLARKSON, Thomas, Researches,		776	COCCEI, Johan., Prophetia Jeremiæ	
	Antedihavian, Patriarchal, &c. &c.,	1000		Commentario, \$4,50, Amsterdami,	1669
753	8vo., \$1,50. London, CLAUDE, Rev. John, Defence of the	1556	111	COETLOGON, C. E., A. M., On the Protestant Reformation, \$1, Lond.,	1818
100	Reformation, 2 vols., §3, London,	1815	778		1010
754				Christian Penitent, a Course of Ser-	
	of a Sermon, edited by Robinson, 8vo., \$2, London,	1805		mons on Psalm 51, 2 vols., \$2 50, London,	1555
755		1000	779	COFFIN, Rev. W. H., The Lives and	1110
	of a Sermon, edited by Simeon,			Times of the most Distinguished	
750	75c. London,	1848	700	Fathers, \$1,50, Baltimore,	1846
756	of a Sermon, abridged by Bishop		780	Christian Fathers, 8vo., \$1,-50, Baltimore,	1846
	Hobart, 63c. New-York,	1823	781	COGHLAN, Rev. James, Popular	
757	CLAYTON, Bishop, The Chronology			Companion to the Study of the	
	of the Hebrew Bible Vindicated, 4to., \$3,50, London,	1747	789	Holy Scriptures, \$3, London, COIT, Rev. T. W., D. D., Paragraph	1843
758	CLEMENT of Rome, or Scenes from	, , , , ,	102	Bible, \$1,50, Boston,	1834
	the Christianity of the First Cen-		783	Puritanism, or the Church-	
	tury, by Mrs. Joseph Cox, 50c.	1846		man's Defence against its Asper-	1945
759	New-York, Rev. Benjamin, Sermons	1040	784	sions, \$1, New-York, COLE, Rev. Henry, Works on Expe-	1049
,	on Several Subjects, 2 vols., \$1,50,			rimental and Controversial Theo-	
	Bishop Provoost's copy,	1760	70=	logy, \$2, London,	1836
760	Wolverbampton, CLEMENTIS, S., Patris et Martyris	1100	100	COLES, Rev. Elisha, Practical Discourse on God's Sovereignty, 75c.	
•••	Epistola ad Corinthios, 75c. Oxon.,	1677		London,	1837

786 COLEMAN, Rev. Lyman, The Apos-	812 COMMON PRAYER, The Family
tolical and Primitive Church, edited	Prayer Book, accompanied by a
by Alexander, \$1, Boston, 1844	General Commentary, Historical,
787 COLENSO, Rev. J. W., Cottage	Explanatory, Doctrinal, and Practical by the Pt. Por Pre-
Prayers, 50c. Cambridge, 18-16	tical, by the Rt. Rev. Bp. Brownell,
788 COLERIDGE, S. T., Aids to Reflec-	of Conn., royal 8vo.; in cloth, \$3,-
tion, 75c. New-York, 1850 789 ————————————————————————————————————	50; calf, \$5; Turkey morocco, \$8; Stanford & Swords' 3d edition, 1850
\$1,50, New-York, 1837	813 — Order of Dai-
790 ———— Rev. Derwent, Scrip-	ly Service, Litany, &c. &c., with
tural Character of the Church, 1	Plain Tunes, according to the Use
vol., 8vo., \$2. London, 1839	of the Church of England, Black
791 COLLIER, Rev. Jeremy, D. D., Ec-	letter, illuminated, 2 vols., small
clesiastical History of Great Bri-	4to., \$7, London, 1843
tain, 9 vols., \$25, London, 1845	814
792 ———— Essays upon Several Sub-	of the Liturgy and Ritual, being
jects, 2 vols., \$2,50, London, 1722	Sermons and Discourses by Emi-
793 Another copy, 3 vols.	nent Divines of the 17th Century,
794 ———— Pearls of Great Price, or	by Rev. James Brogden, of Trinity
Maxims and Reflections, 50c. Lond., 1838	College, Cambridge, 3 vols., 8vo.,
795 — View of the Stage, 75c.	\$2,50, Murray, London, 1842
London, 1698 796 COLLINSON, Rev. J., Analysis of	Morning and Evening Prayer, to
Hocker's Ecclesiastical Polity, \$2,	which are added the Lessons, 2
London, 1810	Topler 1990
797 COLLYER, Rev. David, Sacred In-	816 — The Book of,
terpreter, 2 vols., \$3,50, London, 1821	with Extensive Notes, &c. &c., by
798 Practical Introduction to	the Rev. Richard Warner, 8vo., \$3,
the Bible, with Bishop Hobart's	London, 1806
Autograph, 2 vols., 8vo., §4, Lond., 1795	817 — A Companion
799 — Practical Introduction to	to the Temple, or a Help to Devo-
the Bible, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3, 1805	tion in the Use of the Common
800 ——— Rev. W. B., Lectures on	Prayer, by Thos. Comber, D. D.,
Scripture Comparison, \$2.50, Lond., 1823	Dean of Durham, 7 vols., 8vo., \$14,
801 COLQUIIOUN, Rev. John, On the Law and Gospel, 50c. New-York, 1835	S18 ————————————————————————————————————
802 COMBER, Rev. Thomas, Short Dis-	Interpreted by its History, a Course
courses on the Common Prayer,	of Lectures, by Rev. C. M. Butler,
\$1.50, London, 1712	D. D., \$1, 2d edition, Washington, 1849
803 — Companion for the Altar,	819 — Book of, &c.,
\$2. London, 1678	Paraphrased, together with the
804 — Companion to the Tem-	Lives of the Apostles, &c. &c., by
pie, \$2, London, 1679	Wm. Nichols, D. D., 8vo., \$1,50,
805 ———— Friendly Advice to the	London, 1716
Roman Catholics of England, edit-	820 Another copy, \$2, do. 1775
ed by the Rev. Dr. Hook, 75c.	821 — Hole, Rev.
London, 1836 Soft ————— Companion to the Tem-	Dr., Discourses on, 4 vols., \$10,
ple, 7 vols., \$13, new edit., Oxford, 1841	822 — London, 1846 Rationale, by
807 COMFORTER, or Consolation for	Sparrow, new edit., \$1,25, Oxford, 1847
Mourners, by a Village Pastor, 63c.	823 — Wheatly's Il-
New-York, 1832	lustrations of, 8vo., \$2; 12mo., \$1,-
808 COMFORTS of Old Age, with Bio-	25, London, —
graphical Illustrations, by Sir Tho-	824 — Exposition of
mas Barnard, 38c. New York, 1818	the Book of, by the Rev. Andrew
809 COMMENTARY on the Five Books	Fowler, of S. C., 63c, New-York, 1807
of Mores, by the Bishop of Bath	825 — Scriptural II-
and Wells, 2 vols, \$2.50, Loudon, 1649	lustrations of, by the Rev. Benj.
810 COMMON PRAYER of the Church	Hale, D. D., President of Geneva
of England, with Notes, &c., by the Rev. S. Piggot, Rector of Dunsta-	College, 31c. New-York, 1847
ble, 4(o., plates, \$3.50, London, 1849	826 — Explanation
S11 — Murray's Splen-	and History of, by Thos. L. Plowman, new edition, in press.
did liluminated, the most beautiful	827 — Origin and
edition ever published, \$4,50 cloth,	Compilation of, by Rev. W. H.
\$7,50 Turkey, London, 1848	

	STAINTOND & SHORE	,, 10	1, D1	tond war, Man-Tonn.	13
828	COMMON PRAYER, A Safe Guide,		854	COOPER, Sermons on the Leading	
000	a Course of Lectures, by the Rev. Alex. Watson, 63c. Baltimore,	1843	855	Doctrues of the Gospel, \$1, Lond.,	
829	and Explanatory Commentary on,		856	COPLESTON, Bp., An Inquiry into	
830	by Peter Waldo, Esq., \$2, Lond., COMPANION for the Holy Scrip-			the Doctrines of Necessity and Pre- destination, with an Appendix on	
831	tures, \$2.50, Brattleboro, Bible, and		857	the 17th Article, 8vo., £2. Lond., Prefectiones Acade-	
	Supplement to the Comprehensive Commentary, royal 8vo., \$4, half		858	micæ, 8vo., \$2,50, London, CORBET, Rev. John, Remains, 4to.,	
832		1846	859		1684
833	chester, 38c. Philadelphia, COMPENDIUM Sacri Œcumenici Concilii Chalcedonensis, e Latino	1000	860	Supper, 50c. London, CORNWALLIS, Mrs., On the Cano- nical Scriptures, 4 vols., 8vo., \$5,	1859
	Fonte in Arabicum Idioma, &c. &c., small folio, \$4, Romæ,	1694	861	London,	1817
834	A rare curiosity in literature. CONCILIUM Romanum in Sacro-	1001		the Scriptures, 63c. Philadelphia, CORRESCONDENCE of Bp. Jebb	1837
001	sancta Basilica Lateranensi Celebratum, Anno 1735, a Benedicto		002	and Alexander Knox, 2 vols., \$3, Philadelphia,	1835
835	Papa XIII., &c., 4to., \$2,50, Romæ, CONYBEARE, Bishop, Theological	1751		COSIN, Bp., Whole Works, 2 vols., \$4,50, Oxford.	
	Lectures, delivered in Bristol College, \$1,50, London,	1836	864	History of Popish Transubstantiation, \$1,75, London,	1840
836	Religion, 8vo., \$1,50, London,	1722	865	COTTER, Rev. J. R., The Mass and Rubrics of the Roman Catholic	
837	\$2,50, London,	1757	866	Church, \$1, Dublin, COTTERELL'S Family Prayers, \$1,	
838	CONFESSION of Faith, with the Larger and Shorter Catechism of		867	Same work, 50c. Philadelphia,	
000	the Church of Scotland, \$1,25, Edinburgh, ————————————————————————————————————	1788	505	COTTON, Rev. H., D. C. L., Short Explanation of Obsolete Words in	1045
839	Church in the United States, 63c. Philadelphia,	1842	869	the Bible, 38c. Oxford, COURAYER, Le, Peter F., Defence of the English Ordinations, \$2.50,	1941
840	CONFESSIONS of St. Augustine, Toc. Boston,		870	very scarce, London, COURCY, De, Richard, Christ Cruci-	1725
841	CONGREGATIONAL Catechism of	1844		fied, \$1.50, London, COVELLS, The Two, Memoirs of, by	1810
842	CONJECTURES on the New Tes- tament, by Bowyer, \$2, London,	1772		Mrs. Brown, \$1, Brandon, COVENANTS, Divine Economy of,	1839
843	CONSOLATIONS for the Afflicted, 50c. Cincinnati,			by Rev. II. Witsius, 3 vols., 84, N.Y., COVERDALE, Rev. Miles, D. D., The	1798
844	CONSTITUTION and Canons of the Church of England, 50c. Oxford,	1844		Holy Bible, 4to., 89, exact reprint of his original edition, London,	1838
845	CONTROVERSY, Catholic, between M. B. and Quero, 75c. Alexandria,	1818	874	the Parker Society, 2 vols., \$3.50	
846	A most able work. CONVENT Tales, during the Reigns		875		
0.45	of Henry VIII. and Louis XVI., \$1, London,	1838	876		1838
847	The, by the author of The Two Rectors, \$1, London, COOK, George, Historical View of	1826	077	tyrs, edited by Bickersteth, \$2,50, London,	1837
8.10	Christianity, 3 vols., \$4, Edin., COOKE, Rev. John E., Essay on the	1822	877	lations, \$3,50, London,	1844
0.10	Invalidity of Presbyterian Ordination, 50c. Lexington,		879	COX, Saml. H., Quakerism not Christianity, 8vo., \$1,25, New-York, Rev. F. A., and Rev. J. Hoby,	1833
	COOPER, Rev. Edward, Letters to a Serious Inquirer, \$1,25, London.			Baptists in America, \$1, N. Y., 1 Rev. M. B., Remains of, 50c.	1836
851 · 852 ·	Sermons, 2 vols., \$2, do. Do. 2 vols., \$vo., \$4,			Boston, 1 Rev. Robert, Lives of the Fa-	1835
	complete edition, Brookfield, Letters, \$1, London,		301	thers of the First Three Centuries, 8vo., \$2, London, 1	1817
	· i	•		,	•

-			THE . THE	
882	COX, Rev. G. V., The Prayer Book		First Planting of Nations, \$2, very	
	Epistles, Paraphrased in Verse,		rare, London,	1724
	\$1.75, London, 1846	908	CUMMING, Rev. John, D. D., A Mes-	
000	CRABBE, Rev. George, An Outline		sage from God, 50c. New-York,	1846
000	of a S. stem of Natural Theology,	909	CUNNINGHAM, Rev. J. W., Ser-	10.10
		909	COMMINGHAM, nev. J. W., Ser-	1010
	(Pickering.) \$2, London, 1840		mons, \$1, New-York,	1843
884	CRAKANTHORP, Richardo, Defen-	910		
	sio Eccles, Anglicana, (Lib. Anglo-		the Book of Jonah, \$1, London,	1833
	Cath. Theo.,) 8vo., 82.75. Oxford, 1847	911		
oek	Cath. Theo.,) 8vo., \$2,75, Oxford, 1847 CRANE, Rev. R. II, The Two Cove-		38c. Philadelphia,	1944
000	Chillian I am Large and Carnel Suc. 80	010	1 /	1044
	nants, or Law and Gospel, 8vo., \$2,	912		
	London, 1828		Souls, 38c. Philadelphia,	1843
886	CRANMER, Archbishop, Life and	913		
	Times of, 50c. London, 1839		Pre-Millenial Advent of Messiah,	
887	Life of, by Rev. II. J.		50c. London,	1836
001	Todd, D. D., 2 vols., Svo., fine calf,	914		1000
		914		1000
	\$4,50, London, 1831		38c. London,	1836
888	Another copy, cloth, \$3, do. 1831	915		
889	Life of, by the Rev. C.		Eccle-iastical History, 50c. Boston,	1831
	W. Le Bas, 2 vols., \$2,50, (Riving-	916	CURATE of Linwood, or the Real	
	ton.) Londor, 1833		Strength of the Christian Ministry,	
000				1045
890	Writings and Disputa-		38c. Philadelphia,	1845
	tions, (Parker Society's Volume,)	917	CURATE'S Book, a Collection of	
	royal 8vo., \$4. Cambridge, 1844		Sacred Poems, by Denroche,	
891	The Remains of, edited		London,	1832
	by Jenkins, 4 vols., \$8,50, Oxford, 1833	918	CURZON, Hon. R., Visits to the Mo-	
000	- Catechism Illustrated,	010		
892		!	nasteries of the Levant, \$1,50,	
	8vo., 82 50, Oxford, 1829		New York,	1849
893	CRESSWELL, Rev. Daniel, D. D.,	919	CUST, Edward, Doctes Dominicae,	
	Sermons on Domestic Duties, \$1,50,	1	\$4,50, (Rivington,) London,	1848
	London, 1829	920	CYPKIAN, St., Tracts of, from Mar-	
ent	CRISP, Tobias, D. D., Complete			1000
0.02		0.01	shall's Translation, \$1,50, Lond.,	1002
	Works, 2 vols., \$3, London, 1832	921		
	1 Sound old Divine.		Poole, of Ozford, 8vo., \$2,50,	
895	CRATICA Biblica, or Depository of		Oxford,	1840
	Sacred Literature, &c., 4 vols., \$8,	922	CYPRIANI, Opera Genuina, 50c.	
	London, 1827	1	Leipsic,	1000
002		0.00		1000
990	CROLY, Rev. George, D. D., New	920	CYRIL, St., Catechetical Lectures of,	
	Interpretation of the Apocalypse		(Lib. Fathers,) \$2.50, Oxford,	1838
	of St. John, \$1,75, London, 1827	924	DAILLE, On the Right Use of the	
897	Same work, \$2, 2d edition, 1828		Fathers, \$1.25. Philadelphia	1842
	A work of deep erudition.	925		
898	— Divine Providence, or the		DAILY Scripture Readings, by Mrs.	1.0.10
0.00		1 220		1005
	Three Cycles of Revelation, \$3,	١.	Fry, 75c. Philadelphia,	1999
	London, 1834	927	DALCHO, Rev. Frederick, Historical	
899	CROSWELL, Rev. Harry, D. D, A	l	Account of the Protestant Episco-	
	Manual of Family Prayer, 75c.	1	pal Church in South Carolina,	
	New-Haven, 1844		\$1,50, Charleston,	
900		928		
200		925		
	Church, 25c. New-Haven, 1840		of our Saviour, 50c. Charleston,	
901	CROWELL, Rev. Wm., Church Mem-	929	———— Ahiman Rezon, 75c. do.	1822
	ber's Guide, 75c. Boston, 1847	930	DALE, Rev. Thomas, The Golden	
902	CRUDEN'S Concordance of the Holy		Psalm, being an Explanation of	
002	Samptimes \$9 Dill-11.11 1010			
0.00	Scriptures, \$3, Philadelphia, 1846		Psalm xvi., \$1,50, London,	1947
503	Same work, edited by David King,	931	DANA, Rev. James, D. D., Sermons	
	\$1.50, Boston, 1845		to Young People, 8vo., \$1,50,	
904	CRUTTWELL, Rev. C., Concordance	1	New-York,	1806
	of Parallels, 4to, \$4, London, 1790	000		1000
005		902	DANSEY, Rev. William, Horæ De-	
905	CUDWORTH, Rev. Ralph, Intellec-		eancæ Rurales, or an Attempt to	
	tual System of the Universe, 2		Show the Office of a Rural Dean,	
	vols., 8vo., \$4,50, Andover, 1837	1	and other very interesting informa-	
906			tion, 2 vols., \$8, splendidly printed	
	Eternal and Immutable Morality,	1		1814
		0.00	in small 4to., illustrated, London,	1044
0.01	\$1, Andover, 1838	933	D'ANVILLE'S Ancient Geography,	
907	CUMBERLAND, Bp., An Attempt	1	edited by Horsley, 2 vols., \$3,	
	CUMBERLAND, Bp., An Attempt for Discovering the Times of the		London,	1814

STANTORD & SWORDS, 15.	, BROADWAI, NEW-TORK. 21
934 DAUBENY, Rev. Charles, Guide to	962 DEHON, Sermons on Confirmation,
the Church, with Life of the Au-	13c. New-York, 1814
thor, 2 vols., \$5, best edit., Lond., 1830	963 ——— Essay on the Life of, by
935 Same work, 2 vols., \$4, do. 1798	Bishop Gadsden, \$1,50, Charleston, 1833
936 ————— Eight Discourses, 8vo.,	964 DFLANY, Rev. Dr., Life of King
\$1,50, London, 1802 937 ————— Discourses, 3 vols., \$6,	David, 2 vols., \$2,50, London, 1759 でデームn invaluable work.
London, 1802	965 Another copy, in 1 vol., \$1,50,
938 ——— Protestant Companion,	Dublin, 1743
\$2, London, 1824	966 — Sermons on Social Du-
939 — On Schism, \$2,50, do. 1824	tics, with Bishop Hebart's Auto-
940 — — Vindiciae Ecclesia An-	graph, 2 vols., \$2.50, London, 1750
gličana, \$2, London, 1803	967 DENOMINATIONS, or an Account
941 D'AUBIGNE, Merle, History of the	of all the Churches and Seets of Christendom in the 19th Century,
Reformation in the 16th Century, a new translation, by Henry Beve-	large 12mo., \$1,50, London, 1837
ridge, Esq., 4 vols., \$2, Glasgow, 1845	968 DENROCHE, Rev. E., The Curate's
942 — On the Reformation,	Book, a Series of Poems on Sacred
O 2 37 37 1 20 477	Subjects, 75c. London, 1832
943 — Discourses and Essays, mitted by Dr. Baird, St. N. V. 1848	969 DIATESSERON, or the History of
Circu by Dr. Bard, 51, 11, 1, 1040	our Saviour, by Thirwall, \$1,
944 — On the Reformation, 4	London, 1808
vols., §1,75, New-York, 1847 945 ————————————————————————————————————	970 DIBDIN, Rev. T. F., D. D., A Course of Lent Lectures, 2 vols., \$2,50,
New-York, 1847	London, 1833
946 DAVID, King, Life of, 2 vols., \$2.50,	971 ————————————————————————————————————
London, 1759	calf, London, 1825
947 DAVIDSON, D., Connexion of Sa-	972 DICK. Rev. Thos., Works, complete,
ered and Profane History, 3 vols.,	\$1,50, Hartford, 1842
\$2,25, New-York, 1844	973 ——— Christian Philosopher, 63c.
948 DAVIES, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, 3	Philadelphia, 1892
vols., \$2, New-York, 1845 949 DAVY, Rev. Chas., Cottage Sermons,	974 — Lectures on Theology, 2 vol., \$4, New-York, 1846
or Short Discourses addressed to	975 ——— Philosophy of a Future State,
Plain People, 4 vols., \$1,50, Lond., 1824	50e. Phi'adelphia, 1830
950 ——Rev. W., Discourses on the	976 ——— Essay on the Evils of Covet-
Divinity of Christ, 2 vols., \$3,	ousness, 75c. New-York, 1836
Exeter, 1825	977 ———— Lectures on the Acts, \$2, do. 1845
951 DAWSON, Rev. John, Lexicon of the	978 DIONIS, Chrysostomi, Opera, 8vo.,
New Testament, \$1,75, London, 1766	\$3, Brunsvigæ, 1841
952 DAY, Jeremialı (President,) On the Will, 12mo., 50c. 1838	979 DIONYSH Halicarnassei, Opera, folio, \$6, Frankfort, 1586
953 — Examination of Edwards, 75c.	980 DISPLAY of the Trinity, \$1,50,
New-Haven, 1841	London, 1773
954 DAYS and Seasons, or Church Poe-	981 DISSOLVING Views, or the Life of
try for the Year, \$1,50, (Parker,)	a Heathen and a Christian Child,
Oxford, 1845	25c. Philadelphia, 1846
955 DEAD in Christ, An Inquiry Con-	982 DITTON, Humphrey, On the Resur-
cerning the Intermediate State, by	rection, \$1,59, London, 1740
the Rev. J. W. M'Cullough, D. D., 50c. Baltimore, 1845	983 DIVINE Breathings, or a Pious Soul Thirsting after Christ, 31c. Lond., 1846
956 DEALTRY, Archdeacon, Sermons,	984 ———— History of the Church, or a
\$3.25, London, 1848	Catechism on the Apocalypse, by
957 DEATH, Things After, in Three	the Rev. Frederick Fysh, edited by
Parts, on the Intermediate State,	Rev. Richard Newton, \$1, Phila., 1845
\$1, London, 1848	985 DOANE, Bi-hop, Brief Examination
958 DEATH-BED Scenes and Pastoral	of the Rev. Mr. Boardman's Proofs,
Conversations, by Dr. Wharton, 3 vols., \$3.50 and \$t, London, 1830	986 — Horæ Catecheticæ, 50c.
959 DECOETLOGON'S Sermons, 2 vols.,	Philadelphia, 1833
\$2,50, London, 1776	987 — A Volume of Sermons,
960 DE COURCY, Christ Crucified, \$1,	\$1.50, various dates.
London, 1776	988 DOBELL, Rev. John, Selections of
961 DEHON, Bishop of South Carolina,	more than Eight Hundred Hymns,
Sermons, 2 vols., \$8, elegant copy,	63c., rare, Philadelphia, 1825
now very rare, London, 1823	989 DOCTRINE of the Cross, a Memorial

of a Humble Follower of Christope 50c. New-Yor		1018 DORRINGTON, Rev. Theophilus, View of the Principles of the Lu-
50c. New-Yor 990 DODD, Rev. Wm., D. D., Commo		theran Churches, showing how far
Paice Book of the Holy Bibl		they Agree with the Church of
	n, 1766	England, \$1, London, 1714
991 DODDRIDGE, Rev. Philip, Fami		1019 — A Vindication of
Expositor, 6 vols., 8vo., \$10, (Vi		the Christian Church in the Bap-
tue's splendid edition,) with plate		tizing of Infants, \$1, London, 1701
	n, 1845	1020 DOUGLAS, John, D. D., Criterion,
992 — Life of, by Dr. O		or Rules of the True Miracles, 4th
	n, 1828	edition, \$1,75,
993 ————— Sermons on Varior		1021 DOUGLASS, James, Esq., Errors in
Subjects, 4 vols., \$5,50, Londo		Religion, 75c. New-York, 1831
994 ———— Sacramental Med		1022 DOWLING'S History of Roncon-
	n, 1838	1022 DOWLING'S History of Roman- ism, 50 plates, \$2,50, New-York, 1845
995 — Whole Works, cor		1023 DOYLY, Rev. George, D. D., Ser-
	n, 1802	mons, chiefly Doctrinal, 8vo., \$2,
		London, 1827
pondence, 5 vols., \$10,50, Lone		1024 DRELLINCOURT, The Christian's
		Defence against the Fear of Death,
	n, 1799 L	\$I, Philadelphia, 1838
998 — Lectures on Preac		1025 — On Death, \$1,-
ing, 38c. Andove	r, 1833	50, London, 1776
999 — Family Exposite		1026 DREW, Samuel, The Life, Charac-
\$2,75, Fitchburg		ter, and Literary Labors of, by
1000 - Discourses on Reg		hi - Son, 75c. New-York, 1838
neration, \$1, Edinburg		1027 ——— Essay on the Resurrection
1001	·S,	of the Body, \$1,50, Brooklyn, 1811
rarious editions.		1028 — On the Soul, 75c. Phila., 1836
1002 DODSWORTH, Rev. William, Di		1029 DUCHE, Rev. Jacob, A. M., Rector
courses on the Lord's Suppe	r,	of Christ Church, Philadelphia,
(Burns,) 63c.	1840	Sermons, 2 vels., \$2,50, very rare,
1003 — Practical Discou		London, 1780
ses on Romanism and Disser		1030 DUFFIE, Rev. Cornelius R., Ser-
50c. Baltimor		mons, 2 vols., \$2,50, New-York, 1829
1004 DOLLINGER, I. J., Ig. History	of	1031 DUNCAN'S Sacred Philosophy of
the Church, 4 vols., \$10, Londo		the Seasons, 4 vols., \$4, N. Y., 1846
1005 DOMESTIC Preacher, being For		1032 — Memoir, by his Son,
 Di courses by Eminent Minister 		75c. New-York, 1848
2 vols., \$1,25, Londo	n, 1826	1033 DUPIN, Dr. L. E., The History of
1006 Portraiture of Leg	glı	the Church, 4 vols., \$4, London, 1724
Richmond's Family, 75c. N. Y	ď., 1849	1034 ————————————————————————————————————
1007 — Memoirs of the Tud	or	1035 — A Complete Method of
Family, by Henry Tudor, Es	1 .,	Studying Divinity, \$1,50, very
8vo., \$3,25, Londe	n, 1848	rare and valuable, London, 1720
1008 DONNE, Dr. John, The Works of	of,	1036 — Ecclesiastical History, or
with Life, by Alford, 6 vols., 8vo	0.,	Lives and Acts of the Saviour
	n, 1839	and his Apostles, 8vo., \$2.50,
1009 — Devotions, (Pickering		London, 1732
\$1,75, Londo	n, 1840	1037 ———— Evangelical History, 2
1010 — Selections from the World	k s	vols., \$2.50, London, 1732
of, \$1.25, Oxfor	d. 1340	1038 DUY, Rev. A. W., Sermons and
1011 DOOLITTLE, Rev. Thos., Treati	se	Remains, with his Life, by Rev.
on the Lord's Supper, 25c.		Samuel A. Clark, \$1, Phila., 1846
Glasgo	w, 1798	1039 DW1GHT, Rev. Timothy, D. D., Ser-
1012 DORR, Rev. Benjamin, D. D., Tl	ıe	mons, edited by his Sons, 2 vols.,
Churchman's Manual, 50c. Phil		8vo., \$4, rare, London, 1828
1013 Same work, new edit., 75c. de	1850	1040 — Discourses on Some
1011 ——— Recognition of Friends Another World, 25c. New-Yor	in	Events in the Last Century, \$1,-
Another World, 25c. New-Yor	k, 1850	50, New-Haven, 1801
1015 — Affectionate Invitation	to	1041 Travels, 4 vols., \$4, do. 1821
the Holy Communion, 38c. Phil		1042 — Theology, 4 vols., 8vo.,
1016 — History of Christ Churc		\$6, New-York, 1848
Philadelphia, \$1,25, Phil	a., 1841	1013 Same work, 2 vols., \$3, Edin., 1828
1017 — History of a Pocket Pray	er	1044 Another copy, 4 vols., \$5,
Book, 38c. Philadelph	ia, 1814	New-Haven, 1823
1		•

1045 DYER, Rev. Palmer, On the Church,		ELIZABETH, Judah's Lion, 50c.	1040
25c. Whitehall, 18 1046 —— Thos. H., Life of John Cal-	1075	New-York, Peep into Tract No.	1848
vin, Compiled from Authentic	1	VC 25c Philadelphia	1844
Sources, \$1, New-York, 18 1047 EAST, Rev. John, My Saviour, 50c.	850 1076	Tions, \$1,50, Personal Recollections, \$1,50, London,	1847
Boston, 18	848 1077	ELLETT, Mrs. E. F., Family Pic-	1011
1048 ——— Peace in Believing, 75c. do. 18 1049 ——— On Affliction and Desertion,	347	tures from the Bible, 75c. N. Y.,	1848
\$2, London, 18		ELLIAS, Rev. John, Letters, Essays, &c., \$1, London,	1847
1050 EASTBURN, Bishop, Lectures on	1079	ELLIS, Rev. Clement, Serious Chris-	
the Philippians, 75c. New-York, 18 1051 ECCLES, Rev. Samuel, Sermons,	1080	tian Instructed, \$1,25, London, Rev. John, The Knowledge	1731
75c. London, 17.		of Divine Things from Revelation,	
1052 ECHARD, Lawrence, A General	1001	\$1,25, London,	1837
Ecclesiastical History, 2 vols., \$2,- 50, London, 17		ELLYS, Anthony, D. D., The Spiritual and Temporal Liberty of	
1053 Another copy, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2,		England, 4to., \$2, London.	1765
London, 17 1054 EDGAR, Samuel, The Variations	29 1082	ELSMERE, Sloane, D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., \$3,50, London,	1762
of Popery, \$2, New-York, 18-		Admirable.	1100
1055 EDREHI, Rev. Dr. M., Historical	1083	ELY, Rev. Ezra S., Contrast be-	
Account of the Ten Tribes of Israel, settled beyond the River		tween Calvinism and Hopkinsian- ism, 75c. New-York,	1811
Sambatyan in the East, \$1,50,		Conversations on the Science	
London, 183 1056 EDSON, Rev. Ambrose, Letters to	36	of the Human Mind, 50c. Philadelphia,	1819
the Conscience, 31c. New-York, 18-	45 1085	— A Synopsis of Didactic Theo-	1010
1057 EDWARD VI., Two Liturgies of, 83. Oxford, 18:	90 1002	logy, 75c. Philadelphia, EMMA, The Little Child that Jesus	1822
1058 EDWARDS, Rev. Jonathan, Whole	50 1000	Called, by Rev. H. W. Lee, 25c.	
Works, 4 vols., 8vo, \$6, N. Y., 18-	46	Boston,	1847
1059 ———— Twenty Sermons on Various Subjects, 75c. Edin., 178	89 1087	EMMONS, Rev. Nathaniel, D. D., Sermons on Christian Doctrine	
1060 On Freedom of the		and Duty, \$2, Providence,	1823
Will, 8vo., \$1,25, Glasgow, 179	90 1088	ENCYCLÓPEDIA of Religious Knowledge, \$3,50, Philadelphia,	18.16
Strictly Examined, vs. Dr. Chaun-	1089	ENEMY, The Last, Conquering and	1010
cey, 8vo., \$1.50. very rare, Bost., 17:	20	Conquered, by George Burgess,	1050
1062 ————— On Revivals, 50c. Worcester, 18:	32 1090	D. D., Bishop of Maine, \$1. Phila., ENFIELD, Rev. William, Sermons	1000
1063 — On Redemption, \$1 50,		for the Use of Families, 2 vols.,	
Edinburgh, 178		\$1,50, London, ENGLISH Churchwomen of the	1778
Northampton, 186		Seventeenth Ceutury, being the	
1065 — Rev. Jonathan, (the		Lives of Eminently Pious Ladies	1017
elder,) Complete Works, with co- pious Index, &c., \$10, New-York, 18s	49 1092	of Quality, 50e. New-York, ———————————————————————————————————	10+1
1966 ———————————————————————————————————		selected from Various Authors, 9	1550
ti-m, 50c. Peter, On Bap-	41 1093	vols., §6, London, ENGLISHMAN'S Greek Concord-	1773
1063 EGYPT and Its Monuments, or		ance of the New Testament, being	
Egypt a Witness to the Bible, by Rev. F. L. Hawks, D. D., plates,		an Attempt at a Verbal Connection between the Greek and the	
\$3, New-York, 18-	49	English Texts, including a Con-	
1069 ———— and the Books of Moses, illustrated by its Monuments, &c.		cordance of Proper Names, with	
&c., by Dr. Hengstenberg, 75c.		Indexes, Greek-English and English-Greek, 2d edition, with a new	
Andover, 184	43	Index, royal 8vo., sheep, \$5,	1040
1070 EIKON Baslike, The Portraiture of King Charles I., \$1.50, London, 189	24 1094	New-York, Hebrew and	1848
1071 ELIJAH the Tishbite, by Krum-		Chaldee Concordance of the Old	
macher, 50c. New-York, 184 1072 ELIZABETH, Charlotte, War with	47	Testament, being an Attempt at a Verbal Connection between the	
the Saints, \$1,50, London, 184		Original and the English Transla-	
1073 Same work, 50c. New-York, 184	16	tions, with Indexes, a List of the	

	Proper Names, and their occur-		1119 EVANSON, Rev. E., On the Lord's
	rences, &c. &c., 2 vols., royal Svo.,	1017	Day, 50c. Ipswich, 1792
1005	cloth, \$18, London, EPIPHANII, Onmia Opera, folio,	19.41	1120 EVANS, Rev. John, Golden Centenary, 63c. London, 1822
10,00	\$6, Basil,	1544	
1096	EPISCOPIUS, Opera Omnia, 2 vols.		Temper, \$2,50, London, 1725
	fine calf, \$7,50, Amsterdami,	1650	1122 — Sketch of Religious De-
1097	EPISCOPACY Examined The Con-		nominations, 50c. Boston, ——
	troversy between Bishop H. U.	1044	1123 Same work, 38c. New-York, 1848
1098	Onderdonk and Barnes, 38c. Collection of Essays	1844	1124 ———————————————————————————————————
1000	on by How Linn de de 5110		London, 1834
	very rare, New-York, Tested by Scripture. EPISCOPAL Tracts, Bound Volume	1806	
1099	——————————————————————————————————————		London, 1845
1100			1126 — Biography of the Early
	of, published by the Diocese of		Church, \$1,75, London, 1837
	Massachusetts, in 1843, 1844, and		1127 — On the Church of God,
1101	1845, 75c. Boston, EPISTLES of the Apostolic Fa-		\$1,25, London, 1832 1128 EVIDENCES of Christianity, by
1101	thers, by Archbi-hop Wake, 8vo.,		Alexander, Watson, Jenyns, Les-
	\$1.50, New-York,	1850	lie, and Paley, 75c. Philadelphia, 1831
1102			1129 EXAMPLE, or Family Scenes, 50c.
	thers, with Arndt's True Christi-		Philadelphia, 1833
	anity, in 1 vol., edited by Wesley,		1130 EXPLANATION and History of
1100	\$1, London,	1845	the Book of Common Prayer, by
1105	EPOCHS of the Church at Lyons, 88c. Cambridge,	1919	Mr. Plowman, 38c. Philadelphia, 1844 1131 EXTON, Richard B. Sixty Lectures
1104	ERHARD, Thomae Aquinus Com-	1040	on the Psalms, \$3,50, London, 1847
	mentarius, in Universa Biblica		Displaying rich stores of
	Sacra, folio, \$4, Augustæ,	1682	learning.
1105	ERNESTIS, Biblical Interpretation,		1132 FABER, Eight Dissertations on the
	edited by Bishop Terrot, 2 vols.,		Prophetical Passages of Holy
1106	82, Edinburgh,	1832	Scripture, \$3 50, London, 1845
1100	The same, translated by Professor Stuart, 50c. Andover,	1819	The Primitive Doctrine of Justification, \$3, London, 1839
1107		1042	Justification, \$3, London, 1839 1134 — Horæ Mosaicæ, 2 vols.,
	75c. Leip-ic,	1819	calf, \$6, London, 1818
1108	ERSKINE, Rev. Jno., D.D., Sketches		1135 — Operations of the Holy
	of Church History, 2 vols., \$1,		Spirit, \$1,25, London, 1818
1160	Edinburgh,	1790	1136 — Apostolicity of Trinitari-
1109		1010	anism, 2 vols., \$3,50, London, 1832
1110	ritual Songs, \$1. New-York,	1948	1137 — Origin of the Primitive Sacrifice, \$1,50, London, 1827
	75e. Edinburgh,	1797	1138 — On Transubstantiation, \$2,
1111	ESSAY on Abstract Reasoning, be-		London, 1840
	mg an Introduction to Edwards		1139 — On Regeneration, \$3, do. 1840
	on the Will, by Prof. Taylor, 50c.		1139 — On Regeneration, \$3, do. 1840 1140 — On the Prophecies, \$2,
1110	Boston,	1832	New-York, 1811
1112	ESSAYS on Perfection and Sanctification, by Methodist Divines,		1141 Another copy, 2 vols., \$2, Lond., 1808
	75c. Baltimore,	1838	1142 — On Election, \$1,75, N. Y., 1840 1143 — Difficulties of Romanism,
1113	On Episcopacy, by Ho-	1000	\$1, Philadelphia, 1840
	bart, Howe, Beasley, and others,	i	1144 —— Provincial Letters on the
	50c. New-York.	1806	Tendency of the Oxford Tracts,
1114	S. T.		\$1, London, 1840
1115	\$1, Baltimore, EUSEBIUS, Ecclesiastical History,	1844	1145 FABRI Basilii Sorani Thesaurus
1110	by Crusé, with Council of Nice,		Eruditionis Scholasticæ, &c. &c.,
	by Dr. Boyle, \$2,25, New-York,	1850	2 vols., folio, \$6, 1789 1146 FAITH and Practice, A Layman's
1116	Life of Constantine,	50	Account of his, 50c. Aberdeen, 1813
	\$2.25, London,	1845	1147 FALCONER, Rev. Thomas, Bamp-
1117	EVANGELICAL Alliance, Report	1	ton Lectures, \$2, Oxford, 1811
	of the Proceedings of the Conference, \$2,50, London.	1045	1148 FALLOW, Rev. T. M., The Order of
1118		1847	Baptism Illustrated, &c., \$1,50,
	z.,	1810	London, 1848 1149 FAMILY Lectures, a Course of Ser-
	= 5		1 TILLIE Documents a course of bot-

mons by Sixty-two Divines, 2 vols., §4, London, 1796	rican Church, by Bishop Ho- bart, 75c. New-York, 1849
13 An invaluable collection of able Sermons.	1177 FESTIVALS and Fasts, A New Companion to, by a Layman, ed-
1150 FAMILY PRAYER, Rev. Dr. Ber-	ited by Dr. Howard, 8vo., \$1,
1151 — Rev. Dr. Wain-	Aberdeen, 1808 1178 FEWELL, A Series of Essays of
wright's, 63c. New-York, 1850 Rev. Dr. Cros-	Opinion for Churchmen, by W. A., 75c. Baltimore, 1846
well's, 75c. New-Haven, 1847 1153 — By Jenks, re-	1179 FIDDES, Rev. Richard, D. D., Body of Divinity, 2 vols., folio, \$7,
vised by Simeon, 63c. New-York, 1849	London, 1718 1180 – Same work, 1 vol., folio, \$5, do. 1718
1154 — Rev. Dr. Wy- att's, §1,25, New-York, 1849 1155 — Rev. Dr. Mc- Vickar's, 50c, New-York, 1850	1181 FIELD, Rev. Joseph, Sermons, 50c. Mobile, 1836
Vickar's, 50c. New-York, 1850 1156 — Bp. Meade's,	1182 FINCH, William, D. D., Bampton Lectures, \$1,25, Oxford, 1797
58C. 1854	1183 FLAVEL, Rev. J., Sermons, 2 vols.,
1157 — Thornton's, New-York, 1850	1184 — Treatise on the Soul of
Also, various others.	Man, 8vo., \$1,50, London, 1824
1158 FANATICISM, by the Author of	1185
Natural History of Enthusiasm,	
75c. New-York, 1834	75c. Middletown, 1824
1159 FARMER, Rev. Hugh, Dissertations on Miracles, London, 1790	1187 FLEETWOOD, Rev. J., D. D., Life
on Miracles, London, 1790 1160 ———— On the Worship of Hu-	of our Lord and Saviour, 8vo., \$3, plates, London, 1845
man Spirits, 8vo., \$2.50, London, 1783	1188 ——————————————————————————————————
	Sermons, complete edition, folio,
1161 — On Christ's Temptation, \$1,25, London, 1791	\$4,50, London, 1737
1162 FARROW, Rev. Benj., Practical Ex-	1189 — Sermons on the Re-
position of the Church Catechism,	lative Duties, 8vo., \$1, London, 1705
63c. London, 1708	1190 FLEMING, Robert, Rise and Fall
1163 FATHER Clement, a Roman Ca-	of Papacy, 38c, 14th edit,
tholic Story, by Grace Kennedy, 38c. Philadelphia, 1845	Aberdeen, 1849 [元子] A most remarkable book.
1164 FATHERS and Reformers of the	1191 FLETCHER, Works of the Rev.
Church of England, by Rev. Legh	John, 2 vols., \$4, London, 1840
Riehmond, 8 vols., \$30, fine copy,	1192 — Works of, 8 vols., \$6,
exceedingly rare, London, 1807	London, 1772
1165 — Reformers, &c., in Har-	1193 — Portrait of St. Paul, 2
mony with Calvin, 8vo., \$1,	vols., \$2,50, London, 1790
London, 1812	1194 — Life of, by Benson,
1166 Same work, 12mo., 50c. Phila., 1817	50c. New-York, 1837 1195 ————— Life of, by Rev. Ro-
1167 FAULKNER, Rev. William E., Ser-	lunt Cur. 75 a Did delic 1006
mons, 75c. London, 1799 1168 FAWCETT, Rev. John, Sermons, 2	bert Cox, 75c. Philadelphia, 1836 1196 ———————————————————————————————————
vols., 8vo., \$2, London, 1817	Baltimore, 1814
1169 FEMALE Visitor to the Poor, by a Clergyman's Daughter, \$1,50,	1197 ————— Posthumous Pieces, edited by Gilpin, 75c. N. Y., 1830
London, 1846	1198 Same work, edited by Melville
1170 FENELON, Archbp., Whole Works,	Horne, 50c. Philadelphia, 1793
5 vols., 8vo., \$7.50, Paris, 1838 1171 ——————————————————————————————————	1199 — Mrs. Mary, Life of, 75c. Philadelphia, 1841
cerning the Knowledge and Love	1200 FLEURY, L'Abbé, History of Chris-
of God, 50c. New-York, 1844	tians in the Early Church, \$2,
1172 ———— Pious Reflections. 1844	London, 1703
1173 — On the Religious Edu-	1201 — Mœurs des Israelites et
cation of a Daughter, 18mo., 38c.	Cretiens, 75c. Paris, 1784
Boston, 1830 1174 FERGUS, Rev. Henry, On Revela-	1202 ——— Review of his Ecclesias- tical History, in Italian, by Gio-
tion, 75c. Philadelphia, 1833	vanni Marchetti, 2 vols., \$1,50,
1175 FESTIVALS and Fasts, by Robert	Vanin Marchetti, 2 vois., \$1,50, Venice, 1794
Nelson, Esq., several copies, each	1203 FOLLOWING Jesus, and other
\$1,50, London,	Poems, 50c. Philadelphia, 1845
1176 Same work, adapted to the Ame-	1204 FORBES, Hon. Duncan, Some

	Thoughts Concerning Religion,	1230 FRAUDS of the Romi-h Monks
	Natural and Revealed, 75c.	and Priests, 2 vols., \$2,75, Lond., 1725 1231 FREY, Rev. S. C. F., Controversy
	Edinburgh, 1750	1231 FREY, Rev. S. C. F., Controversy
1205	FORD, Rev. James, A Century of	between Jews and Christians, 2
	Christian Prayers on Faith, Hope	vols, \$1.50, New-York, 1835
	and Charity, \$1,25, Ipswich, 1824	
1003	1 golden book.	London, 1847
1206	FORDYCE, Rev. Jas., Pulpit Elo-	1233 FRY, Rev. John, (of Oxford,) His-
1007	quence, 75c. Leicester, 1815	tory of the Church of Christ, \$3,
1207		Lendon, 1825
1000	London, 1755	1234 ——— Essays on Christian Baptism,
1208		63c. New-York, 1848
1209	Men, \$1,75, London, 1777 Sermons to Young	1235 — New Translation of the Book
1290		of Job, \$2, London, 1827
1910	Women, 2 vols., \$1.50, London, 1767 FOREROS, Philosophical Disquisi-	1236 —— Caroline, Christ our Example,
1210		63c. New-York, 1844
1911	tions, 75c. Delenge, 1624 FORMBY, Rev. Henry, A Visit to	1237 —— Christ our Law, 75c. do. 1848 1238 —— Scripture Reader's Guide.
1211	the East, including Egypt, Idu-	
	mea, and Palestine, 63c. N. Y., 1845	25c. New-York, 1835
1010	FORMULAS of Faith of Henry	1239 — Great Commandment, 75c. do. 1847 1240 — Sabbath Musings, 50c. do. 1846 1241 — Word to Women, 75c. Phila., 1837
1212	VIII., edited by Rev. C. Lloyd,	1941 Word to Women 75a Phile 1995
	\$3, Oxford, 1825	1241 — Word to Women, 15c. 1 ma, 1654
1913	FOSTER, John, Life and Corres-	1241 — Word to Women, 75c. Phila., 1837 1242 — Table of the Lord, 75c. do. 1838 1243 — Scripture Principles of Edu-
1210	pondence, edited by Ryland and	cation, 25c. Philadelphia, 1833
	Shepherd, 2 vols., \$1,50, N. Y., 1846	1244 — Daily Scripture Readings,
1214	Essays, in a Series of	75c. Philadelphia, 183
	Letters, 75c. London, 1848	1245 — The Listener, \$1,25, do 1844
1215	Another copy, elegantly bound,	1245 — The Listener, \$1,25, do 1844 1246 — Autobiography and Letters,
	\$1,	75c. Philadelphia, 1849
1216		1247 — Mrs. Elizabeth, Life and La-
	New-York, 1844	bors, by the Rev. Mr. Timpson,
1217		75c. New-York, 1845
1218	Miscellaneous, \$1,50, do. 1844 Gospel Narrative, with-	1248 FULKE, Rev. William, D. D., De-
	out Repetition or Omission, &c.	fence of the English Translation
	&c., royal 8vo., \$3, immensely va-	of the Bible, 8vo., \$3, (Parker
	luable, London, 1845	Society,) London, 1848
1219		1249 FULLER, Rev. Andrew, Memoir of,
	metanism Unveiled, An Inquiry	63c. Boston, 1836
	to prove that heresy confirmatory	1250 — Whole Works, edited by
	of the Christian Faith, 2 vols.,	Belcher, 3 vols., 8vo., \$7, (Baptist
	large 8vo., \$5, London, 1829	Book Con.) Philadelphia, 1846
1220	FOTHERGILL, Rev. George, D. D.,	1251 ——— The Backslider, 25c.
	Sermons, \$1.50, Oxford, 1761	New-York, 1841
1221	FOWLER, Rev. Andrew, On the	1252 — Gospel its Own Witness,
	Articles, 38c. Charleston, 1839	50c. New-Haven, 1801
1222		1253 — Discourses on Genesis, 2
	of Common Prayer, 50c. 1807	vols., \$2,25, London, 1800
1223		1254 ———— Rev. Samuel, D. D., The
	with Notes, &c., 12mo., 75c.	Golden Censer, \$1, Boston, 1846
1004	Charleston, 1838	1255 ———— Rev. Thos., D. D., Eccle-
1224	FOX, Rev. H. W., Missionary to In-	sia-tical History of Great Britain,
1005	dia, Memoir of, \$2, London, 1849	3 vols., \$7.50, plates, London, 1840 Worthies of the Church
1229	Rev. John, Universal History	1256 — Worthies of the Church
	of Christian Martyrdom, thick	of England, \$7.50, London, 1840
1226	8vo., \$3,50, illustrated, London, 1837	1257 ——— Holy and Profane State,
1220	2 3 4 5 5 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	\$2,50, London, 1841
1227	New-York, 1846 —— Universal History of Chris-	1258 FUTURE State, Natural Evidence
	tian Martyrdom, edited by Pratt,	of, by F. G. Bakewell, \$2, Lond., 1835
	\$1.50. London, 1824	1259 ——— State of the Dead, by
1228		Burnett, \$1,50, London, 1726
× O		1260 — State, Bishop Hobart's
1220	8vo., \$6,50, London, 1839 FRANKE, Rev. A. H., (of Halle,)	State of the Departed, 50c. N. Y., 1847
	Memoirs of his Life and Labors,	1261 ———— State, Philosophy of, by Rev. John Dick, 50c. Phila., 1835
	by Bickersteth, 75c. London, 1847	160. John Dick, 50c.
	London, 1941	ptate, Recognition of

	-,
Friends in, by Rev. Dr. Dorr,	siae, or the Statutes, Canons, Con-
25e. New-York, 1850	
1263 FUTURE State, by the Rev. J. J.	of England, with Commentaries,
Kerr, 50c. Philadelphia, 1845	
1264 FYS11, Rev. F., The Divine History	1288 GIBSON, Three Pastoral Letters,
of the Church, edited by Rev. R. Newton, Rector of St. Paul's,	with Horne on Infidelity, 75c.
Philadelphia, \$1, Philadelphia, 1845	New-York, 1831 1289 Another copy, \$1, London, 1732
1265 GALE, Rev. Thos., D. D., Sermons	1289 Another copy, §1, London, 1732 1290 An Admonition against
on the Holy Days, \$1, London, 1704	Profame Swearing, 63c. London, 1760
1266 GAMBIER, Rev. J. E., Guide to the	1291 — Boyle Lectures, \$1,75,
Study of Moral Evidence, 38c.	London, 1703
Boston, 1834	1292 GIESLER, J. C. J., Compendium of
1267 GARDINER, Col. James, Life of,	Ecclesiastical History, translated
by Do.ldridge, 75c. London, 1792	by Dr. Davidson, 2 vols., \$3, N.Y., 1849
Other editions of the	1293 GILL, Rev. John, D. D., Body of
same work.	Doctrinal and Practical Divinity,
1268 GARDNER, Rev. Jas., Memoirs of	2 vols., \$6, London, 1825
Christian Missionaries, 75c. Edin., 1848	1294 GILLIES, John, On the New Tes-
1269 — Memoirs of Christian	tament, 2 vols., \$4, London, 1810
Females, with an Essay on the	1295 GILLY, Rev. William S., Spirit of
Influence of Female Piety, 75c. Edinburgh, 1847	the Gospel, \$2,50, London, 1818
1270 GARRATT, Rev. S., Scripture Sym-	of the New Testament, 2 vels., \$3,
bolism, or Tabernacle Architec-	London, 1811
ture, \$1, London, 1848	1297 — Lives of the Fathers,
1271 — W. A., Esq., Inquiry	12mo., 75c. London, 1766
into the Scriptural View of the	1299 - Lives of Wickliffe, Cob-
Church, \$1,25, London, 1846	ham, Huss, Jerome of Prague,
1272 GASTON, Rev. H., Scripture Col-	dc. de., 8vo., \$1,25, London, 1766
lections, in the form of Concord-	1300 GIRDLESTONE, Rev. C., Commen-
ance, revised and enlarged, \$2,	mentary on the New Testament,
Philadelphia, 1846	4to., \$5, London, 1832
1273 GASTRELL, Bp., Boyle Lectures,	1301 Same work in 8vo., Matthew to
1797, \$1.75, London, 1703	John xx., \$1,50, London, 1833
1274 — On Christian Revela- tion, 8vo., \$1, London, 1699	1302 — Devotions for Pri-
tion, 8vo., \$1, London, 1699 1275 ———— Christian Institutes,	vate Use, 75c. London, 1835
63e. London, 1848	a Christian, 75c. London, 1827
1276 GEDDES, Rev. Dr., Council of Trent	1304 ————— Parochial Ser-
no Free Assembly, \$2, very rare,	mons \$1.50 Tondon 1826
London, 1697	1305 — Rev. Henry, The
1277 GELL, Rev. Philip, Essay on Spi-	Hope of Israel, Advent Sermons,
ritual Baptism and Communion,	75c. London, 1842
\$1.25, London, 1847	1306 GISBORNE, Rev. Thomas, Familiar
1278 GEMS of Sacred Literature, 2 vols.,	Survey of the Christian Religion,
\$1,75, (Parker,) London, 1847	\$1,50, London, 1806
1279 — of Sacred Poetry, 2 vols.,	1307 ————————————————————————————————————
\$1,75, (Parker,) London, 1847 1280 GENTOO Laws, translated from the	London, 1804
Persian by Halhed, \$1, London, 1781	Dates of Tellities,
1281 GERMAN Pulpit, Sermons by Emi-	\$1.50, London, 1797 1309 GLADSTONE, Hon. W. E., The
neut Divines in Germany, 8vo.,	State, in its Relations with the
\$2,50, London, 1829	Church, 2 vols., \$4, London, 1841
1282 GERRARD, Alexander, D. D., Com-	1310 — Church Principles,
pendions View of the Evidences,	\$2, London, 1840
	1311 — Historical View of
\$1,50, London, 1828 ———————————————————————————————————	the Church of England, 19c. Balt., 1843
284 GESENIUS, Hebrew and English	1312 GLASS Painting, An Inquiry into
Lexicon, edited by Professor Ro-	the Difference of Styles observa-
binson, \$5,50, Boston, 1849	ble in Ancient Glass Paintings,
1285 — Hebrew Grammar, by	&c. &c., numerous plates, 2 vols.,
Conant, 8vo., \$2,50, Boston, 1845	\$5, London, 1847
286 — On the Lord's Sup-	1313 GLASSE, Rev. Geo. H., Sermons,
per, 50c. London, 1845 I287 GIBSON, Bishop, Codex Juris Eccle-	&c., Svo., \$1, Bp. Hobart's copy,
1201 GIDBOIN, DISHOP, COUCE JHITS ECCIE-	London, 1798

1311	GLEIG, Bp., History of the Bible, 2	*0	1343	GRAVES, Rev. Richd., D. D., Whole	
	vols., \$1, New-York, GOBAT, Bishop of Jerusalem, Re-	1844	1344	Works of, 4 vols., \$10, Dublin,	1840
6161	searches in Abyssinia, \$1, N.Y.,	1850	1944		1840
1316	GODWIN, Thos., Moses and Aaron,		1345		2010
	or the Civil and Ecclesia-tical		10:0	25. London	1846
	Rites of the Ancient I-raelites, 410, \$3, London,	1619	1346	37 1. 6	1000
1917	GOODE, Rev. William, The Divine	1040	1347	Recessity, \$1,50, London, GRAY, Rev. Jas., D. D., Mediatorial	1829
1011	Rule of Faith and Practice, 2			Reign of the Son of God, \$1, Balt.,	1821
	vols., 8vo., 83, Philadelphia,	1842	1348	Rev. Richard, D. D., A Sys-	
1318	The Effects of Baptism in			tem of Ecclesiastical Law, ex-	
	the Case of Infants, &c. &c., \$2, New-York,	1850		tracted from Gibson's Codex, \$2, London,	1730
1319	Rev. Francis, The Better		1349		1100
	Covenant, 75c. Philadelphia,	1836		Old Testament, \$2, London,	1791
1320	GOODRICH'S Lectures to Children,		1350		
1991	38c. New-York, GOODWIN, Rev. Harvey, Parish	1849		with Percy's Key to the New Testament, \$3, London,	1911
1021	Sermons, \$1,75, Cambridge,	1847	1351	GREEK ECCLESIASTICAL HIS-	1041
1322	Rev. John, Christian			TORIANS:	
1000	Theology, \$2, London,	1836		Eusebius, Ecclesiastical History to	
1525	Exposition of the Roman, 8vo., \$2,50, London,	1895		the 324th Year of the Christian Era, a New Translation,	
	A work of deep learning.	1000		with Life of Eusebius, &c., 8vo.,	
1324	GORD IN, Sir Adam, Discourses on			eloth, \$2,25, London.	1842
	the Homilies, 2 vols., half moroeco,			THEODORET, A History of the	
1905	\$4,50, London,	1795		Church, in Five Books, from A. D. 322 to 427, with Memoir	
1325	Robert, Sermons, Svo., §1.50, Edinburgh,	1837		of the Author, &c., 8vo., cloth,	
1326	GOTHIC Architecture, Paley's Ma-			\$2,25, London,	1843
	nual of, 70 plates, \$1,75, Lond.,	1846		Socraces, A History of the Church,	
1327	Architecture, by Bloxam, 228 plates, \$2, London,	1816		in Seven Books, from the Aecession of Constantine to A. D.	
	A recy useful work.	1040		445, translated from the Greek,	
1328				with Life of the Author, &c.,	
40.30	by Dr. Maller, \$1.50, London,	1824		8vo., cloth, \$2.25, London,	1844
1329	——— Architecture, Anglican Church, by Barr, 200 plates, \$1,-			Eusebius Pamphilius, The Life of the Emperor Constantine, in	
	50, Oxford,	1845		Four Books, a New Translation,	
1330	Architecture, by Bi-hop			8vo., cloth, \$2,25, London,	1845
1601	Hopkins, of Vermont, 4to, \$2,	1835		Sozomen, A History of the Church,	
1331	Wills, \$3, New-York,	1850		in Nine Books, from a. d. 324 to a. d. 440, a New Translation,	
1332	GOUGE, Rev. Thomas, Works of,	1000		with Life of the Author, 8vo.,	
	\$1,50, London,	1706		cloth, \$2,25, London,	1846
1533	GRAFENHAN, An Introduction to	1000		Evagrius, A History of the	
1334	Writing Hebrew, \$1,50, Oxford, GRAFTON, Mary, Spiritual Glean-	1836		Church, in Six Books, from A. D. 431 to A. D. 594, a New Trans-	
	ings, \$1, Boston.	1824		lation, with Life of the Author,	
1335	GRAHAM, Mrs. Isabella, Life of,	i	I	8vo., cloth, \$2,25, London,	1846
1992	75c. New-York,	1844		The same, complete set, 6 vols.,	
1336	and Pious Labors of 75c N V	1837	1352	8vo., eloth, \$12,50, GREEK Testament, by Bloomfield,	
1337	Test of Truth, 25e. Freeness of Justifying	1834		2 vols., \$4,50, Boston,	1804
1338	Freeness of Justifying		1353	Te-tament, with copious	
1339	Grace, 25c. Philadelphia, Life and Works of, by	1834		English Notes, by J. A. Spencer,	1015
reer	the Rev. Chas. Bridges, 8vo., \$1,		1354	\$1,25, New-York, GREEN, Rev. S., Book of Family	1947
	New-York,	1849	1001	Prayer, 50e. London,	1840
1340	GRANT, Rev. Alexander, D. D., Ser-		1355	GREGORII, Epis., Nysseno Opera,	1 17 0 4
1241	mons, 2 vols., \$2, Dundee, ———————————————————————————————————	1800	1950	\$4,50, Coloniæ, GREGORY, Olinthus, Letters on the	1764
1011	London,	1837	1990	Evidences of Christianity, 2 vols.,	
1342	Ashbel, M. D., The Nesto-			\$1,50, London,	1839
	rians, or the Lost Tribes, \$1. N. Y.	1841	1357	Same work \$1.50 New-York.	1816

				,	
1358	GRESLEY, Rev. W., Ecclesiastes Anglicanus, a Treatise on Preach-		1386	GURNEY, Hints on the Portable Evidence of Christianity, 38c.	
•	ing, \$1,50, London,	1840		Boston,	1833
1359	Same work, edited by Professor	1010	1387		
1360	Haight, \$1,25, New-York, ————————————————————————————————————	1813		History, 2 vols., \$1,50, plates, London,	1818
1000	Churchman, 88c. New-York,	1843	1388	GUTHRIE, William, Translation of	
1361		14		the Institutes of Quinctillian, 2	1500
1269	New-York,	1244	1389	vols., \$3,50, London, GUYOT, Prof., The Earth and Man,	1456
1002	New-York,	1843	10	Lectures on Comparative Physi-	
1363	———— Siege of Litchfield, 75c.	*0.00		— cal Geography, edited by Prof.	
1261	New-York, ————————————————————————————————————	1813	1390	Felton, \$1,25, Boston, HABESHAM, Miscellanies, on Pro-	1849
1001	New-York,	1843		phecy, \$1, Philadelphia,	1841
	Charles Lever, 75c. do.	1843	1391	HABERSHON, M., A Guide to the	
1366	GREW, Rev. Dr., Cosmologia Sacra, folio, \$2, London,	1701		Study of Chronological Prophecy, 8vo., \$1,25, Philadelphia,	18.01
1367	GRIER, Rev. Richard, D. D., An	1101	1392	HAHN'S Edition of the Greek Te-	1011
	Epitome of the General Councils			tament, edited by Prof. Robinson,	
	of the Church, from A. D. 325 to 1563, calf, \$3,50, very valuable,		1909	\$1,50, New-York, Edition of the Hebrew	1842
	Dublin,	1827	1000	Bible, \$1,75 and \$3, Leipsic,	1815
1368	An Answer to Ward's Er-		1394	Same work, Philadelphia edition,	
	rata of the Protestant Bible, 4to., \$2,50, London,	1910	1905	edited by Rev. Jos. Jaquett, \$3, HALDANE, Robert, The Evidence	1848
1369	GRIESBACH'S New Testament,	1012	1959	and Authority of Divine Revela-	
	75c. Boston,	1830		tion, &c., 2 vols., \$2,50, London,	1838
1370	GRIFFIN, Rev. Edw. D., Remains of, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2.50, N. Y.,	1990	1396	tle to the Romans, &c. &c., \$2.50,	
1371	Memoir of, by Rev. John	1092		New-York,	1849
	M'Vickar, D. D., 50c. New-York,	1832	1397	HALE, Rev. Benjamin, D. D. Scrip-	
1372	pel its Own Advocate, \$1, N. Y.,	1850		tural Illustrations of the Morning and Evening Prayer, 31c. X. Y.,	18.17
1373		1000	1398	— William, Analysis of Chro-	1511
1051	75c. New-York,	1846		nology, 4 vols., 8vo., \$16, (Riving-	1000
13.4	Rev. Dr., Sermons, \$1,-50, New-York,	1844	1399	ton,) Lorelon, Sir Matthew, Contempla-	1830
1375	GRINFIELD, Rev. Thomas, A Cen-		101.0	tions, 8vo., \$1, London,	1685
	tury of Original Sacred Songs, 75c.	1045	1400		1721
1376	GRISWOLD, Memoir of, by Rev.	1944	1301	HALL, Rev. Edwin, The Puritans and their Principles, \$1,50,	
	John S. Stone, D. D., §2, Phila.,			New-York,	1845
1377	Sermons, \$2, rery	1000	1402	John, of Richmond, Treatile	
1378	scarce, Philadelphia, Brief Exposition of the Reformation 13c Boston	1990		on Government and Obedience, folio, \$1,50, London,	1664
	the rectification, 1777	1843	1403		
1379	GROTIUS, Hugo, Life of, by But-	1.00		Memoir of, by Rev. J. Jones, \$2.	1002
1350	ler, \$1, London, ———————————————————————————————————	1950	1494	London, Whole Works of, edited by	1550
	Religion, best edit., \$1.50, Oxford,	1815		Pratt, 10 vols., \$25, London,	1840
1381	Same work, in Latin, edited by	1=70	1405		
	Johannis Clerici, 75c. London, Sept. Several other editions of			Treatises as have before been published, and are now revised.	
	the same work in Latin and Eng-			folio, \$6, London,	1671
1990	lish. GURLEY, Rev. R. R., Mission to		1406		
1582	England in behalf of the Coloni-			and New Testaments, folio, \$7.50, London,	1554
	zation Society, \$1, Washington,	1841	1407	Another copy, \$3, do.	1842
1383	GURNELL, Rev. Wm., The Chris-		1408	Another copy, 3 vols., \$5, Edin.,	
	tian in Complete Armor, 2 vols., \$4, London,	1820	1409 1410	Same work, abridged, 75c. N.Y., ———————————————————————————————————	1844
1384	GURNEY, Joseph John, On Chris-			by Exton, 75c. London,	1823
190#	tianity, 75c. Philadelphia,	1829	1411	Explication of Christ's Pre-	
1385	Sermons and Prayers, 50c. Philadelphia,	1838		sence in the Eucharist, illuminated, \$1, London.	1844
	1			, - ,	

1412 HALL, Devotions, Aphorisms, and Religious Table Talk, \$1,50,	1439 HARDING, Rev. John, Sermons, 75c. London, 1841
London, 1846	1440 HARE, Bishop, Works of, 4 vols., 8vo., \$3,50, London, 1755
1413 — Treatises, Devotional and	1441 ——— Rev. Augustus Wm., Ser-
Practical, \$1, London, 1836	mons to a Country Congregation,
1414 —— Rev. Robert, Life of, by Gregory, \$1, London, 1833	\$2,25, New-York, 1838 1442 — J. C., Means of Unity, 8vo.,
1415 — Whole Works of, 6 vols.	\$1,50, London, 1847
8vo., 9th edition, \$9, London, 1845	1443 — Rev. Edward, Preservative
1416 — Works, 4 vols., 8vo., sheep,	against the Errors of Socinianism,
\$5, Harpers' edition, New-York, 1846 1417 HALYBURTON, Rev. Thos., Whole	\$2, London, 1821 1444 ——— Pulpit Remains, 8vo., \$1,75,
Works of, with Life, &c., by Dr.	London, 1821
Burns, \$3,50, London, 1833	1415 Rev. G. E., D. D., Christ to
1418 — Memoir of, by Dr.	Return, 50c. Philadelphia, 1840
Burns, 50e. Princeton, 1833 1419 — Memoir, written	1446 HARNESS, Rev. W., Parochial Sermons, \$2,50, London, 1839
by Himself, 50c. Philadelphia, 1786	1447 HARRIS, Rev. James, Three Treat-
1420 — Rational Inquiry	ises on Arts, Poetry, Music, &c.,
into the Principles of Modern De- ists, &c. &c., \$1,50, Albany, 1812	\$1,25, London, 1772 1448 ———————————————————————————————————
1421 — Great Concern of	Commission, or the Christian
Salvation, 75c. Elizabethtown, 1814	Church Charged to Convey the
1422 HAMBLETON, John, The Cross of	Gospel to the World, \$1, Boston, 1843
Christ, Seven Sermons, 63c. London, 1841	1449 —— Zebulon, A Prize Essay, Boston, 1837
1423 HAMILTON, Rev. Jas., The Church	1450 — Union, or a Divided
in the House, \$1, London, 1847	Church made One, 50c. Boston, 1838
1424 — The Harp upon the	1451 — The Pre-Adamite Earth,
Willows, 38c. New-York, 1844 1425 ———— Richd, Winter, LL. D.,	75c. Boston, 1849 1452 ————————————————————————————————————
Revealed Doctrine of Rewards	Boston, 1844
and Puni-liments, \$3, London, 1847	1453 — The Great Teacher, 75c.
1426 — On the Sabbath, \$1,	Boston, 1843
London, 1848 1427 HAMMOND, Rev. II., D. D., Para-	1454 — Mammon, 50c. do. 1841 1455 — An Essay on the Unrea-
phrase and Annotation on the	sonablness of Scepticism, \$1,
New Testament, 4 vols., 8vo., \$9,	Oxford, 1843
Oxford, 1845 1428 Same work, folio, old calf, \$4,	1456 ———— Rev. N. Sayre, Journal of a Tour in the Indian Territory,
London, 1653	25c. New-York, 1844
1429 Another very superior copy, \$6,-	1457 ———— Rev. T. M., D. D., Natural
50, London, 1681 1430 — Practical Catechism.	History of the Bible, \$1,50, Bost., 1820
1430 ———— Practical Catechism, Svo., \$1,50, London, 1700	1458 HART, Rev. Richard, Ecclesiastical Records of England, Ireland, and
1431 — A Paraensis, or Sea-	Scotland, from the Fifth Century
souable Exhortation, St. Oxford, 1646	to the Reformation, \$3, 2d edi-
1432 Wm. A., Definitions of	tion, Cambridge and Oxford, 1846
Faith and Canons of the Six Œcu- menical Councils, \$1.25, N. Y., 1849	1459 HASSARD, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, edited by Rev. H. W. Lee, 8vo.,
1433 — Wm., of Cambridge.	\$1, Boston, 1848
Marrow of the Church, 75c, N. Y., 1816	1460 HATFIELD, Rev. Edwin F., Uni-
1434 HAMPDEN, Rev. Renn., D. D., Evidence of Christianity, 8vo., \$2,	versalism as it Is, 75c. N. Y., 1841
London, 1827	1461 HAWHEY, Rev. Chas, Sermons on Various Subjects, \$1,50, Oxford, 1797
1435 HANDEL'S Messiah, Complete, for	1462 HAWIES, Rev. Thos., D. D., Com-
the Organ, Voice, &c. &c., with all	municant's Spiritual Companion,
the Choruses in Score, 4to, \$2, 1820 1436 HANNAM, Rev. Thomas, The Pul-	S8c. Philadelphia, 1845
pit Assistant, \$2,50, Rochester, 1842	Preacher at Magdalen Hospital,
1497 HAPPY Ignorance, or Church and	Sermons, &c., \$1, London, 1848
State, \$1,25, London, 1847	1464 HAWKER, Rev. Robert, Spiritual
1138 HARCOURT, Rev. L. Vernon, The Doctrine of the Deluge, 2 vols.,	Reflections on the Holy Scriptures, 2 vols., \$2, London, 1845
8vo., \$3,50, London, 1838	1465 ——— Concordance and Dic-
,	•

SIANTOND & SHORDS, 13	, DROADWAI, NEW-TORK.
tionary of the Sacred Scriptures,	1493 HEDERICO, Gracum Lexicon Ma-
\$1.75, London, 1846	muale, Morell's edition, 4to., calf,
1466 HAWKER, Whole Works, 10 vols.,	\$5, London, 1821
large 8vo., \$20," London, 1831	1494 HELE, Rev. Dr., Offices of Private
A very fine com.	Devotion, 8vo., \$2, new and im-
1467 ————————————————————————————————————	proved edition, London, 1831 1495 Another copy, \$1,50, do. 1826
Divinity of Christ, and on the	1495 Another copy, \$1,50, do. 1826
Holy Spirit, 75c. London, 1815	1496 HELLENISTICA Editio Novum
1468 - Commentary on the Bi-	Testamentum Graecum, 2 vols.,
ble, 3 vols., 4to., \$11, London, 1843	8vo., \$7.50, (Pickering.) London, 1843
1469 ————— The Poor Man's Morn-	1497 HELON'S Pilgrimage to Jerusalem,
ing Portion, 75c. Philadelphia, 1844	63c. Boston, 1835
1470 — The Poor Man's Even-	1498 HELPS to the Study of the Prophe-
ing Portion, 75c. Philadelphia, 1844	eies, 8vo., 50c. Baltimore, 1832
1471 — Zion's Pilgrim, or the	1499 HENDERSON, Rev. Matthew H.,
Way to the Heavenly Camaan,	The Days of Old, 25c. N. Y., 1846
38c. New-York, 1846	1500 HENGSTENBERG, E. W., Christo-
1472 HAWKES, Mrs., Memoirs of, by	logy of the Old Testament, trans-
Catharine Cecil, \$1, Phila., 1840	lated by Dr. Keith, 3 vols., \$5,
1473 HAWKINS, Henry and Lactitia	Alexandria, 1886
Matilda, Sermonets, \$1, London, 1814	1501 ————— Egypt and the
1474 HAWKS, Rev. Francis L., D. D.,	Books of Moses, 75c. Andover, 1843
History of the Protestant Episco-	1502 — Commentary
pal Church in Virginia, \$2, N.Y., 1836	on the Psalms, translated, 3 vols.,
1475 — History of the Protestant	8vo., \$7,50, Eduiburgh, 1846
Episcopal Church in Maryland,	1503 HENING, Mrs., History of African
\$2, New-York, 1839	Missions, 75c. New-York, 1849
1476 — On Auricular Confession,	1504 HENRICH, Opitii Novum Lexicon
38c. New-York, 1849	Hebræ, Chaldæo, Biblicum, 4to.,
1477 — Monuments of Egypt, or	\$2.50, Leipsic, 1692
Egypt a Witness for the Bible,	1505 HENRY VIII., Formulas of Faith,
\$3, New-York, 1849	by Rev. Chas. Lloyd, \$3, Oxford, 1835
1478 HAWKSTONE, A Tale, by Rev.	1506 — and His Cotempo-
W. Sewell, 8th edition, N. Y., 1849	raries, exhibiting the Progress of
1479 HAWTREY, Rev. Chas., Sermons,	the Reformation, 75c. London, 1847
\$1, Oxford, 1797	1507 HENRY, Rev. Carlton, Letters to
1480 HAY, Rev. Alexander, Treatise on	an Auxious Inquirer, 50c. Phila., 1833
Baptism, 25c. New-York, 1838	1508 — Rev. Caleb S., D. D., Com-
1481 HAYNES, Rev. Lemnel, Life of,	pendium of Christian Antiquities,
75c. New-York, 1838	\$1, Philadelphia, 1897
1482 HEAD, Rev. F. A., The World and	1509 — Rev. Matthew, D. D., Com-
its Creator, or the Message of God	mentary on the Old and New Tes-
and the History of Man, \$2,50,	taments, 6 vols., royal 8vo., \$12,
(Rivington's,) London, 1847	Philadelphia, 1844
1183 —— Rev. Henry E., Sermons on	1510 — Method of Prayer, seve-
the First Principles of the Oracles	ral editions, 38 and 50c.
of God, \$2, London, 1841	1511 — On Meckness, 38c. Lond., 1828
1484 HEAVEN, the Model of a Chris-	1512 ———— Pleasantness of a Reli-
	gious Life, 38c. New-York, 1848
tian Family, 50c. Troy, 1840 1485 HEBER, Bp., Sermons, \$2, N. Y., 1829	1513 — Communicant's Compa-
1100 Tif. of he Mer Hohor 9	nion, 50c. New-York, 1843
1486 — Life of, by Mrs. Heber, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3, New-York, 1830	1514 — Memoir of, 75c. Boston, 1830
1487 ————— Last Days of, by Archdea-	1514 — Memoir of, 75c. Boston, 1830 1515 — Miscellaneous Works, roy-
con Robinson, 50c. New-York, 1830	at 8vo., \$5, London, 1838 1516 ———— Select Works of, edited
1438 ——— Bampton Lectures, 8vo.,	by Bradley, \$1,50, London, 1829
82.75, Oxford, 1816 1489 ——— Poetical Works, 75c.	1517 ———————————————————————————————————
	Lundon 1916
Philadelphia, 1841	London, 1816
1490 — Hymns, adapted to the	1518 HENSHAW, Bishop J. P. K., The-
Church Service, 8vo., 50c.	ology for the People, being a Se-
New-York, 1827	ries of Discourses on the Cate-
Narrative of a Journey in	chism, \$2, Baltimore, 1840
India, 2 vols., \$2, Philadelphia, 1829	1519 — Lectures on the Ad-
1492 HEBREW Tales, selected and trans-	vent, 50c. Baltimore, 1842
lated from the Writings of the	1520 — Lessons on Reading
Hebrew Sages, 50c. New-York, 1847	the Church Service, &c., 50c. Balt., 1843

1521 HENSHAW, Bishop Joseph, Horæ	1549 HINTON, Rev. J. H., The Active
Successive, or Spare Hours, &c.	Christian, 75c. London, 1832
&c., reprinted from the edition of	1550 Isaac T., History of Bap-
1640, and edited by W. Turnbull,	tism, from Inspired and Unin-
E q., morocco, \$1,25, London, 1839	spired Writings, 75c. London, 1849
1522 HERBERT, Rev. George, Temple,	1551 HISTORIE Societatis Jesu, ad Rhe-
and other Poems, \$1, Boston, 1850	num Inferiorem, folio, \$2, Coloniæ, 1764
1523 Hon. and Rev. William,	1552 HISTORY of the Church, from the
Dean of Manchester, Works of, 3	Earliest Ages to the Reformation,
vols., 8vo., \$4, London, 1842	(Society of Useful Knowledge,) 2
1524 — Amy, by Miss Sewell,	vols., \$2,25, London, 1831
new and complete edition, 75e.	1553 — of Popery and Papal
New-York, 1847	Power, 8vo., \$1,50, London, 1838
1525 HERDER, J. G., The Spirit of He-	An important work.
brew Poetry, translated by Marsh,	An important work. 1554 — of the Council of Trent,
2 vols., \$1,50, Burlington, 1833	translated from the Italian of Fa-
1526 HERRING, Archbishop Thos., Ser-	ther Paul Sarpi, by Wm. Brent,
mons on Public Occasions, \$1,50,	Esq., folio, \$8, London, 1720
London, 1763	1555 — of the Council of Trent,
1527 — Letters to William Dun-	written in French, by Le P. Sforza
combe, \$1, London, 1777	Pallavieni, 3 vols., royal 8vo., \$6.
1528 — Letters, &c. &c., \$1, do. 1787	1556 — Father Paul's, in French,
1529 HERVEY, Rev. Jas., Whole Works,	4to., \$4,50, Amsterdam, 1686
6 vols., \$6, London, 1817	1557 — of Missions, from the
1530 — Theron and Aspasia, 2	most Authentic Sources, by Drs.
vols., \$2,50, London, 1817	Smith and Chowles, 4to., \$3,50,
1531 - Meditations, 50c. N. Y., 1846	New-York, 1846
1532 — Sermons, Tracts, and	1558 — of Persecutions, from the
Letters, 50c. Philadelphia, 1810	Patriarchs to the Reign of George
1533 — A Collection of Letters,	II., by Dr. Chandler, with Addi-
75c. Glasgow, 1792	tions by Chas. Atmore, 8vo., \$2,
1534 HETHERINGTON, Rev. W. M.,	London, 1813
History of the Church of Scot-	1559 — of Trinity Church, New-
land, Svo., \$2, New-York, 1845	York, by Rev. Wm. Berrian, D. D.,
1535 Another copy, 2 vols., \$2,25,	8vo., plates, \$2, New-York, 1846
Edinburgh, 1848	1560 HOADLEY, Bp., Sermons, 2 vols.,
1536 HEWLETT, Rev. John, D. D., Com-	8vo., \$2, London, 1755 ——————————————————————————————————
mentaries and Annotations on the	1561 — Defence of Episcopal
Holy Scriptures, 5 vols., \$10,	Ordination, \$2, London, 1707
London, 1816	1562 — Plain Account of the
1537 — Manual of Instruction	Nature and End of the Lord's
and Devotion, 75c. London, 1818	Supper, 75c. London, 1735
1538 HEXAPLA Psalter, 4to., \$4, do. 1843	1563 HOARE, Rev. Edward, Sermons on
1539 HEYLYN, Rev. Peter, D. D., The	the Scriptural Principles of the
Doctrine and Discipline of the	Church, 75c., (Hatchard,) Lond., 1845
English Church, (Burns,) 38c.	1564 — Rev. J. C., Lectures on
London, 1846	Divine Judgments, \$1,50, Lond., 1840
1540 — Life of Archbi-hop	1565 — Sermons on Christian Cha-
Laud, folio, \$4. London, 1671	racter, \$2, London, 1846
1541 ———— Rev. John, D. D., Theo-	1566 HOBART, Bishop John Henry, of
logical Lectures, with an Inter-	New-York, Posthumous Works,
pretation of the Four Gospels,	with Life, by Dr. Berrian, 3 vols.,
4to., \$2,50, London, 1749	\$4, New-York, 1833
1542 HEYWARD, Rev. Oliver and Na-	1567 — Sermons on Redemption,
thuniel, Memoirs of, \$2, London, 1827	2 vols., \$3,50, New-York, 1824
1543 HICKMAN, Bishop, Sermons on	1568 — Dissertation on the State
Christian Faith, &c., 8vo., \$1,50,	of the Departed, 50c. New-York, 1846
London, 1713	of the Departed, 50c. New-York, 1846 1569 ———— Apology for Apostolic
1544 IIILARI, Sancti Episco., Opera	Order, carefully reprinted from
Complura, folio, \$3, very rare, 1510	the edition of 1807, with the ad-
1545 HILL, Rev. George, D. D., Lectures	dition of a Full Index, edited by
on Divinity, \$3, Philadelphia, 1844	his son-in-law, Bishop Ives, 50c.
1546 — Rev. Rowland, Village Dia-	New-York, 1848
logues, 2 vols., \$2, Philadelphia, 1843	1570 — Clergyman's Companion,
1547 Same work, \$1,25, London, 1847	edited by Bishop Ives, 75c. and
1548 — Life of, by Sidney, \$1, N. Y., 1834	\$1,50, tucks, New-York, 1849

1571	Same work, pocket-book form,		1591	HOMILIES of the Church of Eng-	16.14
1572	\$1,50, New-York, HOBART, Christian's Manual of		1595	land, \$2, best edition, Phila., Discourses on, by Sir	1344
	Faith and Devotion, 6th edition,			Adam Gordon, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,	
1573	75c. New-York, Companion for the Al-	1850	1596	London, Same work, abridged by Bishop	1795
1010	tar, 22d edition, 63c. New-York,	1847	1000	Meade, of Va., 12mo., 50c.	
1574			1507	Philade'phia, HONE, Rev. Richard B., Lives of	1848
	tivals and Fasts of the Church, 12th edition, 75c. New-York,	1850	1931	Usher, Evelyn, Hammond, and	
1575		1010		many other Holy Men, 4 vols.,	1040
1576	new edition, 25c. New-York, Memorial and Life, by	1849	1598	\$6, London, 1100K, Rev. W. F., D. D, Friendly	1843
	Rev. Dr. Schroeder, 50c. N. Y.,	1830		and Sea-onable Advice to the	
1577	sional Years of, by Rev. Dr. Mc-			Roman Catholics of England, \$1, London,	1847
	Vickar, 2 vols., \$1,25, N. Y.,	1834	1599	Call to Union, 8vo., 62½c.	
1578	Same work, edited by Rev. Dr.	1000	1000	New-York,	1839
1579	Hook, §3, Oxford, Analysis of Butler's	1838	1600	— The Last Days of our Lord's Ministry, a Course of Lectures,	
	Analogy, edited by West, 50c.			\$1,25, London,	1840
1580	New-York, HODGE, Rev. Charles, Commentary	1848	1601	—— Church of England Vindicated, in Sermons, 75c. Balt.;	1846
	on Romans, 75c. Philadelphia,	1843	1602	The Cross of Christ, or Medi-	
1581	———— The Way of Life, 50c. New-York,	1011	1602	tations on the Passion, 50c. N.Y., HOOKER, Richard, Whole Works,	1845
1582	HODGES, Rev. William, Infant Bap-		1000	2 vols., 8vo., fine copy, \$5, Lond.,	1845
	tism tested by Scripture and His-	1011	1604	Works of, 2 vols., \$4,50,	1044
1583	tory, 50c. Philadelphia, HODGSON, Rev. Christopher, D. D.,	1844	1605	New-York, Another copy, 2 vols., \$5, Oxford,	
	Instructions for the Use of Candi-		1606	Another copy, Harbury's edition,	
	dates for Holy Orders, 8vo., \$1,75, London,	1845		3 vols., Svo., slightly stained, \$3,50, London,	1880
1584	Rev. Charles, Family	1010	1607	Analysis of, by Rev. J.	
1595	Prayer, \$1, London, HOLDEN, Rev. George, Authority	1843	1608	Collinson, 8vo., \$1,50, London, Philoso-	1810
1000	of Tradition in Matters of Reli-		1000	phy of Unbelief in Morals and	
	gion, to which are appended, Not		1,000	Religion, 75c. Hartford,	1844
	Tradition but Scripture, by Dr. Shuttleworth, and Tradition Un-		1009	Uses of Adversity, 38c. Philadelphia,	1846
	veiled, by Dr. Powell, of Oxford,		1610	Popular Infidelity, 75c.	
1586	1 vol. 8vo., \$1,50, Philadelphia, Dean Lawrence, Para-	1841	1611	Philadelphia, ———— Portion of the Soul, 38c.	1856
1000	phrase on Job, Psalms, &c., 4 vols.,]	Philadelphia,	1843
1597	\$3, very rare, London, HOLE, Rev. Matthew, D. D., Paro-	1763	1612	Family Book of Devo- tion, \$1,50, Philadelphia,	18.19
1501	chial Discourses on the Liturgy of		1613	Rev. Horace, King Solo-	1042
	the Church of England, 4 vols.,	1005		mon's Counsels to the Young, 38c.	1015
1588	\$10, (Pickering's.) London, HOLMES, Mrs., (Author of Scenes	1837	1614	New-York, HOOLE, Rev. Samuel, Discourses	1849
	in our Parish,) Memoir of, by her			on the Parables, Resurrection, &c.	
1589	Sister, 63c. London,	1844	1615	&c., \$1,50, London, HOOPER, Rev. John, D. D., Early	1833
	tures, \$2, Oxford,	1782	1015	Writings of, published by the Par-	
1590	HOLY Baptism, Prayers, Medita-		1616	ker Society, \$3, Cambridge, Writings of, Lond. Tract	1843
	tions, &c., on the Sacrament of Baptism, (Burns,) 30c. London,	1844	1616	Society edition, \$1,25, London,	1840
1591	Baptism, (Burns,) 30c. London, Communion, Offices accord-		1617	HOPKINS, Ezekiel, Bp. of Derry,	
	ing to the Liturgy of King Edward VI., 63c. London,	1818		Whole Works, new edition, royal 8vo., \$4, London,	1846
1592	Spirit, Fourteen Sermons		1618	Sermons on the Lord's	
	on the Divinity and Operations of, \$1, (Whitsuntide Sermons,)		1619	Prayer, &c. &c., \$1, London, A Practical Exposition	1692
	London,	1835	1019	of our Lord's Prayer, 50c. Lond.,	1845
1593	HOMES, Rev. N., D. D., The Resur-		1620	Doctrine of the Two	
	rection Revealed, \$1,50, London,	1833	l	Covenants, 50c. London,	1909

1621 HOPKINS, John H., Bishop of Ver-	1649 HOUSEHOLD Liturgy, or an Order
mont, Primitive Church compared	of Daily Prayers for Families, 50c.
with the Protestant Episcopal	New-York, 1846
Church, \$1, Burlington, 1836	1650 HOUSEMAN, Rev. Robt., Life and
1622 — Address to the Bishops,	Remains, \$1, New-York, 1846
Clergy and Laity of the Protest-	1651 HOWARD, G., Wolsey, the Cardi-
ant Episcopal Church, 8vo., 12c.	nal, and his Times, \$2, London, 1824
New-York, 1846	1652 HOWARTH, Rev. Henry, The Li-
1623 ———— Church of Rome, \$1,	turgy as it Is, illustrated in a Se-
Burlington, 1837	ries of Practical Sermons, \$1.50,
1624 — Primitive Creed, \$1, do. 1836	London, 1847
1625 — Christianity Vindicated,	1653 HOWE, Hon Charles, Devout Medi-
50c. Burlington, 1834	tations, 50c. London, 1824
1626 — Novelties, in a Series of	1654 — Thos. Y., A Vindication of
Letters, 50c. Burlington, 1842	the Protestant Episcopal Church
1627 — Lectures on the Refor-	from the Attacks of the Rev. Dr.
mation, 75c. Philadelphia, 1843	Miller, 8vo., \$2, very scarce, N. Y., 1808
1628 ————————————————————————————————————	1655 — Rev. John and Wm. Bates,
tecture, with various Plans and	Select Works, \$1,50, Burlington, 1830
Drawings, \$2, Burlington, 1836	1656 ———— Whole Works of, with Life,
1629 — The History of the Con-	by Calamy, 2 vols., royal 8vo., \$3,
fessional, \$1, New-York, 1850	London, 1822
1630 ———— Rev. Samuel, D. D., Sys-	1657 ——— Theological Treatises, edit-
tem of Theology, 2 vols., \$3,50,	ed by Thomas Taylor, \$1, Lond., 1835
Boston, 1811	1658 — The Redeemer's Tears,
1631 HOR.E Diurnæ Breviarii Romani	wept over Lost Souls, &c. &c.,
ex Decreto, S. S. Cone, Frid. Pii.	63c. New-York, 1848
V., Clem. VIII., et Urbani VIII.,	1659 ———— Selections from his Works,
\$2, Antwerp, 1763	\$1,25, London, 1827
1632 HORNE, George, Bp. of Norwich,	1660 HOWLETT, Rev. John Henry, In-
Whole Works, 2 vols., \$4,50,	structions for Reading the Litur-
New-York, 1848	gy, &c. &c., 8vo., \$2,50, London, 1826
1633 — Commentary on the	1661 HUGG, Introduction to the Writ-
Psalms, 2 vols, 8vo., \$3, Lond., 1812	ings of the New Testament, edited
1634 Another copy, \$2, New-York, 1848	by Stewart, \$3. Andover, 1836
1635 Another copy, \$1,25, Phila., 1838	1662 HUGHS, Rev. Geo., Sermons, 8vo.,
1636 — Apology for Certain Gen-	\$1,25, London, 1831
tlemen at Oxford, \$1, London, 1799	1663 HUGONIS, Domini, Commentary
1637 ——— Rev. Thomas II., Intro-	on the New Testament, 2 vols.,
duction to the Holy Scriptures, 2	folio, \$8, Basil, 1504
vols., royal 8vo., \$3,50, N. Y., 1848	1664 — Commentary on Gene-
1638 Same work, abridged, \$1,50,	sis to Job, \$4, 1498
London, 1827	1665 HUMPHREY, Rev. W. G., Com-
1639 Same work, 5 vols., 8vo., 9th edi-	mentary on the Acts of the Apos-
tion, enlarged, \$22, London, 1846	tles, \$2,25, London, 1847
1640 ——— Parochial Psalmody, 50e.	1666 — Hulsean Lectures,
London, 1837	on the Doctrine of the Future
1641 ——— Protestant Memorial, 38c.	State, \$2, London, 1850
New-York, 1843	1667 HUNTER, Rev. H., D. D., Sacred
1642 HORSLEY, Bishop Samuel, Trans-	Biography, or the History of the
lation of the Book of Psalms, 2	Patriarchs, \$2, Philadelphia, 1841
vols., \$3,50, London, 1815	1668 Same work, royal 8vo., fine edi-
1643 — Tracts in Controversy	tion, \$2,50, Glasgow, 1840
with Priestly, 8vo., \$3,50, exceed-	1669 Another copy, 2 vols., \$2.50,
ingly scarce, Dundee, 1812	London, 1826
1644 — Biblical Criticism, 4	1670 — Rev. Thos., D. D., Moral
vols., \$9, London, 1820	Discourses on Providence, 2 vols.,
1615 ———————————————————————————————————	\$3. London, 1774
\$1.50, New-York, 1811	1671 HUNTINGFORD, Rev. George J.,
1646 HOUGH, Bp., Sermons and Charges,	D. D., Discourses on Different Sub-
with Memoir of his Life, \$1,50,	jects, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2,50, London, 1815
Oxford, 1821	Thoughts on the
1647 HOURS for Devotion, translated	Trinity, \$2, London, 1832
from the German, 50c. Phila., 1835	1673 HUNTINGTON, Rev. Wm., Trial of
1618 HOUSEHOLD Prayers for the Year	Universal Charity, 50c. N. Y., 1824
1847, (Hatchard,) 75c. London, 1817	1674 HURD, Bishop, Introduction to the

	BIANTOND & SHORDS, 18	1, DROXDWAT, MEN-TORK.	- 00
	Study of the Prophecies, 2 vols.,	1700 JACKSON, Rev. William M., Bar	
	\$3, London, 1788	tismal Obligations, or the Dutie	
1675		of Sporsors, 63c. Philadelphia	
1676	HURD, Works of, 8 vols., 8vo., \$9,	1701 JACOBUS, Rev. M. W., Notes o	
	London, 1811	the Gospels, Critical and Expla	
1677	——— Sermons, at Lincoln's lnn,	natory, 75c. New-York	
	&c., 3 vols., \$2,50, London, 1785	1702 JAHN, J., Archæologia Biblica, o	
1678	HURRION, Rev. Jno., Whole Works	Manual of Biblical Antiquities	۶,
	of, 3 vols., \$2, London, 1832	\$2,75, Andove	
1679	HUSSEY, Rev. F. J., D. D., Com-	1703 ——— Hebrew Commonwealth, \$5	
	mentaries on the Holy Bible on a	Oxford	l, 1837
	New Plan, 3 vols., royal 8vo., \$12,	1704 JAMAISON, Rev. William, D. D.	
	London, 1844	Cyprianus Isotimus, \$1, Edin	., 1705
1680	HYMNS on the Church Catechism,	1705 — Thos., Treatise on th	e
	25c. New-York, 1847	Corruptions of Scripture, Council	8
1681	IGNATIUS' Epistles, the Ancient	and Fathers, to Maintain Popery	
	Syriac Version, edited by the	&c. &c., 8vo., \$2, London	
	Rev. Wm. Cureton, \$2, (Riving-	1706 JAMES, Dr. John, Comment on the	3
	ton,) London, 1845	Collects, \$1,50, London	
1682	ILLUSTRATIONS of the Doctrine	1707 ——— Rev. John Angel, D. D.	,
	and Principle of the Church of	The Christian Professor, 50c.	
	England, 75c., (Pickering.) Lond., 1840	New-York	, 1838
1683	IMITATION of Christ, by Thomas	1708 — The Family Monitor, 50c.	
	á Kempis, by Stanhope, \$1,		, 1838
1004	Charleston, 1812	1709 — An Earnest Ministry the	
1684	Same work, by John Payne, 38c. 1822	Want of the Times, 75c. N. Y.	
1685	Same work, translated from the	1710 —— Anxious Inquirer, 33c. do	
	Latin by Rev. J. H. Newman,	1711 JANEWAY, Rev. James, Heaver	
1686	75c. New-York, 1844 Same work, Dr. Dibdin's splendid	upon Earth, or Jesus the Bes	
1000		Friend of Man, 75c. New-York	
	edition, \$4, London, 1838 Various other editions of	1712 JARVIS, Rev. Saml. Farmar, D. D.	
	the same work,	Introduction to the History of the Church, \$2,50, New-York	
1687	INDROITS, or Ante-Communion	Church, §2,50, New-York 1713 ———————————————————————————————————	
100.	Psalms for the Holy Days, 75c.	New-York	
	Philadelphia, 1841	1714 — Unity of the Church, 13c	
1688	INGRAHAM, Rev. George, True	New-York	
	Character of the Church of Eng-	1715 — Mariolatry, by Horne, 25e	
	land, \$1,50, London, 1838	Hartford	
1689	IRISH Pulpit, a Collection of Ser-	1716 JASHER, The Book of, referred to	
	mons, 3 vols., \$3, Dublin, 1839	in Joshua and Second Samuel,	
1690	IRONS, Rev. W. J., Parochial Lee-	\$1,50, New-York	
	tures on the Apostolic Succession,	1717 JAY, Rev. Wm., Works of, 3 vols.,	
	\$1,50, London, 1838	\$5, Baltimore,	
1691	IRVING, Rev. Edward, The Oracles	1718 — Morning and Evening Exer-	
	of God, in Four Orations, \$1.50,	cises, 8vo., \$1,50, New-York,	1844
	rare, New-York, 1823	1719 — Morning Exercises for the	
1692	ISAACS, Rev. D., The Doctrine of	Closet, 75c. New-York,	1842
	Universal Restoration Refuted,	1720 — Evening Exercises for the	
1000	50c. New-York, 1849	Closet, 75c. New-York,	1842
1693	IVES, Bishop, The Apostles' Doc-	1721 — Life of Winter, 50c. do.	1811
1001	trine and Fellowship, 50c. N. Y., 1844	1722 —— Christian Contemplated, 50e.	
	Obedience of Faith, 50c. do. 1849	New-York,	
1099	Pastoral Letter, 12mo., 25c. New-York, 1849	1723 —— Sermons, \$1,50, New-Haven,	1814
1000	Oral Catechism for Negroes,	1724 — Sermons, 63c. Cooperstown,	1812
1000	13c. New-York, 1847	1725 JEBB, Rev. John, A Literal Trans-	
1697	JACKSON, Rev. Thos., D. D., Whole	lation of the Book of Psalms, &c.	
2001	Works of the Learned and Pious,	&c., 2 vols., \$5,50, London, Thirty Years' Correspond-	1046
	12 vols., \$30, London, 1844		1007
1698		enee, 2 vols., \$2,50, Philadelphia, 1727 ——————————————————————————————————	1000
	the Church, 63c. Philadelphia, 1844	8vo., \$3, 5th edition, London,	1828
1699		An invaluable work.	1090
	mons, and Remains, edited by Rev.	1728 - Sacred Literature, 8vo., \$3,-	
	William M. Jackson, of Virginia,	50, London,	1828
	\$1,50, New-York, 1847	Very rare and of great value.	
	. 1	V y y.	

30	- CHINEGOUL,
1729 JEBB, Protestant Kempis, or Piety without Assetticism, 75c. N.Y., 1831	Prayers and Meditations, edited by Rev. Dr. Strachan, \$1, Lond., 1785
1730 JELF, Rev. W. E. Twelve Sermons at the Chapel Royal, 8vo., \$3,	1756 JOHNSON, Rev. Wm., of Ga., The Church's Argument for Christi-
London, 1848	anity, 38e. New-York, 1845
1731 JENKEN, Roy, Henry, D. D., Liturgy of the Church of England Ex-	1757 ——— Reply to Snodgrass on the Apostolic Succession, 25c.
plained, 75c. London, 1820 1732 JENKINS, Rev. Charles, On the	New-York, 1848 1758 ———— Richard, The Church
Duties and Obligations of the Sabbath, 38c. Portland, 1830	Vindicated, in Reply to Dr. Hamilton, of Mobile, 38c. New-York, 1849
1733 JENKS, Prayers and Offices of De-	1759 ———— Rev. Samuel, D. D., Life
votion, revised by Rev. Charles Simeon, 63c. New-York, 1849	of, by Chandler, 50c. New-York, 1805 1760 — Dr. Samuel, His Reli-
1734 JENKYN, Thos. W., On the Extent of the Atonement, 75c. Boston, 1835	gious Life and His Death, \$1, New-York, 1850
1735 ———— Union of the Holy Spirit	A very interesting volume.
and the Church, 88c. Boston, 1846 1736 ———— Rev. William, Rector of	1761 JONES, Rev. Charles C., The Religious Instruction amongst the Ne-
Blackfriars in 1653, Exposition of St. Jude, a new edit., 8vo., \$2,50,	groes in the United States, 75c. Savannah, 1842
London, 1839	1762 — Rev. Jeremiah, On the Ca-
1737 JENNINGS, Rev. David, D. D., Jew- ish Antiquities, 9th edition, \$2,	non of Holy Scripture, 3 vols., \$7,50, Oxford, 1837
London, 1837 1738 JENYNS, Soame, Esq., Whole	1763 — John, LL. D., Greek and English Lexicon, \$4, London, 1825
Works of, 4 vols., \$4, London, 1793 1739 JERMIN, Michael, D. D., Paraphras-	1764 ————————————————————————————————————
tical Meditations on Proverbs, fo-	1765 — The Book of the Heart,
Very rare and valuable.	1766
1740 — Commentary on The Ecclesiastes, folio, \$2,50, London, 1639	Sermons, \$1,25, London, 1841 1767 ———————————————————————————————————
1741 JERRAM, Rev. Charles, Lectures on the Atonemont, \$1,50, Lond., 1804	edited by Romaine, \$1, London, 1763 Rev. William, of Nayland,
1742 — Tribute to an Only Daughter, 38c. New-York, 1842	Discourses, \$3, London, 1832 1769 — Catholic Doctrine of the
1743 ———— and Wall on Infant Bap-	Trinity, 50e. New-York, 1848
tism, 50c. New York, 1850 1744 JESUITS, Early Missions of, in	1770 ———— Essay on the Church, 50c. London, 1843
America, by Rev. W. I. Kip. 2 vols., \$1, New-York, 1846	1771 ——— Book of Nature, 50c. do. 1846 1772 ——— Letters to a Pupil, \$1,
1745 — Mornings among, 75c.	Oxford, 1846
New-York, 1849 A Year amongst the,	1773 — Figurative Language of Scripture, \$2, London, 1818
50c. New-York, 1846 1747 JEWELL, Bishop, Whole Works of,	1774 Another copy, \$1,50, Phila., 1818 1775 JORTIN, Rev. John, D. D., Sermons
thick folio, \$12, very rare, Lond., 1609 1748 ——— Whole Works of, new	on Different Subjects, 4 vols., \$5,- 50, London, 1771
edition, 8 vols., 8vo., \$19. Lond, 1848.	1776 Same work, new edition, (Riving-
1749 - Works, second portion of Parker Society's edition, royal	ton's,) 4 vols., \$6, London, 1840 1777 ——————————————————————————————————
8vo, \$3,50, Cambridge, 1847 Exposition of Thessalo-	8vo., \$8, London, 1787 1778 ———————————————————————————————————
nians, \$1,50, London, 1811 1751 ———— Apology for the Church	\$3,50, London, 1771 1779 — Memoir of, by Dr. Disney,
of England, 50c. London, 1839	\$1, London, 1792
1752 Same work, edited by Bp. Whit- tingham, 75c. New-York, 1831	1780 JOSEPHUS, Flavius, Genuine Works of, \$4, London, 1835
1753 JOHNSON, Rev. Bryce, D. D., Commentary on the Revelation, 2 vols.,	1781 — Works of, Pictorial edition, edited by Stebbings, royal
\$3, Edinburgh, 1807 1754 — John, Riches of Gospel	8vo., \$5,50, London, 1845 1782 ———— Works of, in Greek
Grace Opened, a Course of Ser-	and Latin, folio, \$6, Coloniæ, 1691
mons, 2 vols., \$3,50, Liverpool, 1776 Rev. Samuel, LL. D.,	A most rare and valuable copy.

,	
1783 JOSEPHUS, Works of, 2 vols., 8vo.,	1807 KEBLE, The Psalter, &c., 75c.
\$2,50, Philadelphia, 1844 1784 — Works of, translated	Oxford, 1840 1808 KEITH, Bishop Robert, A Histori-
by Sir Roger L'Estrange, Kt.,	cal Catalogue of the Scottish Bi-
with Maps, Sculptures, and Accurate Indexes, large royal folio,	shops, &c. &c., \$3.50, Edinburgh, 1824 1809 ————————————————————————————————————
\$7,50, London, 1702	of the Times, 2 vols., \$1,50, N. Y., 1832
IF It is believed to be the only copy of this valuable edition	1810 — Evidence of Prophecy, 75c. New-York, 1844
in America.	1811 —— Demonstration of the Truth
1785 JOSEPHI, Judæ, Opera Omnia,	of the Christian Religion, \$1.25,
Textum Richter, 6 vols., \$7, Leipsie, 1827	New-York, 1844 1812 ———— The Land of I-rael, accord-
1786 Another copy, 6 vols., \$6,50, do. 1820	ing to the Covenant with Abra-
1787 JOSIAH, The History of, by the Author of Gideon, \$1,25, Lond., 1842	ham, Isaac, and Jacob, \$1,25, New-York, 1844
1788 JOSLIN, Mrs., Clement of Rome,	1813 KELLY, Rev. D., Neophilus, or
or Scenes from the Christianity of	Moral Reflections, \$1, London, 1846
the First Century, 50c. N. Y., 1846 1789 JOURNAL of Religious Education,	1814 KELTY, Mrs., Religion of the Heart, 75c. Lordon, 1844
edited by Dr. Haight and Mr.	1815 KEN, Bishop, The Practice of Di-
Peers, 3 vols., 8vo., half calf, \$2, 1839–1841	vine Love, 50c., (Burns.) Lond., 1847 ————————————————————————————————————
1790 JOURNALS of the Convention of	1817 KENNAWAY, Rev. C. E., Sermons
the Diocese of New-York, 1785-	to the Young, \$1,50, London, 1847
1819, \$1.50, New-York, 1844 1791 JOWETT, Rev. William, Christian	1818 KENNETT, Rev. B., On the Apos- tles Creed, 75c. London, 1705
Researches in the Holy Land, &c.,	1819 KENNICOTT, Benjamin, Deserta-
75c. Boston, 1826 1792 ———— Christian Visitor, 50c.	tions on the Hebrew Text of the Old Te tament, \$1,50, London, 1753
Philadelphia, 1848	1820 KERR, Rev. J. J., Future Recogni-
1793 — On the Lord's Prayer, Toe. London, 1847	tion, or the Bessedness of Those who Die in the Lord, 50c. Phila., 1847
1794 JUDAHS Lion, by Charlotte Eliza-	1821 KETT, Rev. Henry, Sermons at
beth, 50c. New-York, 1846	Bampton Lectures, \$2, Oxford, 1790
1795 JUDEA Capta, by Charlotte Elizabeth, 50c. New-York, 1846	1822 KIDD, Rev. James, Essay on the Doctrine of the Trinity, \$4,75,
1796 JUNKIN, Rev. Geo., D. D., Lectures	Londen, 1815
on the Prophecies, \$1,50, Phila., 1844 1797 JURIEU, Rev. Peter, On Scripture	1823 KIDDER, Bi-hop, On the Penta- teuch, 2 vols., \$2.50, London, 1694
Prophecies, \$2, London, 1687	1824 ———— On the Messias, 3 vols.,
1798 JUSTINI Phil, et Martyris Apolo-	\$2.50, London, 1684
gia Prima, edited by Trollope, \$2, Cambridge, 1845	1825 KING, Lord Peter, Inquiry into the Constitution, Discipline, &c., of the
1799 KAYE, Bishop of Bristol, Eccle ias-	Primitive Church, \$1, London, 1839
tical History of the Second and Third Centuries, illustrated from	1826 KIP. Rev. W. Ingraham, D. D., The Double Witness of the Church, \$1,
the Writings of Tertullian, \$250,	New-York, 1850
Cambridge, 1839 1800 KEBLE, Rev. John, The Christian	1827 — The Early Jesuit Missions in
Year, edited by Ei-hop Doane,	America, 75c. New-York, 1846 1828 — Christmas Holidays in Rome,
75c. Philadelphia, 1842	\$1, New-York, 1845
1801 — — Sermons, Academical and Occasional, 2d edition, \$3,50,	1829 — Recantation, or the Confessions of a Roman Convert, 63c. N. Y., 1846
Oxford, 1848	1830 — Early Conflicts of Christianity,
1802 — The Christian Year, 50e. New-York, 1850	12mo., 75c. New-York, 1850
1803 — The Child's Christian	1831 —— The Lenten Fast, 50c. Albany, 1850 1832 —— Rev. F. M., The Memoirs of an
Year, 38c. Philadelphia, 1842	Old Disciple, 75c. New-York, 1848
1804 — Lyra Innocentium, 75c. New-York, 1850	1833 KIRWAN, Dean of Kellala, His most eloquent Sermons, 8vo., \$1,-
1805 — Hooker's Ecclesiastical	50, Philadelphia, 1816
Polity, and other Works, edited by, \$4.50, New-York, 1844	on the Roman Catholic Contro-
1806 — Selections from Hooker,	versy, 63c. New-York, 1849
75e., (Burns,) London, 1847	1835 KITTÓ, John, Cyclopædia of Bibli-

0.0		
	cal Literature, numerous plates, 2	1860 LARNED, Rev. Sylvester, Life and
1000	vols., royal 8vo., \$6, New-York, 1849	Eloquence of, \$1,25, New-York, 1844 1861 LATIMER, Rev. Hugh, D. D., Ser-
1850	KITTO, Daily Bible Illustrations, 4 vols., §3, New-York, 1850	mons, entire edition, 2 vols., 8vo.,
1837	KLOPSTOCKS Messiah, translated	\$3,50, London, 1758
	into English, 2 vols., \$1, London, 1841	1862 — Sermons and Remains,
1838	KNAPP, Rev. George Christian,	(Parker Society,) 8vo., \$2,75,
	D. D., Lectures on Christian The-	Cambridge, 1845 1863 ———— Select Sermons and
	ology, translated by Dr. Weods, \$3, New-York, 1848	1863 ———— Select Sermons and Letters, \$1,50, London, 1828
1839	KNAPPIUS, G. C. Novum Test.	1864 LATHROP, Rev. James, Christ's
	Græce, \$1. Hallis Sax, 1829	Warning to the Churches, with
1840	KNIBB, Rev. William, Life of, Mis-	an Appendix on the Apostolic
1841	sionary to Janaica, \$3,50, Lond., 1847 KNOX, Alexander, Treatise on the	Succession, edited by Rev. Dr. Wainwright, 38c. New-York, 1847
1011	Eucharist, 50c. Baltimore, 1843	1865 LAUD, Archbishop, Sermons, print-
1842	John, History of the Refor-	ed verbatim from the edition of
	mation in Scotland, with his other	1651, edited by Hatherell, \$2,50,
	Writings, edited by M'Gavin, \$3.	London, 1829 1866 — Conference with Fisher, 8vo
1843	Glasgow, 1833 and Jebb's Correspondence,	1866
	2 vols., \$2. Philadelphia, 1837	1867 — Proceedings at the Trial of,
1844		folio, \$3.50, London, 1689
1015	Works of, 7 vols., \$9, London, 1824	1868 — Life and Times of, by Law-
1845		son, 2 vols., \$4,50, London, 1829 1869 — Liturgy, Episcopacy, and
1846	KOPPE, I. Beriam, Com. Novum	1869 — Liturgy, Episcopacy, and Church Ritual, Three Speeches,
	Testamentum, 5 vols., \$3.50,	new edition, \$1,25. Oxford, 1845
1045	Gottingre, 1788	1870 — Private Devotions of, 88c.
1841	KORAN, The, commonly called Al- coran of Mahomet, translated by	Oxford, 1839 1871 — Life, by Heylyn, folio, \$4, 1771
	George Sale, \$2,50, Phila., 1850	1872 LAW, Rev. William, A Treatise on
1848	KRUMACHER, Rev. F. W., The	Christian Perfection, \$1,25, Lond., 1807
	Martyred Lamb, or Christ the	1873 — Letters to Hoadley, \$1,50,
	Representative of his People in	London, 1726
1849	all Ages, 50c. New-York, 1846 Jacob and Solo-	Holy Life, 75c. New-York, 1850
1010	mon, 75c. New-York, 1841	1875 ——— Address to the Clergy, 75c.
1850		London, 1844
1051	turion, 50c. New-York, 1841	1876 ——— Spirit of Prayer, 38c.
1851	translated by Prof. Agnew, 75c.	New-York, 1844 1877 LAWRENCE, Rev. Richard, D. D.,
	Philadelphia, 1841	Bampton Lectures for 1804, new
1852	Last Days of Eli-	edition, \$3, Oxford, 1820
1050	sha, 75c. New-York, 1849	1878 LAWSON, Rev. J. P., History of
1853		the Episcopal Church in Scotland, royal 8vo., \$3, Edinburgh, 1844
1854	The Philadelphia, 1840 KUINOEL, D., Christiani Theops.	royal 8vo., \$3. Edinburgh, 1844 1879 LAYARD, A. H., Nineveh and its
	Commentarius, 4 vols., \$8. Leipsic, 1823	Remains, 2 vols., 8vo., plates,
1855	LACTANTIUS Fumiani Epitome	\$4,50, New-York, 1849
	Divinarum In-titutionarum, \$1.25,	1880 LEASH, Rev. W., Footsteps of the
1856	Cambridge, 1718 LAKE, Rev. Osmond, A Probe The-	Messiah, \$1.25, Philadelphia, 1849 1881 LE BAS, Rev. C. W., On Miracles,
	ological of the Christian Pastor's	\$1,50, London, 1828
	Proof, &c. &c. &c., small 4to,, \$1,50,	1882 — Life of Cranmer, 2 vols.,
	London, 1612	\$2,50, London, 1893
1857	A rare and curious book. LANDES, Robert W., A Plca for	1883 ———— Life of Wickliffe, 50c. New-York, 1844
	the Doctrine of the Trinity, 63c.	1884 LECTURES on the Headship of
1070	Philadelphia, 1832	Christ, 75c. Glasgow, 1841
1858	LARDNER, Rev. Nathaniel, D. D.,	1885 LEE, Rev. Henry W., The Little
	Whole Works of, with Life, by Keppis, 11 vols., 8vo., \$18, Lond., 1838	Child that Jesus Called, 25c. Boston, 1847
1859	——————————————————————————————————————	1886 — Short Prayers for Children,
	tics of the Two First Centuries	18c. New-York, 1849
	after Christ, 4to., \$3,50, London, 1780	1887 — Rev. S., D. D., of Cambridge,

Sermons on the Scriptures and	Centuries, with Reflections on the
Prophecy, \$3, London, 1830	Oxford Tracts, &c. &c., by Miso-
1888 LEE, Grammar of the Hebrew Lan-	papisticus, \$1,25, London,
guage, \$3, London, 1844	1915 LETTERS on the Church, \$1,
1889 LEIGH, Edward, Critica Sacra, 4to.,	1916 — from a late Eminent Pre-
\$2,50, London, 16-16	late, \$1,25, New-York.
1890 Another copy, small folio, \$2, do. 1601	1917 LEXICON Hebraicum et Chaldai-
1891 Another copy, folio, calf, \$3,50, do. 1641	cum, edit. Leopold, \$1,25, Leipsic,
1892 LEIGHTON, Rev. Robt., D. D., Life	1918 LIBRARY OF THE FATHERS
and Remains of, by Dr. Jerment,	OF THE HOLY CATHOLIC
8vo., \$2,75, London, 1838	CHURCH, anterior to the Divi-
1893 — Theological and Ex-	sion of the East and West; trans-
pository Lectures, \$1, London, 1823	lated by Members of the English
Whole Works of, with	Church:
Life, by Pearson, \$2,50, N. Y., 1844	St. Augustine's Confessions, 3d
1895 The same, a beautiful London	edition, \$2,50.
eopy, 2 vols., large 8vo., \$5, 1849	St. Cyril's Lectures, 3d edit., \$3.
1896 ———— Exposition of the Creed, &c., 75c. London, 1836	St. Cyprian's Treatises, \$3.
	St. Chrysostom on 1st Corinthians, 2 vols., \$5.
1897 — On St. Peter, \$2, do. 1820 1898 — Select Works of, edit-	St. Chrysostom on Galatians and
ed by Cheever, \$1,50, Boston, 1832	Ephesians, §3.
1899 LELAND, Rev. John, D. D., View	St. Chrysostom on Romans, \$4.
of Deistical Writers, \$3,50, Lond., 1837	St. Athanasius against the Arians,
1900 Another copy, 2 vols., \$2,75, do. 1798	\$2,50.
1901 — Divine Authority of the	St. Chrysostom, Homilies on the
Old and New Testament, \$3,	Statutes, \$3.
London, 1837	Tertullian, Vol. I., \$4.
1902 ——— A Defence of Christiani-	St. Chrysostom, Homilies on St.
ty, being a Refutation of Tindal,	Matthew, Part 1, \$3.
2 vols., 8vo., \$3, London, 1752	St. Chrysostom, Homilies on 1st
1903 — Christian Revelation, 2	and 2d Timothy, Titus, and
vols., \$3, Philadelphia, 1818	Philemon, \$3.
1904 LENT Sermons, on Retirement, Self-	St. Athanasius' Historical Tracts,
denial, and Resignation, and on	\$3.
the Sufferings of Christ, edited by	St. Chrysostom, Homilies on Phi-
Cattermole, \$1, London, 1835	hppians, &c., \$4.
1905 LESLIE, Rev. Chas., Whole Works	St. Chrysostom, Homilies on St.
of, 7 vols., \$19, Oxford, 1832 1906 — Entire Works of, folio, 2	Matthew, Part II., \$3.
vols., \$7.50, London, 1721	St. Augustine's Sermons, Vol. I., \$4.
vols., \$7.50, London, 1721 1907 ————————————————————————————————————	St. Cyprian's Epistles, §3.
with the Deists, 50c. London, 1846	St. Gregory the Great, Morals on
1908 ——— Short and Easy Method	the Book of Job, Vol. I., \$4.
with the Dersts, with West on the	St. Athanasius against the Arians,
Resurrection, 75c. New-York, 1830	Part II., \$3.
Various editions of both.	St. Augustine's Sermons, Vol. II.,
1909 L'ESTRANGE, H., The Alliance of	\$4.
Divine Offices, exhibiting all the	St. Gregory the Great, Morals,
Liturgies of the Church of Eng-	&c., Vol. 11., \$4.
land since the Reformation, &c.	St. Augustine's Short Treatises,
&c., \$2,50, London, 1846	\$4.
1910 — Roger, A Valuable	St. Gregory the Great, Morals,
Collection of Most Important	&c., Vol. III., Part I., \$3.
Tracts, 2 vols., 4to., \$4, London, 1660	St. Augustine on the Psalms, Vol.
1911 - Translation of all	1., \$3.
the Works of Josephus, large folio,	St. Augustine on the Psalms, Vol.
\$7,50, very rare, London, 1702	II., \$3.
1912 LESS, Godfrey, On the Authenti-	St. Augustine on St. John, Vol. I.,
city of the New Testament, edited	\$4.
by Dr. Kingdon, of Cambridge, 8vo., \$2,50, London, 1804	S. Augustini Confessiones, (Latin
8vo., \$2,50, London, 1804 1913 LESSONS, Wogan's Essay on the,	Text,) \$2,75.
2 vols., \$6, London, 1754	S. Chrysostomi Homiliæ in Mat-
1914 LETTERS on the Writings of the	thæum, (Greek Text,) cum Notis, edit. F. Field, 3 vols., \$10.
Fathers of the First and Second	S. Chrysostomi Homiliæ in S. Pauli
2 miles talle second	o. om y sostomi Hounnae in S. Pauli

40			
	Epist, ad Corinthios, (the Greek	1942 LOCKE, Paraphrase and Notes on the Epistles, \$2, Cambridge, 18	220
1919	Text,) 2 vols., \$6,50. LIGHTFOOT, Rev. John, D. D.,	1943 LOGAN, Rev. John, Sermons, 2	
	Whole Works of, edited by Pitman, 13 vols., \$24, London, 1825	vols., \$3,50, Edinburgh, 18, 1944 Same work, portable form, \$1,25,	
	LIGHTS and Shadows of Scottish Life, by Prof. Wilson, 63c. N.Y., 1846	London, 18- 1945 LOOKING unto Jesus, A View of	46
1921	LIMBORCH, Philip, The Liistory of the Inquisition, translated by Sa-	the Everlasting Gospel, by I-aac Ambrose, \$1,50, Pittsburgh, 18	32
	muel Chandler, D. D., 2 vols. in 1, large 4to., \$5, London, 1731	1946 LORD, David N., An Exposition of the Apocalypse, \$3, New-York, 18-	47
	This is a most rare and valuable copy.	1947 LOWMAN, Paraphrase and Notes on Revelation, 4to., \$2, London, 17-	
1922	LINGARD, Rev. John, D. D., (Roman Catholic,) History of Eng-	1948 LOWTH, Robert, Isaiah, a New Translation, \$2, Boston, 18	
	laud, 14 vols., §10, Baltimore, 1827	1949 Same work, fine London copy,	
1923	London, 1840	8vo., §2,50, London, 183 1950 ———— Isaiah, abridged, 50c.	
1924	LITERALIST, The, An Important Collection of Valuable Essays on	Albany, 179 De Sacra Poesi Hebræo-	94
	the Advent and Kingdom of Christ, &c., 4 vols., 8vo., \$5,50,	rum, \$2, Leipsic, 18: 1952 ———— Sacred Poetry of the He-	15
1005	Philadelphia, 1840 LITURGIA Domestica, 63c. Oxford, 1840	brews, in English, 8vo., \$2,50, London, 18;	35
1926	———— Britannica, Seu Liber	1953 — Bi-hop, Works of, new	
	Precum Communium Ecclesiæ Britannicæ, &c. &c., 32mo., \$1,25,	edicion, 3 vols., 8vo., \$6, London, 18-	40
1927	(Bag-ter,) 1823 Another copy, 18mo., \$2,25, (Par-	Reading the Scriptures, \$1,25, London, 189	21
1928	ker.) London, 1848 LITURGIES, Two, of Edward V1.,	1955 — Comment on Ezekiel, 4to., \$2,50, London, 175	23
1929	\$3, Oxford, 1838 ———————————————————————————————————	1956 LUCAS, Rev. R., D. D., An Inquiry after Happiness, 2 vols., \$3,50,	
	pared, (Cardwell,) §3, London, 1841 LITURGY, Compared with the Bi-	London, 169 1957 Another copy, \$3, do. 171	
1931	ble, by Bailey, \$1,50, London, 1849	1958 — Practical Christianity, \$1, London, 170	
1991	turgy and Ritual, a Collection of	1959 — Sermons on Death, Judg-	00
	Sermons by the most Eminent Divines, 3 vols., 8vo., \$2,50, Lond., 1842	ment, and Eternity, 2 vols., \$1,50, London, 171	16
1932	Another copy, elegantly bound, \$3,50.	1960 — Twelve Sermons, Oceasional, old, 8vo., \$1, London, 169	
1933	LIVES of Dr. Pocock, Dr. Pearce, and Dr. Thomas Newton, by Phi-	1961 An additional vol., 8vo., 75c. do. 171 1962 LUCKOCK, Rev. Benjamin, Faith,	16
1984	lip Skelton, 2 vols., \$4, 1816	a Poem, 63c. London, 185 1963 LUNDIE, G. A., Journals of his	35
	chester, by Bp. Burnet, 75c. Lond., 1830	Missionary Life in India, 50c. New-York, 18	46
1935	——— of English Lavmen, by the	1964 LUTHER, Martin, Life and Times of, or a History of the Rise and	
1936	,	Progress of the German Reforma-	
1937		tion, by the Rev. J. E. Riddell, \$1, London, 183	37
	Eusebius, Gregory, &c. &c., by Le Clere, \$1.50, London, 1696	rer, 8vo., \$2, New-York, 18-	48
1938	rus Ecclesiasticus, richly bound,	Life of, with Notices of his Writings, §1, London, 18	40
1939	8vo., \$3, London, 1788	1967 — The Way to Prayer, 75c. London, 18e	46
	the Attractive Power of the Cross, 25c. Philadelphia, 1843	1968 —— Commentary on Psalms, London, 18	
1940	LOCKE, John, Whole Works of, 3 vols., folio, \$7, fine sett, London, 1722	1969 — Commentary on Gala- tians, \$2, New-York, —	
1941		1970 ———— Select Treaties, in German, with Notes, &c., by Sears,	
	New-York, 1824		46

1971 LUTHER, Life of, by Michelet, \$1,		MALTBY, Bishop of Durham, Ser-
New-York, 1972 ———— and Calvin, Select Ser-	1998	mons, 3 vols., 8vo., \$4.50, Lond., 1819 ——————————————————————————————————
mons of, \$1,25, New-York, 1:		81,75, London, 1843 ———————————————————————————————————
1973 LUTHERAN Churches, View of the Principles of, \$1, London, 1		of the Christian Religion, 8vo.,
Principles of, \$1, London, 1974 LYNCH, W. F., U. S. N., Narrative of the Percellition to the David Sen	2000	\$1,75, London, 1803 MANN, Bishop, Notes on the Four
of the Expedition to the Dead Sea, 8vo., \$3, Philadelphia, 1	849	Gospels, &c., \$1, London, 1838
1975 Same work, condensed, \$1, do. 1- 1976 LYONS, Rev. J. G., D. D., Christian	850 2001	MANNERING, Rev. E., Christian
Songs, royal Svo., \$1, Phila., 1	848 2002	Consolation, \$1,75, London, 1815
1977 LYRA Apostolica, 75c. New York, 1- 1978 —— Innocentium, by Keble,	.844	ne s, 75c. London, 1842 MANNING, Archdeacon, Sermons
12mo., 75c. New-York, 1		on Various Subjects, second series,
1979 MACDONALD, Rev. Jas. M., The Coming of the Lord, A Key to	2004	\$1,25, New-York, 1848 ——————————————————————————————————
the Book of Revelation, 75c.		\$3,75, New-York, 1850
New-York, 1 1980 MACGOWAN, Rev. J., Works of,	1850 2005	Another copy, elegantly bound, \$4,50.
2 vols., \$4. London, 1	1825 2006	
1981 MACKENZIE, Rev. Henry, Commentary on the Gospels and Acts,	2007	University, 8vo., \$2, Oxford, 1845 On the Unity of the
8vo., \$2, London, 1	1847	Church, \$1, New-York, 1848
1982 MACKNIGHT, Rev. J., D. D., On the Apostolical Epistles, with the	2008	MANT, Bishop Richard, Bampton Lectures for 1812, \$2,50, Oxford, 1813
Greek Text, 6 vols. bound in 3,		Translation of the Whole
\$10, London, 1 1983 ———— Harmony of the		Book of Psalms, \$2,50, Oxford, 1824 ———————————————————————————————————
Gospels, 2 vols., beautiful copy, §5, London, 1	1900 9011	the University, \$1.50, Oxford, 1816
1984 — On the Epistles,	2011	Parochial Sermons, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,50, Oxford, 1817
with the Greek Text, 6 vols., 8vo., \$8,75, Boston, 1		Considered, \$1,50, Oxford, 1830
1985 — On the Epistles, \$3,	2013	Observance of the Church's
Philadelphia, I 1986 MADGE, Rev. Thos., Lectures on	1841	Holidays no Symptom of Popery, 2 vols., \$3, 1847
Certain High Church Principles	2014	Primitive Christianity Illus-
called Puseyism, 8vo., \$1,25, London, 1	1844	trated by the Acts of the Primitive Christians, an elegant 8vo.,
1987 MAGEE, Archbishop, Whole Works,		\$2, London, 1843
edited by Dr. Kenney, 2 vols., \$6, London, 1	$\begin{vmatrix} 2015 \\ 1842 \end{vmatrix}$	Apostles, Evangelists, and other
1988 — Discourses and Di-serta-		Saints, \$2.50, London, 1728
tions on the Atonement, 3 vols., \$4, London, 1		W. D. Wilson, D. D., 63c. N. Y., 1847
1989 Another copy, 2 vols., 8vo., \$5,		T5c. Happiness of the Blessed, New-York, 1849
New-York, I 1990 MAHAN, Rev. Asa, The True Be-		75c. New-York, 1849 MANTON, Rev. Thomas, D. D., Dis-
liever, His Character, Duties, and Privileges, 50c. New-York, 1	1847 2019	courses, \$1,25, London, 1685 MANUAL of Conduct, or Christian
1991 — On the Will, 50c. do. 1	1845	Principles Exemplified in Daily
1992 MAHOMET and His Successors, by Washington Irving, E-q., 2 vols.,	2020	Practice, \$1,50, Edinburgh, 1837 of Devotions for Confir-
\$2,50, New-York, 1		mation and First Communion, by
1993 ———— The Alcoran of, translated by Sale, \$2,50, Phila., I	1850	the Author of Steps to the Altar, 25c. New-York, 1848
1994 MAHOMETANISM Unveiled, by		MARCHETTI, Father, Critical Dis-
the Rev. Charles Foster, D. D., 2 vols., large Svo., \$5, London, 1	1838	quisition on Fleury's History, in Italian, 2 vols., \$1,50, Venetia, 1794
1995 MAJOR, Rev. Henry, Vindication		MARKS, Rev. D. W., Domestic Ser-
of the Apostolic Succession, 63c. Philadelphia, 1	1844	vice for the Jews' Passover, \$1, London, 1601
1996 MALCOLM, Rev. Howard, The Ex-	2023	MARRIOTT, Rev. Harvey, Homi-
tent and Efficacy of the Atone- ment, 50c. New-York, 1	1840 2024	lies for the Young, \$1, London, 1817 Rev. C., Reflections

	in a Lent Reading of Romans,		2049	MAUNDRELL, Rev. Henry, Jour-	
	\$1, Oxford,	1849		ney from Aleppo to Jerusalem,	
2025	MARSDEN, Rev. J. H., Eight Dis-		2050	75c. London,	1823
	courses preached before the University of Cambridge, 1843, (Hul-		2050	MAURICE, Rev. F. D., The King-	1044
	sean Lectures,) London,	1814	9051	dom of Christ, \$2, New-York, MAURY, L'Abbé, The Principles of	1844
9096	MARSHALL, Rev. Thomas Wilson,	1044	2001	Eloquence, edited by Rev. Dr.	
2020	D. D., Notes on Episcopal Pelity,			Potter, 50c.	1840
	&c., edited by Dr. Wainwright,	- 1	2052	Same work, by Lake, 50c. N. Y.,	
	\$1,25, New-York,	1844		MCRIE, Rev. L., D. D., Lectures on	1001
2027		2011	201.0	the Book of E-ther, 50c. N. Y.,	1808
	Mystery of Sanctification, \$1,25,	1	2054	Thomas, D. D., A Vindica-	2000
	London,	1836		tion of the Scottish Covenanters,	
2028				50c. Philadelphia,	1843
	Sanctification, edited by a Lay-		2055	McCHEYNE, Rev. Robert Murray,	
	mau, \$1, London,	1825		Works of, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3, N. Y.,	1847
2029	MARSHAMI, D. Johannis, Canon		2056	Sermons, 8vo., \$2, do. Life, Letters, and	1847
	Chrononicus, &c. &c., small 4to.,		2057	Life, Letters, and	
	\$2,50, Franqueræ,	1696		Lectures, 8vo., \$2, New-York,	1847
	A rare and most valua-		2058		
	ble volume.			of, by the Rev. A. A. Bouar, \$1,50,	
2030	MARTIN, Rev. John, Sermons, \$1,	1500	2050	London,	1845
0001	London,	1793	2059	McCULLOUGH, Rev. J. W., D. D.,	
2051	MARTYN, Rev. Francis, Homilies			The Dead in Christ, An Inquiry	
	on the Books of Tobias, 75c.	1000		concerning the Intermediate State,	1000
2032	Baltimore, Rev. Henry, Sermons,	1550	9000	50e. Baltimore,	1999
2002	75c. Rev. Henry, Sermons,	1800	2000	McDONALD, Rev. James M., On Revelation, 75c. New-York,	1946
2023			9061	McELLEN Tracts, by the late Rev.	1040
	MASON, Rev. Henry M., Selectee e	1011	2001	John A. Clark, D. D., 25c. N. Y.,	1825
2001	Patribus seu Theologue summa		2062	McEWEN, Rev. William, On the	1000
	Clericis hand Inutile in Usum		2002	Types of the Old Testament, 50c.	
	Juventutis Academicæ, 50c.			Philadelphia,	1832
	New-York,	1847	2063	Select Essays, 50c.	
2035	——— Compend of Ecclesiastical			Salem,	1814
	History, 75c. New-York,	1828	2064	McGAVIN, William, The Protest-	
2036	——— Catholic Unity, 38c.			ant, or Essays on the Roman Con-	
	Philadelphia,	1841		troversy, 2 vols., large 8vo., \$3,50,	
2037	Translation of St. Chry-			Dr. Milnor's copy, Hartford,	1833
	sostom on the Priesthood, 75c.		2065	McGUIRE, Rev. E. C., D. D., The	
2000	Philadelphia,	1826		Religious Opinions and Character	1040
2038			0000	of Washington, \$1, New-York, McHVAINE, Bishop, Lectures on	1840
	ings of, edited by his Son, 4 vols.,	1010	2066	the Evidence of Christianity	
2039	8vo., \$6, New-York, ——— Episcopal Controversy,	1040		the Evidences of Christianity, 12mo. \$1. New-York,	1810
2000	75c. New-York,	18.1.1	2067	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	1013
2040		1011	2001	to Consecrate a Church having an	
	Communion, \$1, New-York,	1816		Altar, &c. &c., 25c. New-York,	1846
2041		1010	2068		
	ual Treasury for the Children of			pared with that of the Roman and	
	God, 2 vols., \$2, New-Brunswick,	1811		Anglican Churches, \$2.50, Phila.,	1841
2042	Another copy, \$3, London,		2069	The Holy Catholic	
2043	MASSILLON, Bp., Sermons, 8vo.,			Church, or the Communion of	
	\$2, London,	1839		Saints in the Mystical Body of	
2044				Christ, 25c. Philadelphia,	1844
	\$1.50, London,	1805	2070		
2045	MATHER, Rev. Cotton, D. D., The			lical Discourses, selected for the	
	Christian Philosopher, \$1,	101"		Use of Families and Destitute	
9046	Charleston,	1815		Congregations, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,50,	1922
2040	Essays to do Good, 50c. Boston,	1000	9077	Columbus, Justification by Faith,	1000
2047		1000	2071	A Charge to the Clergy of Ohio,	
2011	Types, 75c. Philadelphia,	1834		25c. Columbus,	1840
2048	MATTHEW, Rev. George, Series	1001	2072		
	of Sermons, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,		-3,2	cation before God, 25c., (Evan.	
	London,	1843	!	Know. Society,)	1850

$\boldsymbol{2073}$	McKNIGHT, Rev. Jas., D. D. Har-		2100	MELANCTHON, Philip, Memoirs,	
	mony of the Gospels, 2 vols., calf, \$3,50, London,	1810	9101	by Dr. Coxe, 75c. Boston, MELMOTH, Wm., Esq., The Great	1835
2074			2101	Importance of a Religious Life,	
	the Epistles, royal 8vo., \$2,75,		ļ	50e London,	1822
9055	London,	181I	2102	MELVILL'S Sermons, complete, 2	1650
2075	The same, with the Greek Text, 6 vols., 8vo., \$8,75, Boston,	1810	2103	vols., \$3,50, New-York, Bible Thoughts, ed-	1000
2076	The same, 6 vols, bound in 3, half			ited by Rev. Dr. Milnor, 50c. N. Y.,	1838
ook b	morocco, \$9, London,	1821	2104	MEMORS of the Last Four Years	
2017	McLAUREN, Rev. John, Essays on Happiness, &c., 75c. Phila.,	1826		of Queen Anne's Reign, by Bishop Gibson, \$1, London,	1790
2078	McLEAN, Rev. Archibald, Sermons	1000	2105	MENDHAM, Rev. J., The Literary	1 (20
	on the Christian Life, 2 vols.,			Policy of the Church of Rome,	
- -	\$2.50, London,	1817	0100	8vo., cloth, \$2,50, London,	1830
2079	McNEILE, Rev. Hugh, Lectures on the Church of England, \$1,50,		2106	tini, Anno 1572 et 1573, 8vo.,	
	London,	1840		cloth, \$3, London.	1842
2080				A work of immense learning.	
	edition, \$1,50, London,	1839	2107	——— Life and Pontificate	
2081	de. de., \$1,25, Philadelphia,	1940		of Pope Pius V., 8vo., cloth, \$2, London,	1000
2082	McVICKAR, Rev. John, D. D., Early	1040	2108		1005
	Years of Bishop Hobart, 75c.			ed Books, by Command of Pope	
	New-York,	1836		Gregory XVI., in 1835, exhibiting	
2083	Professional Years of	1000		the Literary Policy of the Church	1010
2084	Bishop Hobart, \$1, New-York, ————————————————————————————————————	1000	2109	of Rome, \$1, London, Index Librorum Pro-	1510
	Years of Bishop Hobart, edited by			hibitorum a Sixto V. Papa, 4to.,	
	the Rev. Dr. Hook, \$3, Oxford,	1838		cloth, \$1,50, London,	1835
2085			2110		
	mily and the Closet, 50c. New-York,	1835		gences and Pardons of the Church of Rome, &c. &c., \$1,50, London,	1839
2086	MEAD, Matthew, Original Sermons			A very important book.	
	on the Jews, &c. &c., edited by		2111	MERIVALE, Rev. Charles, D. D.,	
0007	Rev. E. Bickersteth, \$1, London,	1836		Sermous preached at the Chapel	1041
2081	MEADE, Bi-hop of Virginia, Companion for the Font and the Pul-		2112	Royal, 8vo., \$1,50, London, MERRICK, Rev. James, Translation	1941
	pit, 50c. Washington,	1846		of the Psalms into English Verse,	
2088	J J .			4to., \$2, London,	1763
2089	Alexandria,	1834	2113	METHODIST Episcopacy, An Ex-	
2009	Office, 8vo., \$1.25, New-York,	1849		amination into the Claims of, by the Rev. James A. Bolles, 38c.	
2090	Selections from the Homi-			Batavia,	1843
0001	lies, 12mo., 50c. Philadelphia,	1848	2114	MICHAELIS, Sir John David, Com-	
2091	Church Catechism, 38c. Phila.,	1848		mentaries on the Laws of Moses, 4 vols., 8vo., \$12, London,	1014
2092	Explanation of the Church	1040	2115	4 vols., 8vo., \$12, London, MICHELET, Life of Luther, Jesuits	1014
	Catechism, 25c. Philadelphia,	1849		and Jesuitism, and other Works,	
2093	MEARNS, Rev. Duncan, D. D., Prin-		2112	in 1 vol., 8vo., \$1,25, London,	1850
	ciples of Christian Evidence, \$1,- 50, Edinburgh,	1818	2116	MIDDLETON, Rev. Convers, D. D., Free Inquiry into the Miraculous	
2094	MEDITATIONS and Reflections for	1010		Powers of the Christian Church,	
	a Month, \$1,25, Durham,	1842		4to., \$1,75, London,	1749
2095	MEEK, Rev. R., Reasons for Attach-		2117		
	ment and Conformity to the Church of England, 88c. London,	1846		of the Reformers, British and Foreign 3 years \$2	1000
2096	MEETING House, The Old White,	1010	2118	reign, 3 vols., \$2, London, MILES, Rev. Jas. W., Philosophic	1029
	or the Reminiscences of a Country			Theology, or Ultimate Grounds	
9004	Congregation, 50c. New-York,	1846		of all Religious Belief, Svo., \$1,	***
2097	MEIKLE, James, Solitude Sweet- ened, 75c. Hartford,	1846	2110	Charleston, MHLLER, John, (Presbyterian,) De-	1849
2098		1010	2110	sign of the Church, \$1, Phila.,	1846
	tion, Edinburgh,	1815	2120	Rev. Samuel, D. D., Let-	
2099	Life and Travels of, 75c.	TOTA		ters to his Sous in College, 88c.	* 0
	Albany.	1012		Philadelphia	1842

**	
2121 MILLER, On the Christian Ministry, 8vo., \$1.50, Philadelphia, 1830	2143 MOORE, Rev. George, The Power of the Soul over the Body, 50c.
2122 — On Clerical Manners and Habits, \$1, 1830	New-York, 1847 2144 ———— Man and his Motives, 50c.
2123 ———— Retrospect of the Eighteenth Century, 2 vols. \$2,50,	New-York, 1847 2145 — Use of the Body in rela-
New-York, 1803	tion to the Mind, 50c. New-York, 1848
2124 MILMAN, Rev. II. H., History of Christianity, from the Birth of	2146 ———— Rev. Daniel, The Christian System Vindicated against Infi-
Christ, 3 vols., 8vo., \$3,50, Lond., 1840 2125 ———— History of the Jews, 3	delity, a Prize Essay, §1, Lond., 1840 2147 MORE, Hannah, The Works of, com-
vols., 18mo., \$1,50. New-York, 1848 2126 MILNE, Life and Opinions of the	plete, Cadell's beautiful edition, 11 vols., \$12, London, 1830
Rev. William, by Robert Philip,	2148 — Works of, Harpers' edition,
2127 — Wm. Haigh, The Three	7 vols., 12mo., \$6.50, New-York, 1840 2149 — Works of, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,
Questions, What am I? Whence came I? Whither do I go? \$1,	New-York, 1847 2150 ——— Christian Morals, fine edition,
London, 1844	\$1,25, London, 1836
2128 MILNER, Dean, Sermons, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2 50, London, 1820	2151 — Essay on St. Paul, \$1, do. 1837 2152 — Spirit of Prayer, 31‡c.
Due of the most learned men of his day.	New-York, 1850 2153 ——— Life, by Roberts, 2 vols.,
2129 — Rev. Joseph, The History of the Church of Christ, edited by	\$1,75, New-York, 1840 2154 MOREHEAD, Rev. R., Di-courses,
Dean Milner, 2 vols., §4. Phila., 1835	63c. Philadelphia, 1810
2130 Same work, edited by Dr. Hawies, \$3, Edinburgh, 1835	2155 MORNINGS among the Jesuits at Rome, by the Rev. M. H. Sey-
2131 — John, End of Controversy, 63c. New-York, 1844	mour, 75c. New-York, 1849 2156 MORRELL, J. D., Philosophy of
2132 MILNOR, Rev. James, D. D., A Memoir of his Life, by the Rev. Dr.	Religion, 12mo., \$1, New-York, 1849 2157 MORRISON, Rev. Robert, D. D.,
S.one, 75c., (Am. Tract Society.) 1850	(China Missionary,) Parting Me-
2133 MILTON, John, A Treatise on Christian Doutling appropriate from the	morial, \$2, London, 1826 2158 ————————————————————————————————————
tian Doctrine, compiled from the Holy Scriptures alone, translated	Founders of the London Mission
from the Latin, by command of	ary Society, large 8vo., \$2,50,
the King, by Charles R. Sumner, D. D. 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,50, Boston, 1825	London, 1848 2159 — John, D. D., A Por-
2134 MiSHNA, Eighteen Treatises on, by	traiture of Modern Scepticism,
De Sola and Raphall, 8vo., \$1,50,	SSc. London, 1832
London, 1845 2135 MOBERLY, Rev. George, D. C. L.,	Reading of the Gospels, 8vo., \$1,
On the Re-urrection and A-cen-	Glasgow, 1821
sion of Christ, 8vo., \$1, London, 1844	2161 Morning Meditations
Great Forty Days between the	for Every Day in the Year, 63c. London, 1835
Resurrection and Ascension, 88c.	2162 MORTAL Life and the State of the
Philadelphia, 1850 2137 MOEHLER, John Adam, Symbol-	Soul after Death, by Alexander Copeland, Esq., 8vo., \$2, Lond., 1834
isin, or an Exposition of the Doc-	The ablest work on the
trinal Differences of Catholics and	subject.
Protestants, \$2.25, New-York, 1844 2138 MOFFATT, Rev. Robt., Missionary	2163 MOSES and Aaron, Civil and Ecclesiastical Rites, &c., of the Ancient
Labors and Scenes in Southern	Hebrews, &c. &c. &c., by Thomas
Africa, 8th edition, \$1, N. Y., 1848 2139 MONASTERIES in the Levant, Vi-	Godwyn, B. D., 4to., London, 1641 Showing immense learning.
sits to, by Hon. Robert Curzon,	2164 MOSHEIM, Rev. I. Lawrence, D. D.,
\$1.50, New-York, 1849 2140 MONTAGU, Basil, Selections from	Ecclesiastical History, by Dr. Murdock, 3 vols., \$6,50, New-York, 1849
Taylor, Latimer, Hall, Milton, South, &c. &c., 75c. New-York, 1845	2165 Same work, by Dr. Maclaine, \$4, London, 1841
2141 MOORE, Bp. Benjamin, Sermons,	2166 MOTHER, An Aged, Letters to,
4c., 2 vols., \$2,50, New-York, 1844 2142 — Bp. R. C., Memoir, &c., by	\$1,50, London, 1841
Bp. Henshaw, \$2, Philadelphia, 1843	2167 MOURNER'S Book, by a Lady, 50c. Boston, 1847
• •	

2168 MOURNER'S Companion, \$1,	and the Nature of due Prepara-
Glasgow, 1833 2169 MUNKHOUSE, Rev. Richard, D.D.,	tion for the Holy Communion, 75c., (Burns,) new and beautiful
Discourses, 3 vols., 8vo., \$3,50, London, 1805	edition, London, 1841 2193 NELSON, The Family Chaplain, a
2170 MURRAY, Rev. John, D. D., The	Course of Sermons for every Sun-
Truth of Revelation Demonstrat-	day and Holy Day, selected from the most Eloquent Divines, \$3,
ed, &c. &c., 8vo., \$1,75, London, 1840 2171 ———————————————————————————————————	London, 1775
by Dr. Gardiner Spring, 8vo., \$1,50, New-York, 1819	2194 — Companion for the Festivals and Fasts, \$1,50, London, 1762
2172 — Lindley, Power of Re-	2195 — His Review and Analy-
ligion, 50c. New-York, 1816 2173 MY PROGRESS in Error and Re-	sis of Bp. Bull on Justification, to which is added Bp. Bull's Reply,
covery to Truth, or a Tour through	&c. &c., \$1,75, (Rivington,) Lond., 1827
Universalism, Unitarianism, and Scepticism, 75c. Boston, 1842	2196 ———— Practice of True Devo- tion, 50c. New-York, 1831
2171 NARÉS, Archdeacon, Veracity of	2197 — W., The Rights of the
the Evangelists, \$2, London, 1816 2175 Another copy, \$1,50, do. 1819	Clergy of England, as establi hed by Canons, Common Law, &c. &c.,
2176 — A Connected and Chrono-	8vo., \$2,50, London, 1715
logical View of the Prophecies relating to the Christian Church,	2198 NEVILLE, Rev. Chas., The Mourn-
8vo., \$2, London, 1805	er's Directory, 50c. London, 1780
2177 — Discourses on the Three Creeds, delivered at Oxford, 8vo.,	2199 NEVINS, Rev. William, Scleet Remains, 75c. New-York, 1830
\$1,75, London, 1819	2200 ——— Practical Sermons, \$1,
2178 NATURAL History of Enthusiasm, 75c. New-York, 1849	Baltimore, 1835 2201 NEW Covenant, Book of the, \$2,50,
2179 — Theology, An Outline	London, 1836
of a System of, by the Rev. Gco. Crabbe, \$1,50, (Pickering's,)	2202 NEWCOMBE, Archbishop, English Harmony of the Four Evangelists,
London, 1840	\$2, (Bagster,) London, 1827
2180 NAVAL Sermons, by Rev. J. S. Clark, \$1, London, 1797	2203 Another copy, \$1,50, Phila., 1809 2204 Harmony of the Four
2181 NEAL, Daniel, History of the Puri-	Evangelists, in Greek, \$1.75,
tans, new edition, edited by Dr. Choules, \$3,50, New-York, 1844	Andover, 1834 2205 — Rev. William, D. D.,
2182 NEALE, 11., History of the Jews, \$1, London, 1808	Version of the Prophet Ezekiel, \$1,50, London, 1836
2183 — Rev. J. M., Hierologus, or	2206 — Historical View of
the Church Tourists, \$1, London, 1843 2184 NEANDER, Dr. Augustus, History	the English Biblical Translations, &c. &c., \$1,50, London, 1792
of the Church, edited by H. J.	2207 — Metrical Arrange-
Rose, \$1,50, New-York, 1850 2185 ————————————————————————————————————	ment of the Twelve Minor Prophets, \$2, very rare, London, 1809
of the Christian Church, \$1,50,	2208 — Rev. Peter, Cateche-
Philadelphia, 1843 2186 ————— Life and Times of St.	tical Sermons for the Whole Year, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2, London, 1700
Bernard, \$1, London, 1843	A sound exposition of
2187 — Life of Jesus Christ, 8vo., \$2, 4th edition, New-York, 1849	the Articles, &c. &c. 2209 NEWMAN, Rev. J. H, Sermons
2188 ———— Life of St. Chrys stom, 8vo., \$2, London, 1845	bearing on the Subjects of the
2189 - General History of the	Day, \$1,25, New-York, 1844 2210 ——————————————————————————————————
Christian Religion and the Church, translated by Joseph Torrey, 3	vols., \$5, New-York, 1843 2211 — Essay on the Doctrine
vols., 8vo., \$8, (each volume sold	of Development, 50c. New-York, 1848
separate,) Boston, 1848 2190 NEFF, Felix, Memoir of, by Gilley,	on Happiness, 2 vols., \$2.50,
75c. Boston, 1832	London, 1760
2191 — Letters and Biography, from the French of M. Bost, \$1,25,	2213 NEWNHAM'S Tribute of Sympathy, 50c. New-York, 1832
London, 1843	2214 NEW TESTAMENT, Translated
2192 NELSON, Robert, Esq., The Great Duty of the Christian Sacrifice,	from the Latin Vulgate, \$2, (Bagster,) London, 1823

0.31 =	NEW TESTAMENT, With the		01.66	NOBLE, Rev. S, The Divine Law	
2215	MEW TESTAMENT, WITH THE		2210		
	Commentary of D'Oyly & Mant,			of the Ten Commandments Ex-	
		1000	1		
	4to., \$2.50, New-York,	1823		plained in a Series of Sermons,	
2216	In Four		}	8vo., \$2,50, London,	1848
2210			0017	Total Total	1010
	Languages, French, German, Ita-		2241		
	I'm and should be the set I and	1000		Conintuyor Amontal Ora C1	
	lian, and Spanish, 4to., \$4, Lond.,	1020		Scriptures Asserted, 8vo., \$1,	
2217	In Greek,		1	Bosten,	1828
			1 00.40		1020
	with Notes in English, by the		2242	NO CHURCH Without a Bishop,	
			1		
	Rev. J. A. Spencer, 8vo., \$1,50,		[The Controversy between Drs.	
	New-York,	1847	í	Wainwright and Potts, 8vo., 25c.	
		101,	1		
2218	— In Greek,	i	Ì	New-York,	1844
	with Dr. Bloomfield's Annotations,		0019		
			2549	NOCTES Dominicæ, or Sunday	
	2 vols., 8vo., \$1,50, Boston,	1846		Night Reading made applicable	
	Z , , 0 , , 2,00,	1010	į	21.530 Reteams Made apprehase	
2219	In the Ma-		l	to the Proper Lessons of the	
	lay Tongue, 8vo., \$2,50, (Calcutta		1		
			i	Church, a large elegan 8vo., \$4,	
	Bible Society,)	1820		(Rivington's,)	1848
2001					1010
2220	NEWTON, Rev. John, Whole Works		2244	NOEL, Rev. Baptist W., Meditations	
	of, with Life, by Cecil, large paper,		i		
				in Sickness and Old Age, 38c.	
	royal 8vo., \$5, 1100 pp. London,	1839		Philadelphia,	1838
	Table	1001		Ti Ci i Ti	1000
2221	Another copy, \$2,50, Phila, Another copy, 2 vols., \$3, N. Y.,	1831	2245	——— Essay on Christian Baptism,	
2222	Another conv. 2 val. \$2 N V	19.11			1010
2223	Milother copy, 2 vois, go, M. 1.,	1044		63c. New-York,	1949
2223	Whole Works, 6 vols.,		2246	Essay on the Union of	
2220			2210		
	8vo., ealf, \$7,50, New-York,	1810		Church and State, 75c. N. Y.,	1849
2224			0017		
223±	A Review of Ecclesias-		2247	NONCONFORMIST'S Memorial,	
	tical History, &c., 8vo., \$1,25,		į.	being an Account of the Ministers	
			i		
	London,	1770 !		who were Ejected and Silenced	
0205			!	- fr d D - f 1000	
2225				after the Restoration, 1622, origi-	
	New-York,	1895		nally written by Calamy, and now	
		1020			
2226	Pleasures of Personal			edited and published by Samuel	
		1000			
	Religion, 50c. Boston,	1839		Palmer, 2 vols., numerous por-	
0007	Letters, complete, \$1,50,				17709
				traits, \$6, London,	1100
	New-York,	1847	00.18	NORDEN, John, A Progress of	
0000	O 1: 1	1047			
2228	Cardiphonia, \$1, Edin.,	1847	!	Piety whose Jesses lead into the	
0000	Cardiphonia, \$1, Edin., Life of, by Cecil, 38e.		i	Harbor of Hoavonly Root (Parker	
	· inte oi, oj Cecii, see.			Harbor of Heavenly Rest, (Parker	
	New-York,	1849		Society,) \$1,50, Cambridge,	1848
0.000		1010			1010
2230	Olney Hymns, by New-		2249	NORDHEIMER, Isaac, Professor of	
	ten and Cowper, \$1.50, Glasgow,	1940			
		1040		Arabic, A Critical Grammar of the	
2231	— Sir Isaac, Chronology of			Hebrew Language, 2 vols., \$3,	
			1	Troopen Engange, E ton, se,	7010
	the Aucient Kingdoms, 4to., \$3,50,			New-York,	1842
	Londen,	1708	9950		
		11-0	2250		
2232	Observations on the Pro-			mathy, \$1, New-York,	1838
					2000
	placeties of Daniel and St. John,	1	2251	NORTH, Rev. J. W., Sermons on	
	I'm \$9 London	1799			
	4to, \$2, Lendon,	T100			1944
2233	The First Section of his			the Liturgy, \$1,50, London,	1844
			2252	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London,	1844
			2252	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c	
			2252	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London,	
2234	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50, Lond.,			the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston,	
2234	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50, Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para-			the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Dis-	
2234	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50, Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para-			the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Dis-	
2234	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para- phrase of the Book of Common	1825		the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Dis- courses on the Homilies, 2 vols.,	1834
	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para- phrase of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London.	1825		the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Dis-	1834
	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para- phrase of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London.	1825 1785	2253	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London,	1834
	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para- phrase of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London.	1825	2253	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo	1834 1708
	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para- phrase of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London.	1825 1785	2253	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo	1834 1708
	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para- phrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition	1825 1785	2253 2254	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsie,	1834 1708
	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para- phrase of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London.	1825 1785	2253 2254	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo	1834 1708
	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Galli-	1834 1708
2235 2236	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para- phrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et	1834 1708
	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Para- phrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et	1834 1708
2235 2236	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50, Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, ————————————————————————————————————	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50.	1834 1708
2235 2236	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50, Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, ————————————————————————————————————	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50.	1834 1708
2235 2236	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50, Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsie, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50.	1834 1708
2235 2236	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols., \$90, \$6, London,	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692
2235 2236	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols., \$90, \$6, London,	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692
2235 2236	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, ————————————————————————————————————	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255 2256	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692
2235 2236 2237	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols, 8vo., \$6, London, and important work to church bailders.	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692
2235 2236 2237	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols, 8vo., \$6, London, and important work to church bailders.	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255 2256	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50.	1834 1708 1692
2235 2236 2237	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols, 8vo., \$6, London, \$2 A valuable and important work to church bailders. NIGHT of Toil, or an Account of	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255 2256	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. cum, Editio Hellenistica, 2 vols., 8vo., (Pickering.) \$7,50, London, Diamond edition, (Pickering.) 75c.	1834 1708 1692 1843
2235 2236 2237	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols, 8vo., \$6, London, and important work to church bailders.	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255 2256	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. cum, Editio Hellenistica, 2 vols., 8vo., (Pickering.) \$7,50, London, Diamond edition, (Pickering.) 75c.	1834 1708 1692 1843
2235 2236 2237	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond., NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75. Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols., 8vo., \$6, London, \$25 A valuable and important work to church bailders. NICHT of Toll, or an Account of the Labors of the First Missiona-	1825 1735 1775	2254 2254 2255 2256 2256 2257	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692 1843
2235 2236 2237	Principia, by Carr, §1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, §2,50. London, Another copy, §2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, §1,75, Oxford, ————————————————————————————————————	1825 1735 1775	2253 2254 2255 2256	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692 1843
2235 2236 2237	Principia, by Carr, §1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, §2,50. London, Another copy, §2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, §1,75, Oxford, ————————————————————————————————————	1825 1735 1775	2254 2254 2255 2256 2256 2257	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828
2235 2236 2237	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols., 8vo., \$6, London, 227 A valeable and important work to church bailders. NICHT of Toil, or an Account of the Labors of the First Missionaries in the South Sea Islands, by the Author of The Peep of Day,	1825 1735 1775 1844 1835	2253 2254 2255 2256 2256 2257	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50.	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828
2235 2236 2237 2238	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols, 8vo., \$6, London, Sand A valuable and important work to church bailders. NIGHT of Toil, or an Account of the Labors of the First Missionaries in the South Sea Islands, by the Author of The Peep of Day, 50e. Philadelphia.	1825 1735 1775 1844 1835	2253 2254 2255 2256 2256 2257	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50.	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828
2235 2236 2237 2238	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols, 8vo., \$6, London, Sand A valuable and important work to church bailders. NIGHT of Toil, or an Account of the Labors of the First Missionaries in the South Sea Islands, by the Author of The Peep of Day, 50e. Philadelphia.	1825 1735 1775 1844 1835	2253 2254 2255 2256 2256 2257	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsie, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50.	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828
2235 2236 2237 2238	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols, 8vo., \$6, London, San A valuable and important work to church bailders. NIGHT of Toil, or an Account of the Labors of the First Missionaries in the South Sea Islands, by the Author of The Peep of Day, 50e. Philadelphia, NINEVE: i and Its Remains, with	1825 1735 1775 1844 1835	2253 2254 2255 2256 2256 2257	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828 1843
2235 2236 2237 2238	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols, 8vo., \$6, London, Sand A valuable and important work to church bailders. NIGHT of Toil, or an Account of the Labors of the First Missionaries in the South Sea Islands, by the Author of The Peep of Day, 50e. Philadelphia.	1825 1735 1775 1844 1835	2253 2254 2255 2256 2256 2257	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828 1843
2235 2236 2237 2238	Principia, by Carr, §1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, §2,50. London, Another copy, §2. do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, §1,75. Oxford, ————————————————————————————————————	1825 1735 1775 1844 1835	2253 2254 2255 2256 2257 2258 2259	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828 1843
2235 2236 2237 2238	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50, London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols, 8vo., \$6, London, San A valuable and important work to church bailders. NIGHT of Toil, or an Account of the Labors of the First Missionaries in the South Sea Islands, by the Author of The Peep of Day, 50e. Philadelphia, NINEVE: i and Its Remains, with	1825 1735 1775 1844 1835	2253 2254 2255 2256 2257 2258 2259	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828 1843
2235 2236 2237 2238	Principia, by Carr, \$1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, \$2,50. London, Another copy, \$2, do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, \$1,75, Oxford, Peter, Principles of Architecture, 218 Engravings, 3 vols., 8vo., \$6, London, 223 A valeable and important work to church bailders. NICHT of Toil, or an Account of the Labors of the First Missionaries in the South Sea Islands, by the Author of The Peep of Day, 50c. Philadelphia, NINEVE: and Its Remains, with an Account of a Visit to the Chaldean Christians, by A. Layard, Esq.	1825 1735 1775 1844 1835	2253 2254 2255 2256 2257 2258 2259	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50.	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828 1843
2235 2236 2237 2238	Principia, by Carr, §1,50. Lond, NICHOLS, Rev. W., D. D., Paraphrace of the Book of Common Prayer, §2,50. London, Another copy, §2. do. NICHOLSON, Bp., An Exposition of the Catechism of the Church of England, §1,75. Oxford, ————————————————————————————————————	1825 1735 1775 1844 1835	2253 2254 2255 2256 2257 2258 2259	the Liturgy, \$1,50, London, NOTT, Rev. Samuel, Sermons, &c 75c. Boston, NOURSE, Rev. Peter, D. D., Discourses on the Homilies, 2 vols., \$2, rare, London, NOVUM Lexicon Hebræo Chaldæo Biblicum, 4to., \$2,50, Leipsic, NOVUM TESTAMENTUM, Gallicum, Italicum, Hispanicum, et Germanicum, 4to., \$4,50. ———————————————————————————————————	1834 1708 1692 1843 1828 1843

			27100		
2261	ODENHEIMER, Rev. W. H., Devout Churchman's Companion, 75c.	1	2285	OWEN, Spiritual Mindedness, 75c. London,	1798
	New-York, 18	49	2286	Another copy, 75c. New-York,	
2 262		:	2287	On the Person and Glory of	
	pilation of the Book of Common Prayer, 38c. Philadelphia, 18	113	2288	Christ, 8vo., \$2,25, New-York, ——Exposition of the Hebrews,	1843
2263	True Catholic no			4 vols., complete, \$12, London,	1840
0064	Romanist, 38c. Philadelphia, 18	43	2289	OXFORD Tracts, 3 vots., 8vo., \$3,	
2264	Thoughts on Immersion, 25c. Philadelphia, 18	43	2290	New-York,	1839
2265	OEMLER, Christian, The Pastor at			50c. New-York,	1841
0000	the Sick Bed, 75c. Philadelphia, 18	36	2291		
2200	OGDEN, Rev. Samuel, D. D., Sermons, with Life, by Hughs, edited	į		it Fared with Some who Lately	1817
	by Halifax, 8vo., \$2, London, 18	05	2292	made the Journey, \$1,75, Lond, PAGE, Mrs. Anne R., (Bp. Meade's	1011
2267	OGILBY, Rev. J. D., Outline of the			sister,) Memoir of, by the Rev. C.	
	Argument against the Validity of Lay Baptism, 75c. New-York, 18	13 .	0003	W. Andrewes, 38c. Philadelphia, PAGET'S Sermons on the Duties of	1844
2268				Daily Life, 75c. New-York,	1847
	Church in England and America,		2294	Same work, half bound, slightly	
9969	50c. New-York, 18 OLD Christianity vs. Papal Novel-		ออดร	stained, 37½c. Philadelphia, PALEY, Rev. William, D. D., Works	1844
2200	ties, including a Review of Mil-			of, edited by Dr. Paxton, 5 vols.,	
	ner's End of Controversy, \$1,			8vo., \$7,50, the Lest edition,	
9970	Philadelphia, 18 OLDHAUSEN, Dr. H., Commentary		2296	London,	1845
2210	on Romans, 8vo., \$2, Edinburgh, 18		2290	Works of, new edition, in 1 vol., royal 8vo., \$4, London,	1819
2271	Biblical Commen-		2297	Whole Works of, 6 vols.	1042
	tary on the New Testament, \$2,	4.5	2200	m 3, §4, Cambridge,	
2272	Edinburgh, 18 OLIVER, Peter, The Scripture Lex-		$\frac{2298}{2299}$	Another copy, 1 vol., \$2, Lond., Natural Theology, with	1812
	icon, 2 vols., \$1,75, exceedingly		~~00	Notes, by Lord Brougham, 2 vols.,	
0040	rare, Birmingham, 17		2000	§1,50,	
2213	ONDERDONK, Bishop Henry U., Essay on Regeneration, 50c.	1 3	2300	Natural Theology, 75c. Boston,	1910
	Philadelphia, 18	35 :	2801	Horæ Paulina, 75c. N. Y.,	1848
2274	, ,	. 1	2302	Horæ Paulina, 75c. N. Y., Evidences of Christianity,	
2275	25c. Philadelphia, 18 and Barnes, Epis-	39	2303	50c. Philadelphia, Same work, full edition, 2 vols.,	1840
22.0	copal Controversy, 50c. N. Y., 18		2000	Svo., \$1,25, London,	1795
2276	ORIGINAL Letters, 1537 to 1558,	2	2304	PALLAVICINI, Le P. Sforza, His-	
2277	2 vols., 8vo., \$5, Cambridge, 18 ORTHODOX Churchman's Maga-	46		torie du Concile de Trente, 3 vols.,	1011
22	zine, or Treasury of Divine and	1:	2305	royal 8vo., \$7,50, Montrouge, PALMER, Rev. William, Treatise	1944
	Useful Knowledge, 11 vols., 8vo.,			on the Church of Christ, 2 vols.,	
	\$10, London, 1801-18		2306	\$5, New-York,	1841
	It abounds in rich contri- butions from the greatest men of	-	2.500	Compendious Ecclesias- tical History, 50c. New-York,	1850
	that day.	2	2307	Narrative of Events con-	2000
2278	ORTON, Job, Exposition of the Old	05		nected with the Oxford Tracts,	1040
2279	Testament, 6 vols., \$4, Charleston, 18 Religious Exercises and		2308	25c. New-York, Letters to Wiseman, 50c.	1843
	Discourses, 63c. Bridgeport, 18	08		Baltimore,	1848
2280	OSTERWALD, On the Old and	2	2309	Origines Liturgicæ, 2	
	New Testament, 3 vols., \$2, London, 18	19 9	2310	vols., \$5, Oxford, Ebenezer, Pocket Divi-	1839
2281	OVERTON, John, The True Church-			nity, a Selection of Pieces from	
	man Ascertained, \$1,50, very rare,	00		Toplady, Romaine, Leighton, &c.	
2282	Londou, 18 OWEN, Rev. John, Meditations and		2311	&c., 3 vols., \$2, London, PARABLES, Conversations on the,	1828
0-	Discourses on the Glory of Christ,	-	2011	by Lord Stanley, 38c. N.Y.,	1847
2200	63c. London, 18	38		An admirable work for	
2283	Select Works, 3 vols., \$3, London, 18:	31 6	2312	the young.	
2284	On the 130th Psalm, 75c.	51 2	. U 1 W	ard C. Trench, M. A., 2d edition,	
	London, —			\$1,75, New-York,	1850

2313	PARKER, Bi-hop, History of his		2339	PAYSON, Whole Works of, 3 vols.,	
	Own Time, in Four Books, trans-		0040	8vo., \$5, Portland,	1847
	lated from the Latin by Newlin, \$1.50, London,	1707	2340	PEARSON, Bishop, Exposition of the Creed, \$2, New-York,	1044
0011		1 (2)	2341		1044
2314	to True Happiness, 38c. Phila.,	1811	2011	Works of, edited by Dr. Cureton,	
2315		1011	}	2 vols., 8vo., \$4, Oxford,	1844
2010	chiefly Devotional, 2 vols., \$2,		2342	PENROSE, Rev. John, Evidence of	
	Cambridge,	1845		Scripture Miracles, \$2, London,	1826
2316	PARKS, Rev. M. P., First Principles		2343	PERCY, Bishop, Key to the New	
	of the Doctrine of Christ, 50c.			Testament, \$1, London,	1835
	Philadelphia,	1849	2344	PERFECT Peace, Letters and Me-	
2317	PASCAL, Blaise, Pensée Reivie des			morials of the late John Warren	
	Lettres Provincial, \$1,25, Paris,	1835		Howell, Esq., of Bath, 38c. Phila.,	1845
2318			2345	PERPETUITE de la Foy de l'Eg-	
	edition, in English, edited by Dr.	1040		lise Catho. touchant l'Euchariste, \$1, Paris.	1000
0910	M Crie, \$1, Edinburgh, PASSAGES in the Life of a Daugh-	1849	0216	\$1, Paris, PERRANZABULOE, The Lost	1000
2019	ter at Home, 3d edition, \$1,		2040	Church Found, or the Church of	
	London,	1847		England not a New Church, but	
2320	PASTOR at the Sick Bed, and An	1011		Ancient, Apostolical, and Inde-	
2020	Afflicted Man's Companion, by			pendent, &c. &c., by Rev. C. T. C.	
	Oemler, 75c. Philadelphia,	1836		Trelawny, 75c. New-York,	1846
2321	PASTORAL Letters of the House		2347	pendent, &c. &c., by Rev. C. T. C. Trelawny, 75c. PERSIAN, The Whole Book of	
	of Bishops, from the First to 1844,			Psalms in, 8vo., \$1,50, Calcutta,	1826
	75c. Philadelphia,	1845	2348	PETERS, Rev. Absalom, D. D., Sprinkling the Only Scriptural	
2322	PASTORALIA, A Manual of Helps			Sprinkling the Only Scriptural	10.0
	for the Clergy, by the Rev. Henry		0010	Mode of Baptism, 50c. N. Y.,	1848
	Thompson, of St. John's, Cam-	1000	2349	PHILIP, Rev. Robert, Devotional Guides, 2 vols., \$1,75, New-York,	1019
0202	bridge, \$1,50, London, PATRICK, Bi-hop, A Treatise on	1002	2350	Love of the Spirit, 50c.	1049
2020	the Necessity and Frequency of		2000	New-York,	1844
	Receiving the Holy Communion,		2351		1011
	\$1, London,	1844		brary, New-York,	
2324			2352	PHILLIPS, Rev. George, B. D., The	
	(Burns,) 63c., new edition, Lond.,	1847		Psalms in Hebrew, with Commen-	
2325	Treatise on Repentance			tary, two splendid volumes, 8vo.,	
	and Fasting, 18mo., 75c., London,	1686	2050	\$8,50, London,	1846
2326		1200	2555	PHILOLOGICAL Museum, pub-	
2327	London, The Book of Psalms,	1730		lished by Members of the Univer- sity of Cambridge, on Subjects of	
2021	\$1,50, London,	1680		Biblical and Oriental Literature,	
2328		1000		&c. &c., 2 large 8vo. vols., \$4,50,	
	London,	1697		Cambridge,	1833
3329			2354	PHILONIS Judæi Opera Omnia,	
	\$1, London,	1694		8 vols., 12mo., \$8, Leipsie,	1828
2330			2355	PHILOSOPHIC Theology, or the	
0001	Prayer, 75c. New-York,	1841		Ultimate Grounds of all Religious	
2331	vols., \$10, Philadelphia,	1040		Belief based in Reason, by the	
0220	vols., \$10, Philadelphia, PATRUM Apostolicerum Opera,	1848		Rev. J. W. Miles, of S. C., \$1, Charleston,	1040
2002	Gk. et Lat., cum Prologa menis		9356	PHILOSOPHY of the Plan of Sal-	1049
	Pub., \$3,25, London,	1842	2000	vation, by an American Citizen,	
2333	PAUL, The Apostle, Life and Tra-			4th edition, 75c. Salem,	1847
	veis of, 63c. Boston,	1833	2357	PHYSICAL Theory of Another	
2334				Life, by Prof. Taylor, \$1, N. Y.,	1846
000*	Life of, 50c. London,	1651	2358	PICTET, Benedict, Christian Theo-	
2335	PAXTON, Rev. Geo., Illustrations			logy, translated by Dr. Keyroux,	1045
	of the Holy Scriptures, 2 vols.,	1000	0050	\$1,25, London,	1847
2226	8vo., \$3,50, Philadelphia, PAYSON, Rev. Edward, Memoirs	1922	2509	PICTORIAL Bible, (Knight's,) 3 vols., royal 8vo., \$12, London,	1896
2000	of, 8vo., \$2, Portland,	1846	2360		1000
2337		1010	2000	Holy Bible, by Robert Sears, 3	
	Portland,	1828		vols., \$3,50, New-York,	1821
2338	Another copy, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,50,		2361	Dictionary of the Ho-	
	Portland,	1847		ly Bible, or a Cyclopædia of Illus-	

	trations, Graphic, Historical, and		1	Priest and an English Protestant,	
	Descriptive, of the Sacred Writ-			68c. London,	
	ings, by reference to the Manners,		2385	POPE Pius IV., Creed of, A Course	
	Customs, Rites, Traditions, Anti-			of Sermons on, by Eminent Cler-	
	quities, and Literature of Eastern			gymen of the Church of England,	
	Nations, 2 vols., royal 8vo., with		2022	\$2,50, London,	
	upwards of 1000 illustrative wood		2386	POPERY, History of Containing an	
0000	cuts, extra cloth, \$6,50, London,			Account of the Origin, Growth,	
2362	PICTORIAL Bib!e, by Rev. Hobart			and Progress of the Papal Power,	
	Caunter, 8vo., 144 engravings, \$3,			&c. &c., \$2, a work of authority,	1000
0000	London,		0007	London and Oxford,	
2500	PICTURES of Religion, (Burns.)		2001	POPES, The Lives of the, from the	
2004	50c. London, PIETY and Intellect Relatively	1811		Time of Our Saviour to the Reign	
2904	Estimated, by Rev. H. Edwards,		ł	of Sextus IV., by Fra Ptatma,	
	D. D., \$1,25, London,			translated by Rycaut, folio, \$4,	1000
0265	PIKE, Rev. J. G., A Guide to Young			London, A very rare volume.	1000
2000	Disciples, 50c. New-York,		0288	PORTER, Rev. Ebenezer, D. D., Lec-	
9966	Persuasives to Early Piety,		2000	tures on Homeleties and Preach-	
2000	50c. New York,			ing, \$1, New-York,	
9267	and Hayward's Religious	1040	9289	PORTEUS, Bishop, Whole Works	
2001	Cases of Conscience, 12mo., 75c.		2900	of, with Life, by Hodgson, 6 vols.,	
	Savannah,	1896		\$8, London,	
9268	PILGRIM Travellers from the City	10.0	2390		
2000	of Trouble to the Land of Peace,		2391		1101
	\$1,25, London,	1847		London,	1784
2269	PILGRIM'S Progress, published by		2392		
2000	Virtue, \$5, a splendid copy, Lond.,	1813	1	of St Matthew, 75c. Phila.,	
	Other editions, from 38c.	1015	2393	PORTRAITURE of a Christian	1000
	upwards.			Gentleman, by W. Roberts, Esq.,	
2370	PILKINGTON, Rev. James, B. D.,		1	38c. New-York,	
	Whole Works of, (Parker Society,)		2394	POSTHUMOUS Records of a Lon-	
	\$3, Cambridge,	1842		dou Clergyman, edited by Rev.	
2371	PINKERTON, Rev. R., Present			Dr. Caunter, \$1,25, London,	1835
	State of the Greek Church, 50c.		2395		
	New-York,	1815		Hobart, 3 vols., 8vo., \$4,50, N. Y.,	1833
2372	PITMAN, Rev. J. R., Practical Lec-		2396	POTT, Archdeacon, of London, A	
	tures on St. John, \$1.50,	1821		Course of Sermons throughout the	
2373	PLAIN Sermons, by Contributors			Year, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3, London,	1817
	to the Tracts for the Times, 2		2397	POTTER, Archbishop, Discourse on	
	vols., \$150, New-York,	1850		Church Government, \$1,75, scarce,	
2374	Parochial Sermons, by Rev.			London,	1707
	James Stade, \$1,25, London,	1832	2398	Bishop of Pennsylvania,	
2375	PLANCK, Dr. G. J., Introduction to			Hand Book for Readers and Stu-	
	Sacred Philology, translated by	1001	2000	dents, 50c. New-York,	1846
0023	Prof. Turner, \$1, New-York,	1834	2399	POVAH. Rev. Richard, Sermons on	
2010	PLOWMAN, Thomas L., An Expla-			the History of the Church,	1004
	nation and History of the Book of	7011	0.400	London,	1835
0077	Common Prayer, 38c. Phila.,	1944	2400	POWELL and Fawcett's Sermons,	1000
3511	PLUMPTREE, Popular Commen-		0.101	edited by Hughs, \$1.50, London,	1832
	tary on the Bible, 2 vols., \$4,50,	1007	2401	POWERSCOURT, Lady, Letters	
2378	London, Discourses, &c. &c.,	1001		and Papers of, edited by Rev. R.	
2010		1900		Daley, D. D., (Seeley,) \$1,50,	1000
9379	\$1,50, London, POCKET Prayer Book, The History	1002	9109	London, PRACTICAL Sormons by Digni	1699
2010	of a, Written by Itself, new edit.,		2402	PRACTICAL Sermons, by Dignitaries and other Clergymen of the	
	38c. Philadelphia,	1844		United Church of England and	
2380	POLHILL, Edw., Speculum Theo.	1011		Ireland, 3 vols., 8vo., \$5. London,	1845
-000	in Christo, 4to., \$1,50, London,	1688	2403		1010
2381	POLWHELE, Rev. R., Sermons,	1000	-400	New Testament, by the Rev. Tho-	
2001	\$1,50, London,	1810		mas Scott, arranged for Family	
2382	POOLE, Matthew, Synopsis Critico-	-010		Wor-hip by Dr. Alexander, with	
	rum, 5 vols., folio, \$27.50, Lond.,	1669		Engravings, 8vo., \$2,50, Phila.,	1845
2383	Annotations, 2 vols., folio,		2404	Discourses, (Twenty-	-010
	\$12,50, London,	1696		four,) On Christian Duties, edited	
2384	Dialogue between a Popish				1821
	J	,		J J /	

2405	PRACTICE of the Christian Graces,		2430	PUFFENDORFS View of the Prin-	
	or the Whole Duty of Man, 75c.			ciples of the Luthcrans, 8vo, \$1,	
0.100	New-York, 18	550	0.191	London,	1714
2406	PRÆLECTIONES Academicæ Oxonii Habitæ, ab Edwardo Cople-		0.130	PULPIT Cyclopædia, \$2,50, N. Y., PURITANISM Not Genuine Pro-	1849
	ston. S. T. B., \$2,50, Oxonii, 18	328	2102	testantism, with an Important	
2407	PRAYER Book of the Protestant			Appendix, by Rev. A. B. Chapin,	
	Episcopal Church in the United			50e. New-York,	1847
	States, in French, 75c. N. Y., 18		2433		
2408		347		Defence against Its Aspersions,	1040
2409	PRAYERS of the Church, arranged by the Rev. Richard Newton, 31c.		0.194	by Dr. Coit, \$1, New-York, PUSEY, Rev. E. B., Scriptural	1846
	Philadelphia, 18	329	~.30.£	Views of Holy Baptism, 50c.	
2410	3 00 31			New-York,	1843
	for Domestie Worship, (Burns,)		2435	Sermons on the Sacra-	
	63c. London, 18	343		ment, 10c. New-York,	1845
2411	PREACHER, The, or Sketches of		5436	PYLE, Rev. Thos., Sixty Sermons	
	Original Sermons, 2 vols., \$2,50, Philadelphia, 18	119		on Practical Subjects, edited by his Son, 2 vols., \$2,50, London,	דדדו
2412		1	2437	Paraphrase on the Acts,	2117
	lon, Herbert, Baxter, Campbell,	- 1		&c., 2 vols., \$3.50, London,	1795
	dc. dc., \$1.25, Andover, 18	345	2438	QUAKERISM Not Christianity, by	
2413	PRESBYTERIAN Church Govern-			the Rev. S. II. Coxe, D. D., \$1,50,	1610
2414	ment, 75c. New-York, 18 Confession of	511	0 190	New-York, QUARLES, Francis, Emblems, Di-	1816
2414	Faith, 63c. Philadelphia, 18	342	-100	vine and Moral, 50c., very rare,	
2415		1		New-York,	1816
	ing for the Church, 38c. N.Y., 18	349	2440	Judgment and Mercy	
2416	PRIDDEN, The Early Christians.			for Afflicted Souls, \$1, a rarity,	
	their Manners and Customs, \$1,50, London, 18	1 400	0111	London, RADCLIFFE, Rev. John, The Con-	1807
9417	PRIDEAUX, Rev. Humphrey, D.D.	91	2141	fession of Our Faith, commonly	
	Old and New Testament Connect-			called The Creed of St. Athana-	
	ed, 2 vols., \$5, Oxford, 18	339		sius, illustrated, 8vo., \$3, (Riving-	
2418	Another copy, 2 vols., \$3,50,		0.4.4.0	tons',)	1844
9.110	New-York, 18 PRIDHAM, Rev. John, Family Lee-	940	2442	RAMBACH, Rev. J., D. D., Meditations and Contemplations, 2 vols.,	
DILO	tures, 2 vols., \$3, London, 18	142		\$2. New-York,	1811
2420	PROCEEDINGS and Trial of the		2443	RANDOLPH, Archdeacen, of Ox-	
	Seven Non-juring Bishops, folio,			ford, View of Our Saviour's Mi-	
0.101	\$3, London, 16	889		nistry, &c. &c., 2 vols., 8vo., \$2,50,	1701
2421	PROPHECY, Illustrations of, parti- cularly the Visions of Daniel, by		9.1.1.1	Oxford, RANKES History of the Popes of	1104
	David Campbell, 63c. Boston, 18	340	-711	Rome, \$2, Philadelphia,	1844
2422	PROPHETS and Apostles Collated		2445	RATRAM, The Book of, On the	
	and Compared, 50c. London, 18	325		Body and Blood of Christ, edited	
2423	PROTESTANT Jesuitism, by the	000		by Bishop Whittingham, 50c. Baltimore,	1949
2424	Rev. Calvin Colton, 75c. N. Y., 18 Memorial, by the		alte	RAUCH, Frederick A., Psychology,	1040
	Rev. Thomas Hartwell Horne,		2220	or A View of the Human Soul,	
	D. D., 38c. New-York, 18	344		4th edition, \$1,50, New-York,	1846
2425	PROVERBS, An Exposition of the		2447	RAVENSCROFT, Dp., The Works	
	Book of, by the Rev. C. Bridges, 1 vol., 8vo., \$2, New-York, 18			of, with Life, by Anderson, 2 vols., 8vo., \$6, very scarce, New-York,	1920
2423	1 vol., Svo., \$2, New-York, 18 PRUEN, Analogical and Popular		2448	Another copy, calf, gilt, \$7.	1000
	View of the Church, &c., 2 vols.,		2449	RAY, John, The Wisdom of God	
	\$5.50. London 18	23		in the Works of Creation, 11th	
0.10**	A masterly work.		215:	edition, \$1. London,	1744
2127	PSALMS, Book of, in the Persian Language, \$1.50, Calcutta, 18		2450	REASON, Revelation, and Faith,	
2128	Language, \$1.50, Calcutta, 18 PSALTER, or Psalms of David,	,11		Some Few Thoughts on, by a Civilian, \$1,75, London,	1848
	Pointed for Chanting, edited by		2451	REASTON, Rev. C. H., Metrical	
0.10.	Dr. H. Iges, Ismo., 25c. N. Y., 18			Version of the Collects, \$1,	****
242)	PUBLICATIONS of the Liverpool		0.450	London,	1821
	Tract Society, 6 vols., §3, Liverpool, no do		2492	RECORDS of a London Clergyman, by R. H. Caunter, \$1, London,	1841
	21. (c) poot, 700 ac			DJ 10, 11, Onumber, 91,	

	,
2453 RECORDS of a Good Man's Life,	the Identity and General Resur-
75c. New-York, 184 2454 RECTOR in Search of a Curate,	rection of the Human Body, &c. &c., by Samuel Drew, \$1,50, very
\$1.75, London, 1849 2455 REED, Rev. Andrew, The Advance-	3 rare, Brooklyn, 181
ment of Religion the Chaim of the	2478 REYNOLDS, Bishop, Whole Works of, 6 vols., \$1350, London, 182
Times, 75c. New-York, 184; 2456 REES, Rev. Abraham, D. D., Prac-	3 2479 — Meditations on the
tical Sermons, 4 vols., \$4, Lond., 1812	Fall and Rising of Peter, 75c. London, 181
2457 REEVE, Rev. Jos., History of the Christian Church, 2 vols., \$2,50,	2480 — Rev. Edw., Treatise
Chambersburg, Pa., 1835	on the Soul and Faculties of Man, 4to, \$1,50, London, 164
2458 ——— Practical Discourses, 2 vols., 8vo., \$1,50, Philadelphia, 1796	2481 ———— Rev. Thomas, D. D.,
2459 REEVES, John, Holy Bible, 9 vols.,	2482 RICH, James Claudius, Memoirs of
\$8, London, 1802 2460 — Wm., D. D., Apologies of	the Ruins of Babylon and Perse-
Justin Martyr, Tertullian, &c. &c.,	polis, &c., 8vo., \$3, London, 1839 A work of great interest
2 vols. \$4.50, very rare, London, 1726 2461 REFORMATIONS, The Three, Lu-	to the Biblical antiquarian.
theran, Roman, and Anglican, by	Auburn, Lectures on Theology
Rev. Walter Farquhar Hook, D. D., 88c. Buffalo, 1849	and Philosophy, 8vo., \$2, N. Y., 1849
2462 REFORMERS, The Works of the	Churchman's Reasons for his Faith
British, an entire sett, 12 vols., half calf, \$14. London, various dates.	and Practice, 75c. New-York, 1847
2463 REIGN of Grace, from Its Rise to	am a Churchman, 8c. Hartford, 1845
Its Consummation, by Rev. A. Booth, 75c. Philadelphia, 1838	2486 — Reasons Why I am Not a Papist, 13c. N. Y., 1847
2464 RELIGION, As Seen through the	2487 — A Sponsor's Gift,
2465 ————— At Home, A Story	2488 — New-York, 1849 The Evidences of
Founded on Facts, by Mrs. Williams, 50c. 1837	Christianity, 31c. New-York, 1849
2466 RELIGIOUS Wars in France, by	2489 RICHMOND, Rev. Legh, Selections from the Reformers and Early
J. Duncan, \$1,25, London, 1840 2467 Life, Pleasantness of,	Divines, \$4, London, 1817
by Matthew Henry, 50c. N.Y., 1837	shawe, 75c. New-York, 1844
2468 — Conference, to which is appended Leslie's Method, 50c.	2491 ————————————————————————————————————
New-York, 1808	8 vols., neatly bound, \$30, Lond., 1808
2469 ——— Sentiments of Learn- ed Laymen, 63c. London, 1790	copy of this work can now be found
2470 ————————————————————————————————————	in London,
2471 — Consolation under	2492 — Domestic Portraiture, 12mo., 75c. New-York, 1849
Bereavement, 50c. Boston, 1842 2472 RELIGIOUS TRACTS of the So-	2493 — Annals of the Poer,
ciety for Promoting Christian	2494 RIDDLE, Rev. J. E., A Manual of
Knowledge, 11 vols., \$10, London, various dates.	Christian Antiquities, or an Ac-
2473 — of the Li-	count of the Constitution, Disci- pline, Worship, and Customs of
verpool Tract Society, 6 vols., \$2,50.	the Ancient Church, &c. &c., thick
2474 — By Rev.	2495 — Luther and his Times, or
Sir James Stonehouse, \$1,25, London, 1822	a History of the German Refor- mation, \$1, London, 1837
2475 RESURRECTION of Jesus Christ,	2496 RIDDOCK, Rev. James, Celebrated
A Treatise Concerning the, in Three Parts, by Rev. Dr. Ditton,	Sermons, 5th edition, 2 vols., \$3, London, 1831
\$2. London, 1840	2497 RIDGELEY, Thos., D. D., Body of
2476 —————————————————————Sermons on the,	Divinity, complete edition, edited by Wilson, 2 vols., royal 8vo.,
(for Easter,) edited by Stebbing, \$1, London, 1835	\$6,50, Loudon, 1845
2477 ———— An Essay on	2498 RIDLEY, Bishop, Commentary on the Ephesians, Philippians, and

Jude, to which is appended, Life	on the Anti-Papal Spirit which
and Character of Edward VI.,	produced the Reformation, 2 vols.,
and his Catechism, \$2, London, 1814	\$2, London, 1834
2499 RIDLEY, Bp., Treatises and Let-	2524 ROTHERAM, Rev. John, Whole
ters, \$1,50, London, 1820	Works, an elegant copy, 8vo., ealf,
2500 - Life of, by Rev. George	gilt, \$2,50, London, 1772
Ridley, 4to., \$3,50, London, 1762	2525 Essay on Faith, 50c.
2501 Selden, or the Way to	New-Haven, 1803
Keep Lent, \$1,50, London, 1845	2526 ROWE, Elizabeth, Letters from the
2502 ROBERTS, Rev. Peter, Harmony of	Dead to the Living, and other
the Epistles, thick 4to., \$3, Camb., 1800	Works, fine calf, \$1,50, very rare,
Highly recommended by	London, 1745
Hartwell Horne.	2527 RUPP, J. Daniel, An Original His-
2503 ROBINSON, Rev. Edward, Calmet's	tory of Religious Denominations
Dictionary of the Bible, \$4, Bost., 1848	in the United States, &c. &c., 8vo.,
2504 — Dictionary of the Holy	\$2,50, Philadelphia, 1844
Bible for the Young, 75c. Boston, 1835	2528 RUSSELL, Rev. David, D. D. Let-
2505 Travels and Research-	ters on the Gospel, 2 vol., \$1,50,
es in the Holy Land, 3 vols., 8vo.,	Philadelphia, 1836
\$6,50,	2529 — Rev. Michael, LL D.,
2506 ——— Harmony of the Four	Discourses on the Millenium, and
Gospels, in Greek, according to	Other Subjects, \$2, Edinburgh, 1830
the Text of Hahn, 8vo., \$2, Bost., 1845	2530 RUTLEDGE, Rev. Edw., of S. C.,
2507 ———— Rev. Robert, Edition	History of the Church of England,
of Claude's Essay, 2 vols., 8vo.,	8vo., \$1,25, Middletown, 1825
\$4, London, 1816	2531 — Family Altar, 50c.
2508 ——— Rev. Thos., Scripture	Middletowa, 1826
Characters, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3, Lond., 1849	2532 SACRA Privata, by Bishop Wilson,
2509 Another copy, 4 vols., 12mo., \$2,-	37½c. New-York, 1849
50, London, 1837	Various editions of the
2510 ———— The Christian System	same work constantly kept.
Unfolded, \$2,50, Glasgow, 1830	2533 SACRED Melodies, or Hymns for
2511 — Christopher, Essay on	Youth, by a Lady, 50c. N. Y., 1841
Revelation, 8vo., \$1,25, London, 1733	2534 — Mountains, by J. T. Head-
2512 ROGERS, Rev. John, D. D., Ser-	ley, with Illustrations, \$1,25.
mons and Tracts, with Life, by	New-York, 1847
Dr. Burton, 2 vols., \$3, London, 1819	2535 SACRED MUSIC, Anthens and
2513 ROMAINE, Rev. William, Whole	Services, for Three, Four, and
Works, \$4, London, 1838	Five Voices, Selected from the
2514 Another copy, elegant, \$4,50.	Works of Standard Composers, 2
2515 — Life, Walk, and Tri-	vols., 4to., \$2,50, (Burns.) Lond., 1847
umph of Faith, 75c. Hartford, 1835	2536 — The Harp of
2516 — Letters, 75c. N. Y., 1846	David, \$1.
2517 ROMAN Catholic Controversy be-	2537 Cantus Eccle-
tween M. B. and Quæro, 8vo.,	siæ, \$1,25.
50c. Alexandria, 1818	2538 — The Church
A very masterly work.	Choir, \$1.
2518 ROMANISM? What Is, A Collec-	2539 — The Beethoven
tion of Important Tracts, pub-	Collection, \$1.
lished by the Society for Promot-	2540 — Gems of, by
ing Christian Knowledge, 75c.	S'anbridge, 50c.
London, 1846	2541 — Chants, by the
2519 ROMISH Frauds, The Frauds of the	Rev. Wm. Staunton, 75c. N. Y., 1849
Romish Monks and Priests, Set	2542 — Chants, by C.
Forth in Eight Letters, 2 vols.,	Jarvis, 38c.
\$2,75, 5th edition, London, 1725	2543 — Chants, by L.
2520 ROSCOE, William, Life and Ponti-	Mason, 50c.
ficate of Leo X., edited by Thos.	2544 Daily Service
Roscoe, 2 vols., \$3, London, 1846	used in Cathedral Worship, \$1.
2521 ROSENMULLERI, Georgi, Scholia	2545 — Gregorian, and
in Novum Testamentum, 5 vols.,	Other Ecclesiastical Chants, 25c.
\$10, Nurembergæ, 1815	single, \$2,50 per dozen.
2522 ROSS, Alexander, A View of All	2546 — The Psalter
Religions, 6th edition, 8vo., \$2,50,	and Canticles, Pointed for Chant-
London, 1696	ing, 25c.
	2547 SADLER, Michael Thomas, Esq.,
and and an area of a second and	, as a second second second

Memoirs of his Life and Writings,	2571 SCOTT, Commentary on the Bible,
large 8vo, \$2, London, 1848 2548 SADLER, J., The Youth's Church	6 vols., \$12, Boston, 1846
2548 SADLER, J., The Youth's Church	2572 Another copy, 3 vols., royal 8vo.,
Guide, &c. &c., 75c., (Seeley's.)	\$5.50, New-York, 1838
London, 1850	2573 ——— Theological Works, 5 vols.,
2549 SAINTS, Holy, The Lives of, and	\$5,50, New-York, 1812
Prophets, Patriarchs, Apostles, &c.	2574 Another copy, 6 vols., 12mo., \$3,-
&c. 4to., \$2.50, London, 1685	50, Middletown, 1817
A Salurium of the Liver	2575 —— Remarks on Tomline's The-
2550 — A Selection of the Lives of, inter-persed with Reflections,	ology, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2, Phila., 1817 2576 ————————————————————————————————————
	2577 ———————————————————————————————————
de. de., 75c. London, 1820 2551 SALE, George, The Koran of Ma-	Life, by King, 8vo., \$2, London, 1836
homet, with Notes, &c., \$2.50,	2578 ——— Memoirs of, full copy, edit-
Philadelphia, 1850	ed by his Son, large 8vo., \$2,50,
2552 SAMPSON, Ezra, Beauties of the	London, 1825
B.ble, 50c. Hud-on, 1819	2579 ——— Rev. James, of Cambridge,
2553 SANDERSON, Bishop, Nine Cases	Sermons on Interesting Subjects,
of Con-cience Determined, \$1,25,	\$1,25, London, 1816
London, 1841	2580 — Rev. John, Whole Works
2554 —————————————————Sermons, edited by	of, fine Oxford copy, 6 vols., \$14, 1826
Rev. R. Montgomery, 2 vols., \$4,	2581 ——— Continuation of Milner's
beautiful edition, London, 1841	Church History, 8vo., \$2,50,
2555 SANDFORD, Bi-hop of Elinburgh,	London, 1829
Remains of, &c. &c., with Life, by	2582 — The Christian I ife, from its
Rev. Jas. Sandford, 2 vols., \$2,50,	Beginning to its Consummation in
Edinburgh, 1830	Glory, three fine copies in folio,
A golden book.	\$4, \$4,50, and \$5,50, London, 1729
2556 — Rev. G. B, Vindica-	2583 Another copy, 5 vols., 8vo., \$7.50,
tion of the Church of England,	London, 1657
\$1,50, London, 1847	2584 Another copy, 5 vols., 12mo, \$5,-
2557 ————— Rev. John, Lectures	50, London, 1747
on Fellowship with God, 75c. London, 1835	2585 Another copy, \$6, do. 1702 2586 Rev. Joseph N., Sermons,
2558 SARPA, Paola, Histoire du Councile	preached at the French Church in
de Trente, par Le Courayer, 2	Norwich, 2 vols., \$2, London, 1743
vols., folio, \$9. Paris, 1746	2587 —— Rev. Jas., D. D., Sermons,
2559 SATURDAY Evening, by the Au-	8vo., \$1,75, (Rivingtons.) 1816
thor of Natural History of Enthu-	2588 William, Esq., The Har-
sia sn., 75c. Boston, 1832	mony of Phrenology with Scrip-
2560 SAURIN, Rev. James, Sermons,	ture, \$1,25, Edinburgh, 1837
translated by Robinson, 8 vols.,	2589 SCOTTISH Pulpit, A Series of Ser-
54 N N N 1 1010	[2000 DOOT HOLL I HIPK, 11 DOING OF DOCE
\$6, New-York, 1813	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot-
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3.	
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols.,	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot-
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2.	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., Svo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845
 2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 ————————————————————————————————————
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-Lendon, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D.	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., Svo. \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 ————————————————————————————————————
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50,	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., Svo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 ————————————————————————————————————
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2 50, Oxford, 1810	mons by Eminent Divines of Scotland, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, New-York, 1829 ———————————————————————————————————
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Sand., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D.,	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 ————————————————————————————————————
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, trans-	mons by Eminent Divines of Scotland, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, 50e. New-York, 1839 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-Lendon, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50,	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., Svo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, 50c. New-York, 1839 2592 Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, se-
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2 50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo, \$2 50, ** Andover, 1836	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., 87,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, 50c. New-York, 1839 2592 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, se- lected from the Works of Bicker-
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50, ** Andover, 1836 2567 SCHOBERL, Frederic, Persecutions	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, New-York, 1829 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, se- lected from the Works of Bicker- steth, Jenks, Leighton, &c. &c.,
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62e. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Sand., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50, 2567 SCHOBERL, Frederic, Persentions of Popery, 8vo., 75c. New-York, 1844	mons by Eminent Divines of Scotland, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin., 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, 50c. New-York, 1829 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, selected from the Works of Bickersteth, Jenks, Leighton, &c. &c., \$1,25, London, 1840
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62e. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50, ** Andover, 1836 2567 SCHOBERL, Frederic, Persecutions of Popery, 8vo., 75c. New-York, 1844 2568 SCHOLAR Armed Against the Er-	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, 50c. New-York, 1839 2592 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, se- lected from the Works of Bicker- steth, Jenks, Leighton, &c. &c., \$1,25, London, 1840 2594 — Unity of Protestant
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Sand., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50, * Andover, 1836 2567 SCHOBERL, Frederic, Persecutions of Popery, 8vo., 75c. New-York, 1844 2568 SCHOLAR Armed Against the Errors of the Times, 2 vols., 8vo., \$6, London, 1812	mons by Eminent Divines of Scotland, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin., 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, 50c. New-York, 1829 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, selected from the Works of Bickersteth, Jenks, Leighton, &c. &c., \$1,25, London, 1840
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Sand., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50, * Andover, 1836 2567 SCHOBERL, Frederic, Persecutions of Popery, 8vo., 75c. New-York, 1844 2568 SCHOLAR Armed Against the Errors of the Times, 2 vols., 8vo., \$6, London, 1812	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, 50c. New-York, 1839 2592 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, selected from the Works of Bicker- steth, Jenks, Leighton, &c. &c., \$1,25, London, 1840 2594 — Unity of Protestant Churches, 12mo, 50c. London, 1846
 2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62e. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Sand., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50, Warden and School and S	mons by Eminent Divines of Scot- land, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, 50c. New-York, 1839 2592 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, se- lected from the Works of Bicker- steth, Jenks, Leighton, &c. &c., \$1,25, London, 1840 2594 — Unity of Protestant Churches, 12mo., 50c. London, 1846 2595 SCRIPTURE Lexicon, or Dictionary of Three Thousand Names of Per- sons and Places in the Bible, by
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50, ** Andover, 1836 2567 SCHOBERL, Frederic, Persecutions of Popery, 8vo., 75c. New-York, 1844 2568 SCHOLAR Armed Against the Errors of the Times, 2 vols., 8vo., \$6, London, 1812 2569 SCHUMAKER, Rev. J. G., Prophetic History of the Christian Religion, 75c. Baltimore, 1847	mons by Eminent Divines of Scotland, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, 50c. New-York, 1839 2592 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, selected from the Works of Bickersteth, Jenks, Leighton, &c. &c., \$1,25, London, 1840 2594 — Unity of Protestant Churches, 12mo, 50c. London, 1846 2595 SCRIPTURE Lexicon, or Dictionary of Three Thousand Names of Persons and Places in the Bible, by Oliver, 8vo., \$1,75, Birmingham, 1784
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50, **Andover, 1836 2567 SCHOBERL, Frederic, Persecutions of Popery, 8vo., 75c. New-York, 1844 2568 SCHOLAR Armed Against the Errors of the Times, 2 vols., 8vo., \$6, London, 1812 2569 SCHUMAKER, Rev. J. G., Prophetic History of the Christian Religion, 75c. Baltimore, 1847 2570 SCOTT, Rev. Thomas, Commentary	mons by Eminent Divines of Scotland, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, New-York, 1829 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, selected from the Works of Bickersteth, Jenks, Leighton, &c. &c., \$1,25, London, 1840 2594 — Unity of Protestant Churches, 12mo, 50c. London, 1846 2595 SCRIPTURE Lexicon, or Dictionary of Three Thousand Names of Persons and Places in the Bible, by Oliver, 8vo., \$1,75, Birmingham, 1784
2561 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3. 2562 Another copy, half bound, 2 vols., \$2. 2563 SAYBROOK Platform, 62c. Bost., 1829 2564 Another copy, 50c. New-London, 1710 2565 SCATTERGOOD, Rev. Saml., D. D., Sermons, 2 vols., new edit., \$2.50, Oxford, 1810 2566 SCHMUCKER, Rev. S. S., D. D., Course of Biblical Theology, translated by Storr & Flatt, 8vo., \$2.50, ** Andover, 1836 2567 SCHOBERL, Frederic, Persecutions of Popery, 8vo., 75c. New-York, 1844 2568 SCHOLAR Armed Against the Errors of the Times, 2 vols., 8vo., \$6, London, 1812 2569 SCHUMAKER, Rev. J. G., Prophetic History of the Christian Religion, 75c. Baltimore, 1847	mons by Eminent Divines of Scotland, forming a Complete Body of Practical Divinity, 6 vols., 8vo., \$7,50, Edinburgh, 1845 2590 — Episcopacy, Annals of, by Bi-hop Skinner, \$3,50, Edin, 1818 2591 SCOUGAL, Rev. Henry, Works of, New-York, 1829 — Life of God in the Soul of Man, 25c. New-York, 1819 2593 SCRIPTURAL Sacrifice, Consisting of Prayers and Thanksgivings, selected from the Works of Bickersteth, Jenks, Leighton, &c. &c., \$1,25, London, 1840 2594 — Unity of Protestant Churches, 12mo., 50c. London, 1846 2595 SCRIPTURE Lexicon, or Dictionary of Three Thousand Names of Persons and Places in the Bible, by Oliver, 8vo., \$1,75, Birmingham, 1784 **Freeommended by the House of Bishops.**

Lectures, on the Old Testament,	White, \$2,50;
by the Hon. and Rev. H. E. J.	Bishop Mant, \$2,50;
Howard, D. D., \$1,25, London, 1844	
2597 SCRIPTURE History, in Familiar	Carwithen, \$2;
Lectures, on the New Testament,	Holmes, \$2;
by the Hon, and Rev. H. E. J.	Falconer, \$2;
Howard, D. D., 75c. London, 1844	Kett, \$2; and many others.
2598 SCRIVENER, Rev. Matthew, Me- thod and Means to a Spiritual	2622 SERMONS, Delivered at the Boyle
	Lectures by the most Eminent Divines of the Eighteenth Century,
Life, \$1,50, London, 1688	4 vols., \$5, rare and valuable,
2599 SCUDDER, Rev. Henry, The Chris-	London, 1740
tian's Daily Walk in Holy Secu-	2623 — By Eminent Divines,
rity and Peace, \$1, London, 1776	delivered before the Sons of the
2600 SEABURY, Bishop, Discourses, 1	Clergy, 4to., \$2,
vol., \$1, New-York, 1798	London and Oxford, various dates.
2601 SEARLE, Ambrose, Horæ Solita-	2624 ——— (Four,) by Taylor,
rice, \$2,50, London, 1842	Lowth, Hayter, and John Taylor,
2602 Same work, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2,50,	50c., very rare, London, 1822
Hartford, 1815	2625 ——— By Brett, Sutton, Brad-
2603 — Christian Husbandry, 75c.	ford, Lewis, and others, \$1.50, a
London, 1819	valuable volume, London, 1708-1731
2604 — Christian Remembrancer,	2626 — On the Evidence, Doc-
75e. Lendon, 1818	trines, and Duties of Christians, 2
2605 ———— Scleetions from Works of,	vols., \$1,50, London, 1825
by Bickersteth, 12mo, \$1, Lond., 1847 2606 SECKER, Archbp., Whole Works,	2627 On the Doctrines, Du-
2006 SECKER, Archop., Whole Works,	ties, &c., of Christianity, by a Lady,
6 vols., good copy, \$10, London, 1811 2607 ————————————————————————————————————	50c.
	2628 SEWELL, Rev. Wm., Dialogues on the Evidences of Christianity, \$2,
\$9, 3d edition, London, 1790 2008 ——— Fourteen Sermons, \$1.50,	Lendon, 1845
London, 1766	2629 — Christian Morals, 75c.
2609 — Five Sermons on Popery,	London, 1842
25c. Columbus, 1835	2630 Another conv. 75c Billimere, 1844
2610 — Lectures on the Church	2631 — Hawkstone, A Tale Of
Catechism, 75c. Columbus, 1835	2631 — Hawkstone, A Tale Of and For England, 2 vols., 8th
2611 — Discourses on the Com-	American edition, \$1,50, 1849
mandments, 50c. Baltimore, 1824	2632 SHADOW of the Cross and Distant
2612 SECRET Thoughts of a Christian	Hills, Allegories by the Rev. W.
lately Departed, 75c. London, 1813	Adams, beautifully printed and
2613 SEED, Rev. Jeromiah, D. D., Ser-	illu-trated, sold together or sepa-
mens, 2 vols, \$2, London, 1766	rate at 63c. each, New-York, 1844
2014 ——— Posthumous Works, 2 vols., \$3, London, 1750	2633 SHARP, T., On the Rubrics, \$2,50,
	Oxford, 1834 2634 SHARPE, Archbishop, Sermons, 7
2615 SEIXAS, J., Manual Hebrew Grammar, 8vo., 59c. Andover, 1833	vols., \$7,50, Lendon, 1722
2616 SELECT Poetry, chiefly Sacred, of	2635 ———— Theological Work-, 5
the Reign of James L, edited by	vols., 8vo., \$10, new and complete
Edward Fair, Esq., \$1,75, Camb., 1847	edition, London, 1829
2617 — Works of Venn, James	2626 SHEPHARD, Rev. John, Critical
Wilson Jay, &c. &c., 8vo., \$1,50,	and Practical Elucidation of the
New-York, 1847	Common Prayer, 2 vols., \$3,50,
2618 — Christian Anthors A Se.	Lendon, 1798
ries of Important Works for the	2637 SHEPHERD, Archdeacen, Sermons
Practical Christian, 2 vols., 8vo.,	on Several Occasions, 75c. Lond., 1803
\$2, New-York, 1849	2638 — Rev. Thos., The Para-
2619 — Christian Authors, a very	ble of the Ten Virgins Opened and
valuable volume, large 8vo., \$2,50,	Applied, \$1,50, London, 1838
London, 1818	2639 ———— Rev. W., Horse Apos-
2620 SELECTIONS from the Fathers of	tolice, or a Digest of the Acts
the English Church, &c. &c., \$2, London, 1820	and Writings of the Apostles, \$1.75. London, 1846
2621 SERMONS, Delivered at the Bamp-	\$1,75, London, 1846 2640 ————— Rev. J. G., The Chris-
ton Lectures by the following Di-	tian Obligations of Citizenship,
vines, viz:	12mo., \$1,50, (Rivingtons.) Lond., 1847
Bishop Van Mildert, \$2,50;	2641 SHERLOCK, Bishop, The Works of,
• , - , - ,	

	edited by Hughes, 5 vols., extra		and Practical Duties of Christi-
	ealf, \$10, London, 1830	1	anity, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3.50, Lond., 1841
264:	2 Another copy, 5 vols., boards, \$7,-	2669	9 SIBBS, Rev. R., D. D., The Soul's
	50.	1	Conflict, (Pickering,) \$1,25, Lond., 1837
2643		2670	SIMEON, Rev. Chas., Entire Works
264	4 SHERLOCK, Bp., On the Know-		of, including his Skeletons of Ser-
	ledge of Christ, Svo., \$1, London, 1675		mons and Horae Homileticae, or
2643		1	Discourses digested into one Con-
	at the Temple Church, 4 vols.,	1	tinued Series, and forming a Com-
	8vo., \$3,50, London, 1772		mentary upon every Book of the
2616			Old and New Testament, to which
	ealf, \$3, London, 1754	i	are annexed an improved edition
2647		i	of Claude's Essay on the Compo-
2245	Trinity, 4to., \$1,50, London, 1698	1	sition of a Sermon, and very com-
2648		1	prehensive Indexes, edited by the
	of the Resurrection of Christ, 50c.	i	Rev. Thomas Hartwell Horne, 21
0210	London, 1808	0.051	vols., 8vo., extra cloth, \$35, Lond., 1850
2649		2671	[
2650			Six Hundred Skeletons of Ser-
	ance to the Supreme Power Stated	0070	mons, 5 vols., 8vo., \$8,50, Phila., 1810
2651	and Resolved, 63c. London, 1684	2672	
2001		2073	Homiletiee, 6 vols., \$10, London, 1828
2653		2674	
2002		2074	
2653			of Sermons, with Claude's Essay,
2000	on Happiness of Good Men, and	2675	\$1,50, London, 1814
	the Punishment of the Wicked,	2013	
	\$1,50, London, 1704	2376	by Bp. Mellvaine, 8vo., \$2, N. Y., 1847 Four Sermons on the
2654		-0.0	Offices of the Holy Spirit, 38c.
2001	ment, \$1,50, London, 1699		
2655		2677	New-York, 1832 Excellency of the Litur-
2656	———— On Death, \$1, do. ———————————————————————————————————	2011	gy, Discourses before the Univer-
2000	Edinburgh, 1776		sity of Cambridge, 50c. N.Y., 1813
2657		2678	SIMON, Father, Critical History of
	A Practical Discourse on Reli-		the Text of the New Testament,
	gious Assemblies, edited by the		2 vols., 4to., \$4, rare, London, 1689
	Rev H. Melvill, (Burns,) 500.	2679	
	London, 1849		Israel Historically Identified with
2658			the Aborigines of the Western
	London, 1755		Hemisphere, \$2, London, 1830
2659	SHERIDAN, Thomas, Lectures on	ĺ	1 very claborate and in-
	Elocation, 8vo., fine calf, \$1,75,		teresting work.
	London, 1798	2680	Another copy, 8vo., \$2,50, Lond., 1836
2660	Same work, edited by the Bi hop	2681	SKELTON, Rev. Philip, Complete
	of Rhode Island, 50c. Balt., 1835		Works of, edited by Lyman, 6
2661	SHERWOOD, Mrs., Stories on the		vols., \$12, London, 1824
	Church Catechism, edited by Bp.		🖅 One of the most masterly
2000	Kemp, 75c. Baltimore, 1823 SHORT, Bp., History of the Church		writers of his time.
2662	SHORT, Bp., History of the Church	2582	SKELETONS of Sermons, by Si-
	of England, \$1,50, New-York, 1849		meon, with Claude's Essay, \$1,50,
2663	_		London, 1840
0001	and 38c. New-York, 1850	2683	SKETCHES of Sermons, preached
2364			in Various Parts of the United
	Chapters in the New Testament,		Kingdom and the European Con-
9005	\$2, London, 1824 SHUCKFORD, Rev. Samuel, D. D.,		tinent, furnished by the Authors,
2000	Sagral and Profess History Con	0004	4 vols., \$3,25, Philadelphia, 1844
	Sacred and Profane History Con-	2684	
9888	necte I, 2 vols., \$6, Oxford, 1848 SHUTTLEWORTH, Philip N., D.D.,		Hundred,) of Sermons suited for
2000	Not Tradition, but Scripture, 8vo.,		all Occasions, from the 6th Lon-
	\$1, Philadelphia, 1841	9685	don edition, \$2,50, New York, 1847
2667		~000	SKINNER, Bishop, Truth and Order Vindicated, \$1, New-York, 1815
	Revelation, 50c. New-York, 1836		This is one of the ablest
2668			works in defence of Episcopacy
	Some of the Leading Principles		ever written.
	J 1		

	NNER, Rev. John, Annals of			Families, for Every Day in the
	otti-h Episcopacy, \$3,50, Edin.,	1818		Year, 3 vols., 8vo., \$4, London, 1842
	DE, Rev. James, An Explana-		0710	An invaluable book.
	n of the Psalms as read in the	1891	2112	SNAPE, Rev. Andrew, D. D., (Pro-
	turgy of the Church, \$2, Loud., —— Annotations on the Epis-	1004		vost of King's College, Cambridge,) Sermons, 3 vols., \$2,50, London, 1745
2000	s, 2 vols., \$5,50, London,	1820	9713	SOAMES, Rev. Henry, History of
2689	—— Plain Parochial Sermons,	1020	2110	the Reformation, \$1,75, London, 1828
	25, London,	1832	2714	Bampton Lecture Ser-
	TER'S Original Draught of the			mons, 8vo., \$2.50, Oxford, 1830
	imitive Church, 75c. Columbus,	1833	2715	SONGS in the Night, or Hymns for
2691 SLE	IGH, W. W., The Christian's			the Sick and Suffering, 75c. Bost., 1845
De	fen-ive Dictionary, 75c. Phila.,	1837	2716	SONS of the Clergy, Sermons before
	LLBROOK, Bishop, Vindica-			the Society, 4to., \$2, London, 1752
tio	n of the Miracles, 2 vols., \$2,50,		2717	SOUTH, Rev. Robert, D. D., Ser-
2	London,	1837		mons, complete edition, 4 vols.,
	LLRIDGE, Bp. George, Sixty		0710	\$7,50, Philadelphia, 1844
Бe	rmons, folio, \$5, very rare, Oxford,	1724	2718	Another copy, 2 vols., royal 8vo., \$6, Edinburgh, 1843
2694 Aı	other copy, in fine order, \$5,50,	1104	2710	\$6, Edinburgh, 1843 SOUTHEY, Book of the Church,
2004 A1	London,	1794	2110	\$4, London, 1838
2695	Twelve Sermons,	1121	2720	Another copy, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,
	0., \$1,25, Oxford,	1717		Boston, 1825
	DLEY, Rev. Edward, History		2721	Same work, abridged, 63c. do. 1843
	the Reformed Religion in		2722	Life of John We-ley,
Fr	ance, 3 vols., \$1,50, N. Y.,	1839		2 vols., \$2, New-York, 1847
	TH, Rev. Ethan, View of the		2723	SOUTHGATE, Bishop, Narrative of
	bes in America, 50c. Poultney,	1825		a Tour through Armenia, Hindo-
	Rev. Hugh, D. D., The			stan, Persia, and Mesopotamia, 2
	art in its State by Nature, and	1044	0504	vols., London, 1840
	Renewed by Grace, 50e. N. Y.,	1244	2724	
	— and Anthon on the Carey mation, 123c. New-York,	18.12	2725	Philadelphia, 1850 Visit to the Syrian
	- Rev. John, D. D., Lectures	1010	2120	Churches, \$1, New-York, 1843
	the Sacred Office, 75c. Phila.,	1843	2726	SPANHEIM, Rev. Frederick, D. D.,
	An Exposition of the Creed	1.10		Ecclesiastical Annals, from the
	I Explanation of the Articles of			Commencement of the Scripture
ou	· Christian Faith, folio, \$2,50,			History to the Reformation, frans-
	London,	1632		lated by Wright, 8vo., \$3,50,
	A most rare and valuable		o les o les	London, 1840
2702			2727	
	— Matthew Hale, Universal- 1 Examined, Renounced, and			Baronis et Legati Regii Orbis Romanus, &c. &c., 4to., \$4, rare,
	posed, 12th edit., 75c. Boston,	1811		London, 1703
	Rev. John Pye, On the Re-	1011	2728	SPARROW, Rev. Anthony, D. D.,
	lation of Scripture and Geology,		2.20	Rationale upon the Book of Com-
\$1	, New-York,	1840		mon Prayer of the Church of
2701	and Choule's History of			England \$1.25 Oxford 1843
Mi	ssions, 4to., \$3,50, New-York,	1824	2729	SPENCER, Rev. J. A., Christian
2705 —	— Rev. Saml. Stanhope, D.D.,			Instructed, \$1, New-York, 1845
Co	mprehensive View, \$2,	7070	2730	
9706	New-Brunswick,	1816	0701	mation in England, 50c. N.Y., 1846
2706 —	— Rev. Sidney, Sermons, 2 ls., \$2, London,	1800	2731	
2707	ls., \$2, London, Rev. Wm., The Domestic	1009		Travel in Egypt and the Holy Land, 8vo., plates, \$3, N. Y., 1850
Al	tar, \$1,50, London,	1818	2732	Same work, cheap edition, 12mo.,
2708	 Primitive Psalmody Vindi- 	-010	2.02	\$1,50, New-York, 1850
ea	ted, 50c. New-York,	1809	2733	
2709	History of New-York, Civil			in Greck, with Notes, \$1,25,
	d Ecclesiastical, from the Disco-			New-York, 1847
	ry to 1732, \$2, Philadelphia,	1792	2734	
2710	Rev. William, D. D., Works	1000	0507	of, by Raffles, \$1, Boston, 1814
01, 0711 CM	2 vols., \$2.50, very rare, Phila.,	1803	2735	SPINCKES, Rev. N., Churchman's
	TH, Rev. J. W., D. D., Exposi- on of Various Passages of Holy			Companion in the Closet, 75c. New-York, 1845
	ripture, adapted to the Use of		9736	SPIRITUAL Despotism, by the
150	inprime, adapted to the ose of		2100	of the form the policies, by the

-				
	Author of Natural History of En-	2764	STANNARD, Christopher, D. D.,	
	thu iasm, 75c. New-York, 1845		Conversations on the Lord's Sup-	
2737	SPIRITUAL Perfection Unfolded,		per, 12mo., \$1,25, New-York,	1847
	by Dr. Bates, edited by J. Pye		STAR in the West, An Attempt to	
0 m	Smith, \$1, Londen, 1834	i	Discover the Lost Tribes by E.	
2738	SPRAGUE, Rev. Dr., Lectures to		Bondinot, LL. D., \$1, Trenton,	1816
	Young People, edited by Dr. Sa-	2766		
0=00	muel Miller, 75c. New-York, 1835		Remains, \$1,75, (Rivingtons,)	
2739		0-07	London,	1817
97.10	75c. Albany, 1847 SPRAT, Bishop, Sermons, 50c. 1697	2161	STAUNTON, Rev. W., Dictionary	1011
	SPRING, Rev. Gardiner, D. D., Lec-	9788	of the Church, \$1,25, New-York, STEBBINGS, Rev. Henry, D. D.,	181.1
2131	tures on the Bible, \$1,50, N. Y., 1839	1-100	Sermons, \$1, London,	1700
2742	——— Memoir of Hannah L.	2769		1700
	M aray, 8vo., \$1,50, New-York, 1849		of Christ, 3 vols., 8vo., \$5,50,	
2743	Church in the Wilderness,		London.	1842
	50c. New-York, 1844	2770	STEELE, Sir Richard, The Chris-	
2744	The Mercy Seat, Thoughts		tian Hero, An Argument in Favor	
	suggested by the Lord's Prayer,	1	of the Christian Religion, 63c.,	
	8vo., \$2, New-York, 1849	1	rare, London,	1761
2745	SPRY, Rev. John Hume, Bampton	2771		
0710	Lectures for 1816, \$2,50, Oxford, 1817		ple'e. 2 vols., \$1,50, Boston,	1808
2746	ST. AUGUSTINE, Conversion and	2772	STEIGER, Rev. W., Exposition of	
0747	Labors of, 38c. New-York, 1833	0750	Peter, \$1,50, Edinburgh,	1836
2747		2113	STEINMETZ, Rev. And., History	
2748	75c. Boston, 1840 Ano her copy, \$2,50, London, 1846		of the Jesuits, complete, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,50, Philadelphia.	1010
	Sl'ACK, Rev. Richard, D. D., Lec-	977.1	8vo., \$3,50, Philadelphia, STENNETT, Rev. Joseph, Whole	1848
2.10	tures on the Acts, 75c. Annapolis, 1815	2114	Works of, 5 vols., \$5.50, London,	1090
2750	STACKHOUSE, Rev. Thes., Com-	2775	STEPHENS, Thos., History of the	1002
	plete Body of Divinity, folio, \$8,		Episcopal Church in Scotland, 4	
	London, 1821	i	vols., Svo., plates, \$9,	1843
2751	Another copy, \$6, do. 1760		A very able and elaborate	1010
2752	Another copy, 3 vols., 8vo., calf,	ĺ	work.	
	£9, Dumfries, 1776	2776	STEPS to the Altar, by a Parish	
2753			Priest, 31c. New-York,	1848
0771	Apostles' Creed, folio, \$3, Lond., 1747	2777	STEVENS, Rev. Robt., Di courses	
2754		0750	on the Creed, \$1.25, London,	1817
	Holy Bible, edited by Bishop	2778		
2755	Gleig, 3 vols., \$12, London, 1817 Same work, new edition, royal	1	Experience of the Heart under the	
2.00	8vo., \$6, London, 1846		Discipline of the Holy Ghost, 50c. New-York,	1999
2756	STANFORD, Rev. John, D. D., The	2779		1000
	Aged Christian's Companion, new	2	\$1, London,	1840
	e lition, with Memoir, by Bishop	2780	STEVENSON, Rev. John, Christ on	1010
	Upfold, 8vo., \$2, New-York, 1848		the Cross, An Exposition of the	
2757			22d Psalm, 75c. New-York,	1846
	\$1,25, very vare, New-York, 1806	2781	The Lord Our Shep-	
2758			herd, An Exposition of the 284	
	tions from his Correspon lence, &c.,		Ps.dm, 63c. New-York,	1846
0==0	75c. New-York, 1844	2782		
2759	STANHOPE, Rev. George, D. D.,	0700	Hi tory, \$1, London,	1717
9760	Sermons, \$1,50, London, 1701 ——————————————————————————————————	2783		1200
2100	rectory, in Two Parts, \$1,50,	2784	8vo., \$1.25, London,	1730
	Londor, 1754	2104	ise on the Offices of Christ, \$1,	
	A very rare book.		Philadelphia,	1810
2761	A very rare book. ——————————————————————————————————	2785	STEWART, Bi hop of Quebec, Ser-	1010
	Epistles and Go-pels, 4 vols., 5th		mons and Prayers, 8vo., \$1,	
	e li ion, \$5,50, London, 1732		Montreal.	1844
2762	On the Parables of	2786		
A	our Lord, \$1,25, London, 1824		Residence in the Sandwich Is-	
2763	STANLEY, Right Hon. Lord, Con-		lands, \$1, Boston,	1839
	versations on the Parables of the	2787		
	New Testament, for the Use of Children, 38c. New-York, 1847		Farewell Sermons, delivered in	1000
	Children, 38c. New-York, 1847		Percy Chapel, 75c. London,	1829

55 CHIKALOGRAL	OH THEOREM
2788 STILLING, Heinrich, Theobald the	2814 STUART, Grammar of the New
Fanatic, 75c. Philadelphia, 1846	Te-tament Dialect, 2d edition,
2789 STILLINGFLEET, Bishop Edward,	\$1,50, Andover, 1841
Sermons and Discourses, \$1,50,	2815 ———— Hebrew Grammar, \$1,75,
2790 ————————————————————————————————————	Andover, 1831 2816 ———— Hebrew Chrestomathy,
folio, \$3,59, London, 1707	\$1,75, Andover, 1838
2791 — Unreasonable-	2817 STUDENT'S Bible, The Old Testa-
ness of Separation, 4to., \$3, Lond., 1681	ment in English, with the New in
2792 — Origines Sacræ,	Greek and English, on alternate
best edition, 2 vols., 8vo., calf,	pages, 4to., \$7, New-York, 1846
\$3,50, London, 1797	2818 Same work, large 8vo., \$4,50.
2793 Another copy, 4to., \$3,50, do. 1662	2819 ———— Testament, in Greek,
2794 Another copy, 4to., \$3, do. 1662	4to., \$2,50, New-York, 1846
2795 ————————————————————————————————————	2820 STURM, Rev. C. C., Reflections on
nice, new edition, \$3, London, 1840	the Works of God, 2 vols., \$2, London, 1820
\$1,50, Philadelphia, 1842	2821 Another copy, 2 vols., \$1,75,
2797 — Rev. Jas., Ser-	Philadelphia, 1832
mon's, \$2,50, London, 1819	2822 Another copy, 1 vol., 8vo., \$1,75,
2798 ST. JOHN, Rev. Theophilus, Ser-	Philadelphia, 1849
mous, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2,50, Lond., 1808	2823 — Contemplations on the
[F Justly celebrated.	Sufferings of Christ, \$1,50, Lond., 1825
2799 STOCKH, Christianii, Prof. Clavis	2824 — Morning Communings for
Linguæ Sanctæ Novi Testamenti,	Every Day in the Year, 2 vols.,
&c. &c. \$3, Jenæ, 1737 La very rare and invalua-	\$2,50, London, 1835 2825 ———————————————————————————————————
ble work.	Every Day in the Year, \$2,50,
2800 SPONE, Rev. John S., D. D., The	London, 1837
Church Universal, A Series of	2826 STURTEVANT, Rev. S. T., The
Discourses on the True Compre-	Preacher's Manual, Lectures on
hen-ion of the Church, \$1, N. Y., 1346	Preaching, &c. &c., royal Svo.,
2801 — Mysteries Opened, or Scrip-	\$2,50, New-York, 1846
tural Views of Preaching and the	2827 — Letters and Con-
Sacraments, \$1, New-York, 1844 2802 ———————————————————————————————————	versations on Preaching, &c. &c., \$1,25, London, 1822
Sabbath, 50c. New-York, 1843	2828 SUDDARDS, Rev. Wm., The British
2803 ———— Life of Bishop Griswold,	Pulpit, 2 vols., \$3, New-York, 1844
8vo., \$2, Philadelphia, 1846	2829 SUFFERINGS of Christ, by a Lay-
2804 — Life of Rev. Dr. Milnor, 2d	man, 75c. New-York, 1847
edition, 75c., (Am. Tract Society,) 1850	2830 ———— Preparation for, the
2805 — Rev. Micah, The Young	Best Work in the Worst Times,
Christian's Assistant to Prayer, 38c. New-York, 1835	63c. London, 1833 2831 SUMMARIES of the Sermons and
38c. New-York, 1835 2806 STONEHOUSE, Sir Jas., Religious	Discourses of Sherlock and Jere-
Trac's and Prayers, new edition,	my Taylor, edited by Hughs, 8vo.,
edited by Rev. T. Stonehouse,	\$1,50, London, 1837
\$1,50, London, 1822	2832 SUMMERFIELD'S Sermons and
2807 — Every Man's As-	Sketches of Sermons, edited by
sistant and the Sick Man's Friend,	the Rev. Dr. Bond, \$1,75, N. Y., 1846
\$1, Oxford, 1815	2833 SUMNER, Bishop of Chester, Apos-
2808 STORR & FLATT, Elements of Theology, translated by Professor	tolic Preaching, 50c. New-York, 1830 2834 ———— Series of Sermons on
Schumaker, \$2, 1836	Christian Faith and Character, 2d
2809 STOWE, C. E., Introduction to the	edition, 391 pp. 8vo., and Apos-
Study of the Bible, \$1, 1835	tolic Preaching Considered, 317
2810 STUART, Rev. Mrses, Commentary	pp., bound together in ealf, \$3,
on the Apocalypse, 2 vols, royal	invaluable, London, 1817 & 1821
8vo., \$4, Andover, 1845	2835 — Treatise on the Records
2811 — Commentary on the He-	of Creation, and on the Moral At-
brews, \$2, Andover, 1833 2812 — Commentary on Romans,	tributes of the Creator, 2 vols., calf, \$4,50, London, 1825
\$2, Andover, 1832	calf, \$4,50, London, 1825 2836 Another copy, \$3,50, do. 1818
2813 — Critical and Historical	2837 Another copy, 2 vols., \$3, do. 1816
Defence of the Old Testament	2838 ———— Evidences of Christiani-
Canon, \$1,25, Andover, 1845	ty, 12mo., 75c. New-York, 1825
· ·	•

2839 SUMNER, Bp., On the Ministerial		2868	TAYLER, Facts in the Life of a	
Character of Christ, 8vo., \$2,				1819
	1000	3000	Ciergyman, §2, plates, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York,	1010
Lendon		2869		1890
2840 ——— Archbp., Exposition of	ť	2870	——— Margaret, or The Pearl,	
Matthew and Mark, Svo., fine	2		2d edition, 75c. New-York,	1850
copy, \$3, London		2871		
2841 Another copy, 75c. New-York		2011	New-York,	1010
	, 1002	3080		1010
2842 SUNDAY School Teacher's Compa-		2872		
nion, 31c. New-York	1847		in the Life of an Engli h Bi-hop,	
2843 — Readings, taken from the	;		being a Sequel to Thankfulness,	
Epistles and Gospels, 50c. Lond.			75c. New-York,	1850
		0079	TAVIOR Piles Laure While	1000
2841 SUPERVILLE, Danl. de Noveaux		2010	TAYLOR, Bishop Jeremy, Whole	
Sermons, \$1, Amsterdam		}	Works of, with an Esay, Critical	
2845 — Sermons, translat			and Biographical, 3 vols., royal	
ed by Reynolds, \$2, London		1	8vo., \$18, London,	1837
2846 SUPPER. The Lord's, Discourses		2874		
		-011	Tractical Works, 6 Vois.,	1000
on, by William Dodsworth, M. A.			small 8vo., \$10, London,	1838
of Christ Church, St. Pancras, 3d		2875	Entire Works, Bi-hop	
edition, (Burns,) 63c. London			Heber's edition, revised by Eden,	
2847 — Essays on the Lord's, by			Vols. II. to VIII. published, \$3	
				1010
the Rev. C. B. Everest, 38c.			each, London,	1949
llartford	, 1841	2876	Life of Jesus Christ,	
2848 SUTTON, Rev. Christopher, D. D.			folio, \$2,75, London,	1647
Godly Meditations on the Holy		2877		
				1057
Sacrament, \$1, New-York		2050	History of our Lord, \$2,75, Lond.,	1001
2849 Another copy, (Burns,) 75c. Lond.	, 1846	2878		
2850 — Disce Vivere, Learn to)		2 vols., \$2, London,	1834
Live, 75c. New-York	1843	2879		
2°51 Another copy. \$1. London		20.0		1991
		2000	by Cattermole, \$1, London,	1001
2852 — Disce Mori, Learn to Die		2880		
75c. New-York	, 1848		50c. London,	1834
2853 Another copy, (Burns,) 63c. Lond.	1846	2881		
2854 SWARTZ, Christian Frederick, Me-			Holy Living and Dying, \$2,	
				1017
moirs of the Life of, by Pearson			London,	1817
\$1, New-York	1835	2882	Other copies, 75 and 50c.	
2855 SYMINGTON, Rev. William, D. D.		İ	New-York,	1847
	1839	2883		
		-000		
			Course for the Whole Year, \$1,50,	
and Intercession, 75c. New-York			New-York,	1849
2857 His Choice Works	;	2884	The Sacred Order and	
of Stephen Charnock, 75c. N. Y.	1846	1	Offices of Episcopacy, \$1, N. Y.,	1843
2858 SYNGE, Archbi-hop, Whole Work-		2885	Life of her Po Habour	1010
		2000	, J - I	1000
of, 4 vols., \$4, (Rivingtons.) Lond.	, 1759		75c. Hartford,	1832
Very rare and valuable.		2886	————— Isaac, Professor, Physi-	
2859 — Come, for All Things are			cal Theory of Another Life, \$1,	
Ready, 25c. Philadelphia	1910			
				1826
9860 TAIROT Miss Catherine W. J. C	, 1049	900#	New-York,	
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of	, 1040	2887	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do.	1836 1834
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50,	•	2887 2888	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of En-	1831
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of	•	1	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of En-	1831
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London	, 1809	2888	New-York, — Fanaticism, 75c. do. — Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London,	1834 1844
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine	, 1809	2888 2889	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York,	1834 1844
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N. Y.	, 1809 , 1841	2888	New-York, — Fanaticism, 75c. do, Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, — Saturday Evening, \$1,	1814 1849
 2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N.Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- 	, 1809 , 1841	2888 2889 2890	New-York, — Fanaticism, 75c. do. — Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, — Saturday Evening, \$1, 25, fine edition, London,	1814 1849
 2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N.Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- 	, 1809 , 1841	2888 2889	New-York, — Fanaticism, 75c. do. — Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, — Saturday Evening, \$1, 25, fine edition, London,	1814 1849
 2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N.Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Delivered, translated into Spenserian 	, 1809 , 1841	2888 2889 2890	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought,	1834 1844 1849 1844
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols., \$2, N. Y., 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y.	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846	2888 2889 2890 2891	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London,	1834 1844 1849 1844
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols., \$2, N. Y., 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y.	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846	2888 2889 2890	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do, Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1, 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual	1834 1844 1849 1844 1846
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols., \$2, N. Y., 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y., 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D. D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do, Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1, 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, 8vo, \$1,25, London,	1834 1844 1849 1844 1846
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols., \$2, N. Y., 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y.	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846	2888 2889 2890 2891	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do, Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1, 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, 8vo, \$1,25, London,	1834 1844 1849 1844 1846
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols., \$2, N. Y., 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y., 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D. D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892	New-York, — Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, — Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, — Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, — Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, \$vo, \$1,25, London, — Ancient Christianity, 2	1834 1844 1849 1844 1846 1841
 2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N.Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Delivered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N.Y. 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D.D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols, 8vo, \$3,50, Oxford. 	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846 , 1790	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892 2893	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, Sth edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, 8vo., \$1,25, London, Ancient Christianity, 2 vols., \$4,	1834 1844 1849 1844 1846 1841
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N.Y., 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N.Y., 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D.D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols, \$vo., \$3,50, Oxford	1809 1841 1846 1790	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, 8vo, \$1,25, London, Ancient Christianity, 2 vols, \$4, London, John of Norwich, The	1834 1844 1849 1844 1846 1841
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols., \$2, N. Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Delivered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y. 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D. D., The Charland Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols., \$vo., \$3,50, Oxford. **Extremely rare and valuable** 2864 TAYLER, Rev. Charles B., Records	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846 , 1790	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892 2893	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, 8vo, \$1,25, London, Ancient Christianity, 2 vols., \$4, John of Norwich, The Hebrew Concordance, adapted to	1834 1844 1849 1844 1846 1841
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N. Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Delivered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y. 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D. D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols, 8vo, \$3,50, Oxford. **Extremely rare and valuable** 2864 TAYLER, Rev. Charles B., Records of a Good Man's Life, 75c, N. Y.	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846 , 1790	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892 2893	New-York, — Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, — Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, — Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Christianity, \$vo, \$1,25, London, — Ancient Christianity, 2 vols, \$4, London, — John of Norwich, The Hebrew Concordance, adapted to the English Bible, after the man-	1834 1844 1849 1844 1846 1841
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N.Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N.Y. 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D.D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols, 8vo, \$3,50, Oxford. Extremely rare and valuable 2864 TAYLER, Rev. Charles B., Records of a Good Man's Life, 75c. N.Y., 2865 ———— Lady Mary, or Not of	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846 , 1790	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892 2893	New-York, — Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, — Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, — Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Christianity, \$vo, \$1,25, London, — Ancient Christianity, 2 vols, \$4, London, — John of Norwich, The Hebrew Concordance, adapted to the English Bible, after the man-	1834 1844 1849 1844 1846 1841
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N.Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N.Y. 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D.D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols, \$vols, \$3,50, Oxford Extremely rare and valuable 2864 TAYLER, Rev. Charles B., Records of a Good Man's Life, 75c. N.Y. 2865 — Lady Mary, or Not of	1841 1846 1790	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892 2893	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, \$2,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0	1831 1844 1849 1844 1846 1841 1844
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N.Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N.Y. 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D.D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols, \$vo., \$3,50, Oxford Extremely rare and valuable 2864 TAYLER, Rev. Charles B, Records of a Good Man's Life, 75c. N. Y., 2865 — Lady Mary, or Not of The World, \$1,50, London,	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846 , 1790 , 1844 , 1845	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892 2893	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, 8vo., \$1,25, London, Ancient Christianity, 2 vols., \$4, London, John of Norwich, The Hebrew Concordance, adapted to the English Bible, after the manner of Buxtorf, 2 vols., \$100, \$20, London,	1831 1844 1849 1844 1846 1841 1844
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N. Y., 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y., 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D. D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols, 8vo, \$3,50, Oxford Extremely rare and valuable 2864 TAYLER, Rev. Charles B., Records of a Good Man's Life, 75c. N. Y., 2865 ————————————————————————————————————	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846 , 1790 , 1844 , 1845 , 1849	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892 2893 2894	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, \$vo, \$1,25, London, Ancient Christianity, 2 vols, \$4, London, Hebrew Concordance, adapted to the English Bible, after the manner of Buxtorf, 2 vols, folio, \$20, London, A rare and valuable work.	1831 1844 1849 1844 1846 1841 1844
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols., \$2, N. Y. 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y. 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D. D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,50, Oxford Extremely rare and valuable 2864 TAYLER, Rev. Charles B., Records of a Good Man's Life, 75c. N. Y., 2865 — Lady Mary, or Not of The World, \$1,50, London, 2866 Same work, 4th edit, 75c. N. Y., 2867 — Mark Wilton, 12mo., 75c.	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846 , 1790 , 1844 , 1845 , 1849	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892 2893	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, \$vo, \$1,25, London, Ancient Christianity, 2 vols, \$4, London, Hebrew Concordance, adapted to the English Bible, after the manner of Buxtorf, 2 vols, folio, \$20, London, A rare and valuable work. Sermons, \$1,25,	1834 1844 1844 1844 1846 1841 1844
2860 TALBOT, Miss Catharine, Works of, with Life, by Pennington, \$2,50, London 2861 TAPPAN, Henry P., The Doctrine of the Will, 3 vols, \$2, N. Y., 2862 TASSO Torquato, Jerusalem Deli- vered, translated into Spenserian Verse, \$1,50, best edition, N. Y., 2863 TATHAM, Edw., D. D., The Chart and Scale of Truth, (Bampton Lectures,) 2 vols, 8vo, \$3,50, Oxford Extremely rare and valuable 2864 TAYLER, Rev. Charles B., Records of a Good Man's Life, 75c. N. Y., 2865 ————————————————————————————————————	, 1809 , 1841 , 1846 , 1790 , 1844 , 1845 , 1849	2888 2889 2890 2891 2892 2893 2894	New-York, Fanaticism, 75c. do. Natural History of Enthusiasm, fine copy, \$1, London, Another copy, 75c. New-York, Saturday Evening, \$1,- 25, fine edition, London, Elements of Thought, 8th edition, \$1, London, Lectures on Spiritual Christianity, \$vo, \$1,25, London, Ancient Christianity, 2 vols, \$4, London, Hebrew Concordance, adapted to the English Bible, after the manner of Buxtorf, 2 vols, folio, \$20, London, A rare and valuable work.	1834 1844 1844 1844 1846 1841 1844

00	THEOLOGICA	OMIM	LIGG C B.	
2896	TAYLOR, John of Norwich, On Apostolical Baptism, 75c. N.Y., 1849	2921 T	HOMAS A-KEMPIS, Imitation of Christ, translated by Wesley, vari-	
2897	Thomas, A Concordance of Holy Scripture, \$1,25, London, 1801	9099 T	ous editions. 'HOMASON, Rev. T. T., Missionary	
2898	W. Cooke, LL. D., His-	2022 1	to India, Life, by Sargent, 75c.	10.10
	tory of Christianity from its Promulgation, &c., \$1,25, London, 1844	2923 T		1843
2899	from the Monuments of Egypt,		Sermons and Sacramental Exhortations, \$1,25, Boston,	1832
0000	\$1,75, London, 1838	2924 -		1002
2900	moir of, by Rev. Lot Jones, 75c.		lation for Christian Mourners, A Series of Funeral Sermons, \$2,	
2901	New-York, 1838 TEALE, Rev. W. H., Lives of Emi-	2925 —	London, Hon. Charles, Trans-	1845
	nent English Laymen, \$1, Lond., 1844 TERROTT, Bp., Discourses, \$1,75,		lation of the Holy Bible, 4 vols.,	
	London, 1845		8vo., calf, \$12, exceedingly rare, Philadelphia,	1808
2903	TESTAMENT, Griesbach's Version, in English, 75c. Boston, 1830	2926 —	lar Lectures on the Differences	
2904	THEED, Richard, Discourses before the University of Oxford, \$1,		Existing between the Church of England and the Church of Rome,	
2005	London, 1712	2025	\$2,50, London,	1845
2905	THELWELL, Rev. A. S., The Idolatry of the Church of Rome, \$1,-	2927 —	alia, or Helps for the Parochial	
2906	25, London, 1845 Letters to a Friend	2928 T	Clergy, \$1.50, London, HORNDIKE, Rev. H., On the	1834
	in the Church of England, \$1,50, London, 1835		Government of Churches, \$1,25,	1041
2907	THEODORET'S Ecclesiastical His-	2929 T.	London, HORNTON, Henry, Esq., Family	1041
2908	tory, \$2.25, (Bagster,) London, 1843 THEOLOGICAL Sketch Book, or		Prayers, and Commentary on he Sermon on the Mount, 75c. N. Y.,	1850
	Skeletons of Sermons, a Complete Body of Divinity, 2 vols., \$3,	2930 —	Explained and Enforced, 31c.	
9000	New-York, 1848	0091 TU	New-Haven,	1834
2303	THIRLWALL, Bp. of St. David's, History of Greece, 2 vols., \$3,50,	2951 11	HOUGHTS in Past Year, by the Author of The Cathedral, \$1,	
2310	New-York, 1845 Thoughts in Afflic-	2932 TI	New-York, HLLOTSON, Archbi-hop of Can-	1841
2911	tion, 38c. New-York, 1837		terbury, Sermons, 12 vols., \$12, London,	1749
2011	ron, or the History of Our Lord,		Another copy, 14 vols., \$9, do.	16.8
2912	63c. London, 1804 THIRTY Years' Correspondence,	2934 —	8vo., \$1,50, Landon,	1752
	between Bishop Jebb and Alex- ander Knox, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2,50,		IMPSON, Rev. Thomas. Key to the Bible, 8vo., plates, &c., \$2,50,	
2913	Philadelphia, 1835 THIRTY-NINE Articles, and the	2936 —	Len lon, Memoirs of Elizabeth	1845
	Constitution and Canons, and other		Fry, 75c. New-York,	1847
	Valuable Matter, 75c., very rare, London, 1739	2937 —	The Christian's Directory, or Guide to Daily Walking	
2914	THIRZA, or The Attractive Power of the Cross, 25c. Philadelphia, 1843		with God, 50c. London, ODD, Rev. W. G., A History of	1832
2915	THOLOCK, Dr., Exposition of St. Paul to the Romans, \$2, Phila, 1844		the Ancient Church in Ireland, London,	1845
2916	Exposition of the Ser-	2939 TO	OLLEY, Rev. J. G., View of the	
2917	mon on the Mount, \$1,25, Lond., 1844 THOMAS A-KEMPIS, Imitation of	2940 TO	Doctrine of the Trinity, \$1, Lond., OMLINE, Bishop of Lincoln, Ele-	1827
	Christ, Dibdin's beautiful 8vo. edition, calf, \$4, London, 1828		ments of Christian Theology, 2 vols., \$4 and \$5. London,	1799
2918	Same work, translated by Dean Stanhope, \$1,50, London, 1793	2941	Another copy, \$3, do.	1812
2919	Same work, translated from the		Same work, abridged by Kev. Saml Clapham, \$2.50, Camb.,	1802
	Latin, complete edition, 75c. New-York, 1849	2943	Study of the Bible, \$1,50, Lond.,	1846
2920	Same work, translated by John Payne, various editions.	2944 TO	OPLADY, Rev. Augustus, Whole Works of, 6 vols., \$10,50, Lond.,	
	J			

	SIANTORD & SWORL	25, 151	, Dicc	ADWAI, NEW-TORK.	01
2945	TOPLADY, Whole Works of, new		1	Paulo III., Julio III., et Pius IV.,	
2010	edi ion, complete in 1 vol., 8vo.,		ł	Pontificibus Maximus Celebrati	
	\$4,50, London,	1845	ĺ	Canones et Decreta, &c. &c., \$1,50,	
2946				Bruxellis,	1688
	Doctrine of Calvinism of the		2970		1761
	Church of England, 2 vols., 8vo.,		2971	TRIMMER, Mrs., lich to the Un-	
	\$2.50, London,	1774		learned in the Study of the Bible,	1005
2947	On Predestination, 38c.	1000	2052	\$2,50, London,	1805
20.10	London,	1830	2972		
2948	TOTTEN, Rev. Silas, D. D., The	1040		and New Testaments, 2 vols., \$1,- 25, London,	1807
90.10	Analogy of Truth, 38c. N. Y., TOWNSEND, Rev. Jesse, History	1040	2973		1001
2040	of the Church of Christ, \$1,25,		-010	\$1 Landon	1718
	Utiea,	1810	2974		
2950	Rev. George, Com-			Reading, 75c. Boston,	1844
	men ary, &c., Old and New Tes-		2975		
	taments, edited by Rev. Dr. Coit,			liarize the Church Catechism, 50c.	
	2 vols., royal 8vo., \$6, Boston,	1839		New-York,	1807
2951	TRACTS of the Society for Pro-		2976	Rev. J. B., The History	
	moting Christian Knowledge, 10			of the Old Testament, &c., 2 vols.,	10417
0050	vol, \$10, London,		2077	\$2,75, London, TRINITY, A Clear Display of the	1941
2952	On the Holy Commu-	1001	2911	Doctrine of the, by a Layman,	
9959	nion, \$1,25, London, ————————————————————————————————————	1621		\$1,50, London,	1773
2.00	London,	1849	2978		2110
2954	For the Christian Sea-	1016	2015	torical Sketch of, by the Rev. Wil-	
2001	sons, XVII. Parts, \$3,25, (Par-			liam Berrian, D. D., plates, \$1,50,	
	ker,) Oxford,	1849		New-York,	1847
2955	On the Doctrines of the		2979	TROLLOPE, Rev. William, Greek	
	Church, A Valuable Series, 2			Grammar of the New Testament,	
	vols., \$1,50, Baltimore,	1844		\$2, London,	1842
2956	TRAPPE, Rev. Joseph, D. D., On		2980		1010
	the Doctrine of the Trinity, \$1,25,	1 1	9051	2 vols., 8vo., \$5, London, ————————————————————————————————————	1042
9055	London, TREASURY of Scripture Know-	1111	2901	Cambridge,	1847
2001	ledge, \$2.50, (Bagster,) London,	1825	9989	TRUE Catholic, Reformed, Protest-	1011
2958	TREBECK, Rev. Andrew, Sermons,	1000	2.02	and Free, edited by Members of	
	preached in the Royal Chapel of			the Protestant Epi copal Church,	
	St. James, \$1, London,	1823		6 vols., 8vo., \$12, Balt., 1844-	-1849
2959	TRENCH, Rev. R. C., Hulsean Lec-		2983	TRUMBULL, Rev. Berjamin. D. D.,	
	tures for 1845 and 1846, \$1,			Century Sermon, 1801, bound up	
	Philadelphia,	1850		with President Dwight's, \$1,50,	1001
2960	Notes on the Parables,		2004	very rare, New-Haven,	1801
0001	Svo., \$1,75, New-York,	1850	5/12 F	TUDOR Family, Domestic Memoirs	
2961		1050		of, by H. Tudor, Esq., 8vo., \$3.25, London,	1848
9069	\$1.75, New-York,	1090	2085	TUNSTALL, Rev. Jas., D. D., Lec-	1010
	Charity, \$1, London,	1847	2000	tures on Natural and Revealed	
2063	TRENT, History of the Council of,			Religion, 4to., \$2,50, London,	1765
	by Father Paul Sarpi, in Latin,		2986	TUPPER, Martin Farquhar, Pro-	
	4to, \$4, Pordrechti,	1657		verbial Philosophy, A Book of	
2964	Same work, translated from the			Thoughts and Arguments, 50c.	
	Ita'ian of Father Paul, by N.			Philadelphia,	1846
20.45	Brent, Esq., folio, \$7, London,	1720	2008	Tarious editions.	
2965	Same work, in French 4to., \$4.50,	1000	2891	TURNBULL, Rev. Robert, Pulpit Orators of France and Switzer-	
2966	Amsterdam, The Council of No Free	1000		land, \$1, Lendor,	1849
2000	Assembly, a Valuable Historical		2288	TURNER, Rev. Samuel H., D. D.,	.010
	Work, by Dr. Geddes, \$2, very			Commentary on the Book of Ge-	
	rare, London,	1697		nesis, \$1,25, New-York,	1843
2967	TRIAL of the Pope, the Antichrist,		2989	Translation of Planck's	
	or Man of Sin, 38c. Boston,	1804		Sacred Philology, S1, N. Y.,	1834
2968	and Proceedings in the Case		2990	Essey on Our Lord's Dis-	1015
	of the Seven Non-juring Bishops,	1000	0001	course at Capernaum, 50c. N. Y.,	1845
0000	folio, \$3, Lenden,	1689	2991		1847
2969	TRIDENTINI Concilii, Sacra Sancti	1		Jewish Rabbis, &c., 75c. N. Y.,	1041

62	THEOLOG	ICAL	. CA	TALOGUE.	
2992	TURNER, Rev. Samuel II., D. D.,		!	edition by Dr. Robinson, 8vo.,	
2002	Spiritual Things Compared with			\$3,50, London,	
	Spiritual, &c., 25c. New-York,	1848	3018		1648
2993	———— Sharon, Sacred History		3019		1653
	of the World, 3 vols., \$1,50, N. Y.,	1844	3020	USHER, Annales Veteris Testa-	
2994	History of the Anglo-			menti a Prima Mundi Origine De-	
	Saxons, 2 vols., \$4,50, Phila.,	1838		dueti, folio, \$3,50, London,	1650
2995	Rev. Wm., Discourses,		3021	Annals of the World, 4to.,	
	50c. Newcastle,	1803		\$6, Lendon,	1658
2996	TURRETTINO, Joh. Alph., Historiæ		3022		
	Compendium Eccl., §2, Geneva,	1736		Christian Religion, folio, \$4,50,	
2997				London,	1678
2000	era, 4 vols., 4to., \$12, Ludg.,	1696	3023	Relation of His Confer-	
299S		T O 4 h		ence with Fisher, folio, \$3,50,	
0000	giæ Eleneticæ, 4 vols., \$10, Edin.,	1847	0004	London,	1686
2999	TURTON, Dr. Thos., Natural The-		9024	VAIL, Rev. Thomas H., The Com-	
	ology Considered with Reference			prehensive Church, or Christian	
	to Lord Brougham's Discourse,	1000	9005	Unity, 75c. Hartford,	
2000	\$2,50, Cambridge, TWEEDIE, Rev. W. K., Calvin and	1000	9029	VAN MILDERT, Bishop, Sermons	
5000	Servetus, or the Reformer's Share			for the Boyle Lectures, 1802–1805, \$4,50, London,	
	in the Trial of Servetus Ascer-		3026	1805, \$4,50, London, ————————————————————————————————————	1020
	tained, 75c. London,	18.16	0020	preached before the University of	
2001	TYERMAN, Rev. Daniel, and G.	1010		Oxford at the Bampton Lectures,	
0001	Bennett, Missionary Voyages, 3			\$3, Oxford,	1831
	vols., \$1.50, New-York,	1829	2027	VATERS' Tables of Ecclesiastical	1001
2002	TYNDALE'S New Testament, \$1,-	100,	302.	History, by Cunningham, 8vo., 38c.	
	50, New-York,	1838		Boston,	1831
3003	TYNG, Rev. S. H., D. D., Lectures		3028	VAUGHN, Rev. Henry, Memoir	
	on the Law and the Gospel, \$1,50,			and Remains, \$1,25, London,	1842
	New-York,	1849		A most devoted servant	
0004	Christ Is All, A Course of			of God.	
	Sermons, 8vo., \$1,50, New-York,	1849	3029	VENN, Richd., Tracts and Sermons,	
3005	The Four Gospels, A Prac-			\$1,50, London,	1740
	tical Commentary, 8vo., \$2, N. Y.,	1850	3030	Rev. Henry, Life and Let-	
3 006	Same work, elegantly bound, \$3.			ters of, by the Rev. John Venn,	
3007	- Recollections of England,			\$2, London,	
0000	\$1. London,	1847	3031	Another copy, \$1,75, do.	1838
3008	Lessons on the Acts of the	1000	3032	Another copy, \$1, Philadelphia,	1819
9000	Apostles, 25c. Philadelphia,	1859	3033		1705
5003	Guide to Confirmation, 25c.	1045	0004	\$1, London,	
2010	Philadelphia, 1 The Whole Israel of God,	1949	3034	Another copy, 75c. Philadelphia, VETUS TESTAMENTUM, Græ-	1040
9010	A Series of Sermons, \$1, N. Y.	1015	o∪əə	cum, edit. Van Ness, \$3, Leipsic,	1825
2011	UNDESIGNED Coincidences of the	1049	8086		1000
0011	Old and New Testaments, by	-	0000	Versione Septuaginta, Interpre-	
	Blunt, \$1,50, New-York, 1	1847		tum Lambulus Bos, small folio,	
3012	UNIVERSAL History, from the	1011		vellum, \$5, Frankfort,	1709
	Earliest Account of Time, 21 vols.,	1	3037	VILLIERS, C., Essay on the Spirit	
	8vo., 820, London, 1	1747		and Influence of the Reformation,	
	An invaluable work to the			50c. Philadelphia,	1833
	scholar and divine.		3038	VINCENT, of Lerins, The Commen-	
3013	UPDIKE, Wilkins, E. q., History of	1		tary of, A New Translation by the	
	the Episcopal Church in Narra-			Bishop of Maryland, 50c. Balt.,	1847
	gansett, R. I., &c. &c., Syo., plates,		2009		
	52,50, New-York, 1	847		edition, 75c. Oxford,	1846
3014	UPHAM, Roy. Thos. C., The Life of		9040		
0077	Faith, in Three Parts, \$1, N. Y., 1	848		Sudden and Certain Appearance	
3015	——— Philosophical and Practi-	1		and Judgment, 75c. Philadelphia,	1850
	cal Treatise on the Will, \$1.25.	!	3041	VISIT to the East, comprising In-	
9012	Pordan 1, 1	534		teresting Descriptions of the Holy	
3016	URQUHART, John, Memoirs, &c.,	0.4		Land, &c. &c., by the Rev. H.	1049
2017	2 vols., \$1, Boston, 1	821	0040	Formby, \$1,25, London, I	
9014	USHER, Archbishop, A Body of	1	3042	Another copy, 75c. New-York, 1	1020
	Divinity, or the Sum and Substance of Christian Religion, new	1	90.19	VOSSI, Isaaci, De Septuaginta Interpretibus, &c., 4to., \$3, Hagæ, 1	1661
	stance of Omistan Rengins, new	j		terpretibus, &c., 4to., \$3, Hagæ, 1	.001

3044	VOSSI, Gerrardi Joannis, Harmoniæ	****	[Life in Divers of its Branches,	740
3045	Evangelica, 4to., Amsterdami, VULGATE, Biblia Sacra, 8vo., \$4,	1756	3070	\$1,25, London, 17 WALTON, Izaak, The Lives of	46
	Paris, Several other editions.	1840		Donne, Hooker, Sanderson, &c., best edition, 8vo., \$2, Oxford, 18	324
3046	WADDINGTON, Rev. George, His-		3071	Same work, 12mo., 75c. N. Y., 18	
	tory of the Church, best edition, 6 vols., 8vo., \$9, London,	1825	3072	WARBURTON, Bishop, Sermons	
3047	Another copy, \$2.50, do,	1835		on Natural and Revealed Reli-	
3048	Another copy, \$1.75, New-York,	1835	9070	gion, 2 vols., §3.50, London, 17	53
2049	WAINWRIGHT, Rev. J. M., D. D., The Illustrated Book of Common		3073	ous Subjects, \$1. New-York, 18	809
	Prayer, rich turkey, \$6,50, N. Y.,	1843	3074	WARD, Rev. W. G., (The Pervert,)	
3050				The Ideal of a Christian Church,	1.4
	Religious Education and Filial Duty, 50c. New-York,	1829	3075	&c. &c., 8vo., 82,50, London, 18	1-1-4
3051		1020	30.0	Boston, 18	10
0050	mily Prayer, 63c. New-York,	1850	3076	WARDEN, Rev. John, System of	
3052	Families, 12mo., 31c. New-York,	1850		Revealed Religion, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3.50, London, 18	210
3053		1000	3077		343
	the Rev. Dr. Potts—Subject, "No		3078	WARDLAW, Rev. Ralph, Chris-	
	Church without a Bishop," 25e.	1011	3079	tian Ethics, \$2, London, 18	325
3054	New-York, WAKE, Archbishop, Genuine Epis-	1944		Another copy, 88c. New-York, 18 Universalism Inca-	150
	tles of the Apostolic Fathers, new			puble of Vindication, fine calf,	
0055	edition, \$1.50, New-York,	1850	0001	\$2,25, London, 18	16
3055	Same work, old copy, \$1, Hartford,	1834	3081	Sabbath, \$1, Glasgow, 18	(29
3056	William Robert, Version of	1001	2082		
0057	the Psalms, 2 vols., \$1,50, Bath,	1793		Principal Points of the Sociaian	
3057	WAKEFIELD, Rev. Gilbert, D. D., Memoirs of his Life, &c. &c., 2		3083	Controversy, 8vo., \$1,50, Andov., 18	15
	vols., \$3, London,	1844	5000	pable of Vindication, 8vo., \$1,50,	
3058	Translation of Chry-			Andover, 18	17
3059	sostom, \$1,50, London, WALDO, Peter, Commentary on the	1800	3084		9.0
0000	Liturgy, \$2. London.	1813	3085	WARKER, Rev. G., Sermons on the	0 4
3060	Another copy, \$1,75, Oxford,	1821		Education of Children, 63c. Bost., 18	09
3061	WALKER, Rev. John, An Attempt		3086	WARNER, Rev. Richard, Commen-	
	towards Recovering an Account of the Numbers and Sufferings of			tary on the Book of Common Prayer, \$2.50, London, 18	06
	the Clergy of the Church of Eng-		3087	WARTER, Rev. J W., D. D., The	-
	land during the Rebellion, folio,	1514		Teaching of the Prayer Book, \$2,	
3062	\$6, very rare, London, John, Key to Scripture	1111	3088	WATER Baptism and the Lord's	15
	Names, &c., \$1, London,	1842	3000	Supper, Scriptural Arguments in	
3063				Behalf of the Perpetual Obliga-	
	on Practical Subjects, 3 vols., \$4, Edinburgh,	1785		tion of these Ordinances, 25c. Philadelphia, 18	15
3064	Rev. J. R., Prayers of			A most able little work.	50
	the Church, &c. &c., 75c. Phila.,	1844	3089	WATERBURY, Rev. J. B., A Book	
3065	Sermons, complete, 2 vols., \$4,		2000	for the Sabbath, 50c. Andover, 18-WATERLAND, Rev. Daniel, D. D.,	1 ()
	London,	1810	5000	Whole Works, edited by Bishop	
3066	WALL, Rev. Wm., History of Infant		00-1	Van Mildert, 11 vols., \$20, Oxford, 18	22
	Baptism, together with Gale's Reflections, and Dr. Wall's Reply,	j	3091	nity, \$1,50, Christ's Divi- London, 17:	an.
	new and beantiful edition by Cot-		3092	nity, \$1,50, London, 17: Another copy, \$1, do. 17:	
	ton, 4 vols., 8vo., \$11, London,	1844	3093	On Regeneration,	_ 0
3037	To tament 2 vol. \$2.50 Lond	150=	9001	\$1, London, 185	20
	Te tament, 2 vols., \$2.50, Lond., A masterly writer.	1100	3094	portant Subjects, 2 vols., 8vo.,	
3068	Christ Crucined, A Poem,	ļ		\$3,50, London, 174	12
2000	\$1.50, Oxford,	1833	3095	WATSON, Bishop, Life of, by his	
9009	WALLIN, Rev. Benj., The Christian	1		Son, \$1,25, Philadelphia, 181	IS

04					
3096	WATSON, Bi-hop, Apology for the Bible, &c., 38c. New-York, 18	828	3123	WESLEY, Rev. John, Whole Works of, 7 vols., \$12, New-York,	1845
3097	Rev. Alex., The Prayer		3124	Life of, and Rise and	1010
	Book a Safe Guide, &c., &c., 50c. Baltimore, 18	843		Progress of Methodism, by Robt. Southey, 2 vols., \$2, New-York,	1849
3098	Discipline, and Practice, Svo., \$1,-		3125	Same work, old edit., 8vo., \$1.50, New-York,	1990 *
	75, London, 18	843	3126	A Survey of the Wis-	1020
3099	St. Matthew and St. Mark, \$1,50,			dom of God in the Works of Creation, 4 vols., 12mo., \$2.50 Lon l.,	1809
	New-York, 18	834	3127	Life of, including an Ac-	1003
3100	Young on Reading the Scriptures,			count of the Great Revivals in Europe and America, by Drs.	
	\$1, London, 18	830		Coke and Moore, 8vo., \$2, very	
3101	Thomas, Body of Practical Divinity, \$1,75, Aberdeen, 18	828	3128		1792
3102	Bp. Richard, Anecdotes			the New Testament, 2 vols., \$2,-	1010
	of the Life of, edited by his Son, 2 vols., 8vo., \$3,50, London, 18	818	3129	50, London, ————————————————————————————————————	1813
3103	Same work, 8vo., \$1,25, Phila., 18	818	9190	\$2.50, London,	1845
3104	cal Tracts, 6 vols., 8vo., \$12,		3130	ginal Sin, 75c. New-York,	1817
9105	London, 17 WATTS, Dr. Isaac, Whole Works,	791	3131	\$1,50, Life of, by Whitehead, Boston,	1014
2109	9 vols., 8vo., \$13,50, best edition,	Ì	3132	Rev. Samuel, A Conci-e	1044
2106	London, 15 ———————————————————————————————————	830		Ecclesiastical History, 4 vols., \$1.50, very rare, London,	1781
5100	large 8vo., \$2,50, London, 18	826	3133	WEST, Gilbert, Observations on the	1101
3107	Works, 3 vols., \$3,50, London, 18	805		Resurrection, with Lyttleton on St. Paul, \$1,50, London,	1754
3108	Lyric Poems, with Me-		3134	Observations on the Resur-	
	moir by Southey, fine copy, \$1,25, London, 18	840	3135	rection, 50c. Boston, Rev. Stephen, On the Atone-	1835
3109	——— Horæ Lyricæ, \$1,25, do. 18	824	0100	ment, 50c. New-Haven,	1785
3110	World to Come, \$1,50, London, 18	813	9190	WHARTON, Rev. Chas. H., D. D., Remains, edited by Bishop D ame,	
3111	Guide to Prayer, 50c. Philadelphia, 18	810	2127	2 vols., \$1, Philadelphia, WHAT 1s Christianity? by Bishop	1834
3112	WAYLEN, Rev. Edward, Ecclesi-	012		Short, 38c. New-York,	1845
	astical Reminiscences of the United States, 8vo., \$2, New-York, 18	846	3138	edited by the Bishop of Maryland,	
3113	WEAVER, Rev. R., The Pagan		0100	38c. Baltimore,	1843
	Altar and Jehovah's Temple, \$1, London, 18	840	3139	Collection of Tracts, 75c., (Society	
3114	WEEK'S Preparation for the Holy		01.0	Prom. Christ. Know.) London,	1846
3115	Communion, \$1, London, 18 Another copy, 50c. Charleston, 18		31.10	WHATELEY, Archbishop of Dublin, Essays on the Writings of St.	
3116	Another copy, 50c. Charleston, 18 WELL, Dr. G., Biblical Legends of the Mussulmans, Compiled from			Paul, and O her Parts of the New Testament, 8vo., \$2, London,	1893
	Arabic Sources, 50c., (Harpers,) 18	850	3141	Another copy, \$1,75, do.	1828
3117	WELCHMAN, Archdeacon, De Articulis Eccles. Anglicanæ, \$1,50,		3142	tions of a Future State, \$1,75,5th	
	(Riving ons,)	848		edition, London,	1842
3118	Same work, translated into Eng- li-h, various editions.		3143	ism, 25c. Errors of Roman- New-York,	1813
3119	WELLS, Rev. Edward, D. D., The	010	3144		1000
3120	Rich Man's Duty, &c., 75c. Lond., 19 WEMYSS, Thomas, Job and His	540	3145	ton Lecture; 8vo., \$3, London,	1022
	Times, or A Picture of the Patri- archal Age, during the Period		3146	75c. New-York, ————————————————————————————————————	1842
	between Noah and Abraham,		9140	pendent of Civil Government, \$1,	
3121	\$1,50, London, 1 WENGER, J., Scripture Doctrine of	837	3147	New-York, Sermons at Bamp-	1843
	the Church, \$1,25, Calcutta, 1	845		ton Lectures of 1822, 8vo., \$3,	1000
8122	WERNOCK, Rev. J., D. D., Ser- mons, \$2, London, 1	822	3148	London, WHEATLEY, Rev. Charles, Illus-	1022
)		•	

STRITORD & STORDS,	, 101, 11	MOADWAI, NEW-TORK.	00
tration of the Book of Common	1 317	73 WHITTEMORE, Thos., Notes and	
Prayer, \$1,25, London, 18		Illustrations on the Parables, 50c.	
3149 WHEATLEY, The Niceue and		Boston,	1838
Athanasian Creeds Explained and	317	74 WHOLE Duty of Man, new edition,	
Confirmed by Holy Scripture,		edited by Rev. Dr. Hawkins, 75c.	
Eight Sermons at Lady Moyer's		New-York,	1850
Lecture, 8vo, \$2,50, very rare and	317	75 WHRIGHT, Rev. Samuel, D. D., A	
valuable, London, 1'		Treatise on Being Born Again,	
3150 WHEATON, Rev. N. S., D. D., Jour-		with Hawies' Communicant's Com-	
nal of a Tour in England, &c., \$1,	Ì	panion, bound together, 50c. N. Y.,	1843
Hartford, 18	830 317	76 WICKLIFFITES, or England in	
3151 WHELPLEY, The Triangle, \$1,	ļ	the Fifteenth Century, by Mrs.	
New-York, 18		Mackay, \$1, New-York,	1847
3152 WHEWELL, Wm., D. D., Sermons	317	77 WILBERFORCE, William, Life of,	
in Trinity College, Cambridge,		by his Sons, 2 vols., \$1,50, Phila.,	1843
8vo., \$3,50, London, 18	$347 \mid 317$	78 — Correspondence,	
3153 WHITBY, Rev. Daniel, D. D., An		78 — Correspondence, 2 vols., \$1,50, Philadelphia, of Christianity, 75e. Phila,	1843
Endeavor to Evince the Certainty	317	79 ———— Practical View	
of Christian Faith in General, and	ĺ	of Christianity, 75c. Phila.,	1835
of the Resurrection in Particular,		80 — Family Prayers,	
\$1, very rare, Oxford, 16		25c. New-York,	1841
3154 — A Critical Commentary	318	Bp., History of	
and Paraphrase on the New Tes-		the American Episcopal Church,	
tament, new edition, 1 vol., royal		2d edition, 75c. New-York,	1849
8vo., \$3, Philadelphia, 18	846 318	Manual for Com-	
3155 — On Five Points of Cal-		municants, 50c. New-York,	1845
vinism, \$1,50, London, 1'		Archdeacon, The	
	726	Doctrine of the Incarnation, \$1,25,	1040
3157 WHITCHCOTE, Rev. Benjamin,	010	Philadelphia,	1849
D. D., The Works of, 4 vols., \$2,		Hola Buntiam in Banku to Coods	
Aberdeen, 1'	191	Holy Baptism, in Reply to Goode,	1950
3158 WHITE, Bishop William, Lectures on the Church Oatechism, Svo.,	910	75c. Philadelphia, Sermons on the	1000
\$3, exceedingly rare, Phila., 18		75c. Philadelphia, Sermons on the New Birth of Man's Nature, 8vo.,	
3159 — Memoir of, by Rev. Bird	110	\$1,50, Philadelphia,	1850
Wilson, D. D., \$2, Philadelphia, 18	839 318	86 WILKINS, Bishop, Principles and	1000
3160 — Commentaries on the Or-	010	Duties of Natural Religion, \$1,50,	
dination Offices, 75c. New-York, 18	848	London,	1704
3161 — Opinion on Certain The-		87 WILKS, Rev. Charles, Christian Es-	
ological Subjects, Compiled by an		says, 75c. Boston,	1829
Episcopalian, 50c. New-York, 18	846 318	88 — Rev. S. C., (Editor of the	
3162 — Rev. Hugh, Meditations		Christian Observer,) Essay on the	
and Addresses on the Subject of		Signs of Conversion and Uncon-	
Prayer, 50c. New-York, 18	841	version among the Clergy, \$1,25,	
3163 — Practical Reflections on		London,	1817
the Second Advent, 50c. N. Y., 18 3164 —— Behever, 50c. do. 18	843 318	9 WILLIAMS, Bp., Boyle Lectures,	
3164 ——— Behever, 50c. do. 18	347	\$1,50, London,	1708
3165 — Profession and Practice,	319	00 — Rev. Edward, D. D.,	
50c. Philadelphia, 18		Christian Preacher, \$1,75, Lond.,	1843
3166 — The Gospel Promotive of	319		
True Happiness, 75c. Phila., 18	848	The Gospel Narrative of Our	
3167 — Joseph Blanco, Practical		Lord's Resurrection Harmonized,	
Evidence Against Catholicism, 75c.		\$2,25, London,	1845
Georgetown, 18	326 319		
3168 — Rev. John, D. D., Letters		of Our Lord's Passion Harmo-	
to Dissenters, \$1,50, London, 17	746	nized, 75c. New-York,	1846
8169 — Rev. Joseph, Celebrated	319	Rev. Thomas, Vindi-	
Bampton Lectures, \$2, London, 17		cation of Calvinism, \$1,25, Lond.,	1799
3170 — Rev. Saml., Commentary	319		
on I saiah, 4to., \$2,50, London, 17		on the Miracles, 38c. New-York,	1848
A most learned work.	319		
3171 WHITFIELD, Rev. Geo., Seventy-		tory, from the Creation to Cad-	
five Sermons, &c., 3 vols. in 2, \$2,		mus, 4to., \$3, London,	1789
London, 18	$312 \mid 319$	6 — Daniel, The Succes-	
3172 — Memoirs, Sermons,		sion of Protestant Bishops Assert-	1501
&c., \$1,50, Hartford, 18	49	ed, &c. &c., 50c. London,	1721

3197 WILLIAMS, Thomas, The Domes-	3225 WINTER, Rev. Cornelius, Memoirs
tic Chaplain, 50c. Hartford, 1839 ———————————————————————————————————	of, written by Wm. Jay, of Bath, 63c. New-York, 1811
Home, A Story Founded on Facts,	3226 WINTHROP, Rev. Edward, Lec-
50c. Providence, 1837	tures on the Second Advent, 50c.
3199 WILLISON, John of Dundee, On the Sabbath, 8vo., \$1,25, Edin., 1819	3227 — Cincinnati, 1843 on the Pro-
the Sabbath, 8vo., \$1,25, Edin., 1819 3200 WILMER, Rev. William H., D. D.,	phetic Scriptures, 50c. N. Y., 1850
Epi-copal Manual, edited by Dr.	3228 WITSIUS, Rev. Herman, D. D., The
Coleman, \$1, Philadelphia, 1841	Economy of the Covenants be-
3201 WILSON, Thomas, Bishop of Sodor	tween God and Man, 3 vols., \$4,
and Man, Sermons, 4 vols., \$8, London, 1793	New-York, 1798 3229 Another copy, \$3,50, do. 1804
3202 — On the Lord's Supper,	3230 ——— Sacred Dissertations on
38c. New-York, 1849	the Apostles' Creed, translated
3203 — Sacra Privata, full edit.,	from the Latin by Fraser, 2 large
75c. New York, 1844 The same work in various	8vo. vols., \$4,50, Glasgow, 1823 3231 WOGAN, Wm., Esq., Essay on the
sizes, from 25 to 50c.	Proper Lessons, 2 vols., \$5, Lond., 1847
3204 ————————————————————————————————————	3232 Same work, 4 vols., \$5, do. 1765
3205 — Life of, by Stowell, 63c.	3233 WOLFE, Rev. Joseph, Journal of
New-York, 1845 3206 ———— Daniel, Bp. of Calcutta,	Missionary Labors, \$2, London, 1839 3234 Another copy, 75c. New-York, 1824
3206 ——— Daniel, Bp. of Calcutta, Sermons, \$2,50, London, 1824	3234 Another copy, 75c. New-York, 1824 3235 ——— Researches and Mission-
3207 ———— Evidences of Christianity,	ary Labors, \$1, Philadelphia, 1837
2 vols., \$1,50, Boston, 1835	3236 — Rev. C., Remains of, \$1,-
3208 ———— On the Lord's Day, 63c.	50, London, 1826
Boston, 1831	3237 WOLLASTON, William, Religion of Nature Delmeated, 4to., \$3,
sians, \$1. New-York, 1846	London, 1752
3210 ———— On Confirmation, 25c. 3211 ———— Rev. Bird, D. D., Life of	3238 — Religion of Nature
3211 ——— Rev. Bird, D. D., Life of	Displayed, \$2, London, 1752
Bishop White, 8vo., plates, \$1,75,	3239 WOMAN'S Mission, edited by Bp.
Philadelphia, 1841 3212 ————- Charles Thomas, Illustra-	Doane, 50c. New-York, 1839 3240 WOOD, Rev. Basil, Introduction to
tions from the Fathers, \$1,25,	the Church Catechism, 50c. Lond., 1805
London, 1845	3241 — Thomas, The Mosaic His-
3213 ———— Rev. Edward, The Martyr	tory of the World, edited by Dr.
of Carthage, (Burns,) \$1, London, 1844 3214 ————— W. D., Manual of Church	Durbin, \$1,50, New-York, 1831 3242 ——— The Origin, Religion, &c.,
Principles, 75c. Baltimore, 1846	of the Ancient Britons, 8vo., \$2,
3215 — History of the Reforma-	New-York, 1846
tion, 75c. Baltimore, 1849	3243 WOODHOUSE, Rev. J. C., On the
3216 ——— Church Identified, 2d edition, in press.	Apocalypse, \$3,50, London, 1835 3244 WOODLEY, Rev. George, Divine
3217 ——— Profes or, Lights and	System of the Universe, \$4,50,
Shadows of Scottish Life, fine	London, 1840
edition, 75c. New-York, 1849	3245 WOODS, Rev. Leonard, Lectures
3218 WINCHESTER, Rev. S. G., The Importance of Family Religion,	on Inspiration, 63c. Andover, 1828 3246 — Lectures on Infant Bap-
75c. Philadelphia, 1831	tism, 63c. Andover, 1828
3219 — Companion for the	3247 WOODWARD, Rev. John, On the
Sick and Afflicted, 38c. Phila., 1833	Creed, \$1,75, London, 1840
3220 WINDSOR, Rev. Lloyd, Inquiry into the Ministerial Commission,	3248 WOOLLEY, John, D. D., Sermons,
50c. New-York, 1844	preached in the Chapel of Rossall College, 8vo., \$2,75, (Rivingtons,)
3221 WINER, G. B., Greek Grammar of	London, 1847
the New Testament, \$1, Andover, 1825	3249 WOOLSEY, The Cardinal, and His
3222 WINSLOW, Rev. Octavius, On Per-	Times, Ecclesiastical, &c., by Geo.
sonal Declensions and Revivals, 75c. New-York, 1847	Howard, \$2,50, London, 1824 3250 WORDSWORTH, Rev. Charles, On
3223 — On the Holy Spirit,	Prayer, (Burns,) \$1, London, 1841
75c. New-York, 1829	3251 — Christopher The-
and Rumaine edited by Richard	ophilus, Anglicanus, or Instruction
and Remains, edited by Bishop Doane, \$1,50, New-York, 1841	for the Young Student, \$2.25, London, 1846
2 cm-2, 42,00, 210H-10IA, 10H1	202001, 1010

3252 WORDSWORTH, Letters on the	3265 YOUMANS, Rev. J., The Christian
Church of Rome, \$1,62, London, 1847	Remembrancer, &c., 50c. N. Y., 1830
8253	3266 YOUNG, Rev. George, Lectures on
ters on the Church of Rome, \$1,-	Jonah, for Seamen, \$1, London, 1830
62, London, 1848	3267 —— Rev. John, Providence of
3254 WORSLEY, Thomas, M. A., The	God Displayed, \$1,75, London, 1820
Province of the Intellect in Reli-	3268 — Minister's Companion,
gion, 8vo., \$2,50, London, 1845	comprising Burnett, Mason, Bax-
3255 WREATHS and Branches for the	ter, Watts, Doddridge, &c., \$1,
Church, 2d edi ion, 50c. Boston, 1844	
3256 WRIGHT, Prof. James, On Elocu-	Boston, 1813 3269 ZELL, Rev. Henry, Lectures on
tion and Reading the Service,	Christian Posti m 05-
	Christian Baptism, 25c. 1821
\$2,50, Oxford, 1750 3257 ——— Rev. F. B., History of	3270 ZERAH, The Believing Jew, 50c.
Religious Persecutions, the Inqui-	New-York, 1835
si ion, &c., \$1, Liverpool, 1816	3271 ZIMMERMAN, J. L. Excellency of
3258 WROUGHT Gold, Official Calendar	the Knowledge of Christ, \$1,50,
of the Church, &c. &c., by John	London, 1840
Boys, D. D., \$1, Philadelphia, 1849	3272 ZOLLIKOFER, Rev. G. J., Sermons
	on the Education of Children, 50c.
3259 WYATT, Rev. William E., D. D.,	Boston, 1809
Christian Offices, being a Course	3273 ———————————————————————————————————
of Prayers for Families and Indi-	nity of Man, &c. &c., edited by Dr.
viduals, \$1,25, New-York, 1849	Tooke, 2 vols., 8vo., \$2, Worcester, 1807
3260 ——— Christian Altar, 30c.	3274 ZSCHOKKE, Heinrich, Hours of
Baltimore, 1829	Meditation, 50c. New-York, 1844
3261 ——— Parting Spirit's Address	3275 ZURICH Letters, or The Corres-
to His Mother, 13c. New-York, 1845	pondence of Several English Bi-
3262 WYCLIFFE, Rev. J., D. D., Life of,	shops and Others, with Some of
by Cox, 50c.	the Helvetian Reformers, during
3263 — Last Age of the	the Reign of Queen Elizabeth, \$3,
Church, edited by Dr. Todd, \$1,	published by the Parker Society,
Dublin, 1840	Cambridge, 1846
3264 YORKE, Rev. C. J., Church of Christ	3276 ZUINGLE, The Swiss Reformer,
Portrayed, \$1,50, London, 1840	Life of, by Lucy Aiken, \$3, Lond., 1835
, , , ,	1, 0, 22.00, 20.00, 1000

En the Clergy.

STANFORD & SWORDS beg leave respectfully to call the attention of the Parochial Clergy, and others, to the following selection from the list of their publications. They deem the works well adapted for the diffusion of piety and holiness. A liberal discount will be allowed on all orders, and a reasonable credit given.

BISHOP BROWNELL'S COMMEN-	works on the Holy Communion.
tary on the Book of Common Prayer. A work almost indispensable to a Churchinan.	BISHOP HOBART'S COMPANION
In royal Svo., \$3,50. In better style of bind-	for the Altar. 22d edition, \$0 63
ing, \$4,50, and upwards.	cant's Manual,
THE WHOLE DUTY OF MAN. Edited	cant's Manual, 0 31 BICKERSTETH ON THE LORD'S
by the Rev. Dr. Hawkins. A time-honored volume. 12mo.,	Supper. Full edition. 12mo., 0 75
SERIOUS CALL TO A DEVOUT AND	DEVOUT COMMU-
Holy Life. By the Rev. Wm. Law. 12mo. 0 75	nicant,
THE CHRISTIAN'S MANUAL OF	keble's Christian Year. Edited by Bishop Doane, 0 50
Faith and Devotion. One of the best of	BISHOP THOMAS WILSON, (of Sodor
books, 0 75 DEVOTIONS OF BISHOP LANCELOT	and Man,) On The Lord's Supper, 0 38
Andrewes. A new edition, 0 50	THE REV. DR. BERRIAN ON COM-
THE CHURCHMAN'S HEAVENLY	MANUAL FOR CONFIRMATION AND
Hours. An admirable little volume, 0 38	First Communion, 0 25
THE DEVOUT CHURCHMAN'S COM- panion. Edited by the Rev Wm. H. Oden-	STEPS TO THE ALTAR, 0 25
heimer, 0 75	6
RECOGNITION OF FRIENDS IN AN-	Family Prayer, &c.
other World,	FAMILY PRAYERS; to which is added, A
THE HAPPINESS OF THE BLESSED. By Bish Mant. 12mo., 0 75	Commentary on the Sermon on the Mount.
THE SACRA PRIVATA. By Bishop	By Henry Thornton, Esq. 18th edition, . 0 75 AN ORDER FOR FAMILY PRAYER.
Wilson. A beautiful edition, 0 38	By the Rev. Dr. Wainwright, 0 63
THE DOUBLE WITNESS OF THE	SHORT FAMILY PRAYERS. By the
Church. By the Rev. Dr. Kip, 0 75 THE CHURCHMAN ARMED. Contain-	same,
ing Palmer's Ecclesiastical History and	FAMILY AND PRIVATE PRAYERS. By the Rev. Wm. Berrian, D. D., 1 00
Hobart's able Apology for the Church, . 1 00	FAMILY PRAYERS. By the late Wm.
THE CHURCHMAN'S PROFESSION	Wilberforce, Esq., 0 25
of his Faith and Practice. By the Rev. N. S. Richardson, 0 75	CHRISTIAN OFFICES; For the Use of
THE CHURCH IDENTIFIED. By the	Families and Individuals. By the Rev. W. E. Wyatt, D. D. 3d edition, 1 00
Rev. W. D. Wilson, D. D. Second edition,	PRIVATE DEVCTIONS. By H. More, . 0 25
with large additions, 1 00	PRAYERS AND OFFICES OF DEVO-
ard work. 2 vols., 1 00	tions for Families and Individuals. By the
DICTIONARY OF THE CHURCH. By	Rev. Benjamin Jenks. Edited by the Rev. Charles Simeon,
the Rev. W. Staunton, 1 25	
THE HOMILIES OF THE CHURCH. Complete edition, 2 00	Miniature Volumes.
A COMMENTARY ON THE BOOK OF	THE CHURCHMAN'S HEAVENLY
Psalms. By Bishop Horne, 1 50	Hours,
RULES AND EXERCISES FOR HOLY	THE DEW OF HEAVEN, 0 31
Living and Dying. By Jeremy Taylor, . 0 75 THE AGED CHRISTIAN'S COMPA-	BEDELL'S IS IT WELL? 0 31
nion. By the Rev. Dr Stanford. With	WAY MARKS, 0 31
Life, by Bishop Upfold, 2 00	
MANNING'S SERMONS. Sermons by	EZEKIEL'S VISION, 0 31 PAY THY VOWS, 0 31
Henry Edward Manning, Archdeacon of	
	COMMUNICANT'S MANUAL 0.21
Chichester, 3 vols. 8vo 3 75	COMMUNICANT'S MANUAL, 0 31
Chichester. 3 vols. 8vo	os will be furnished on application.
Chichester. 3 vols. 8vo	os will be furnished on application. braries of any extent, embrucing the publications











